
 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Agenda – April 17, 2024 

Santa Cruz County 
Housing for Health Partnership (H4HP) Policy Board 

Regular Meeting Agenda  
April 17, 2024; 3 pm 

2005 Wharf Road, Capitola – Capitola Library - Ow Family Community Room 
Zoom Conference Link: https://santacruzcounty-us.zoomgov.com/j/1613207866 

Call-In Number: +16692545252  Webinar ID#: 1613207866 
 

Call to Order/Welcome 
 
Non-Agenda Public Comment 
 
Action Items (vote required) {3:15 – 3:20 pm} 
1. Approval of Minutes: December 13, 2023, Regular Meeting. 
 
Information Items (no vote required) {3:20-3:50 pm} 
2. Housing Santa Cruz County – Affordable Housing Month Events 
3. Lived Expertise Action Boards – Updates 
4. Picture This – Housing Matters Event Update 
5. National Alliance to End Homelessness Conference – Finland and Other Learnings 
6. City of Watsonville Special City Council Meeting on Homelessness Update 

 
Report/Discussion Items (no vote required) (3:50pm - } 
7. Housing for Health Partnership Coordinated Entry Update and Discussion 
8. California State Auditor Report on Homelessness Investments and Local Jurisdictions (San Jose and San 

Diego) -  Potential Impacts and Local Actions 
9. County of Santa Cruz DRAFT Encampment Response Protocol – Discussion 

 
Board Member Announcements 
 
Adjournment 
 
Next Meeting:  Wednesday, June 12, 2024, 3 pm 
 
The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate based on disability, and no person shall, by reason of a disability, be denied the 
benefit of the services, programs, or activities. This meeting is in an accessible facility. If you are a person with a disability and require 
special assistance to participate in the meeting, please call (831) 763-8900 (TDD/TTY- 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the 
meeting to make arrangements. Persons with disabilities may request a copy of the agenda in an alternative format. As a courtesy to 
those affected, please attend the meeting smoke and scent free. 

Page 1 of 273

https://santacruzcounty-us.zoomgov.com/j/1613207866


Action Item 1:  Approval of Meeting Minutes 

(Action required) – Robert Ratner 

Recommendation 

Approve the February 21, 2024, Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting 
minutes. 

Suggested Motion 

I move to approve the February 21, 2024, Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular 
Meeting minutes. 

Page 2 of 273



 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Minutes – February 21, 2024 
 

Housing for Health Partnership (H4HP) Policy Board  
Regular Meeting Minutes 
February 21, 2024; 3 pm 

Call to Order/Welcome 
Present: Heather Rogers, Justin Cummings, Karen Kern, Kate Nester, Mali LaGoe, Manu Koenig, Mariah Lyons, 
René Mendez, Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, Suzi Merriam, Terence Concannon 
 
Absent: Fred Keeley, Tom Stagg 
Additions and Deletions to the Agenda: None 
 
Non-Agenda Public Comment 
No public comment received. 
 
Action Items (vote required) 

1.  Approval of Minutes: December 13, 2023, Regular Meeting 
Discussion:   None. 
Public Comment:  None. 
Motion to Approve:  Heather Rogers 
Motion Seconded:     Justin Cummings  
Abstentions:               None. 
Board Action:              Motion passed with all members.  
 

2. Approval of Co-Chairs for Policy Board 
Discussion: None. 
Public Comment:   None. 
Motion:  Approve Suzi Merriam and Tom Stagg as Co-Chairs of the Policy Board for a 

minimum two-year and one-year term, respectively.   
Motion to Approve:     René Mendez 
Motion Seconded:     Heather Rogers 
Abstentions:               None. 
Board Action:                Motion passed with all members. 

   
3. Approval of Nominee for Workforce/Business/Foundation Sector Representative on Policy Board.  

Discussion: Terence Concannon, Chief Executive Officer for Visit Santa Cruz County shared he 
has more than 25 years of experience in the hospitality and tourism industry, 
which includes sales, marketing, and operations of hotels, wine events, and 
destinations. Mentioned that prior to his current position, he spent six years 
leading Go Lake Havasu, the destination management organization in Lake 
Havasu City, Arizona. Visit Santa Cruz County is a destination marketing 

Page 3 of 273



 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Minutes – February 21, 2024 
 

organization that markets and promotes the county as a world-class destination. 
Mentioned that Visit Santa Cruz County has been certified as an autism center. 

Public Comment:   None. 
Motion:   Approve Terence Concannon to serve a minimum two-year term (calendar year 

2024 and2025) in the Workforce/ Business/ Foundation Sector role on the 
Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board.  

Motion to Approve:    Justin Cummings 
Motion Seconded:     Manu Koenig 
Abstentions:               None. 
Board Action:                Motion passed with all members. 
 

4. Review and Approval of Proposed Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention- Round 5(HHAP-5) 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Housing for Health Partnership (CoC) and County 
of Santa Cruz  
Discussion:  Robert Ratner, Director of Housing for Health mentioned that in 2018, the state 

created the California Emergency Solutions and Housing (CESH) and Homeless 
Emergency Aid Programs (HEAP) block grants available for local bodies as a 
statewide investment in addressing housing and homelessness. These block 
grants were replaced by the Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention 
(HHAP) block grant in 2019. Discussed how the HHAP-5 funding that the Santa 
Cruz County and Housing for Health Partnership (CoC) receive requires an 
updated Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (RCHAP).  Mentioned 
that the County and CoC have executed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
since HHAP Round 3 to combine their funding and use it in a shared agreeable 
way to support collective work. Discussed the MOU that is included in the HHAP-5 
funding application will refer to the required RCHAP. Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, 
policy board member, mentioned advocating in the future to include how Santa 
Cruz County is in the Top 5 per capita of the number of people experiencing 
homelessness per CoC in the funding formula. Discussed that The County of Santa 
Cruz Human Services Department, Housing for Health Division Staff will not start 
a program unless it can be sustained for 3 years.  

Public Comment:  None. 
Motion:  Review and Approval of Proposed Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention -

Round 5 (HHAP-5) Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Housing 
for Health Partnership (CoC) and County of Santa Cruz. 

Motion to Approve:     Kate Nestor  
Motion Seconded:     Mali LaGoe 
Abstentions:               None.  
Board Action:              Motion passed with all members. 
 
 

Page 4 of 273



 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Minutes – February 21, 2024 
 

5. Review and Approval of Proposed HHAP-5 Budget  
Discussion:  The board discussed how the County of Santa Cruz Human Services Department's 

Housing for Health has managed the budget for HHAP since 2021. Discussed the 
difficulty of developing sustainable and impactful housing interventions because 
the state does not commit to ongoing predictable HHAP funding allocations on 
an annual basis. Discussed for HHAP-5, the County and CoC plan to budget with 
the same ratio as last year, except for shelter improvements for a youth 
transitional project. Questions were raised on why investing in youth when the 
current Point in Time count resulted in a lower percentage of youth experiencing 
homelessness. Mentioned that the State has approved a Youth HomeKey Round 3 
award for a youth transitional housing project that is contingent upon dedicated 
HHAP funding over multiple years.  HHAPpriority investment areas have been 
low-barrier navigation centers (service-enriched shelters) and transitional 
housing. Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson, a policy board member, suggested to use 
the broader term of Interim housing that includes low barrier navigation center 
and transitional housing for flexibility of use of the funding. Discussed the future 
state of funding for interim housing programs and concerns about instability in 
this funding. Mentioned H4H has allocated money to operate the proposed youth 
transitional project for three years, but beyond that, funding is uncertain. 
Mentioned there are ongoing County advocacy efforts to convince state leaders 
to making ongoing, stable, and streamlined investments in addressing 
homelessness statewide. Mentioned that the State has allocated behavioral 
bridge housing funding to communities, and depending on whether Prop 1 
passes, some of the money that goes to service programs in mental health will 
have to be used for housing programs. Mentioned that the HHAP regulations 
allow for budget and program plan amendments.  

Public Comment:         None.   
Motion:                     Approve the proposed HHAP-5 budget as included in the Policy Board packet for 

submission as part of our community application for HHAP-5 funding.  
Motion to Approve:  Manu Koenig 
Motion Seconded:     Shebreh Kalantari-Johnson 
Abstentions:               None 
Board Action:              Motion passed with all members.  

 
6. Review and Approval of Housing for Health Partnership Key Action Steps over the next Three Years 

(January 2024- 2026). 
Discussion:  Housing for Health Staff discussed key action steps for the next three years by 

gathering feedback from the community and policy board members. Discussed 
how the board members emphasized that priorities should include a Safe Parking 
program, low-cost programs, advocacy for tenant rights and just cause eviction 
prevention, a holistic reentry plan that includes a pathway to housing for foster 

Page 5 of 273



 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Minutes – February 21, 2024 
 

and criminal justice populations, exploring opportunities for local policy changes 
to help with housing opportunity and retention, and helping the housing services 
provider community get into the Medi-Cal (CalAIM) world. Mentioned that the 
policy board wanted to also focus on preventing housing stock from being 
converted into vacation rentals, promoting housing stability. Question was raised 
about getting involved in policy action that can impede communities from 
building housing and maintaining their pro-housing designation.. Mentioned that 
the Alliance offers training on billing Medi-Call for CalAIM providers. 

 
Public Comment:          None.  
Motion: Approve the proposed bord core action steps for inclusion in updates to the 

Housing for Health Santa Cruz Framework and the HHAP-5 regionally 
coordinated homelessness action plan and directed Housing for Health Division 
staff to utilize the document as a guide for priority work areas over the next 
three-year period and include recommendations provided by the Housing for 
Health Partnership Policy Board. 

Motion to Approve:   Justin Cummings 
Motion Seconded:     René Mendez 
Abstentions:               None 
Board Action:              Motion passed with all members.  
 

7. Authorize Staff to Finalize and Submit HHAP-5 Regionally Coordinated Homeless Action Plan and 
Application on behalf of the CoC. 
Discussion:  Tony Gardner, CoC consultant supported the RCHAP planning process, the MOU, 

and HHAP-5 application. Discussed how H4H staff held two community meetings 
where some major themes emerged, which became the pillars of the Housing for 
Health Framework planned update and HHAP-5 application. Mentioned the four 
pillars of the framework are: Increasing Connections, Coalition Building, 
Expanding Permanent Housing, and Preventing Homelessness. Questions were 
raised about the missing racial disparity data in the draft materials, and the H4H 
staff mentioned that the RCHAP is still a draft. Concerns were raised that if H4H 
staff rely too much on community feedback, then only the dominant narratives 
will be amplified. Kate Nester, a policy board member, recommended that H4H 
staff follow up with the organization listed as a collaborative entity in the draft 
document to confirm that they agree with the draft HHAP-5 application. 
Discussed that the draft will be posted online for public comment, and the final 
draft will be going to the County board of supervisors, and the public can make 
comments. 

  

Page 6 of 273



 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Minutes – February 21, 2024 
 

Public Comment:  Erika Cortes highlighted that the HHAP-5 application is still a draft, and the county 
will work on it and be able to submit it without another revision from the policy 
board. 

Motion:  Authorize Housing for Health Division staff to follow up with the organizations 
listed as collaborative entities to confirm agreement with the draft HHAP-5 
application to finalize the HHAP-5 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 
Plan and Application for Submittal on or before the application deadline of March 
27,2024.  

Motion to Approve:     Justin Cummings  
Motion Seconded:     Heather Rogers  
Abstentions:               None 
Board Action:              Motion passed with all members.  
 
Information Items (no vote required): 

8. 2024 Continuum of Care (CoC) Awards 
Discussion: The Housing and Urban Development Department (HUD) has granted $6.014 

million in federal funding to The Housing for Health Partnership CoC. Mentioned 
that additional funds will be allocated to Housing Matters 180 Together, which is a 
permanent supportive housing rental assistance project and a Planning grant to 
support and maintain efforts to increase the involvement of people who have 
experienced homelessness in the Housing for Health Partnership initiatives. 
Mentioned that the Housing Authority conducts a fair market rent study and uses 
the results to adjust HUD's initial federal market rent calculations.  

 
9. Homekey Round 3 award for Freedom House Youth Transitional Housing Project  

Discussion:   Discussed Santa Cruz County has been granted its fourth Homekey Award for 
their first transitional housing project. Mentioned that The Freedom House Youth 
Transitional Housing Project will consist of 11 units operated by Covenant House. 
Mentioned that referrals for the project will come through the Housing for Health 
Partnership coordinated entry process. Mentioned that CFSC is the property 
owner, while Front Street will manage the property. Discussed that Behavioral 
Health or one of its contractors will provide mental health services for the youth 
residing at the housing project. 

 
10. 2024 Point-in-Time (PIT) Count Update  

Discussion:   Discussed a successful Point-in-Time (PIT) count was conducted with the help of 
over 100 volunteers and the highest number of paid peer guides over the past 
few years.  Peer guides have lived experience of homelessness help guide other 
volunteers to areas that may have unsheltered individuals throughout the 
county. Mentioned that H4H staff and Applied Survey Research conducted four 
public community meetings, carried out direct outreach to specific groups, and 

Page 7 of 273



 
Mission: Build partnerships and promote strong collaborative action to ensure all residents within the County have 
stable, safe, and healthy places to live. 

Santa Cruz County Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Regular Meeting Minutes – February 21, 2024 
 

held two youth meetings to recruit volunteers. Mentioned that The PIT Count 
results will be available to the public by the end of summer. 

 
11. Youth Homeless System Improvement (YHIS) Grant Proposal Submission 

Discussion: Alex Dami, a member of the Housing for Health staff, collaborated with youth 
housing and service providers to prepare and submit a grant proposal to HUD for 
$625,375. Discussed the Youth Homeless System Improvement (YHSI) grant aims 
to bring about systemic changes to improve local efforts to address youth 
homelessness. Discussed the funds will be used to create and build capacity for 
Youth Action Boards, collect and use data on at-risk youth experiencing 
homelessness, and improve projects serving youth. 

 
12. Lived Expertise Action Boards- Updates  

Discussed that there are five available spots for a youth-specific board and five 
for the lived experience board. Mentioned that over 60 individuals have 
expressed interest in joining the Lived Expertise Action Boards. Mentioned that 
Mayeda Consulting will be the facilitators and consultants of the group, and 
Goodwill Central Coast will be the employer of record. Discussed that the HUD 
planning grant and proposed YHSI grant will be used to help sustain and 
strengthen the Lived Expertise Action Board groups. 

 
Report/Discussion Items (no vote required): 

13. Coordinating efforts to raise local resources through strategic grant making, partnerships, etc. 
How can Housing for Health Partnership best support generating more local resources to 
support efforts?  

  Discussion:  Discussed interest in supporting non-profit organizations in the area to 
secure state funding. Mentioned that the Housing for Health 
Partnership should have a shared document that shows a collection of 
historical grants that have been awarded to the community by the state 
and federal governments.  

Board Member Announcements 
 No additional announcements. 
Adjournment  
Next Meeting:  Wednesday, April 17,2024, 3 pm  
 
The County of Santa Cruz does not discriminate based on disability, and no person shall, by reason of a 
disability, be denied the benefit of the services, programs, or activities. This meeting is in an accessible facility. 
If you are a person with a disability and require special assistance to participate in the meeting, please call 
(831) 763-8900 (TDD/TTY- 711) at least 72 hours in advance of the meeting to make arrangements. Persons 
with disabilities may request a copy of the agenda in an alternative format. As a courtesy to those affected, 
please attend the meeting smoke and scent free. 

Page 8 of 273



  

Information Items 2-6 

Item 2:  Housing Santa Cruz County – Affordable Housing Month Events  

Housing Santa Cruz County (HSCC) is a nonprofit, coalition organization with a mission to “ensure Santa 
Cruz County is an inclusive, thriving, just, diverse, culturally rich and sustainable community by 
promoting affordable, safe, stable homes for local residents and workers.”   The mission of the 
organization overlaps with the mission of the Housing for Health Partnership.  HSCC sponsors a series 
of community educational and outreach events during May of each year as part of affordable housing 
month.   

The Housing for Health Partnership is co-sponsoring, supporting, and participating in several of the 
events this year.   A copy of the full calendar of events can be found here - Affordable Housing Month 
— Housing Santa Cruz County.  Housing for Health Partnership members are strongly encouraged to 
attend the events.    

On May 14th, the Housing for Health Division, Housing Authority of the County of Santa Cruz, and 
Abode Services will be hosting a property owner and manager appreciation event to honor and recruit 
property agents that work with nonprofits and the Housing Authority to create housing opportunities 
for households struggling with homelessness and housing instability. 

Item 3:  Lived Expertise Action Groups 

Housing for Health Division staff continue to work with consultants to finalize recruitment of new 
employees for the youth and general lived expertise action groups.   The Central California Alliance for 
Health provided some funding to help launch these groups.  HUD Continuum of Care (CoC) planning 
grant funds will help sustain them.  More than 60 applications of interest were received for the 10 slots 
available for these groups.  Final selection of participants for these groups should be completed by the 
end of May 2024. 

Item 4:  Picture This: Reimaging Home and Belonging – Housing Matters Event 

On April 7th, Housing Matters hosted a community outreach, education, and fundraising event at the 
Paradox Hotel in the City of Santa Cruz.  The event included speeches, storytelling, poetry reading, and 
performances from people with lived experiences of homelessness and others committed to ensure a 
sense of home and belonging for all community members.  The event was well attended and built on 
the work of Housing Matters staff to bring out voices of people that have lived through life experiences 
of homelessness.  

Item 5:  National Alliance to End Homelessness – Finland and Other Learnings 

Several members of the Housing for Health Partnership in Santa Cruz County attended the National 
Alliance to End Homelessness (NAEH) Conference in San Francisco held from March 4-6, 2024.  Several 
local participants in the conference reported back that they deeply appreciated hearing about Finland’s 
approach to housing and homelessness at the conference.  A video of this presentation can be found 

Page 9 of 273

https://www.housingsantacruzcounty.com/about
https://www.housingsantacruzcounty.com/affordable-housing-month
https://www.housingsantacruzcounty.com/affordable-housing-month


  

here: Day 2 Plenary | 2024 Innovations & Solutions for Ending Unsheltered Homelessness - YouTube.  
Policy board members that attended the conference will share some of their insights from their 
attendance during the Board meeting. 

Item 6: City of Watsonville Special City Council Meeting on Homelessness Update 

On Saturday, March 23rd, the Watsonville City Council held a special session workshop to evaluate the 
state of homelessness in Watsonville and to consider establishing a strategic plan.  Video and materials 
from the meeting can be found here: City Council Meeting - March 23, 2024 (escribemeetings.com).  
Board members that participating in the meeting will share additional information about the meeting. 

 

Page 10 of 273

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2VW01VCHtWQ
https://pub-cityofwatsonville.escribemeetings.com/Meeting.aspx?Id=bfb44934-6891-41ab-825f-fa5b40979b7b&Agenda=Agenda&lang=English


Report/Discussion Item 7:  Housing for Health Partnership Coordinated Entry 
Update and Discussion 

(Presentation) – Monica Lippi 

Background 

Coordinated entry is a HUD-required set of policies and practices to standardize local 
approaches to assessing the needs of people experiencing homelessness, helping them resolve 
their housing situation as quickly as possible, and prioritizing and matching households to 
available resources.   

The Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board adopted a new coordinated entry system 
policy manual in April 2023.  Since that time staff and community members have been working 
to implement the new policies and practices associated with this shift.  More detailed 
information about the history of the changes, the new policies, and associated materials can be 
found on the Housing for Health Partnership website - Coordinated Entry 
(housingforhealthpartnership.org). 

There are several core components of the new approach.  Housing for Health Connectors are 
individuals working for specific agencies that agree to play specific roles in the new system that 
involve building relationships with people experiencing homelessness, assessing their situation 
and resources, conducting housing problem solving conversations, developing housing action 
plans, entering information into the Homeless Management Information System (HMIS), and 
continuing to work with individuals until they get connected to housing or another resource.  
Connectors are asked to work with low numbers of households at any point in time (10-20 
households) to provide in-depth quality services.  In addition, Connectors are asked to work 
with households for limited periods of time, generally not to exceed six months. 

A limited number of Connectors are directly funded by Housing for Health partnership 
resources.  Most Connectors work for agencies that have voluntary agreed to have designated 
staff members take on the role of Connectors.  Based on the 2023 point-in-time count of 
people experiencing homelessness in the County, there were an estimated 1,800 individuals 
experiencing homelessness on a given day.  Ensuring all these individuals could get linked to a 
Connector would require at least 90 connectors that could serve 20 households at any given 
time.  

Based on assessments completed by Connectors, a smaller subset of assessed households is 
added to the Coordinated Entry housing queue.  The housing queue is an electronic list in HMIS 
of assessed households that are likely to get matched to an HMIS-linked housing resource 
within the next six months.  A threshold score is established for different types of households 
based on the probability of a match to a resource within this time.   Threshold scores are 
reviewed periodically and adjusted based on the number of program openings for different 

Page 11 of 273

https://www.housingforhealthpartnership.org/GetHelp/CoordinatedEntry.aspx
https://www.housingforhealthpartnership.org/GetHelp/CoordinatedEntry.aspx


populations.  Given the availability of current resources, veterans, youth between the ages of 
18 and 24, and families with children under 18 are referred directly to a resource or are 
immediately added to the housing queue regardless of their assessment score.  Seniors, people 
with disabilities, and working adults must have threshold scores above a certain level to get 
added to the housing queue. 

Households not added to the housing queue may still end their homelessness with other 
linkages to services or resources.  For example, Connectors have access to a centralized housing 
assistance fund managed by Housing for Health Division staff in partnership with the 
Community Action Board (CAB).  The fund can help cover security deposits, first month rent, 
move-in furnishings, transportation to move-in with family or friends, and other one-time 
resource needs that can help households resolve their homelessness.  The Community 
Foundation of Santa Cruz supports this fund with an online donation portal for private donors - 
Housing Assistance Fund – Community Foundation Santa Cruz County (cfscc.org).  The amount 
of dollars in the fund varies each fiscal year depending on the availability of grants. 

Individuals seeking linkages with a Connector for themselves or someone they are in 
relationship with can complete an online Connection Services Request Form.  Housing for 
Health Division staff are currently finalizing contracts with United Way 2-1-1 and Miracle 
Messages to become core additional components of the coordinated entry system.  United Way 
will serve as a central hub for updating community resource information relevant to people 
experiencing or at-risk of homelessness.  They will: (1) check shelter bed availability on a weekly 
basis; (2) check affordable housing availability monthly; (3) help maintain updated information 
on available community resources; (4) manage connection services requests and refer 
households to connectors with capacity; and (5) provide limited phone-based follow-up 
connection services for households that contact them that are experiencing homelessness.   
Calls for housing-related assistance remain the most common reason individuals currently 
contact 2-1-1.   Miracle Messages provides support for people experiencing homelessness to 
reconnect with family, friends, or a volunteer.   These connection services help individuals link 
with non-professional supportive relationships that can help reduce isolation, increase a sense 
of belonging, and in some cases resolve someone’s homelessness. 

Current Coordinated Entry Data 

• Since implementing the Connection Services Request (CSR) form process in August 2023, 
Housing for Health receives an average of 89 CSRs per month.   Since beginning of 2024, the 
monthly average has increased to 103. 

• We have 27 active Connectors with enrolled participants and an additional 28 recently trained 
that are still working on HMIS trainings and/or making internal program changes to start their 
Connector roles. 

• 7 Connectors request referrals from the CSR process.  All other Connectors enroll participants 
from their own programs and outreach. 

Page 12 of 273

https://www.cfscc.org/funds/housing-assistance-fund
https://www.homelessactionpartnership.org/GetHelp/CoordinatedEntry/RequestingConnectionServices.aspx


• # of CSR referrals made to Connectors in Mar. 2024: 42 

• # of people on the waitlist to be referred to Connectors: 211 

• # of currently CES enrolled individuals as of 4/11/24:  335  

• # of households currently on the housing queue: 47 (13 families with children, 5 youth, and 29 
adult only households) 

• Since August 2023, HMIS indicates 428 referrals to programs have been made within HMIS and 
133 (31%) have resulted in program enrollments. 

• The top three most common reasons for a referral not resulted in an enrollment are: (1) Lack of 
eligibility; (2) Unable to locate; (3) Self-Resolved, Client Housed. 

• HMIS data indicates 95 people have exited coordinated entry into permanent housing between 
August 2023 and April 2024.   This represents 23% of those enrolled in the coordinated entry 
project in HMIS.   A copy of the report with this and other data is included in the Board packet. 

 

The table below shows current agencies in the County with Connection Services MOU with the Housing 
for Health Partnership, the # of anticipated people served, and actual numbers served as of the end of 
March 2024. 

Agency Expected Households Served per 
MOU 

Actual Households 
Enrolled* (as of 3/24/24) 

AFC 22 38 
Armory – TSA (Overlook) Pending 0 
Bill Wilson Center 2 1 
Community Ac�on Board 20 16 
Cabrillo College 10 0 
Community Bridges Pending 0 
Encompass  9 5 
Families in Transi�on 20 18 
Front St. 49 17 
H4H 26 35 
Housing Maters 166 63 
Homeless Garden Project 6 0 
Housing Choices 43 0 
HPHP 2 10 
Independent Living Systems 20 0 
Monarch 10 0 
Santa Cruz Community Health 6 9 
The Free Guide 40 2 
Total 451 214 

*  Some agencies were just recently trained to provide Connector services, some are still going through 
the process of HMIS onboarding, and others are still making internal program changes to start carrying 
cases.  H4H is currently working on obtaining updated MOUs to make sure we have an accurate 
Expected Household count.   

Page 13 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

As of 10/1/2017, HUD CoC grantees are now required to submit APR through the Sage HMIS Reporting Repository. You can
find instructions for generating the report and submitting to Sage at the Clarity Help Center.

Q4a. Project Identifiers in HMIS
Organization Name Organi-

zation
ID

Project Name Project
ID

HMIS
Project
Type

RRH
Subtype

Coordinated
Entry

Access
Point

Affiliated
with

a
residential

project

Project
IDs of

affiliations

CoC
Number

Geocode Victim
Service
Provider

Total
Active
Clients

Total
Active

Households

Housing for Health
Partnership 48 Coordinated Entry 214 14 1 CA-508 069087 0 744 468

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
1 / 59

Powered ByPage 14 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q5a. Report Validations Table

Program Applicability: All Projects

Category Count of Clients
for DQ

Count of Clients

Total number of persons served 744 744

Number of adults (age 18 or over) 520 520

Number of children (under age 18) 222 222

Number of persons with unknown age 2 2

Number of leavers 413 413

Number of adult leavers 264 264

Number of adult and head of household leavers 264 264

Number of stayers 331 331

Number of adult stayers 256 256

Number of veterans 7 7

Number of chronically homeless persons 252 252

Number of youth under age 25 53 53

Number of parenting youth under age 25 with children 12 12

Number of adult heads of household 466 466

Number of child and unknown-age heads of household 2 2

Heads of households and adult stayers in the project 365 days or more 1 1

Q6a. Data Quality: Personally Identifiable Information

Program Applicability: All Projects

Data Element Client Doesn't
Know/Prefers Not to

Answer

Information
Missing

Data Issues Total % of Issue Rate

Name (3.01) 1 5 5 11 1.48%

Social Security Number (3.02) 210 16 33 259 34.81%

Date of Birth (3.03) 1 1 7 9 1.21%

Race/Ethnicity (3.04) 21 5 26 3.49%

Gender (3.06) 1 1 2 0.27%

Overall Score 279 37.50%

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
2 / 59

Powered ByPage 15 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q6b. Data Quality: Universal Data Elements

Program Applicability: All Projects

Data Element Client Doesn't
Know/Prefers Not to

Answer

Information
Missing

Data Issues Total % of Issue Rate

Veteran Status (3.07) 1 5 0 6 0.81%

Project Start Date (3.10) 6 6 0.81%

Relationship to Head of
Household (3.15) 5 1 6 0.81%

Enrollment CoC (3.16) 0 0 0 0.00%

Disabling Condition (3.08) 6 1 39 46 6.18%

Q6c. Data Quality: Income and Housing Data Quality

Program Applicability: All Projects

Data Element Client Doesn't
Know/Prefers Not to

Answer

Information
Missing

Data Issues Total % of Issue Rate

Destination (3.12) 0 69 69 16.71%

Income and Sources (4.02) at
Start 1 1 5 7 1.34%

Income and Sources (4.02) at
Annual Assessment 0 1 0 1 100.00%

Income and Sources (4.02) at
Exit 0 46 1 47 17.80%

Program Applicability: ES-EE, ES-NbN, SH, Street Outreach, TH, PH(All), CE, SSO, Day Shelter & HP

Q6d. Data Quality: Chronic Homelessness

Entering into
project type

Count of
total

records

Missing time in
institution
(3.917.2)

Missing time in
housing
(3.917.2)

Approximate
date this
episode
started

(3.917.3)

Number of
times (3.917.4)

Number of
months

(3.917.5)

% of records
unable to
calculate

Missing DK/PNTA/
missing

DK/PNTA/
missing

ES-EE, ES-NbN,
SH, Street
Outreach

0 0 0 0 0.00%

TH 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

PH (all) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

CE 522 0 1 0 10 11 3.64%

SSO, Day
Shelter, HP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total 522 3.64%

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
3 / 59

Powered ByPage 16 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q6e. Data Quality: Timeliness

Program Applicability: All Projects

Time for Record Entry Number of Project Start Records Number of Project Exit Records

< 0 days 2 9

0 days 637 333

1-3 days 1 17

4-6 days 1 1

7-10 days 0 3

11+ days 4 50

Q6f. Data Quality: Inactive Records: Street Outreach and Emergency Shelter

Program Applicability: Street Outreach & ES-NbN

Data Element # of Records # of Inactive
Records

% of Inactive
Records

Contact (Adults and Heads of Household in Street Outreach or ES -
NbN) 0 0 0.00%

Bed Night (All clients in ES - NbN) 0 0 0.00%

Q7a. Number of Persons Served

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Adults 520 374 146 0

Children 222 222 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 1 0 0 0 1

Data Not Collected 1 0 0 0 1

Total 744 374 368 0 2

For PSH & RRH - the total
persons served who moved
into housing

0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
4 / 59

Powered ByPage 17 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q7b. Point-in-Time Count of Persons on the Last Wednesday

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

January 233 155 78 0 0

April 0 0 0 0 0

July 0 0 0 0 0

October 140 109 31 0 0

Q8a. Number of Households Served

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Total Households 468 351 115 0 2

For PSH & RRH - the total
households served who
moved into housing

0 0 0 0 0

Q8b. Point-in-Time Count of Households on the Last Wednesday

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

January 172 145 27 0 0

April 0 0 0 0 0

July 0 0 0 0 0

October 119 106 13 0 0

Q9a. Number of Persons Contacted

Program Applicability: ES-NbN - Street Outreach

Number of Persons Contacted All Persons Contacted First contact - NOT
staying on the Streets,

ES, or SH

First contact - WAS
staying on Streets, ES,

or SH

First contact - Worker
unable to determine

Once 0 0 0 0

2-5 Times 0 0 0 0

6-9 Times 0 0 0 0

10+ Times 0 0 0 0

Total Persons Contacted 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
5 / 59

Powered ByPage 18 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q9b. Number of Persons Newly Engaged

Program Applicability: ES-NbN - Street Outreach

Number of Persons Newly
Engaged

All Persons Contacted First contact - NOT
staying on the Streets,

ES, or SH

First contact - WAS
staying on Streets, ES,

or SH

First contact - Worker
unable to determine

Once 0 0 0 0

2-5 Contacts 0 0 0 0

6-9 Contacts 0 0 0 0

10+ Contacts 0 0 0 0

Total Persons Engaged 0 0 0 0

Rate of Engagement 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Q10a. Gender

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Woman 381 167 213 0 1

Man 355 201 154 0 0

Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender 1 1 0 0 0

Non-Binary 2 1 0 0 1

Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Man 1 0 1 0 0

Woman/Culturally Specific
Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Non-Binary 1 1 0 0 0

Woman/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Transgender 1 1 0 0 0

Man/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
6 / 59

Powered ByPage 19 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q10a. Gender

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Culturally Specific
Identity/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Questioning/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

More than 2 Gender Identities
Selected 0 0 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 1 1 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 1 1 0 0 0

Total 744 374 368 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
7 / 59

Powered ByPage 20 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q11. Age

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Under 5 88 88 0 0

5-12 94 94 0 0

13-17 40 40 0 0

18-24 65 45 20 0

25-34 107 43 64 0

35-44 137 89 48 0

45-54 71 63 8 0

55-64 86 81 5 0

65+ 54 53 1 0

Client Doesn't Know/ Prefers
Not to Answer 1 0 0 0 1

Data Not Collected 1 0 0 0 1

Total 744 374 368 0 2

Q12. Race and Ethnicity

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

American Indian, Alaska
Native, or Indigenous 20 13 6 0 1

Asian or Asian American 9 2 7 0 0

Black, African American, or
African 25 15 10 0 0

Hispanic/Latina/e/o 155 30 125 0 0

Middle Eastern or North
African 1 1 0 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific
Islander 2 2 0 0 0

White 264 194 70 0 0

Asian or Asian American &
American Indian, Alaska
Native, or Indigenous

0 0 0 0 0

Black, African American, or
African & American Indian,
Alaska Native, or Indigenous

0 0 0 0 0

Hispanic/Latina/e/o &
American Indian, Alaska
Native, or Indigenous

17 12 5 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
8 / 59

Powered ByPage 21 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q12. Race and Ethnicity

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Middle Eastern or North
African & American Indian,
Alaska Native, or Indigenous

0 0 0 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific
Islander & American Indian,
Alaska Native, or Indigenous

0 0 0 0 0

White & American Indian,
Alaska Native, or Indigenous 4 3 1 0 0

Black, African American, or
African & Asian or Asian
American

0 0 0 0 0

Hispanic/Latina/e/o & Asian or
Asian American 0 0 0 0 0

Middle Eastern or North
African & Asian or Asian
American

0 0 0 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific
Islander & Asian or Asian
American

0 0 0 0 0

White & Asian or Asian
American 2 2 0 0 0

Hispanic/Latina/e/o & Black,
African American, or African 14 1 13 0 0

Middle Eastern or North
African & Black, African
American, or African

0 0 0 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific
Islander & Black, African
American, or African

0 0 0 0 0

White & Black, African
American, or African 2 0 2 0 0

Middle Eastern or North
African & Hispanic/Latina/e/o 0 0 0 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific
Islander & Hispanic/Latina/e/o 0 0 0 0 0

White & Hispanic/Latina/e/o 197 74 123 0 0

Native Hawaiian or Pacific
Islander & Middle Eastern or
North African

0 0 0 0 0

White & Middle Eastern or
North African 0 0 0 0 0

White & Native Hawaiian or
Pacific Islander 0 0 0 0 0

Multiracial - more than 2
races/ethnicity, with one being
Hispanic/Latina/e/o

6 6 0 0 0

Multiracial - more than 2 races,
where no option is
Hispanic/Latina/e/o

0 0 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 21 15 5 0 1

Data Not Collected 5 4 1 0 0

Total 744 374 368 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
9 / 59

Powered ByPage 22 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q13a1. Physical and Mental Health Conditions at Start

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Persons Without
Children

Adults in HH
with Children &

Adults

Children in HH
with Children &

Adults

With Only
Children

Unknown
Household

Type

Mental Health Disorder 257 211 38 6 0 2

Alcohol Use Disorder 30 29 1 0 0 0

Drug Use Disorder 92 84 7 1 0 0

Both Alcohol and Drug Use
Disorders 47 41 6 0 0 0

Chronic Health Condition 226 191 24 10 0 1

HIV/AIDS 6 6 0 0 0 0

Developmental Disability 93 56 12 25 0 0

Physical Disability 209 185 18 4 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
10 / 59

Powered ByPage 23 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q13b1. Physical and Mental Health Conditions at Exit

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Persons Without
Children

Adults in HH
with Children &

Adults

Children in HH
with Children &

Adults

With Only
Children

Unknown
Household

Type

Mental Health Disorder 97 71 22 4 0 0

Alcohol Use Disorder 10 10 0 0 0 0

Drug Use Disorder 46 41 5 0 0 0

Both Alcohol and Drug Use
Disorders 11 10 1 0 0 0

Chronic Health Condition 77 62 11 4 0 0

HIV/AIDS 2 2 0 0 0 0

Developmental Disability 44 24 8 12 0 0

Physical Disability 72 62 9 1 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
11 / 59

Powered ByPage 24 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q13c1. Physical and Mental Health Conditions for Stayers

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Persons Without
Children

Adults in HH
with Children &

Adults

Children in HH
with Children &

Adults

With Only
Children

Unknown
Household

Type

Mental Health Disorder 149 132 13 2 0 2

Alcohol Use Disorder 18 17 1 0 0 0

Drug Use Disorder 42 41 0 1 0 0

Both Alcohol and Drug Use
Disorders 31 27 4 0 0 0

Chronic Health Condition 140 122 11 6 0 1

HIV/AIDS 5 5 0 0 0 0

Developmental Disability 45 31 4 10 0 0

Physical Disability 129 116 8 3 0 2

Q13a2. Number of Conditions at Start

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Persons Without
Children

Adults in HH
with Children &

Adults

Children in HH
with Children &

Adults

With Only
Children

Unknown
Household

Type

None 318 51 83 184 0 0

1 Condition 129 72 32 25 0 0

2 Conditions 107 86 11 9 0 1

3+ Conditions 183 163 18 1 0 1

Condition Unknown 6 2 2 2 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/ Prefers
Not to Answer 1 0 0 1 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 744 374 146 222 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
12 / 59

Powered ByPage 25 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q13b2. Number of Conditions at Exit

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Persons Without
Children

Adults in HH
with Children &

Adults

Children in HH
with Children &

Adults

With Only
Children

Unknown
Household

Type

None 220 27 64 129 0 0

1 Condition 57 25 21 11 0 0

2 Conditions 36 24 7 5 0 0

3+ Conditions 68 61 7 0 0 0

Condition Unknown 31 21 6 4 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/ Prefers
Not to Answer 1 1 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 413 159 105 149 0 0

Q13c2. Number of Conditions for Stayers

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Persons Without
Children

Adults in HH
with Children &

Adults

Children in HH
with Children &

Adults

With Only
Children

Unknown
Household

Type

None 99 22 22 55 0 0

1 Condition 49 32 6 11 0 0

2 Conditions 69 61 3 4 0 1

3+ Conditions 109 97 10 1 0 1

Condition Unknown 4 3 0 1 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/ Prefers
Not to Answer 1 0 0 1 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 331 215 41 73 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
13 / 59

Powered ByPage 26 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q14a. History of Domestic Violence, Sexual Assault, Dating Violence, Stalking, or Human Trafficking

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Yes 235 166 67 0 2

No 274 198 76 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 6 3 3 0 0

Data Not Collected 7 7 0 0 0

Total 522 374 146 0 2

Q14b. Most recent experience of domestic violence, sexual assault, dating violence, stalking, or human trafficking

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Within the past three months 50 35 15 0 0

Three to six months ago 24 12 12 0 0

Six months to one year 23 12 9 0 2

One year ago, or more 132 101 31 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 5 5 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 1 1 0 0 0

Total 235 166 67 0 2

Q15. Living Situation

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Homeless Situations

Place not meant for habitation 348 247 100 0 1

Emergency shelter, including
hotel or motel paid for with
emergency shelter voucher,
Host Home shelter

103 79 24 0 0

Safe Haven 2 0 2 0 0

Subtotal 453 326 126 0 1

Institutional Situations

Foster care home or foster
care group home 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
14 / 59

Powered ByPage 27 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q15. Living Situation

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Hospital or other residential
non-psychiatric medical facility 2 2 0 0 0

Jail, prison, or juvenile
detention facility 0 0 0 0 0

Long-term care facility or
nursing home 1 0 1 0 0

Psychiatric hospital or other
psychiatric facility 1 1 0 0 0

Substance abuse treatment
facility or detox center 11 4 7 0 0

Subtotal 15 7 8 0 0

Temporary Situations

Transitional housing for
homeless persons (including
homeless youth)

3 3 0 0 0

Residential project or halfway
house with no homeless
criteria

2 2 0 0 0

Hotel or motel paid for without
emergency shelter voucher 13 4 9 0 0

Host Home (non-crisis) 1 1 0 0 0

Staying or living in a friend's
room, apartment, or house 11 8 2 0 1

Staying or living in a family
member's room, apartment, or
house

7 7 0 0 0

Subtotal 37 25 11 0 1

Permanent Situations

Rental by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 5 5 0 0 0

Rental by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 10 9 1 0 0

Owned by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Owned by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 1 1 0 0 0

Subtotal 16 15 1 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 1 1 0 0 0

Subtotal 1 1 0 0 0

Total 522 374 146 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
15 / 59

Powered ByPage 28 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q16. Cash Income - Ranges

Program Applicability: All Projects

Income at Start Income at Latest Annual
Assessment for Stayers

Income at Exit for
Leavers

No Income 198 0 77

$1 - $150 3 0 2

$151 - $250 2 0 0

$251 - $500 23 0 9

$501 - $1,000 87 0 50

$1,001 - $1,500 120 0 45

$1,501 - $2,000 30 0 13

$2,001+ 55 0 22

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers Not to Answer 1 0 0

Data Not Collected 1 0 46

Number of adult stayers not yet required to have an
annual assessment 255

Number of adult stayers without required annual
assessment 1

Total Adults 520 256 264

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
16 / 59

Powered ByPage 29 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q17. Cash Income - Sources

Program Applicability: All Projects

Income at Start Income at Latest Annual
Assessment for Stayers

Income at Exit for
Leavers

Earned Income 108 0 47

Unemployment Insurance 5 0 2

Supplemental Security Income (SSI) 68 0 19

Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) 49 0 22

VA Service - Connected Disability Compensation 1 0 0

VA Non-Service Connected Disability Pension 0 0 0

Private Disability Insurance 0 0 0

Worker's Compensation 0 0 1

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) 47 0 23

General Assistance (GA) 39 0 32

Retirement Income from Social Security 21 0 6

Pension or retirement income from a former job 5 0 0

Child Support 12 0 4

Alimony and other spousal support 1 0 0

Other Source 15 0 8

Adults with Income Information at Start and Annual
Assessment/Exit 0 218

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
17 / 59

Powered ByPage 30 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q18. Client Cash Income Category - Earned/Other Income Category - by Start and Annual Assessment/Exit Status

Program Applicability: All Projects

Number of Adults
at Start

Number of Adults at Annual
Assessment (Stayers)

Number of Adults at
Exit (Leavers)

Adults with Only Earned Income (i.e., Employment
Income) 92 0 38

Adults with Only Other Income 213 0 94

Adults with Both Earned and Other Income 15 0 9

Adults with No Income 198 0 77

Adults with Client Doesn't Know/Prefers Not to
Answer Income Information 1 0 0

Adults with Missing Income Information 1 0 46

Number of adult stayers not yet required to have an
annual assessment 255

Number of adult stayers without required annual
assessment 1

Total Adults 520 256 264

1 or more source of income 320 0 141

Adults with Income Information at Start and Annual
Assessment/Exit 0 218

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
18 / 59

Powered ByPage 31 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q19a1. Client Cash Income Change - Income Source - by Start and Latest Status

Program Applicability: All Projects

Income
Change by

Income
Category
(Universe:

Adult Stayers
with Income

Information at
Start and
Annual

Assessment)

Had Income
Category at

Start and Did
Not Have It at

Annual
Assessment

Retained
Income

Category But
Had Less $ at

Annual
Assessment
Than at Start

Retained
Income

Category and
Same $ at

Annual
Assessment as

at Start

Retained
Income

Category and
Increased $ at

Annual
Assessment

Did Not Have
the Income
Category at

Start and
Gained the

Income
Category at

Annual
Assessment

Did Not Have
the Income
Category at
Start or at

Annual
Assessment

Total Adults
(including those

with No
Income)

Performance
Measure:

Adults who
Gained or
Increased

Income from
Start to Annual
Assessment,
Average Gain

Performance
measure:
Percent of

persons who
accomplished
this measure

Number of
Adults with
Earned
Income(i.e.,
Employment
Income)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Average
Change in
Earned
Income

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Number of
Adults with
Other Income

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Average
Change in
Other Income

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Number of
Adults with
Any Income
(i.e., Total
Income)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Average
Change in
Overall
Income

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
19 / 59

Powered ByPage 32 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q19a2. Client Cash Income Change - Income Source - by Start and Exit

Program Applicability: All Projects

Income
Change by

Income
Category
(Universe:

Adult Leavers
with Income

Information at
Start and Exit)

Had Income
Category at

Start and Did
Not Have It at

Exit

Retained
Income

Category But
Had Less $ at
Exit Than at

Start

Retained
Income

Category and
Same $ at Exit

as at Start

Retained
Income

Category and
Increased $ at

Exit

Did Not Have
the Income
Category at

Start and
Gained the

Income
Category at Exit

Did Not Have
the Income
Category at

Start or at Exit

Total Adults
(including those

with No
Income)

Performance
Measure:

Adults who
Gained or
Increased

Income from
Start to Exit,

Average Gain

Performance
measure:
Percent of

persons who
accomplished
this measure

Number of
Adults with
Earned
Income(i.e.,
Employment
Income)

2 0 41 3 3 168 218 6 2.75%

Average
Change in
Earned
Income

-1,600.00 0.00 533.33 1,155.00 844.17

Number of
Adults with
Other Income

1 2 94 2 5 114 218 7 3.21%

Average
Change in
Other Income

-498.00 -1,784.98 50.00 906.40 661.71

Number of
Adults with
Any Income
(i.e., Total
Income)

3 2 127 5 7 74 218 12 5.50%

Average
Change in
Overall
Income

-1,232.67 -1,784.98 340.00 1,142.43 11.14 808.08

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
20 / 59

Powered ByPage 33 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q19b. Disabling Conditions and Income for Adults at Exit

Program Applicability: All Projects

AO: Adult
with

Disabling
Condition

AO: Adult
without

Disabling
Condition

AO: Total
Adults

AO: % with
Disabling
Condition
by Source

AC: Adult
with

Disabling
Condition

AC: Adult
without

Disabling
Condition

AC: Total
Adults

AC: %
with

Disabling
Condition
by Source

UK: Adult
with

Disabling
Condition

UK: Adult
without

Disabling
Condition

UK: Total
Adults

UK: %
with

Disabling
Condition
by Source

Earned Income 11 12 23 47.83% 5 19 24 20.83% 0 0 0 0.00%

Unemployment
Insurance 0 0 0 0.00% 0 2 2 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Supplemental
Security Income
(SSI)

15 1 16 93.75% 2 1 3 66.67% 0 0 0 0.00%

Social Security
Disability Insurance
(SSDI)

18 0 18 100.00% 3 1 4 75.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

VA
Service-Connected
Disability
Compensation

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

VA
Non-Service-Connect
ed Disability Pension

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Private Disability
Insurance 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Worker's
Compensation 1 0 1 100.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Temporary
Assistance for Needy
Families (TANF)

1 1 2 50.00% 6 15 21 28.57% 0 0 0 0.00%

General Assistance
(GA) 8 3 11 72.73% 9 12 21 42.86% 0 0 0 0.00%

Retirement Income
from Social Security 6 0 6 100.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Pension or retirement
income from a former
job

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Child Support 0 0 0 0.00% 2 2 4 50.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Alimony and other
spousal support 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Other source 2 1 3 66.67% 0 5 5 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

No Sources 43 13 56 76.79% 2 18 20 10.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Unduplicated Total
Adults 96 31 127 24 66 90 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
21 / 59

Powered ByPage 34 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q20a. Type of Non-Cash Benefit Sources

Program Applicability: All Projects

Benefit at Start Benefit at Latest Annual
Assessment for Stayers

Benefit at Exit for
Leavers

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program
(SNAP)(Previously known as Food Stamps) 319 0 137

Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women,
Infants, and Children (WIC) 53 0 34

TANF Child Care Services 6 0 4

TANF Transportation Services 1 0 1

Other TANF-Funded Services 1 0 1

Other Source 11 0 9

Q20b. Number of Non-Cash Benefit Sources

Program Applicability: All Projects

Benefit at Start Benefit at Latest Annual
Assessment for Stayers

Benefit at Exit for
Leavers

No Sources 167 0 58

1 + Source(s) 348 0 154

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers Not to Answer 1 0 1

Data Not Collected/Not stayed long enough for
Annual Assessment 4 256 44

Total 520 256 257

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
22 / 59

Powered ByPage 35 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q21. Health Insurance

Program Applicability: All Projects

At Start At Annual Assessment for
Stayers

At Exit for Leavers

MEDICAID 574 0 277

MEDICARE 151 0 58

State Children's Health Insurance Program 4 0 4

Veteran's Health Administration (VHA) 2 0 0

Employer-Provided Health Insurance 8 0 1

Health Insurance obtained through COBRA 0 0 0

Private Pay Health Insurance 6 0 1

State Health Insurance for Adults 8 0 4

Indian Health Services Program 0 0 0

Other 38 0 25

No Health Insurance 31 0 14

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers Not to Answer 3 0 2

Data not Collected 1 1 67

Number of Stayers not yet Required to Have an
Annual Assessment 330

1 Source of Health Insurance 634 0 296

More than 1 Source of Health Insurance 75 0 34

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
23 / 59

Powered ByPage 36 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q22a1. Length of Participation - CoC Projects

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Leavers Stayers

30 days or less 207 102 105

31 to 60 days 196 118 78

61 to 90 days 130 71 59

91 to 180 days 148 98 50

181 to 365 days 61 23 38

366 to 730 days (1-2 Yrs) 2 1 1

731 to 1,095 days (2-3 Yrs) 0 0 0

1,096 to 1,460 days (3-4 Yrs) 0 0 0

1,461 to 1,825 days (4-5 Yrs) 0 0 0

More than 1,825 days (> 5 Yrs) 0 0 0

Total 744 413 331

Q22b. Average and Median Length of Participation in Days

Program Applicability: All Projects

Leavers Stayers

Average Length 72 76

Median Length 56 58

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
24 / 59

Powered ByPage 37 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q22c. Length of Time between Project Start Date and Housing Move-in Date

Program Applicability: PH - Rapid Re-Housing; PH - Permanent Supportive Housing

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

7 days or less 0 0 0 0 0

8 to 14 days 0 0 0 0 0

15 to 21 days 0 0 0 0 0

22 to 30 days 0 0 0 0 0

31 to 60 days 0 0 0 0 0

61 to 90 days 0 0 0 0 0

91 to 180 days 0 0 0 0 0

181 to 365 days 0 0 0 0 0

366 to 730 days (1-2 Yrs) 0 0 0 0 0

Total (persons moved into
housing) 0 0 0 0 0

Average length of time to
housing 0 0 0 0 0

Persons who were exited
without move-in 0 0 0 0 0

Total persons 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
25 / 59

Powered ByPage 38 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q22e. Length of Time Prior to Housing - based on 3.917 Date Homelessness Started

Program Applicability: ES-EE, ES-NbN, TH, PSH, SH, PH & RRH

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

7 days or less 0 0 0 0 0

8 to 14 days 0 0 0 0 0

15 to 21 days 0 0 0 0 0

22 to 30 days 0 0 0 0 0

31 to 60 days 0 0 0 0 0

61 to 90 days 0 0 0 0 0

91 to 180 days 0 0 0 0 0

181 to 365 days 0 0 0 0 0

366 to 730 days (1-2 Yrs) 0 0 0 0 0

731 days or more 0 0 0 0 0

Total (persons moved into
housing) 0 0 0 0 0

Not yet moved into housing 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0

Total persons 0 0 0 0 0

Q22f. Length of Time between Project Start Date and Housing Move-in Date by Race and Ethnicity

Program Applicability: PH - Rapid Re-Housing; PH - Permanent Supportive Housing

American
Indian,
Alaska

Native, or
Indigenous

Asian or
Asian

American

Black,
African

American, or
African

Hispanic/
Latina/e/o

Middle
Eastern or

North
African

Native
Hawaiian or

Pacific
Islander

White At Least 1
Race and
Hispanic/
Latina/e/o

Multi-racial
(does not
include

Hispanic/
Latina/e/o)

Unknown
(Doesnâ��t
Know,

Prefers not
to Answer,
Data not

Collected)

Persons Moved Into
Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Persons Exited
Without Move-In 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Average time to
Move-In 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median time to
Move-In 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
26 / 59

Powered ByPage 39 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q22g. Length of Time Prior to Housing by Race and Ethnicity - based on 3.917 Date Homelessness Started

Program Applicability: ES-EE, ES-NbN, TH, PSH, SH, PH & RRH

American
Indian,
Alaska

Native, or
Indigenous

Asian or
Asian

American

Black,
African

American, or
African

Hispanic/
Latina/e/o

Middle
Eastern or

North
African

Native
Hawaiian or

Pacific
Islander

White At Least 1
Race and
Hispanic/
Latina/e/o

Multi-racial
(does not
include

Hispanic/
Latina/e/o)

Unknown
(Doesnâ��t
Know,

Prefers not
to Answer,
Data not

Collected)

Persons Moved Into
Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Persons Not Yet
Moved Into Housing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Average time to
Move-In 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Median time to
Move-In 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
27 / 59

Powered ByPage 40 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q23c. Exit Destination

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Homeless Situations

Place not meant for habitation
(e.g., a vehicle, an abandoned
building, bus/train/subway
station/airport or anywhere
outside)

86 45 41 0 0

Emergency shelter, including
hotel or motel paid for with
emergency shelter voucher,
Host Home shelter

34 23 11 0 0

Safe Haven 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 120 68 52 0 0

Institutional Situations

Foster care home or foster
care group home 0 0 0 0 0

Hospital or other residential
non-psychiatric medical facility 1 1 0 0 0

Jail, prison, or juvenile
detention facility 1 1 0 0 0

Long-term care facility or
nursing home 0 0 0 0 0

Psychiatric hospital or other
psychiatric facility 1 1 0 0 0

Substance abuse treatment
facility or detox center 5 3 2 0 0

Subtotal 8 6 2 0 0

Temporary Situations

Transitional housing for
homeless persons (including
homeless youth)

88 2 86 0 0

Residential project or halfway
house with no homeless
criteria

1 1 0 0 0

Hotel or motel paid for without
emergency shelter voucher 1 1 0 0 0

Host Home (non-crisis) 0 0 0 0 0

Staying or living with family,
temporary tenure (e.g., room,
apartment, or house)

6 6 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
28 / 59

Powered ByPage 41 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q23c. Exit Destination

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Staying or living with friends,
temporary tenure (e.g., room,
apartment, or house)

4 4 0 0 0

Moved from one HOPWA
funded project to HOPWA TH 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 100 14 86 0 0

Permanent Situations

Staying or living with family,
permanent tenure 20 3 17 0 0

Staying or living with friends,
permanent tenure 2 2 0 0 0

Moved from one HOPWA
funded project to HOPWA PH 0 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 33 5 28 0 0

Rental by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 39 21 18 0 0

Owned by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 1 0 1 0 0

Owned by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 95 31 64 0 0

Other Situations

No Exit Interview completed 67 25 42 0 0

Other 20 13 7 0 0

Deceased 1 0 1 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 2 2 0 0 0

Subtotal 90 40 50 0 0

TOTAL 413 159 254 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
29 / 59

Powered ByPage 42 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q23c. Exit Destination

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Total persons exiting to
positive housing destinations 95 31 64 0 0

Total persons exiting to
destinations that excluded
them from the calculation

2 1 1 0 0

Percentage of persons exiting
to positive housing destinations 23.11% 19.62% 25.30% 0.00% 0.00%

Q23d. Exit Destination - Subsidy Type of Persons Exiting to Rental by Client With An Ongoing Subsidy

Program Applicability: All Projects except Homelessness Prevention

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

GPD TIP housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

VASH housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

RRH or equivalent subsidy 14 6 8 0 0

HCV voucher (tenant or project
based) (not dedicated) 7 4 3 0 0

Public housing unit 0 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, with other
ongoing housing subsidy 8 4 4 0 0

Housing Stability Voucher 1 1 0 0 0

Family Unification Program
Voucher (FUP) 3 0 3 0 0

Foster Youth to Independence
Initiative (FYI) 0 0 0 0 0

Permanent Supportive Housing 3 3 0 0 0

Other permanent housing
dedicated for formerly
homeless persons

2 2 0 0 0

TOTAL 38 20 18 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
30 / 59

Powered ByPage 43 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q23e. Exit Destination Type by Race and Ethnicity

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total American
Indian,
Alaska

Native, or
Indigenous

Asian or
Asian

American

Black,
African

American, or
African

Hispanic/
Latina/e/o

Middle
Eastern or

North
African

Native
Hawaiian
or Pacific
Islander

White At Least 1
Race and
Hispanic/
Latina/e/o

Multi-racial
(does not
include

Hispanic/
Latina/e/o)

Unknown
(Doesnâ��t
Know,

Prefers not
to Answer,
Data not

Collected)

Homeless
Situations 120 4 0 6 12 1 0 43 49 0 5

Institutional
Situations 8 0 0 0 2 0 0 3 3 0 0

Temporary
Housing
Situations

100 1 2 1 43 0 0 18 35 0 0

Permanent
Housing
Situations

95 1 0 1 17 0 1 32 39 1 3

Other Situations 90 2 0 4 18 0 0 25 33 1 7

Total 413 8 2 12 92 1 1 121 159 2 15

Q24b. Moving On Assistance Provided to Households in PSH

Program Applicability: PH - Permanent Supportive Housing

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Subsidized housing application
assistance 0 0 0 0 0

Financial assistance for
Moving On (e.g., security
deposit, moving expenses)

0 0 0 0 0

Non-financial assistance for
Moving On (e.g., housing
navigation, transition support)

0 0 0 0 0

Housing referral/placement 0 0 0 0 0

Other (please specify) 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
31 / 59

Powered ByPage 44 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q24c. Sexual Orientation of Adults in PSH

Program Applicability: PH - Permanent Supportive Housing

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Heterosexual 0 0 0 0 0

Gay 0 0 0 0 0

Lesbian 0 0 0 0 0

Bisexual 0 0 0 0 0

Questioning/Unsure 0 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data not collected 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
32 / 59

Powered ByPage 45 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q24d. Language of Persons Requiring Translation Assistance

Program Applicability: All Projects

Language Response (Top 20 Languages Selected) Total Persons Requiring Translation Assistance

Spanish 30

American Sign Language 1

Different Preferred Language 0

Total 31

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
33 / 59

Powered ByPage 46 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25a. Number of Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and Adults Unknown Household
Type

Chronically Homeless Veteran 2 2 0 0

Non-Chronically Homeless
Veteran 5 4 1 0

Not a Veteran 507 363 144 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 1 1 0 0

Data Not Collected 5 4 1 0

Total 520 374 146 0

Q25b. Number of Veteran Households

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and Adults Unknown Household
Type

Chronically Homeless Veteran 2 2 0 0

Non-Chronically Homeless
Veteran 5 4 1 0

Not a Veteran 453 340 113 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 1 1 0 0

Data Not Collected 5 4 1 0

Total 466 351 115 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
34 / 59

Powered ByPage 47 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25c. Gender - Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and Adults Unknown Household
Type

Woman 0 0 0 0

Man 7 6 1 0

Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0

Transgender 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary 0 0 0 0

Questioning 0 0 0 0

Different Identity 0 0 0 0

Woman/Man 0 0 0 0

Woman/Culturally Specific
Identity 0 0 0 0

Woman/Transgender 0 0 0 0

Woman/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0

Woman/Questioning 0 0 0 0

Woman/Different Identity 0 0 0 0

Man/Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0

Man/Transgender 0 0 0 0

Man/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0

Man/Questioning 0 0 0 0

Man/Different Identity 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Transgender 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Questioning 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Different Identity 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Questioning 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Different Identity 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Questioning 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Different Identity 0 0 0 0

Questioning/Different Identity 0 0 0 0

More than 2 Gender Identities
Selected 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
35 / 59

Powered ByPage 48 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25c. Gender - Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and Adults Unknown Household
Type

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0

Total 7 6 1 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
36 / 59

Powered ByPage 49 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25d. Age - Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and Adults Unknown Household
Type

18-24 1 1 0 0

25-34 0 0 0 0

35-44 1 1 0 0

45-54 2 1 1 0

55-64 2 2 0 0

65+ 1 1 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer

Data Not Collected

Total 7 6 1 0

Q25i. Exit Destination - Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Homeless Situations

Place not meant for habitation
(e.g., a vehicle, an abandoned
building, bus/train/subway
station/airport or anywhere
outside)

0 0 0 0

Emergency shelter, including
hotel or motel paid for with
emergency shelter voucher,
Host Home shelter

0 0 0 0

Safe Haven 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 0 0 0 0

Institutional Situations

Foster care home or foster
care group home 0 0 0 0

Hospital or other residential
non-psychiatric medical facility 0 0 0 0

Jail, prison, or juvenile
detention facility 0 0 0 0

Long-term care facility or
nursing home 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
37 / 59

Powered ByPage 50 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25i. Exit Destination - Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Psychiatric hospital or other
psychiatric facility 0 0 0 0

Substance abuse treatment
facility or detox center 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 0 0 0 0

Temporary Situations

Transitional housing for
homeless persons (including
homeless youth)

0 0 0 0

Residential project or halfway
house with no homeless
criteria

0 0 0 0

Hotel or motel paid for without
emergency shelter voucher 0 0 0 0

Host Home (non-crisis) 0 0 0 0

Staying or living with family,
temporary tenure (e.g., room,
apartment, or house)

0 0 0 0

Staying or living with friends,
temporary tenure (e.g., room,
apartment, or house)

0 0 0 0

Moved from one HOPWA
funded project to HOPWA TH 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 0 0 0 0

Permanent Situations

Staying or living with family,
permanent tenure 2 1 1 0

Staying or living with friends,
permanent tenure 0 0 0 0

Moved from one HOPWA
funded project to HOPWA PH 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

Owned by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

Owned by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
38 / 59

Powered ByPage 51 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25i. Exit Destination - Veterans

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Subtotal 2 1 1 0

Other Situations

No Exit Interview completed 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

Deceased 0 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 2 1 1 0

Total persons exiting to
positive housing destinations 2 1 1 0

Total persons exiting to
destinations that excluded
them from the calculation

0 0 0 0

Percentage of persons exiting
to positive housing destinations 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 0.00%

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
39 / 59

Powered ByPage 52 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q25j. Exit Destination - Subsidy Type of Persons Exiting to Rental by Client With An Ongoing Subsidy - Veteran

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and Adults Unknown Household
Type

GPD TIP housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

VASH housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

RRH or equivalent subsidy 0 0 0 0

HCV voucher (tenant or project
based) (not dedicated) 0 0 0 0

Public housing unit 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, with other
ongoing housing subsidy 0 0 0 0

Housing Stability Voucher 0 0 0 0

Family Unification Program
Voucher (FUP) 0 0 0 0

Foster Youth to Independence
Initiative (FYI) 0 0 0 0

Permanent Supportive Housing 0 0 0 0

Other permanent housing
dedicated for formerly
homeless persons

0 0 0 0

TOTAL 0 0 0 0

Q26a. Chronic Homeless Status - Number of Households w/at least one or more CH person

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Chronically Homeless 217 205 11 0 1

Not Chronically Homeless 247 142 104 0 1

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 2 2 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 2 2 0 0 0

Total 468 351 115 0 2

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
40 / 59

Powered ByPage 53 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q26b. Number of Chronically Homeless Persons by Household

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Chronically Homeless 252 220 31 0 1

Not Chronically Homeless 481 150 330 0 1

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 2 2 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 9 2 7 0 0

Total 744 374 368 0 2

Q26c. Gender of Chronically Homeless Persons

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Woman 116 98 17 0 1

Man 134 120 14 0 0

Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender 1 1 0 0 0

Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Man 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Culturally Specific
Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Transgender 1 1 0 0 0

Man/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
41 / 59

Powered ByPage 54 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q26c. Gender of Chronically Homeless Persons

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Culturally Specific
Identity/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Questioning/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

More than 2 Gender Identities
Selected 0 0 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0

Total 252 220 31 0 1

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
42 / 59

Powered ByPage 55 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q26d. Age of Chronically Homeless Persons

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

0-17 17 17 0 0

18-24 16 14 2 0

25-34 28 24 4 0

35-44 60 56 4 0

45-54 41 38 3 0

55-64 60 59 1 0

65+ 29 29 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 1 0 0 1

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0

Total 252 220 31 0 1

Q26e. Physical and Mental Health Conditions - Chronically Homeless Persons

Program Applicability: All Projects

Conditions At Start Conditions at Latest
Assessment for Stayers

Conditions at Exit for Leavers

Mental Health Disorder 153 86 61

Alcohol Use Disorder 20 10 8

Drug Use Disorder 71 30 40

Both Alcohol and Drug Use
Disorders 32 20 9

Chronic Health Condition 141 80 56

HIV/AIDS 2 2 1

Developmental Disability 43 25 17

Physical Disability 136 78 54

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
43 / 59

Powered ByPage 56 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27a. Age of Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

12-17 0 0 0 0

18-24 53 40 13 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer

Data Not Collected

Total 53 40 13 0 0

Q27b. Parenting Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total parenting youth Total children of
parenting youth

Total Persons Total Households

Parent youth < 18 0 0 0 0

Parent youth 18 to 24 12 13 25 10

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
44 / 59

Powered ByPage 57 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27c. Gender - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Woman 28 17 11 0 0

Man 23 21 2 0 0

Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender 1 1 0 0 0

Non-Binary 1 1 0 0 0

Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Man 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Culturally Specific
Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Woman/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Culturally Specific Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Man/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Transgender 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Culturally Specific
Identity/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Non-Binary 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Transgender/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Questioning 0 0 0 0 0

Non-Binary/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

Questioning/Different Identity 0 0 0 0 0

More than 2 Gender Identities
Selected 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
45 / 59

Powered ByPage 58 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27c. Gender - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0

Total 53 40 13 0 0

Q27d. Living Situation - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Homeless Situations

Place not meant for habitation 34 27 7 0 0

Emergency shelter, including
hotel or motel paid for with
emergency shelter voucher,
Host Home shelter

3 2 1 0 0

Safe Haven 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 37 29 8 0 0

Institutional Situations

Foster care home or foster
care group home 0 0 0 0 0

Hospital or other residential
non-psychiatric medical facility 0 0 0 0 0

Jail, prison, or juvenile
detention facility 0 0 0 0 0

Long-term care facility or
nursing home 0 0 0 0 0

Psychiatric hospital or other
psychiatric facility 0 0 0 0 0

Substance abuse treatment
facility or detox center 1 1 0 0 0

Subtotal 1 1 0 0 0

Temporary Situations

Transitional housing for
homeless persons (including
homeless youth)

1 1 0 0 0

Residential project or halfway
house with no homeless
criteria

1 1 0 0 0

Hotel or motel paid for without
emergency shelter voucher 2 0 2 0 0

Host Home (non-crisis) 0 0 0 0 0

Staying or living in a friend's
room, apartment, or house 5 4 1 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
46 / 59

Powered ByPage 59 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27d. Living Situation - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Staying or living in a family
member's room, apartment, or
house

2 2 0 0 0

Subtotal 11 8 3 0 0

Permanent Situations

Rental by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 1 1 0 0 0

Rental by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 1 1 0 0 0

Owned by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Owned by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 2 2 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 0 0 0 0 0

Total 51 40 11 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
47 / 59

Powered ByPage 60 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27e. Length of Participation - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Leavers Stayers

30 days or less 11 3 8

31 to 60 days 16 16 0

61 to 90 days 11 7 4

91 to 180 days 12 12 0

181 to 365 days 2 2 0

366 to 730 days (1-2 Yrs) 1 0 1

731 to 1,095 days (2-3 Yrs) 0 0 0

1,096 to 1,460 days (3-4 Yrs) 0 0 0

1,461 to 1,825 days (4-5 Yrs) 0 0 0

More than 1,825 days (> 5 Yrs) 0 0 0

Total 53 40 13

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
48 / 59

Powered ByPage 61 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27f1. Exit Destination - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Homeless Situations

Place not meant for habitation
(e.g., a vehicle, an abandoned
building, bus/train/subway
station/airport or anywhere
outside)

8 8 0 0 0

Emergency shelter, including
hotel or motel paid for with
emergency shelter voucher,
Host Home shelter

2 2 0 0 0

Safe Haven 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 10 10 0 0 0

Institutional Situations

Foster care home or foster
care group home 0 0 0 0 0

Hospital or other residential
non-psychiatric medical facility 0 0 0 0 0

Jail, prison, or juvenile
detention facility 1 1 0 0 0

Long-term care facility or
nursing home 0 0 0 0 0

Psychiatric hospital or other
psychiatric facility 0 0 0 0 0

Substance abuse treatment
facility or detox center 1 1 0 0 0

Subtotal 2 2 0 0 0

Temporary Situations

Transitional housing for
homeless persons (including
homeless youth)

5 2 3 0 0

Residential project or halfway
house with no homeless
criteria

1 1 0 0 0

Hotel or motel paid for without
emergency shelter voucher 1 1 0 0 0

Host Home (non-crisis) 0 0 0 0 0

Staying or living with family,
temporary tenure (e.g., room,
apartment, or house)

2 2 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
49 / 59

Powered ByPage 62 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27f1. Exit Destination - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Staying or living with friends,
temporary tenure (e.g., room,
apartment, or house)

3 3 0 0 0

Moved from one HOPWA
funded project to HOPWA TH 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 12 9 3 0 0

Permanent Situations

Staying or living with family,
permanent tenure 4 1 3 0 0

Staying or living with friends,
permanent tenure 0 0 0 0 0

Moved from one HOPWA
funded project to HOPWA PH 0 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 3 1 2 0 0

Rental by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 3 2 1 0 0

Owned by client, with ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Owned by client, no ongoing
housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 10 4 6 0 0

Other Situations

No Exit Interview completed 5 3 2 0 0

Other 1 1 0 0 0

Deceased 0 0 0 0 0

Client Doesn't Know/Prefers
Not to Answer 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal 6 4 2 0 0

TOTAL 40 29 11 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
50 / 59

Powered ByPage 63 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27f1. Exit Destination - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

Total persons exiting to
positive housing destinations 10 4 6 0 0

Total persons exiting to
destinations that excluded
them from the calculation

0 0 0 0 0

Percentage of persons exiting
to positive housing destinations 25.00% 13.79% 54.55% 0.00% 0.00%

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
51 / 59

Powered ByPage 64 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27f2. Exit Destination - Subsidy Type of Persons Exiting to Rental by Client With An Ongoing Subsidy - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

GPD TIP housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

VASH housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

RRH or equivalent subsidy 2 1 1 0 0

HCV voucher (tenant or project
based) (not dedicated) 0 0 0 0 0

Public housing unit 0 0 0 0 0

Rental by client, with other
ongoing housing subsidy 0 0 0 0 0

Housing Stability Voucher 0 0 0 0 0

Family Unification Program
Voucher (FUP) 0 0 0 0 0

Foster Youth to Independence
Initiative (FYI) 0 0 0 0 0

Permanent Supportive Housing 0 0 0 0 0

Other permanent housing
dedicated for formerly
homeless persons

1 1 0 0 0

TOTAL 3 2 1 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
52 / 59

Powered ByPage 65 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27g. Cash Income - Sources - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Income at Start Income at Latest Annual
Assessment for Stayers

Income at Exit for
Leavers

Earned Income 20 0 14

Unemployment Insurance 1 0 0

Supplemental Security Income (SSI) 1 0 0

Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI) 0 0 0

VA Service - Connected Disability Compensation 0 0 0

VA Non-Service Connected Disability Pension 0 0 0

Private Disability Insurance 0 0 0

Worker's Compensation 0 0 0

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) 3 0 3

General Assistance (GA) 6 0 5

Retirement Income from Social Security 0 0 0

Pension or retirement income from a former job 0 0 0

Child Support 0 0 0

Alimony and other spousal support 0 0 0

Other Source 3 0 3

Adults with Income Information at Start and Annual
Assessment/Exit 0 38

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
53 / 59

Powered ByPage 66 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27h. Client Cash Income Category - Earned/Other Income Category - by Start and Annual Assessment/Exit Status -
Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Number of Youth By Income Category Number of Youth
at Start

Number of Youth at Annual
Assessment (Stayers)

Number of Youth at
Exit (Leavers)

Youth with Only Earned Income (i.e., Employment
Income) 18 0 12

Youth with Only Other Income 12 0 9

Youth with Both Earned and Other Income 2 0 2

Youth with No Income 21 0 15

Youth with Client Doesn't Know/Prefers Not to
Answer Income Information 0 0 0

Youth with Missing Income Information 0 0 2

Number of youth stayers not yet required to have an
annual assessment 12

Number of youth stayers without required annual
assessment 1

Total Youth 53 13 40

1 or more source of income 32 0 23

Youth with Income Information at Start and Annual
Assessment/Exit 0 38

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
54 / 59

Powered ByPage 67 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27i. Disabling Conditions and Income for Youth at Exit

Program Applicability: All Projects

A
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

A
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

A
O

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

A
O

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

A
C

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

A
C

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

A
C

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

A
C

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

C
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

C
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

C
O

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

C
O

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

U
K

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

U
K

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

U
K

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

U
K

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

Earned Income 5 6 11 45.45
% 1 2 3 33.33% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Unemployment
Insurance 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Supplemental
Security Income
(SSI)

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Social Security
Disability Insurance
(SSDI)

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

VA
Service-Connected
Disability
Compensation

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

VA
Non-Service-Connect
ed Disability Pension

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Private Disability
Insurance 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Worker's
Compensation 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Temporary
Assistance for Needy
Families (TANF)

1 1 2 50.00
% 1 0 1 100.00

% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

General Assistance
(GA) 0 1 1 0.00% 2 2 4 50.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Retirement Income
from Social Security 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Pension or retirement
income from a former
job

0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
55 / 59

Powered ByPage 68 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27i. Disabling Conditions and Income for Youth at Exit

Program Applicability: All Projects

A
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

A
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

A
O

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

A
O

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

A
C

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

A
C

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

A
C

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

A
C

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

C
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

C
O

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

C
O

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

C
O

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

U
K

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

 D
is

a
b

lin
g

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n

U
K

: 
Y

o
u

th
 w

it
h

o
u

t 
D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

U
K

: 
T

o
ta

l 
Y

o
u

th

U
K

: 
%

 w
it

h
 D

is
a

b
lin

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

 b
y 

S
o

u
rc

e

Child Support 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Alimony and other
spousal support 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Other source 2 0 2 100.00
% 0 1 1 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

No Sources 5 6 11 45.45
% 0 3 3 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00% 0 0 0 0.00%

Unduplicated Total
Youth 12 14 26 3 8 11 0 0 0 0 0 0

Q27j. Average and Median Length of Participation in Days - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Leavers Stayers

Average Length 80 66

Median Length 66 26

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
56 / 59

Powered ByPage 69 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27k. Length of Time between Project Start Date and Housing Move-in Date - Youth

Program Applicability: PH - Rapid Re-Housing; PH - Permanent Supportive Housing

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

7 days or less 0 0 0 0 0

8 to 14 days 0 0 0 0 0

15 to 21 days 0 0 0 0 0

22 to 30 days 0 0 0 0 0

31 to 60 days 0 0 0 0 0

61 to 90 days 0 0 0 0 0

91 to 180 days 0 0 0 0 0

181 to 365 days 0 0 0 0 0

366 to 730 days (1-2 Yrs) 0 0 0 0 0

Total (persons moved into
housing) 0 0 0 0 0

Average length of time to
housing 0 0 0 0 0

Persons who were exited
without move-in 0 0 0 0 0

Total persons 0 0 0 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
57 / 59

Powered ByPage 70 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27l. Length of Time Prior to Housing - based on 3.917 Date Homelessness Started - Youth

Program Applicability: ES-EE, ES-NbN, TH, PSH, SH, PH & RRH

Total Without Children With Children and
Adults

With Only Children Unknown
Household Type

7 days or less 0 0 0 0 0

8 to 14 days 0 0 0 0 0

15 to 21 days 0 0 0 0 0

22 to 30 days 0 0 0 0 0

31 to 60 days 0 0 0 0 0

61 to 90 days 0 0 0 0 0

91 to 180 days 0 0 0 0 0

181 to 365 days 0 0 0 0 0

366 to 730 days (1-2 Yrs) 0 0 0 0 0

731 days or more 0 0 0 0 0

Total (persons moved into
housing) 0 0 0 0 0

Not yet moved into housing 0 0 0 0 0

Data Not Collected 0 0 0 0 0

Total persons 0 0 0 0 0

Q27m. Education Status - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Current school and attendance At Project Start At Project Exit

Not currently enrolled in any school or education course 0 0

Currently enrolled but not attending regularly 0 0

Currently enrolled and attending regularly 0 0

Client Doesn't Know / Prefers Not to Answer 0 0

Data not collected 0 0

For those not enrolled - most recent education status

K12: Graduated from high school 0 0

K12: Obtained GED 0 0

K12: Dropped out 0 0

K12: Suspended 0 0

K12: Expelled 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
58 / 59

Powered ByPage 71 of 273



HUD Annual Performance
Report [FY 2024]

Housing for Health Partnership
Date Range: 08/01/2023 thru 04/12/2024

Agency cat. filter: Agency CoC

Enrollment CoC Filter: No

Funding Criteria: Not Based on Funding Source

Q27m. Education Status - Youth

Program Applicability: All Projects

Current school and attendance At Project Start At Project Exit

Higher education: Pursuing a credential but not currently attending 0 0

Higher education: Dropped out 0 0

Higher education: Obtained a credential/degree 0 0

Client Doesn't Know / Prefers Not to Answer 0 0

Data not collected 0 0

For those currently enrolled - current status

Pursuing a high school diploma or GED 0 0

Pursuing Associate Degree 0 0

Pursuing Bachelor Degree 0 0

Pursuing Graduate Degree 0 0

Pursuing other post-secondary credential 0 0

Client Doesn't Know / Prefers Not to Answer 0 0

Data not collected 0 0

Total persons 0 0

Fri Apr 12 06:07:24 AM 2024
59 / 59

Powered ByPage 72 of 273



Report/Discussion Item 8:  California State Auditor Report on Homelessness 
Investments and Local Jurisdictions (San Jose and San Diego) – Potential Impacts 
and Local Actions 

(Presentation) – Robert Ratner 

Background 

In 2023, the California Legislative Audit Committee requested an audit of the State’s 
homelessness funding, including an evaluation of the efforts undertaken by the State and two 
cities to monitor the cost-effectiveness of such spending.  On April 9, 2024, the State Auditor 
released two reports to address the Audit Committee request.  The media, elected leader, and 
state staff responses to the audit findings indicate a high probability of some future policy, 
funding, and public attitude shifts because of the findings.  Copies of the two audit reports are 
included in the Board packet. 

Some examples of media headlines in response to the audit: 

“California GOP leaders call for accountability after state can’t account for $24B spent on 
homeless crisis” 

“California failed to track how billions are spent to combat homelessness programs” 

“How effective are California’s homelessness programs?  Audit finds state hasn’t been keeping 
track.” 

Some published quotes from elected leaders and state staff related to the audit include:  

“Despite (the auditor office’s) professionalism and best efforts, they are at this time unable to ... 
draw conclusions about things like whether or not overhead is appropriate or too high,” 
Democratic state Sen. Dave Cortese said, though he stopped short of calling for a halt to future 
spending on the homelessness issue. 

“California is facing a concerning paradox: despite an exorbitant amount of dollars spent, the 
state’s homeless population is not slowing down,” Republican state Senator Roger Niello said in 
a statement. “These audit results are a wake-up call for a shift toward solutions that prioritize 
self-sufficiency and cost effectiveness.” 

“The State Auditor’s findings highlight the significant progress made in recent years to address 
homelessness at the state level, including the completion of a statewide assessment of 
homelessness programs. But it also underscores a need to continue to hold local governments 
accountable, who are primarily responsible for implementing these programs and collecting 
data on outcomes that the state can use to evaluate program effectiveness,” the statement 
from the California Interagency Council on Homelessness reads. 

Page 73 of 273



For purposes of discussion, Housing for Health staff explored a simple alternative use of the $24 
billion statewide investment in the issue of homelessness. 

For $24B over 5 years, the state could have provided a $2,000/month housing subsidy for five 
years to approximately 174,000 households with 15% of the total funding set aside for subsidy 
administration.  In 2023 point-in-time count data for California, indicated 181,399 people were 
experiencing homelessness.  

Potential Discussion Questions 

• How should Housing for Health Partnership respond to and prepare for the impacts of 
the state audit and associated media attention? 
 

• What prevents public investments in long-term housing subsidies to address 
homelessness? 
 

• Other questions…. 

Page 74 of 273



Homelessness in California
The State Must Do More to Assess 
the Cost‑Effectiveness of Its 
Homelessness Programs

April 2024

REPORT 2023‑102.1

Page 75 of 273



For questions regarding the contents of this report, please contact our Communications Office at  916.445.0255
This report is also available online at www.auditor.ca.gov   |   Alternative format reports available upon request   |   Permission is granted to reproduce reports

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200  |  Sacramento  |  CA  |  95814
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR

916.445.0255    |    TTY  916.445.0033

1.800.952.5665

For complaints of state employee misconduct,  
contact us through the Whistleblower Hotline:

Don’t want to miss any of our reports? Subscribe to our email list at     auditor.ca.gov

Page 76 of 273



621 Capitol  Mall,  Suite 1200    |     Sacramento,  CA 95814    |     916.445.0255    |     916.327.0019 fax    |     w w w. a u d i t o r. c a . g o v

Mike Tilden  Chief Deputy

Grant Parks  State Auditor

April 9, 2024 
2023‑102.1

The Governor of California 
President pro Tempore of the Senate 
Speaker of the Assembly 
State Capitol 
Sacramento, California 95814

Dear Governor and Legislative Leaders:

The Joint Legislative Audit Committee requested an audit of the State’s homelessness funding, 
including an evaluation of the efforts undertaken by the State and two cities to monitor the 
cost‑effectiveness of such spending. The following report (2023‑102.1) focuses primarily on 
the State’s activities, in particular the California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH)—
while a separate report (2023‑102.2) details our findings and conclusions for the two cities we 
reviewed—San José and San Diego. In general, this report concludes that the State must do more 
to assess the cost‑effectiveness of its homelessness programs.

The State lacks current information on the ongoing costs and outcomes of its homelessness 
programs, because Cal ICH has not consistently tracked and evaluated the State’s efforts to prevent 
and end homelessness. Although Cal ICH reported in 2023 financial information covering fiscal 
years 2018–19 through 2020–21 related to all state‑funded homelessness programs, it has not 
continued to track and report this data since that time, despite the significant amount of additional 
funding the State awarded to these efforts in the past two years. Cal ICH has also not aligned 
its action plan to end homelessness with its statutory goals to collect financial information and 
ensure accountability and results. Thus, it lacks assurance that the actions it takes will effectively 
enable it to achieve those goals. Another significant gap in the State’s ability to assess programs’ 
effectiveness is that it does not have a consistent method for gathering information on the costs 
and outcomes for individual programs.

We also reviewed five state‑funded homelessness programs to assess their cost‑effectiveness. After 
comparing reported costs and outcomes to alternative possible courses of action, we determined 
that the Department of Housing and Community Development’s Homekey program and the 
California Department of Social Services’ CalWORKs Housing Support Program appear to be 
cost‑effective. However, we were unable to assess the cost‑effectiveness of three other programs 
we reviewed because the State has not collected sufficient data on the outcomes of these programs. 
Among the recommendations we make is that the Legislature mandate reporting by state agencies 
on the costs and outcomes of their homelessness programs and that it require Cal ICH to compile 
and publicly report this information.

Respectfully submitted,

GRANT PARKS 
California State Auditor

Page 77 of 273



Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report

Cal ICH California Interagency Council on Homelessness

CoC Continuum of Care

CDSS California Department of Social Services

ERF Encampment Resolution Funding

HCD California Department of Housing and Community Development

HHAP Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention

HMIS Homeless Management Information System

HUD U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

PIT count point-in-time count

SRAP State Rental Assistance Program

iv CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 78 of 273



Contents
Summary 1

Introduction 3

Cal ICH Has Not Consistently Tracked and Evaluated the State’s 
Efforts to End Homelessness 11

Two of the Five State‑Funded Programs We Reviewed Are Likely 
Cost‑Effective, but the State Lacks Clear Outcome Data for the 
Other Three 17

Recommendations 23

Other Areas Reviewed 25

Appendix A
Statewide Homelessness Assessment: Programs and Funding 31

Appendix B
Placements Into Interim and Permanent Housing 35

Appendix C
Scope and Methodology 37

Responses to the Audit
California Department of Social Services 39

California Interagency Council on Homelessness 41

California State Auditor’s Comment on the Response From 
the California Interagency Council on Homelessness 47

vCALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 79 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

vi CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 80 of 273



Summary
The Joint Legislative Audit Committee requested an audit of the State’s homelessness 
funding, including an evaluation of the efforts undertaken by the State and two cities 
to monitor the cost‑effectiveness of such spending. This report (2023‑102.1) focuses 
primarily on the State’s activities—in particular, the California Interagency Council on 
Homelessness (Cal ICH)—and a separate report (2023‑102.2) details our findings and 
conclusions about homelessness spending by the cities of San José and San Diego.

More than 180,000 Californians experienced homelessness in 2023—a 53 percent 
increase from 2013. To address this ongoing crisis, nine state agencies have collectively 
spent billions of dollars in state funding over the past five years administering at least 
30 programs dedicated to preventing and ending homelessness. Cal ICH is responsible for 
coordinating, developing, and evaluating the efforts of these nine agencies. In this audit, 
we reviewed the State’s efforts to track and evaluate the effectiveness of the homelessness 
programs that it funds, and we drew the following conclusions:

Cal ICH Has Not Consistently Tracked and Evaluated the State’s 
Efforts to End Homelessness 

In February 2021, we reported that the lack of coordination among the 
State’s homelessness programs had hampered the effectiveness of the 
State’s efforts to end homelessness.1 Subsequently, the Legislature required 
Cal ICH to evaluate and report financial information related to all 
state‑funded homelessness programs. Cal ICH published this assessment 
in 2023 and it covered fiscal years 2018–19 through 2020–21; however, it 
has not continued to track and report on this information since that time. 
Further, it has not aligned its action plan for addressing homelessness with 
its statutory goals, nor has it ensured that it collects accurate, complete, 
and comparable financial and outcome information from homelessness 
programs. Until Cal ICH takes these critical steps, the State will lack 
up‑to‑date information that it can use to make data‑driven policy decisions 
on how to effectively reduce homelessness.

Two of the Five State‑Funded Programs We Reviewed Are Likely 
Cost‑Effective, but the State Lacks Clear Outcome Data for the 
Other Three 

When we selected five of the State’s homelessness programs to review, we 
found that two were likely cost‑effective: Homekey and the CalWORKs 
Housing Support Program (housing support program). Specifically, 
Homekey refurbishes existing buildings to provide housing units to 

1 Homelessness in California: The State’s Uncoordinated Approach to Addressing Homelessness Has Hampered the Effectiveness of Its 
Efforts, Report 2020-112, February 2021.

Page 11

Page 17

1CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 81 of 273



individuals experiencing homelessness for hundreds of thousands of 
dollars less than the cost of newly built units. Similarly, the Housing 
Support Program’s provision of financial support to families who were 
at risk of or experiencing homelessness has cost the State less than it 
would have spent had these families remained or become homeless. 
However, we were unable to fully assess the other three programs we 
reviewed—the State Rental Assistance Program, the Encampment 
Resolution Funding Program, and the Homeless Housing, Assistance 
and prevention grant program—because the State has not collected 
sufficient data on the programs’ outcomes. In the absence of this 
information, the State cannot determine whether these programs 
represent the best use of its funds.

Agency Comments

Cal ICH agreed with our recommendations and identified actions it plans to take to 
implement them.

Although we did not make recommendations to the California Department of Social 
Services (CDSS), it indicated that it reviewed the draft report for factual inaccuracies 
and found none.

2 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 82 of 273



Introduction
Background 

The number of people experiencing homelessness in the State has increased significantly 
during the last 10 years. According to federal regulations, any individual or family who 
lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence is experiencing homelessness. 
When people primarily spend their nights in public or private locations not normally used 
for sleeping, it is considered unsheltered homelessness. When people stay in emergency 
shelters, transitional housing programs, or safe havens, it is considered sheltered 
homelessness. People experiencing homelessness face devastating challenges to their health 
and well‑being. For example, a study by the University of California, San Francisco from 
June 2023 found that two‑thirds of participants reported current mental health symptoms 
and that homelessness worsened participants’ mental health symptoms.2 Figure 1 shows 
that although the number of people experiencing homelessness in California decreased 
slightly from 2013 through 2015 to fewer than 116,000 individuals, it had increased to more 
than 181,000 individuals as of 2023. 

Figure 1
California’s Population of People Experiencing Homelessness Has Increased Since 2013

20152013 2017 2019 2022* 2023

Sheltered Count
Unsheltered Count

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

123,423
115,491

108,432

88,896

73,69972,998

57,97656,030

42,84642,63642,03945,554

181,399
171,521

151,278

131,532

115,738118,552

Source: The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) point-in-time (PIT) counts, Annual Homeless Assessment 
Report, and HUD memorandum.

Note: HUD requires Continuums of Care (CoCs) to conduct a PIT count of people experiencing sheltered homelessness annually and 
a count of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness at least biennially. To present the total number of people experiencing 
homelessness, we therefore used the year in which both categories of PIT counts were conducted.

* HUD waived the PIT count requirement for unsheltered homelessness in 2021 because of the COVID-19 pandemic, but it required 
the count again in 2022.

2 Toward a New Understanding: The California Statewide Study of People Experiencing Homelessness, a study published by the 
UCSF Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative in June 2023.

3CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 83 of 273



Figure 2 shows the three main phases of homelessness: entering homelessness, 
experiencing homelessness, and exiting homelessness. The University of California, 
San Francisco’s June 2023 study of people experiencing homelessness describes 
economic, social, and health factors that can lead to homelessness. The study found 
that high housing costs and low incomes had left participants vulnerable to 
homelessness and that the most frequently reported economic reason for entering 

homelessness was loss of income. Resolutions to 
this situation include preventing people from 
entering homelessness and helping people exit 
homelessness to live in permanent housing. Factors 
such as scarcity of housing, high cost of housing, 
lack of rental subsidies, and lack of assistance in 
identifying housing, create barriers to 
accessing housing.

Numerous Entities Have Roles in Funding 
Homelessness Services in California

Numerous entities are involved in funding 
homelessness prevention and support services, 
and permanent housing in California. Federal, 
state, and local governments all issue funding 
that flows through other entities before reaching 
people experiencing or at risk of homelessness. 
Most notably, the State recently increased its 
financial role in addressing housing affordability 
and homelessness. According to the Legislative 
Analyst’s Office, the State allocated nearly 
$24 billion for homelessness and housing during 
the last five fiscal years, or from 2018–19 through 
2022–23. 

Nine different state agencies funded and 
administered over 30 programs geared toward 
preventing and ending homelessness.3 These 
programs deliver a wide range of services, including 
creating temporary shelters, providing mental 
health treatment, and addressing encampments of 
those experiencing homelessness.4 As part of this 
audit, we reviewed the five state programs that the 
text box describes. We selected these programs 

3 This information comes from the State’s 2023 landscape assessment covering fiscal years 2018–19 through 2020–21. It is 
the best information available at this time because, as we describe in this report, the State does not centrally track this 
information for all existing programs. 

4 Encampments are places where a group of individuals experiencing homelessness reside, which are not intended for 
occupancy. Encampments can consist of tents, pallets, or shacks, and can also be a collection of individuals who reside in 
cars near each other.

Description of the Five Programs We Reviewed

Homekey: Created as an opportunity for local public 
agencies to purchase motels and other housing types to 
increase their communities’ capacity to respond to the 
COVID‑19 pandemic. The target population was individuals 
and families who are experiencing homelessness or at risk of 
homelessness.

Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention (HHAP): 
Provides local jurisdictions with funds to support regional 
coordination and expand or develop local capacity to 
address their immediate homelessness challenges.

State Rental Assistance Program (SRAP): Provides funds for 
rental arrears, prospective rental payments, utility and home 
energy cost arrears, utility and home energy costs, and 
other expenses related to housing incurred during or due, 
directly or indirectly, to the COVID‑19 pandemic. Eligible 
households must demonstrate a risk of homelessness or 
housing instability. 

Encampment Resolution Funding (ERF): Provides 
competitive grants to assist local jurisdictions in 
ensuring the wellness and safety of people experiencing 
homelessness in encampments by providing services 
and supports that address their immediate physical and 
mental wellness and result in meaningful paths to safe and 
stable housing. 

CalWORKs Housing Support Program (housing support 
program): Offers financial assistance and housing‑related 
wraparound supportive services, including rental assistance 
and case management. The program serves families 
with children enrolled in CalWORKs who are at risk of or 
experiencing homelessness.

Source: State law and program documentation.

4 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 84 of 273



based on multiple factors, including program funding amounts and services offered. 
Some of these programs initially received one‑time funding. If the Legislature 
provided a program with subsequent appropriations of one‑time funding, then 
this is referred to as a round. For example, the Legislature originally appropriated 
$650 million in one‑time funding in 2019 for the HHAP program, which was called 
HHAP Round 1. The Legislature has since approved more than $3 billion in additional 
funds through four subsequent rounds.

Figure 2
The Three Phases of Homelessness Each Have Mitigating Solutions

High housing costs and low incomes leave 
people vulnerable to homelessness. 
Individuals or families with annual 
incomes below 30 percent of median 
family income and who meet certain 
other criteria are categorized as at risk of 
homelessness.

People who lack a �xed, regular, and adequate 
nighttime residence are considered to be 
experiencing homelessness. This experience can 
be devastating to their health and well-being.

People are exiting homelessness when 
they �nd permanent housing. They 
often face barriers, such as housing 
scarcity and high costs. 

EXPERIENCING 
HOMELESSNESS

ENTERING 
HOMELESSNESS

EXITING
HOMELESSNESS

SUPPORTIVE 
SERVICE 

COORDINATION

OUTREACH INTERIM 
HOUSING

PREVENTION PERMANENT HOUSING

•  Permanent Supportive Housing
•  Rapid Rehousing
•  Other Permanent Housing
•  Financial Assistance
    e.g. rental assistance, security deposits 

•  Housing relocation and stabilization 
services, such as providing the following:

-  Moving costs
-  Security deposits
-  Utility payments

•  Rental assistance

Source: Federal regulations, Federal Strategic Plan, Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency documentation, and 
Toward a New Understanding: The California Statewide Study of People Experiencing Homelessness, a study published by the 
UCSF Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative in June 2023.

5CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 85 of 273



CoCs Are Central to California’s Provision of Homelessness Services

As Figure 3 shows, CoCs are central to the provision of homelessness services in 
California. In 1993 HUD established the CoC system. A CoC is a group composed 
of individuals and organizations, such as homeless service providers, cities, and 
counties, formed pursuant to federal regulations and recognized by the federal 
government to achieve the goal of ending homelessness within a geographic area. 
Congress codified the CoC system into law to promote communitywide commitment 
to the goal of ending homelessness by providing funding for the efforts of states, 
local governments, and nonprofit service providers to quickly re‑house people 
experiencing homelessness. The 44 CoCs that cover California’s 58 counties provide 
regional collaboration among member entities, including cities, but do not direct 
the actions of those member entities. The State and HUD provide funding through a 
variety of programs to CoCs and to the entities within CoCs, such as counties, cites, 
and nonprofits. Those entities are responsible for following the eligible uses and 
reporting requirements of the funding they receive.

Local jurisdictions and nonprofit service providers deliver various services that 
include identifying the needs of people experiencing homelessness, placing them into 
temporary shelters, providing them with supportive services, and funding housing 
for them. Data show that nearly 316,000 individuals experiencing homelessness 
accessed housing and services in California’s 44 CoCs in 2022.5 The COVID‑19 
pandemic, which occurred during the period we reviewed, had significant effects on 
homelessness and resulted in substantial funding being made available to address 
the crisis. 

The CoCs are also responsible for counting individuals who are experiencing 
homelessness. Specifically, to identify the number of people experiencing 
homelessness, HUD requires annual PIT counts of those experiencing sheltered 
homelessness and biennial counts of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 
On a single night in January, CoCs attempt to count the number of people, sheltered 
and unsheltered, experiencing homelessness. The information collected during the 
PIT count is critical. Specifically, it is the main source of data used by the federal 
government to track the number of people experiencing homelessness and to 
determine federal funding allocations to address homelessness. Additionally, states 
and local jurisdictions rely on PIT count data to inform their strategic planning 
efforts, funding allocations, and the effectiveness of homeless programs. 

5 Because the PIT count of people experiencing homelessness is on a single night in a given year, the amount of people 
experiencing homelessness derived from that count may be less than the total number of people experiencing 
homelessness at any point during an entire year.

6 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 86 of 273



Figure 3
There Are Many Layers to Homelessness Funding and Services

SERVICES

COUNTIES CITIES

NONPROFIT HOMELESSNESS 
SERVICE PROVIDERS

(such as, faith-based 
organizations, businesses, 

and public housing agencies)

SUBCONTRACTORSEach entity within a CoC uses 
multiple sources of funding to 

provide a variety of services 
that address di�erent aspects 

of homelessness.

HUD

CoCs include:

STATE

OTHER

FUNDING
The State and HUD provide 

funding through a variety of 
programs to CoCs and individual 

entities within CoCs such as 
counties, cities, and nonpro�ts. 

Each program has its own eligible 
uses, reporting requirements, and 

populations to serve. 

People At Risk of or 
Experiencing Homelessness

Services
Funding

Source: State law; grant agreements; documentation from Cal ICH, HUD, CDSS, HCD, cities, and counties; and a service provider’s website.

7CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 87 of 273



Cal ICH Coordinates, Evaluates, and Develops the 
State’s Efforts to Prevent and End Homelessness 

The Legislature created Cal ICH by statute 
in 2017 to coordinate the State’s efforts to 
prevent and end homelessness. As the top 
text box describes, Cal ICH (originally named 
the Homeless Coordinating and Financing 
Council) is composed of representatives 
from 18 different state entities as well as 
two members appointed by the Legislature 
from stakeholder organizations. Cal ICH’s 
responsibilities are in the 19 statutory goals 
that the Legislature has established. Some of 
these statutory goals include making policy and 
procedural recommendations to the Legislature, 
and collecting, compiling, and making available 
to the public financial data provided to Cal ICH 
from all state funded homelessness programs. 
Cal ICH is led by an executive officer and staffed 
by more than 40 employees. 

In 2021 Cal ICH adopted an Action Plan for 
Preventing and Ending Homelessness in 
California (action plan) to orient the State’s 
efforts and updated it in 2022 and again in 2023. 
The action plan details five action areas, which 
the text box lists. These action areas are divided 
into objectives, which are further divided into 
activities. Cal ICH also published a Statewide 
Homelessness Assessment (homelessness 
assessment) in 2023 for the Legislature. The 
Legislature’s intent in requesting this assessment 
was to obtain trustworthy information to 
connect funding allocated to prevent and end 
homelessness with established sheltering and 
housing resources, and to provide state agencies 
with accurate information for more precise 
forecasting to target future investments. The 
homelessness assessment covered fiscal years 
2018–19 through 2020–21 and reported how 
State funds were used to provide housing and 
services to people experiencing homelessness, 
demographic information about the population 
served by these programs, the types of services 
provided, and the outcomes of the programs. 
The report found that the State has expanded its 
role in addressing homelessness by investing in 
new programs—increasing its investment in 

Cal ICH Includes Leaders or Representatives From 
18 State Entities and Two Appointed Members

• Business, Consumer Services and Housing Agency

• California Health and Human Services Agency

• California Department of Transportation 

• California Department of Housing and 
Community Development

• California Department of Social Services

• California Housing Finance Agency (CalHFA)

• Department of Health Care Services (DHCS)

• California Department of Veterans Affairs

• California Department of Corrections and 
Rehabilitation (CDCR)

• California Tax Credit Allocation Committee (TCAC)

• California Department of Public Health

• California Department of Aging

• Department of Rehabilitation

• Department of State Hospitals

• California Workforce Development Board

• California Governor’s Office of Emergency 
Services (CalOES)

• California Department of Education

• California Community Colleges (CCCCO), University of 
California, or California State University

• Two appointments from stakeholder organizations

Source: State law.

Action Plan’s Five Action Areas

1. Strengthening our systems to better prevent and end 
homelessness in California. 

2. Equitably addressing the health, safety, and service 
needs of Californians experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness. 

3. Expanding communities’ capacity to provide safe and 
effective shelter and temporary housing.

4. Expanding and ensuring equitable access to permanent 
housing in our communities.

5. Preventing Californians from experiencing the crisis of 
homelessness.

Source: Cal ICH’s 2021 action plan and 2022 and 2023 updates.

8 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 88 of 273



homelessness‑focused programs by more than $1.5 billion, from $2.3 billion in fiscal 
year 2018–19 to $3.8 billion in 2020–21. Appendix A presents information about the 
programs and funding identified in the homelessness assessment. 

In addition, Cal ICH administers several grant programs intended to prevent and 
end homelessness, such as HHAP and the ERF program. However, the Legislature 
intends to transfer all grant programs administered by Cal ICH to the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) by July 2024. This 
transfer is intended to allow Cal ICH to better focus its efforts on providing statewide 
policy development and coordination. 

CoCs Collect Data About Homelessness in Local Information Systems

Federal regulations require each CoC to use a Homeless Management Information 
System (HMIS)—a local information technology system in which recipients and 
subrecipients of federal funding record and 
analyze client, service, and housing data for 
individuals and families at risk of or experiencing 
homelessness. The CoCs must designate a lead 
agency to operate the HMIS, and that lead agency 
must comply with HUD’s requirements for 
data collection, management, and reporting. In 
alignment with HUD’s requirements, the text box 
shows that CoCs collect certain data from entities 
that provide services to people experiencing 
homelessness. These services include the project 
types of homelessness prevention, street outreach, 
emergency shelter, and rapid re‑housing. The CoCs 
also collect demographic data about the people who 
access these services.

In 2021 Cal ICH launched the State’s Homeless Data Integration System (state 
data system). This Cal ICH data system securely collects data from each local 
HMIS. Cal ICH intended to provide the State with data that it can analyze to 
make data‑driven policy decisions to prevent and end homelessness in California. 
Individual CoCs send data from their local HMIS to the state data system quarterly. 
Cal ICH’s data system aggregates data from HMISs, including client‑level data. 

Examples of Data Collected

• Project Type

• Participant Demographics

• Participant Living Situation

• Project Funding Source

• Project Start and Exit Date

• Project Location

Source: 2024 HMIS Data Standards Manual.

9CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 89 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

10 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 90 of 273



Cal ICH Has Not Consistently Tracked and Evaluated 
the State’s Efforts to End Homelessness 

Key Points

• Cal ICH has not tracked and reported on the State’s funding for homelessness 
programs statewide since its 2023 assessment covering fiscal years 2018–19 through 
2020–21. Currently, it has no plans to perform a similar assessment in the future. In 
the absence of an up‑to‑date assessment, the State and its policymakers are likely to 
struggle to understand homelessness programs’ ongoing costs and achieved outcomes.

• Cal ICH has not aligned its action plan with its statutory goals. Consequently, it lacks 
assurance that the actions it takes will effectively enable it to reach those goals. 

• Cal ICH has not established a consistent method for gathering information on 
homelessness programs’ costs and outcomes. As a result, the State lacks information 
that would allow it to make data‑driven policy decisions and identify gaps in services.

• Cal ICH has neither ensured the accuracy of the information in the state data system, 
nor has it used this information to evaluate homelessness programs’ success.

Cal ICH Has Not Regularly Tracked Statewide Homelessness Funding

From July 2018 through June 2021, the State allocated billions of dollars in public funds to 
address homelessness. Given the financial resources the State has dedicated to reducing 
homelessness, transparency and accountability regarding its efforts are crucial. Nonetheless, 
in February 2021, we reported that the lack of coordination among the State’s homelessness 
programs had hampered the effectiveness of the State’s efforts to end homelessness.6 
We recommended at that time that Cal ICH collect and track funding data on all state 
homelessness programs. Subsequently, the Legislature set a goal in September 2021 for 
Cal ICH to report to the public the financial information of the State’s homelessness 
programs. Cal ICH’s goal to collect, compile, and make available to the public financial data 
from all state‑funded homelessness programs is the most recent of 19 statutory goals that the 
Legislature has established for Cal ICH since it was created in 2017. 

Collecting and reporting all state homelessness programs’ financial data allows for more 
complete and timely information about the State’s overall spending on homelessness. It also 
makes possible greater coordination of homelessness programs’ funding and may enable 
cost‑effectiveness comparisons. However, the law does not specify when or how often 
Cal ICH should report these data. In the absence of such requirements, Cal ICH has only 
done so once, as Figure 4 shows. Specifically, in response to separate legislation, Cal ICH 
conducted a one‑time statewide assessment of state‑administered programs and funding 
(homelessness assessment), covering the period of July 2018 through June 2021. 

6 Homelessness in California: The State’s Uncoordinated Approach to Addressing Homelessness Has Hampered the Effectiveness of Its 
Efforts, Report 2020-112, February 2021.

11CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 91 of 273



Figure 4
Cal ICH Does Not Regularly Collect Cost and Outcome Information, Limiting Its Evaluation 
of Effectiveness

Cal ICH

As a result, Cal ICH cannot aggregate 
or report the information to inform 
decision-makers. 

If Cal ICH begins collecting this information, it 
could present the costs and key outcomes of 
each state program, allowing decision-makers 
and the public to understand the cost per 
outcome and compare programs.

Cal ICH has only once collected information 
about costs and outcomes of all state 
programs, and that report is now outdated.

OUTDATED

Source: Analysis of state law and Cal ICH documentation.

Cal ICH believes the homelessness assessment fulfills the statutory goal. However, those 
results are now nearly three years old and out of date. Since the homelessness assessment, 
the State has awarded a significant amount of additional funding and created new 
homelessness programs that the assessment does not address.

If Cal ICH does not conduct these types of assessments on a periodic basis, the State will 
continue to lack complete and timely information about the ongoing costs and associated 
outcomes of its homelessness programs. We believe that the State’s policymakers and the 
public need up‑to‑date information to evaluate the efficacy and effectiveness of billions of 
dollars in state spending. Appendix A lists the State’s programs and funding amounts in 
the homelessness assessment.

Cal ICH Did Not Address Certain Statutory Goals in Its Action Plan 

Cal ICH adopted an action plan in 2021 for achieving its statutory goals, and it updated 
that plan in 2022. Cal ICH’s plan outlines five action areas—shown previously in the 
text box on page 8—and presents objectives and specific activities for preventing and 

Key Performance Measures From 
Cal ICH’s Action Plan

• The number of Californians experiencing sheltered 
and unsheltered homelessness at a point in time, 
including veterans, people experiencing chronic 
homelessness, families with children, adults, and 
unaccompanied youth.

• The number of Continuums of Care in California 
reporting increases versus decreases in the number 
of people experiencing sheltered and unsheltered 
homelessness within annual PIT counts.

• The number of people spending time in emergency 
shelter and transitional housing in California 
annually, including veterans, people experiencing 
chronic homelessness, families with children, adults, 
and unaccompanied youth.

• The number of Californians experiencing 
homelessness for the first time each year.

• The number of Californians successfully exiting 
homelessness each year.

• The number of Californians returning to 
homelessness each year.

• The number of children and youth experiencing 
homelessness at some point during the school 
year in California, including students in families and 
unaccompanied students.

• Comparison of California’s performance across 
these measures and data points to national and 
regional trends.

Source: Cal ICH’s Action Plan update 2022.

12 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 92 of 273



Figure 4
Cal ICH Does Not Regularly Collect Cost and Outcome Information, Limiting Its Evaluation 
of Effectiveness

Cal ICH

As a result, Cal ICH cannot aggregate 
or report the information to inform 
decision-makers. 

If Cal ICH begins collecting this information, it 
could present the costs and key outcomes of 
each state program, allowing decision-makers 
and the public to understand the cost per 
outcome and compare programs.

Cal ICH has only once collected information 
about costs and outcomes of all state 
programs, and that report is now outdated.

OUTDATED

Source: Analysis of state law and Cal ICH documentation.

Cal ICH believes the homelessness assessment fulfills the statutory goal. However, those 
results are now nearly three years old and out of date. Since the homelessness assessment, 
the State has awarded a significant amount of additional funding and created new 
homelessness programs that the assessment does not address.

If Cal ICH does not conduct these types of assessments on a periodic basis, the State will 
continue to lack complete and timely information about the ongoing costs and associated 
outcomes of its homelessness programs. We believe that the State’s policymakers and the 
public need up‑to‑date information to evaluate the efficacy and effectiveness of billions of 
dollars in state spending. Appendix A lists the State’s programs and funding amounts in 
the homelessness assessment.

Cal ICH Did Not Address Certain Statutory Goals in Its Action Plan 

Cal ICH adopted an action plan in 2021 for achieving its statutory goals, and it updated 
that plan in 2022. Cal ICH’s plan outlines five action areas—shown previously in the 
text box on page 8—and presents objectives and specific activities for preventing and 

Key Performance Measures From 
Cal ICH’s Action Plan

• The number of Californians experiencing sheltered 
and unsheltered homelessness at a point in time, 
including veterans, people experiencing chronic 
homelessness, families with children, adults, and 
unaccompanied youth.

• The number of Continuums of Care in California 
reporting increases versus decreases in the number 
of people experiencing sheltered and unsheltered 
homelessness within annual PIT counts.

• The number of people spending time in emergency 
shelter and transitional housing in California 
annually, including veterans, people experiencing 
chronic homelessness, families with children, adults, 
and unaccompanied youth.

• The number of Californians experiencing 
homelessness for the first time each year.

• The number of Californians successfully exiting 
homelessness each year.

• The number of Californians returning to 
homelessness each year.

• The number of children and youth experiencing 
homelessness at some point during the school 
year in California, including students in families and 
unaccompanied students.

• Comparison of California’s performance across 
these measures and data points to national and 
regional trends.

Source: Cal ICH’s Action Plan update 2022.

ending homelessness. However, the action plan 
does not define the efforts Cal ICH will take toward 
specific statutory goals, including those involving 
funding and outcomes. For example, none of the 
action plan’s listed objectives addresses Cal ICH’s 
statutory goals to collect financial information or 
ensure accountability and results. As a result of 
this misalignment, Cal ICH may achieve the plan’s 
objectives yet still not consistently deliver on the 
Legislature’s goals. 

The action plan’s key performance measures—which 
the text box lists—are similarly misaligned. Although 
these performance measures could be useful, they do 
not provide insight on specific program outcomes. 
Without such insight, Cal ICH again cannot fully 
achieve its statutory goal of ensuring accountability 
and results. Measuring program‑specific outcomes 
would allow Cal ICH to identify successful programs 
worthy of replicating and help policymakers 
prioritize investment. 

Cal ICH’s executive officer explained that the council 
recognizes that it needs to be led by its statutory 
goals. However, she also explained that its next 
updated plan may not include the statutory goals. 
Until Cal ICH aligns its action plan with its statutory 
goals, it may struggle to ensure that it meets those 
goals. To improve transparency and accountability 
for state spending, we recommend that the 
Legislature direct Cal ICH to require state agencies 
to report to it annually about homelessness spending 
and associated outcomes.

Cal ICH Has Not Established a Consistent Methodology 
for Gathering Information on Programs’ Costs and Outcomes 

Cal ICH has not established a central reporting method that is consistent across all of 
the State’s homelessness programs and provides uniform specifications for the data 
they report. The law that established Cal ICH does not require state agencies to report 
to it the funding and outcome information on all state homelessness programs they 
administer. Consequently, state agencies report their program costs and outcomes 
using a variety of methods that cannot be readily compared, including online 
dashboards and written reports to the Legislature.

Programs also collect different types of data. For example, Homekey is a program that 
is focused on building housing for people experiencing homelessness. The program 
required Homekey Round 1 grantees to report on the number of properties they 

13CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 93 of 273



produced and the location of these properties. HHAP—a different program than 
Homekey—also provides funding to grantees that could be used to develop housing, 
but the law that established that program did not require Round 1 grantees to report 
on the location of properties built with HHAP funds. 

State law requires state agencies to provide any relevant information about state 
homelessness programs upon request of Cal ICH, positioning Cal ICH to collect 
these data. To more usefully gather and report program costs and outcomes and 
to better facilitate policy discussions, Cal ICH could develop a scorecard similar 
to the one we present in Figure 5. Agencies could use it to report their program 
funding and performance outcome information to Cal ICH. For example, a program 
that provides interim housing could report the number of people experiencing 
homelessness whom the program placed in housing and the number who received 
case management services. 

To enable comparisons among similar types of programs, Cal ICH could categorize 
programs according to the phase of homelessness that the programs address: 
entering, experiencing, or exiting homelessness. This categorization would allow 
the State to identify gaps in its efforts or funding to address these three phases. The 
Legislature could then use the scorecard to make data‑driven policy decisions and to 
more easily make inquiries about why funding appropriated for certain programs is 
not fully spent and the anticipated timing of such spending. 

Cal ICH Has Not Ensured the Accuracy of the Data in the State Data System 

As we previously discuss, Cal ICH has not established a statewide methodology for 
state‑funded homelessness programs to report their outcomes. However, Cal ICH 
has access to some program data through the state data system, which collects 
records from local CoC’s HMIS. State law requires that, beginning in January 2023, 
grantees or entities operating any of 10 specific homelessness programs existing as 
of 2021 to report to HMIS information about the services individuals receive, such 
as start dates, end dates, and exit destinations—grantees are not required to report 
cost information to HMIS. The 10 programs include Homekey, HHAP, and the 
CalWORKs Housing Support Program—three of the five programs we reviewed and 
describe in the next section of this report. All programs that began after July 1, 2021, 
are also required to report this information; thus, Cal ICH now generally collects 
some data related to several homelessness programs using the state data system. 

Nonetheless, Cal ICH has not used the reporting programs’ data to evaluate the 
programs’ success in reducing homelessness. Although it has performed some 
research about the types of services received by various populations among those 
experiencing homelessness, it has not used the data to determine the effectiveness 
of any particular program. Instead, Cal ICH uses the data to populate a public‑facing 
dashboard. The dashboard displays the number of people experiencing homelessness 
that each CoC served, provides information about services provided, and displays the 
age, race and ethnicity, gender, and veteran status of those who received the services. 

14 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 94 of 273



Figure 5
Cal ICH Could Use This Hypothetical Example of a State Homelessness Program Scorecard

Demographic Information 

List and Description of Programs 

Funding and Outcomes 

ENTERING HOMELESSNESS

ENTERING HOMELESSNESS

Example

EXPERIENCING HOMELESSNESS*

EXITING HOMELESSNESS

EXITING HOMELESSNESS

Example

PIT COUNTS HAVE INCREASED

2019 2022
Year

2023

White 55%

Black/African 
American 30%

Paci�c Islander 1%
Asian 2%

Native American or Alaska Native 5%
Multiple 7%

VETERAN
STATUS

RACE GENDER

Male 64% Non-Veteran 94%

Veteran 6%Nonbinary/Gender Non-conforming 2%

Female 34%

Program A 
Program B

SRAP Round 1 
(Rapid Rehousing)

EXPERIENCING HOMELESSNESS
Example

Program C 
Program D
Program E

HHAP Round 1
(Supportive services)
(Interim housing)

Program F 
Program G

Homekey Round 1
(Permanent Housing)

140
150
160
170
180
190

Program A SRAP Round 1 (Rental Assistance) 

Program B (Rapid Rehousing)

Total Funding (for all ENTERING programs)

Program F Homekey Round 1

Program G (Permanent Housing)

Total Funding (for all EXITING programs)

Comparison for context (Total number of unsheltered households)

Comparison for context (Number of households that remain unsheltered)

Comparison for context (Total number of households that entered homelessness for the �rst time)

(total number of units built)

(number of units built)

5,900 units built with Homekey Round 1 funds$53,000,000$600,000,000 $547,000,000

Program C HHAP Round 1 (Outreach)

Program D (Supportive Services)

Program E (Interim Housing)

Total Funding (for all EXPERIENCING programs)

Appropriation Expenditures Remaining Balance Cost/OutcomeOutcome Measures

Appropriation Expenditures Remaining Balance Cost/OutcomeOutcome Measures

Appropriation Expenditures Remaining Balance Cost/OutcomeOutcome Measures

$3,483,000$97,961,000 $94,478,000 $1,451

$92,712

2,400 people contacted through street outreach

370,000 households provided with rental and utility assistance

(number of households that were re-housed)

(Total number prevented from entering homelessness)

(Number of employment or case management sessions)

 (Number of households placed in interim housing)

$4,746,000,000$5,000,000,000 $254,000,000 $12,827

151,278

171,521
181,399

Source: Analysis of Cal ICH data and HCD data.

Note: Data in the example scorecard is included only for illustrative purposes and does not represent actual program data.

* In this category, the services are more distinct and could be totaled individually: if there are four programs for interim 
housing there could be a different total specific to interim housing.

15CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 95 of 273



Because Cal ICH does not analyze the available data to determine program 
effectiveness, it cannot provide critical information that state policymakers could use 
when prioritizing funding decisions for the myriad state homelessness programs. The 
executive officer of Cal ICH explained that the council intends to assess the effectiveness 
of state homelessness programs, but she did not provide us with any tangible plans or 
evidence of efforts to initiate such an assessment.

If Cal ICH begins using the available data in more meaningful ways, it will need to 
take steps to ensure those data are reliable. In fact, we identified a number of problems 
with the data in the state data system. For example, the CoC for Santa Clara County, 
which includes San José, provided all records from its HMIS to Cal ICH, including 
those that the CoC had marked as deleted. The CoC explained that some records were 
deleted because they were created in error. However, Cal ICH asserted that it treated 
at least some of the deleted records as valid and included them in publicly reported 
information. Similarly, in multiple CoCs statewide we found a small number of likely 
fictitious clients. For example, we identified more than 100 enrollment records with 
client names such as “Mickey Mouse,” “Super Woman,” or a name indicating it was a test 
client, such as “Test Participant.” While this is a small number of entries that are likely 
system test entries or erroneous records that were never removed, the true magnitude 
of such records is unknown because a CoC could enter similar records using any name. 
Nonetheless, Cal ICH was unaware of any test records in the data. 

We also identified questionable entries in the state data system’s bed inventory and 
enrollment data, with some shelters showing enrollment numbers significantly over 
their bed capacity. In one example, a shelter reported nearly 1,100 people enrolled in 
fewer than 300 beds. When we asked about these entries, Cal ICH staff explained that 
enrollment records do not always show when individuals stopped receiving services. As 
a result of these errors, some of the enrollment numbers we present in this report may 
be overstated. 

Although Cal ICH takes steps to adjust the data to improve the data quality when 
reporting certain metrics, such as excluding records with known illogical values, and 
these steps result in what Cal ICH believes is the correct data, the corrections do not 
necessarily result in a reflection of what actually occurred. In fact, Cal ICH did not 
correct for all of the errors we identified. Cal ICH staff recognize that the accuracy 
and completeness of the data depends on the information that each CoC records and 
submits to Cal ICH. Therefore, Cal ICH should work with the CoCs to ensure that they 
submit appropriate data.

Cal ICH’s statutory goals give it specific responsibilities as the State’s primary resource 
for homelessness policy coordination and accountability. However, it has also been 
directly managing multiple large grant programs as mandated by statute, including the 
multibillion‑dollar HHAP program and the more‑than‑$700 million ERF program. 
The Legislature appeared to recognize this focus in 2023 when it passed legislation 
transferring responsibility for the grant programs from Cal ICH to HCD, effective 
July 2024, which will likely allow Cal ICH to focus its efforts on meeting its statutory 
goals. Cal ICH’s executive officer acknowledged that changes in key leadership roles 
and in programmatic statutory language have hindered the council’s ability to meet its 
statutory goals. 

16 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 96 of 273



Two of the Five State‑Funded Programs We 
Reviewed Are Likely Cost‑Effective, but the State 
Lacks Clear Outcome Data for the Other Three 

Key Points

• Data indicate that two of the five programs we reviewed—Homekey and the 
Housing Support Program—are likely cost‑effective. Homekey allows the State 
to provide individuals with housing that is less expensive than newly built units. 
The Housing Support Program helps house families who are experiencing or at 
risk of homelessness and costs less than the State would spend if these families 
were homeless.

• The State has not collected adequate outcome data to assess the cost‑effectiveness of 
the remaining three programs. Without such data, it will lack assurance that these 
programs represent the best use of state funding.

Both Homekey and the Housing Support Program 
Are Likely Cost‑Effective Approaches to Addressing 
Homelessness

When considering how best to spend the public’s 
money, the State’s policymakers should have the 
information necessary to compare program costs 
and outcomes. To determine the cost‑effectiveness 
of the state‑funded efforts to address homelessness, 
we reviewed the five programs we described in 
the Introduction. We selected these programs by 
considering the amount of funding provided, and 
the types of assistance the programs offered. 
We found that two of the five—Homekey and 
the Housing Support Program—were likely 
cost‑effective. 

We reached this conclusion by reviewing the 
reported outcomes and costs of a selection of 
projects and services funded by each program. We 
then identified alternative possible courses of action 
to compare for cost‑effectiveness. As we discuss in 
the next section, we did not have the data necessary 
to fully assess the other three, either because 
the programs were recently implemented or 
because program staff had not collected sufficient 
information on program outcomes. 

Homekey 

Department: California Department of Housing and 
Community Development

Year established: 2020

Funding: Round 1–$846 million; Round 2–$1.95 billion; 
Round 3–$817.3 million

Number of Recipients: Round 1–94; Round 2–116

Eligible uses: To convert existing buildings into housing for 
people experiencing homelessness. 

1. Acquisition or rehabilitation of motels, hotels, 
or hostels.

2. Master leasing of properties.

3. Acquisition of other sites and assets with existing 
residential uses, such as care facilities.

4. Conversion of units from nonresidential to residential.

5. Purchase of affordability covenants and restrictions 
for units.

6. Relocation costs for individuals who are being 
displaced as a result of rehabilitation of existing units.

7. Capitalized operating subsidies.

Source: State law and Homekey funding notices.

17CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 97 of 273



As we previously explain, Homekey—which focuses on converting existing buildings 
into housing units for people at risk of or experiencing homelessness—appears 
cost‑effective when compared to the cost of building new affordable housing units. 
This saves time and money and allows Homekey to create more units and house 
more people. Table 1 shows the cost‑effectiveness comparison for Homekey. 

Table 1
Assessment of the Cost‑Effectiveness of Homekey Round 1

AVERAGE COST PER UNIT FUNDED 
BY HOMEKEY ROUND 1

AVERAGE COST PER UNIT FOR 
NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING CONSTRUCTION 

IN CALIFORNIA IN 2019

LIKELY 
COST‑EFFECTIVE?

$144,000 $380,000—$570,000 
Source: Analysis of program documentation and Making It Pencil: The Math Behind Housing Development, published by the 
Terner Center for Housing Innovation cited in HCD’s 2021 report to the Legislature on Homekey Round 1.

We reviewed eight Homekey projects that received funding from Round 1 of the 
program. To calculate the average cost to produce a Homekey unit, we divided the 
amount of funds spent by the number of units the project was expected to produce. 
The average cost per unit for the eight projects we reviewed was about $144,000. 
A project in San Francisco had the highest per‑unit cost of about $200,000, whereas 
a project in Fresno had the lowest per‑unit cost of about $90,000 per unit. 

These costs are significantly lower than the costs of building other affordable housing 
in the State. HCD compared the cost of Homekey housing to other affordable 
housing, reporting to the Legislature in 2021 that the average cost of one unit of 
newly built affordable housing in California in 2019 ranged from about $380,000 to 
$570,000, while the average cost of a Homekey unit in HCD’s analysis was $129,000. 
This information aligns with the average we calculated for the eight projects we 
reviewed. In some parts of the State, such as the Bay Area, a newly built affordable 
housing unit can reportedly cost up to $1 million. 

HCD’s assistant deputy director explained that the program was more cost‑effective 
and faster than building new construction units, and that data from Round 1 
Homekey projects informed HCD’s decisions in the program’s subsequent funding 
rounds. For example, the State increased the time it allowed Round 2 projects to 
rehabilitate acquired units and ensure they were substantially occupied from three 
months to 15 months. 

Although Homekey Rounds 2 and 3 have the potential to be as cost‑effective as 
Round 1, those rounds are still in progress. Until the data are available on units built 
and people housed, we cannot fully determine the cost‑effectiveness of these rounds. 

CalWORKs Housing Support Program 
(housing support program) 

Department: California Department of Social Services

Year Established: 2014

Funding: FY 2019–20: $95 million; FY 2020–21: $95 million; 
FY 2021–22: $285 million; FY 2022–23: $285 million

Recipients: As of fiscal year 2021–22, 55 counties operated 
the Housing Support Program.

Eligible uses: The program offers financial assistance 
and housing‑related wraparound supportive services, 
including rental assistance, housing navigation, case 
management, security deposits, utility payments, moving 
costs, interim shelter assistance, legal services, and credit 
repair. The program serves families with children enrolled 
in CalWORKs who are experiencing homelessness or at risk 
of homelessness. 

Source: State law and CDSS Website.

18 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 98 of 273



As we previously explain, Homekey—which focuses on converting existing buildings 
into housing units for people at risk of or experiencing homelessness—appears 
cost‑effective when compared to the cost of building new affordable housing units. 
This saves time and money and allows Homekey to create more units and house 
more people. Table 1 shows the cost‑effectiveness comparison for Homekey. 

Table 1
Assessment of the Cost-Effectiveness of Homekey Round 1

AVERAGE COST PER UNIT FUNDED 
BY HOMEKEY ROUND 1

AVERAGE COST PER UNIT FOR 
NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING CONSTRUCTION 

IN CALIFORNIA IN 2019

LIKELY 
COST‑EFFECTIVE?

$144,000 $380,000—$570,000 
Source: Analysis of program documentation and Making It Pencil: The Math Behind Housing Development, published by the 
Terner Center for Housing Innovation cited in HCD’s 2021 report to the Legislature on Homekey Round 1.

We reviewed eight Homekey projects that received funding from Round 1 of the 
program. To calculate the average cost to produce a Homekey unit, we divided the 
amount of funds spent by the number of units the project was expected to produce. 
The average cost per unit for the eight projects we reviewed was about $144,000. 
A project in San Francisco had the highest per‑unit cost of about $200,000, whereas 
a project in Fresno had the lowest per‑unit cost of about $90,000 per unit. 

These costs are significantly lower than the costs of building other affordable housing 
in the State. HCD compared the cost of Homekey housing to other affordable 
housing, reporting to the Legislature in 2021 that the average cost of one unit of 
newly built affordable housing in California in 2019 ranged from about $380,000 to 
$570,000, while the average cost of a Homekey unit in HCD’s analysis was $129,000. 
This information aligns with the average we calculated for the eight projects we 
reviewed. In some parts of the State, such as the Bay Area, a newly built affordable 
housing unit can reportedly cost up to $1 million. 

HCD’s assistant deputy director explained that the program was more cost‑effective 
and faster than building new construction units, and that data from Round 1 
Homekey projects informed HCD’s decisions in the program’s subsequent funding 
rounds. For example, the State increased the time it allowed Round 2 projects to 
rehabilitate acquired units and ensure they were substantially occupied from three 
months to 15 months. 

Although Homekey Rounds 2 and 3 have the potential to be as cost‑effective as 
Round 1, those rounds are still in progress. Until the data are available on units built 
and people housed, we cannot fully determine the cost‑effectiveness of these rounds. 

CalWORKs Housing Support Program 
(housing support program) 

Department: California Department of Social Services

Year Established: 2014

Funding: FY 2019–20: $95 million; FY 2020–21: $95 million; 
FY 2021–22: $285 million; FY 2022–23: $285 million

Recipients: As of fiscal year 2021–22, 55 counties operated 
the Housing Support Program.

Eligible uses: The program offers financial assistance 
and housing‑related wraparound supportive services, 
including rental assistance, housing navigation, case 
management, security deposits, utility payments, moving 
costs, interim shelter assistance, legal services, and credit 
repair. The program serves families with children enrolled 
in CalWORKs who are experiencing homelessness or at risk 
of homelessness. 

Source: State law and CDSS Website.

The Housing Support Program, which provides 
financial assistance to families at risk of or experiencing 
homelessness, is also likely cost‑effective. Table 2 shows 
our cost‑effectiveness comparison for the Housing 
Support Program. When we reviewed expenditure 
and outcome data for 10 counties in the Housing 
Support Program during the past four fiscal years, we 
found that those counties spent an average of $12,000 
to $22,000 per fiscal year on families that received 
housing support through the program during this 
period. The U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness 
noted that studies have found that a single chronically 
homeless person costs taxpayers as much as $30,000 
to $50,000 per year. The National Alliance to End 
Homelessness reported a per‑person cost to taxpayers 
of $35,578 per year, and in the legislation creating 
Cal ICH, the Legislature cited a cost of $2,897 per 
month—or approximately $35,000 annually—in 
crisis response services for a person experiencing 
homelessness in Los Angeles County. Thus, the 
Housing Support Program spent less to house or 
keep housed a family than taxpayers might otherwise 
expect to pay for an individual to be homeless. During the past four fiscal years, the 
10 counties housed nearly 6,000 families. According to California Department of 
Social Services (CDSS) staff, comparing the cost of the Housing Support Program to 
the cost of a person’s homelessness is a reasonable method of assessing the program’s 
cost‑effectiveness.

Table 2
Assessment of the Cost-Effectiveness of the CalWORKs Housing Support Program

AVERAGE ANNUAL COST 
PER FAMILY PERMANENTLY HOUSED 

BY THE PROGRAM

ESTIMATED COST TO 
TAXPAYERS OF ONE PERSON EXPERIENCING 

CHRONIC HOMELESSNESS

LIKELY 
COST‑EFFECTIVE?

$12,000–$22,000 per household $30,000–$50,000 per year 
Source: Analysis of program documentation and homelessness cost estimates cited by the U.S. Interagency Council on 
Homelessness, the National Alliance to End Homelessness, and the Legislature.

The data that CDSS collected from the counties related to the Housing Support 
Program contained sufficient outcome and expenditure information for us to assess 
cost‑effectiveness. To track program performance and outcomes throughout the 
year, the department uses targets set by the counties for the number of families 
they intend to house. It also tracks monthly how many families continue to receive 
housing. We saw evidence it evaluated and monitored counties’ activities to ensure 
that the counties adhered to evidence‑based interventions, such as Housing First 
and Rapid Rehousing best practices, including not making housing contingent on 

19CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 99 of 273



participation in services. Cal ICH could consider CDSS’s example when it creates 
its own approach to collecting and reporting data on state‑funded homelessness 
programs, as we previously discuss.

The State Has Not Collected Sufficient Data to Assess the Cost‑Effectiveness of the Other Three 
Programs We Reviewed

We were unable to fully assess the cost‑effectiveness of three of the programs we 
reviewed—SRAP, HHAP, and ERF—because of limitations with the data the State 
has collected. Collectively, these programs received more than $9.4 billion in funding 
since 2020.

For example, we could not determine the long‑term 
cost‑effectiveness of SRAP, which provided 
financial assistance in response to the COVID‑19 
pandemic to help renters facing eviction, because 
HCD did not collect clear eviction outcome data. 
According to the online dashboard for the program 
as of January 2024, SRAP has served more than 
370,000 households since its inception, averaging 
nearly $12,000 per household. HCD staff asserted 
that SRAP was effective because the program 
awarded the funding within statutory deadlines and 
assisted nearly 400,000 households, which staff 
believe prevented them from becoming homeless. 
According to state law, it was the Legislature’s 
intent that the state monitor the usage of funding 
to ensure that the program stabilized households 
and prevented evictions; however, the law did 
not specifically require HCD to track evictions 
for those receiving SRAP funding. Although it 
is likely that the rental assistance provided by 
the program helped some avoid evictions, HCD 
did not collect eviction data that would enable it 

to determine whether and how many SRAP beneficiaries might have fallen back into 
homelessness. The program has now essentially ended because it is no longer accepting 
applications, and the State is left without an understanding of what percentage of SRAP 
recipients were unable to avoid eviction, or whether the amounts provided to households 
were sufficient.

We were similarly unable to determine the cost‑effectiveness of HHAP Round 1 because 
of the lack of clear data about outcomes for people who received HHAP‑funded 
services. The HHAP program provides funding for a variety of services that address 
multiple aspects of homelessness, including providing interim housing. Cal ICH tracks 
the spending of HHAP funds by individual eligible use categories. Such tracking shows 
that, as of December 2022, about half of the HHAP Round 1 funding had been used for 
emergency shelters and operating subsidies. The amount used for each other eligible 
use was less than 15 percent.

State Rental Assistance Program (SRAP)

Department: California Department of Housing and 
Community Development

Year Established: 2021

Funding: The federal government provided $4.8 billion to 
cities and counties in California.

Recipients: 67 cities and counties.

Eligible uses: 

1. Rental arrears.

2. Prospective rent payments.

3. Utilities, including arrears and prospective payments.

4. Any other expenses related to housing.

5. Any additional use authorized by federal law.

Source: Federal and state law, SRAP funding notices.

20 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 100 of 273



Determining HHAP’s cost‑effectiveness would 
require data on the outcomes of each of the 
HHAP‑funded services and a comparison for each 
service. Although Cal ICH collects some data when 
a person exits an HHAP‑funded service, those data 
are insufficient for evaluating the program’s 
cost‑effectiveness. For example, CoCs’ exit survey 
data for people served by HHAP Round 1 funds 
document people’s intended destinations following 
their participation in a program. The survey options 
include permanent housing, a return to 
homelessness, or an unknown destination. The data 
we analyzed from four CoCs (Los Angeles, 
San Diego, San José/Santa Clara, and San Francisco) 
showed that nearly one‑third of the exits from 
HHAP Round 1‑funded services left those services 
for unknown destinations. Because an unknown 
destination can indicate that the person did not 
know the destination, that the person refused to 
answer, that the data was not collected, or that the 
exit interview was not conducted, we cannot 
determine whether these people actually exited 
homelessness. These ambiguous data for nearly 
one‑third of the exits inhibits any comparison of 
program costs and outcomes, demonstrating the 
need for Cal ICH to establish more specific 
parameters for the data that programs are required 
to collect and report. 

Despite not conducting an analysis of the cost‑effectiveness of HHAP Round 1, 
the State authorized billions of dollars in funding for four additional rounds. The 
Legislature made significant changes to the program that began with Round 3, 
requiring that applicants establish measureable outcome goals, such as reducing the 
number of people experiencing homelessness and reducing the length of time that 
people remain homeless. To the extent CoCs establish meaningful outcome goals, 
the goals should provide better benchmarks against which the State can measure 
spending and evaluate cost‑effectiveness. 

Grantees have until June 2026 to spend the funds from HHAP Rounds 2 and 3, 
and until June 2027 for Round 4. Consequently, the State will likely be unable to 
fully assess the effects of that $2.3 billion in funding for years. The HHAP Round 5 
application period opened in September 2023; however, the State has not yet 
awarded $1 billion of funding. The Legislature intends to transfer all grant programs 
that Cal ICH administers to HCD on or before July 1, 2024, so HCD will likely be the 
entity that can perform future assessments of HHAP cost‑effectiveness.

Homeless Housing, Assistance and 
Prevention Program (HHAP)

Department: California Interagency Council on 
Homelessness

Year Established: 2019

Funding: Round 1–$650 million; Round 2–$300 million; 
Round 3–$1 billion; Round 4–$1 billion; Round 5–$1 billion

Recipients: CoCs, counties, large cities.

Eligible Uses: 

1. Rental assistance and rapid re‑housing.

2. Operating subsidies in new and existing units.

3. Landlord incentives.

4. Outreach and coordination.

5. Support for homelessness services and housing 
delivery systems.

6. Delivery of permanent housing and innovative 
housing solutions.

7. Prevention and shelter diversion to permanent 
housing.

8. New navigation centers and emergency shelters.

Source: State law and HHAP funding notices.

21CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 101 of 273



We also could not determine the cost‑effectiveness 
of the ERF program—which transitions people 
from encampments into safe and stable housing. 
Cal ICH has not collected complete outcome data 
for this program, and the expenditure data it has 
collected may be unreliable. As a condition of its 
grant agreement, Cal ICH requires that grantees 
use a template that it created to submit program 
outcome data about the people the grantees 
served. Despite this requirement, four of the 
10 grantees we reviewed had submitted 
incomplete or unusable outcome data as of 
July 2023. Moreover, two of the four grantees did 
not use the required template. For the template 
fields for gathering information about people 
served, including those necessary to determine the 
number of people permanently housed, multiple 
grantees entered the words “data not collected” or 
simply left the fields blank. Cal ICH relies on 
self‑certified data from grantees and does not 

attempt to verify the completeness or accuracy of the data submitted. Therefore, the 
number of people reported as permanently housed through the program is likely 
incomplete or inaccurate.

Further, Cal ICH does not appear to enforce the reporting requirement. Cal ICH 
staff explained that the agency started with a small staff. They indicated that as 
the programs it administered grew in funding and new programs were added, 
it attempted to hire additional staff to monitor grantee reports. When we asked 
Cal ICH how it responded to incomplete or unusable outcome data, staff asserted 
that they contacted grantees to ensure that the outcome data was complete and in 
the required format. However, when we asked for documentation, staff could provide 
only emails they sent to three grantees after we brought the issue to Cal ICH’s 
attention. In these emails, they requested the grantees to use the required template. 

State law requires ERF Round 1 grantees to spend 50 percent of grant funds by 
June 30, 2023, and Cal ICH provided documentation of its efforts to ensure that 
grantees met the expenditure deadline. It sent multiple emails to grantees reminding 
them of the deadline, held support meetings with grantees to determine how they 
would meet the deadline, and provided technical assistance. All 10 grantees we 
reviewed appear to have met the 50 percent expenditure deadline. However, Cal ICH 
relies on grantees’ self‑certifying the accuracy of the expenditure amounts. 

The State awarded ERF Rounds 2 and 3 to grantees beginning in June 2023, and 
at the time of our review, the grantees were not yet required to spend the funds. 
The earliest deadline requires Round 2 grantees to spend half of their allocation by 
June 30, 2024. As a result, there were not enough data available at the time of our 
review to assess the cost‑effectiveness of these grants.

Encampment Resolution Funding (ERF)

Department: California Interagency Council on 
Homelessness

Year Established: 2021

Funding: $750 million ($50 million for round one; 
$300 million for round two, and $400 million for round 3).

Recipients: Cities, Counties, CoCs.

Round 1 Eligible Uses: 
1. Direct Services and Housing Options.

2. Capacity Building.

3. Sustainable Outcomes.

4. Administration.

Source: State law, State Budget, and Cal ICH Funding Notice. 

22 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 102 of 273



Recommendations

The following are the recommendations we made as a result of our audit. 
Descriptions of the findings and conclusions that led to these recommendations can 
be found in the sections of this report.

Legislature

To promote transparency, accountability, and effective decision‑making related to 
the State’s efforts to address homelessness, the Legislature should amend state law 
to require Cal ICH, by March 2025, to mandate reporting by state agencies of costs 
and outcomes of state homelessness programs. To implement such reporting, the 
Legislature should require Cal ICH to develop guidance establishing specifics on 
uniformity of data to be collected and how it is to be presented. The Legislature 
should require Cal ICH to annually compile and report this cost and outcome 
information publicly beginning in September 2025 and should provide resources for 
this effort, as necessary.

Cal ICH 

To ensure that its 2024 update to its action plan aligns with the statutory goals that 
the Legislature has established, Cal ICH should clearly identify in that update the 
statutory goal or goals that each of the action plan’s objectives addresses.

To promote transparency, accountability, and effective decision‑making related 
to the State’s efforts to address homelessness, Cal ICH should request that state 
agencies responsible for administering state‑funded homelessness programs provide 
spending‑ and outcome‑related information for people entering, experiencing, and 
exiting homelessness. By March 2025, Cal ICH should develop and publish on its 
website a scorecard—or similar instrument—on the homelessness programs that 
would enable the Legislature and other policymakers to better understand each 
program’s specific costs and outcomes. Cal ICH should determine and request from 
the Legislature any necessary resources required for this effort. 

To ensure that the State has consistent, accurate, and comparable data for all 
state‑funded homelessness programs, by March 2025, Cal ICH should work with 
CoCs to implement standardized data requirements that programs must follow when 
entering information into HMIS. The requirements should establish expectations 
defining CoCs’ responsibilities for ensuring data accuracy and reliability.

23CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 103 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

24 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 104 of 273



Other Areas We Reviewed

To address the audit objectives approved by the Joint Legislative Audit Committee (Audit 
Committee), we also reviewed housing placements and the sharing of homelessness data. 

Most Placements of Unsheltered People Into Interim Housing Do Not End Up in 
Permanent Housing 

The vast majority of housing placements for 
Californians experiencing unsheltered homelessness 
involve interim housing. The text box describes the 
types of interim and permanent housing. Interim 
housing is a critical service that protects people from 
many of the impacts of unsheltered homelessness, 
including health and safety risks. Using information 
in the state data system, we identified placements 
of unsheltered people into housing from July 2019 
through March 2023. As Figure 6 shows, 86 percent 
of placements statewide moved people into interim 
housing rather than into permanent housing. 
Appendix B shows additional details about 
placements. The placement of individuals into 
interim housing likely occurs in part because of the 
lack of available permanent housing in the State.

Nonetheless, the final phase of homelessness—
exiting homelessness—should ideally culminate 
with individuals living in permanent housing. People 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness who were 
placed into interim housing had worse outcomes 
when exiting the placement than those placed into 
permanent housing. Specifically, the data show that 
only 13 percent of the exits from interim housing 
placements reported individuals moving into 
permanent housing. In contrast, the data show that 84 
percent of exits from permanent housing placements 
reported individuals moving into other permanent 
housing.7 The data further show that 44 percent of 
the exits from interim housing reported individuals 
returning to homelessness, as opposed to 4 percent of 
exits from permanent housing placements. 

7 People can “exit” from permanent housing placements and at that time they report their next living situation. For example, when 
someone receives short- or medium-term rapid rehousing services, which HUD defines as a permanent housing placement, they 
“exit” after they stop receiving rental assistance or supportive services. At that time, their next living situation could be another 
permanent housing location, such as an apartment they rent, or could be a return to homelessness.

Types of Interim Housing

Emergency Shelter: Any facility with the primary purpose 
of providing a temporary shelter for the homeless in 
general or for specific populations of the homeless and 
which does not require occupants to sign leases or 
occupancy agreements.

Transitional Housing: Housing that facilitates the 
movement of homeless individuals and families into 
permanent housing within 24 months or longer, as 
determined necessary.

Safe Haven: Supportive housing that serves hard‑to‑reach 
homeless persons with severe mental illness who came 
from the streets and have been unwilling or unable to 
participate in supportive services.

Types of Permanent Housing

Rapid Rehousing: Housing relocation and stabilization 
services and short‑term and medium‑term rental assistance 
as necessary to help a homeless individual or family move 
as quickly as possible into permanent housing and achieve 
stability in that housing.

Permanent Supportive Housing: Permanent housing in 
which supportive services are provided to assist homeless 
persons with a disability to live independently.

Other Permanent Housing: This includes permanent 
housing with supportive services for persons experiencing 
homelessness who do not have a disability and long‑term 
housing without supportive services.

Source: Federal Law.

25CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 105 of 273



Figure 6
Unsheltered Placements and Outcomes

247,866
PLACEMENTS EXITED*

31,957
PLACEMENTS EXITED*

REPORTED
DESTINATION AT EXIT

•  Unsheltered Homelessness—31%
•  Sheltered Homelessness—13%
•  Other—32%†

•  Permanent Housing—13%
•  Institutional Housing—3%
•  Temporary Housing—8%

•  Unsheltered Homelessness—3%
•  Sheltered Homelessness—1%
•  Other—6%†

•  Permanent Housing—84%
•  Institutional Housing—1%
•  Temporary Housing—4%

Unsheltered Placements
from Fiscal Year 2019–20 

through March 2023

STATEWIDE

•  Housing Only—2%
•  Housing with Services—4%
•  Permanent Supportive Housing—17%
•  Rapid Rehousing—77%

PERMANENT HOUSING

•  Emergency Shelter—96%
•  Safe Haven—0%
•  Transitional Housing—3%

INTERIM HOUSING

REPORTED
DESTINATION AT EXIT

86%
274,817

14%
46,363

Source: Homeless Data Integration System.

Note: Rounding of numbers may prevent percentages from totaling 100.

* Some placements of individuals showed that the person had not yet exited the program and was still enrolled and receiving 
shelter or housing services as of the date we obtained the data; therefore, the number of placements is higher than the 
number of those who exited the program. 

† Category Other can include the following: worker unable to determine, client doesn’t know, client prefers not to answer, data not 
collected, or other.

26 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 106 of 273



Permanent housing outcomes for people in 
federally‑funded programs are shown in the 
text box at right and generally align with 
the outcomes of programs that were not 
federally‑funded. However, we were unable to 
separate out the permanent housing outcomes for 
the subcategory of state‑funded programs from the 
overall permanent housing outcomes because of 
inconsistent data. Each federal program has a code 
that a service provider selects when entering 
information about projects into HMIS. Using this 
code, we could determine the outcomes for 
federally funded programs. Until July 2023, state 
programs did not have similar program codes; 
instead, the service provider who entered the data 
typed the program name into a text field. This 
practice led to inconsistent entries for state 
programs, because each service provider might type 
something different for the same program. For 
example, the HHAP program has been entered as 
“CA‑HCFC‑HHAP 1,” ”HHAP,” ”State HHAP,” 
“County HHAP‑1,” as well as other variations. These 
inconsistencies make the data unreliable for 
identifying programs to determine permanent 
housing outcomes.

Since July 2023, providers that receive state funding 
are required to provide state funding information 
according to Cal ICH instructions that include 
state‑specific codes. Thus, going forward, the state 
data should have more complete funding source 
information. This will allow the State to better 
determine the outcomes associated with state 
programs such as HHAP. 

Cal ICH Has Recently Begun Facilitating the Sharing 
of Certain Data Related to Homelessness Programs

Several federal and state laws and regulations may 
impede the ability of the State or local jurisdictions 
to accurately assess and track certain information 
about people who are experiencing homelessness. 
The text box lists some of these laws. Generally, the 
laws and regulations protect the confidentiality of 
personal information. However, in doing so, they 
also could limit the collecting and sharing of data 
to evaluate homelessness efforts and may also affect 
access to supportive services.

Outcomes for People Exiting Placements in 
Permanent Housing Funded by Federal Programs

STATEWIDE

• 82 percent left to some type of permanent housing

• 4 percent left to homelessness

Source: State data system data for placements from July 2019 
through March 2023.

Federal and state laws limit the data that can be 
shared without consent.

FEDERAL

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act: Applies 
to health plans and certain health care providers. Some 
protected health information data may be disclosed without 
consent if the data will only be used for limited purposes.

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act: Applies to 
educational agencies or institutions that receive federal funding. 
Personally identifiable information from educational records can 
be disclosed without consent as long as it is used for purposes 
related to that person’s education.

Violence Against Women Act: Applies to covered housing 
providers who serve victims of domestic or dating violence, 
sexual assault, or stalking. The providers cannot share a victim’s 
information without consent of the victim.

HMIS Standards: Client consent is required to share data, but 
not to enter data into HMIS.

Substance Abuse Records: Some records can be disclosed 
without consent in case of medical emergency, research, or 
audit purposes. Consent form must outline exactly what can 
be disclosed; can be revoked at any time.

STATE

Confidentiality of Medical Information Act: Individual must 
consent to disclosure of medical information by a healthcare 
plan or provider unless there is a court order, search warrant, 
death investigation, or need for diagnosis or treatment.

Information Privacy Act of 1977: Individual must consent to 
disclosure of personal information by a State agency unless 
there is a legal requirement or a medical necessity.

Juvenile Case Records: Files may only be accessed by someone 
who is related to, works with, or represents the child.

Source: Federal and state law.

27CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 107 of 273



The main source of data about people experiencing homelessness is local HMISs. As 
we previously discuss, the CoCs are responsible for collecting data in an HMIS from 
entities that provide services to people experiencing homelessness. When doing 
so, they must ensure compliance with federal privacy and security standards. 
These standards allow for certain uses of people’s protected personal information 
(protected information), including for the provision and coordination of services, 
service payment and reimbursement, administrative functions such as audits, and 
the removal of duplicate data. CoCs use signed consent forms to allow them to 
share the data provided by people who access homelessness services. 

Although local governments generally have access to the data they input into 
their HMIS, they might not have access to personal information added by other 
entities. However, effective January 2018, state law began allowing agencies that 
provide services to people experiencing homelessness, including cities, to establish 
multidisciplinary teams to share information that is confidential under state law 
with one another under certain circumstances. Each county that establishes a 
multidisciplinary team must have protocols for sharing data within these teams. 
Further, they must provide these protocols to CDSS, which is a member agency 
of Cal ICH. However, we recognize that federal law might still present barriers to 
sharing data.

In addition, Cal ICH has begun to facilitate some data‑sharing with CoCs by making 
available a dashboard with anonymized aggregate data—such as the number of 
people accessing particular services—that it receives from each of the CoCs. Doing 
so may enable local jurisdictions to analyze the data and to better identify and 
understand the services that are being provided and outcomes of those services.

28 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 108 of 273



We conducted this performance audit in accordance with generally accepted 
government auditing standards and under the authority vested in the California State 
Auditor by section 8543 et seq. of the California Government Code. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence 
to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on the audit 
objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our 
findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Respectfully submitted,

GRANT PARKS 
California State Auditor

April 9, 2024

Staff: Nicholas Kolitsos, CPA, Principal Auditor 
 Jordan Wright, CFE, Principal Auditor 
 Chris Paparian, Senior Auditor 
 Nicole Menas 
 Eduardo Moncada

Data Analytics: Ryan Coe, MBA, CISA 
 Brandon Clift, CPA

Legal Counsel: Joe Porche

29CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 109 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

30 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 110 of 273



Appendix A
Statewide Homelessness Assessment: Programs and Funding 

Fiscal Years 2018–19 Through 2020–21

Cal ICH published a Statewide Homelessness Assessment (homelessness assessment) 
in 2023 for the Legislature. The Legislature’s intent in requesting the assessment 
was to obtain trustworthy information to connect funding allocated to prevent and 
end homelessness with established sheltering and housing resources and to provide 
state agencies with accurate information for more accurate forecasting to target 
future investments. The homelessness assessment covered fiscal years 2018–19 
through 2020–21. Table A shows the list of state programs and funding that 
Cal ICH identified in the homelessness assessment. Because the State has awarded 
a significant amount of additional funding and created new homelessness programs, 
we believe that the State’s policymakers and the public need regular updates of 
this information to evaluate the effectiveness of state spending to prevent and 
end homelessness.

Table A
Statewide Homelessness Assessment Programs and Funding

LEAD 
AGENCY PROGRAM NAME DESCRIPTION FUNDING FISCAL YEAR 

2018–19 TO 2020–21
FUNDING 

MECHANISM
FUNDING 
SOURCE

TCAC Low-Income Housing Tax 
Credit

Corporations provide equity to build affordable 
housing in exchange for tax credits (either 9% or 4%). 

$2,026,040,165 Tax Credit State and 
Federal

HCD No Place Like Home Funds the development of permanent supportive 
housing for people who are who are experiencing 
homelessness or at risk of chronic homelessness and 
in need of mental health services.

1,345,074,418 Grant Proposition

DHCS Whole Person Care Pilot 
Program

Coordinates health, behavioral health, and 
social services.

1,038,734,950 Grant Federal

Cal ICH Homeless Housing, 
Assistance and 
Prevention Program 
Rounds 1 and 2

Provides local jurisdictions with funds to support 
regional coordination and expand or develop 
local capacity to address immediate homelessness 
challenges and develop a unified regional response.

950,000,000 Grant State

HCD Homekey Sustains and rapidly expands housing for people 
experiencing homelessness by, for example, 
rehabilitating motels or hotels.

797,000,000 Grant State and 
Federal

HCD Multifamily Housing 
Program

Provides low-interest, long-term deferred payment 
loans for new construction, rehabilitiation, and 
preservation of permanent and transitional rental 
housing for lower-income households.

778,576,713 Grant Proposition

Cal ICH Homeless Emergency 
Aid Program

Provides direct assistance to CoCs and large cities to 
address the homelessness crisis.

500,000,000 Grant State

HCD Emergency Solutions 
Grants Coronavirus 
Funds

Funding to help prevent, prepare for, and respond to 
COVID-19 among people experiencing homelessness 
and support assistance and prevention activities to 
mitigate impacts of COVID-19. 

310,905,362 Grant Federal

continued on next page …

31CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 111 of 273



LEAD 
AGENCY PROGRAM NAME DESCRIPTION FUNDING FISCAL YEAR 

2018–19 TO 2020–21
FUNDING 

MECHANISM
FUNDING 
SOURCE

HCD Veterans Housing 
and Homelessness 
Prevention Program

Provides long-term loans for the acquisition, 
construction, rehabilitation, and preservation of 
affordable multifamily housing for veterans and 
their families.

$285,002,114 Grant State

CDSS CalWORKs Housing 
Support Program

Provides families enrolled in CalWORKs with rapid 
rehousing, rental assistance, and wraparound case 
management.

259,158,940 Grant State and 
Federal

CDSS CalWORKs Homeless 
Assistance

Helps families enrolled in CalWORKs secure or 
maintain permanent housing or provides temporary 
shelter.

167,719,302 Grant State and 
Federal

HCD Housing for a Healthy 
California (Articles 
I and II)

Creates supportive housing for individuals who are 
either recipients of or are eligible to receive services 
from Medi-Cal.

126,173,838 Grants and 
Loans 

State and 
Federal

HCD Supportive Housing 
Multifamily Program

Provides low-interest loans to developers of 
permanent affordable rental housing that contain 
supportive housing units.

125,950,630 Loan Proposition

CDSS Project Roomkey Provided temporary non-congregate shelter options 
during the COVID-19 pandemic.

109,000,000 Grant State

Cal ICH COVID-19 Emergency 
Grant Fund

Provided emergency funding to prevent people 
from experiencing homelessness by getting 
them into shelters and providing immediate 
housing options.

100,000,000 Grant State

HCD Community 
Development Block 
Grant Program

Provides funding for creating and expanding 
community and economic development 
opportunities for low- and moderate-income 
residents.

98,249,135 Grant State and 
Federal

CalOES Domestic Violence 
Housing First Program

Helps victims of domestic violence by providing 
permanent housing and ongoing supportive 
services.

90,496,129 Grant State and 
Federal

HCD California Emergency 
Solutions and Housing 
Program

Provides funds for housing relocation and 
stabilization, subsidies for permanent housing, 
flexible housing subsidy funds, emergency housing 
interventions, and systems support to assist people 
at risk of or experiencing homelessness.

83,202,726 Grant State

CalHFA Special Needs Housing 
Program

Allows governments to use Mental Health Services 
Act funds to develop permanent supportive rental 
housing for individuals with serious mental illness 
and their families.

79,188,656 Subsidy Loan State 

CDSS Housing and Disability 
Advocacy Program

Funds outreach, case management, disability 
advocacy, and housing-related support to 
individuals who are likely eligible for disability 
benefits. 

49,995,700 Grant State

DHCS Homeless Mentally Ill 
Outreach and Treatment 
Program

Provided funds for activities focused on the 
needs of individuals with serious mental illness 
who are experiencing homelessness or at risk of 
homelessness.

49,800,000 Grant State

CalOES Transitional Housing 
Program

Provides victims of crimes with transitional/
short-term housing with services and has the goal of 
moving them into permanent housing.

43,124,504 Grant Federal

HCD Emergency Solutions 
Grants Program

Provides funds to support a variety of activities to 
address homelessness. 

36,330,535 Grant Federal

DHCS Projects for Assistance 
in Transition from 
Homelessness

Funds community-based outreach, mental health 
and susbtance abuse referral/treatment, case 
management, and other support services.

26,440,696 Grant Federal

32 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 112 of 273



LEAD 
AGENCY PROGRAM NAME DESCRIPTION FUNDING FISCAL YEAR 

2018–19 TO 2020–21
FUNDING 

MECHANISM
FUNDING 
SOURCE

CDSS Bringing Families Home 
Program

Provides financial assistance and housing-related 
wraparound services to families involved with 
the child welfare system who are at risk of or 
experiencing homelessness.

$24,384,559 Grant State

CalOES Specialized Emergency 
Housing Program

Expands emergency shelter, emergency housing 
assistance, and supportive services for people who 
are victims of crimes with specialized needs.

23,626,451 Grant Federal

CCCCO College Homeless and 
Housing Insecure Pilot 
Program

Recipient colleges were required to partner with 
community organizations that provide wraparound 
services and rental subsidies for students 
experiencing homelessness or housing insecurity.

18,000,000 Grant State

HCD Transitional Housing 
Program

Provides funding to help young adults find and 
maintain housing, with priority for those formerly in 
foster care or probation systems.

15,264,800 Grant State

CDSS Home Safe Program Provides various housing stability services, such as 
financial assistance, case management, and eviction 
prevention, for individuals in Adult Protective 
Services.

14,500,000 Grant State

CalOES Homeless Youth 
Emergency Services and 
Housing Program

Provides access to housing, crisis intervention 
services, and stabilization services.

6,336,500 Grant State 

CDCR Long Term Offender 
Reentry Recovery 
Program

Establishes contracts with provider organizations for 
services such as transitional housing.

5,222,660 Grant State

HCD Housing Navigators 
Program

Helps young adults experiencing homelessness find 
housing, provides case management and various 
services, and pays deposits.

5,000,000 Grant State

HCD Pet Assistance and 
Support Program

Provides food, shelter, and basic veterinary care for 
the pets of people experiencing homelessness.

5,000,000 Grant State

CalOES Homeless Youth and 
Exploitation Program

Helps youth experiencing homelessness through 
access to food, shelter, counseling, basic health 
provisions, and other services.

3,242,310 Grant State and 
Federal

CalOES Homeless Youth 
Innovative Services 
Program

Provided one-time funding to organizations to 
develop projects to help youth experiencing 
homelessness exit street life.

1,000,000 Grant State 

Total $9,597,741,793 

Source: Statewide Homelessness Assessment.

Note: Since the period covered by the statewide homelessness assessment, the State has implemented additional homelessness programs and 
awarded additional funding.

33CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 113 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

34 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 114 of 273



Appendix B
Placements Into Interim and Permanent Housing

From Fiscal Year 2019–20 through March 2023

We used the state data system to identify the number of times a reporting entity placed 
people into different types of housing. Table B below shows the number of placements 
into both permanent and interim housing. Statewide, the table shows how many 
placements of people were in each category of housing, with the majority placed into 
interim housing—emergency shelter, in particular.

Table B
Interim and Permanent Housing Placements

FISCAL YEAR

STATEWIDE* 2019–20 2020–21 2021–22 2022– 
MARCH 2023 TOTAL

Permanent Housing (PH)

PH-Housing Only  64  78  328  549  1,019 

PH-Housing With Services 
(no disability required for entry)

 286  334  547  491  1,658 

PH-Permanent Supportive Housing 
(disability required for entry)

 2,571  1,893  1,961  1,550  7,975 

PH-Rapid Re-Housing  10,975  8,161  9,142  7,433  35,711 

Subtotal  13,896  10,466  11,978  10,023  46,363 

Interim Housing

Emergency Shelter  73,730  60,961  70,007  59,943  264,641 

Safe Haven  201  125  149  170  645 

Transitional Housing  2,518  2,221  2,536  2,256  9,531 

Subtotal  76,449  63,307  72,692  62,369  274,817 

Total  90,345  73,773  84,670  72,392  321,180 

Source: State data system.

* This table counts an individual once for each housing placement; therefore, a person can be counted more than once.  

35CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 115 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

36 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 116 of 273



Appendix C 
Scope and Methodology 

The Audit Committee directed the California State Auditor to conduct an audit to 
assess the effectiveness of the State’s spending on homelessness. Specifically, the 
Audit Committee asked us to review the State’s structure and efforts for funding 
and addressing homelessness and the cost‑effectiveness of a selection of five state 
homelessness programs. Table C below lists the objectives that the Audit Committee 
approved and the methods we used to address them. The Audit Committee also 
requested that we review the outcomes that the city of San José and another city 
achieved with federal, state, and local homelessness funding. The results of our 
review of these two cities is included in a separate report (2023‑102.2). Unless 
otherwise stated in the table or elsewhere in the report, statements and conclusions 
about items selected for review should not be projected to the population.

Table C
Audit Objectives and the Methods Used to Address Them 

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

1 Review and evaluate the laws, rules, and regulations 
significant to the audit objectives.

Reviewed and evaluated state and federal laws and regulations applicable to the 
state departments and state programs we reviewed. 

2 Review and evaluate the State’s structure and efforts 
for funding and addressing homelessness, including 
the role of Cal ICH.

a. Identify measures used by the State to calculate the 
cost-effectiveness of its programs, and determine 
how many individuals received shelter and services 
annually in fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23. 
For a selection of up to five programs, assess the 
cost-effectiveness of these programs. 

b. Determine whether state or federal laws or 
regulations impede the ability of the State or local 
jurisdictions to accurately assess and track the 
population experiencing homelessness.

c. Identify any impediments to State and local 
jurisdictions’ sharing of data and meaningful 
collaboration.

• Reviewed laws and regulations that outline the establishment and role of Cal ICH.

• Identified the state agencies that are members of Cal ICH. 

• Identified state agencies that administer programs for addressing and preventing 
homelessness and the amount of funding the State allocated to its homelessness 
programs by reviewing the Statewide Homelessness Assessment.

• Interviewed Cal ICH staff to understand its role in coordinating the State’s 
approach to addressing homelessness. 

• Identified state and federal funding sources for homelessness programs.

• Identified the State’s homelessness programs and selected five for review. 

• Reviewed expenditures, people served, and outcome data for the selected 
programs in order to assess their cost-effectiveness. 

• Analyzed data about the State’s population of those experiencing homelessness 
to determine the number of unsheltered individuals placed in shelter or housing, 
the outcomes faced by people experiencing homelessness, and the services 
they receive. 

• Interviewed Cal ICH staff about how it collects and uses data from CoCs.

• Reviewed state and federal laws and regulations related to data collection, 
privacy, and sharing. 

• Interviewed state staff to understand any impediments they face in sharing data 
and in collaborating with one another.

3 Review and assess any other issues that are significant 
to the audit.

None identified. 

Source: Audit workpapers.

37CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 117 of 273



Assessment of Data Reliability

The U.S. Government Accountability Office, whose standards we are statutorily 
obligated to follow, requires us to assess the sufficiency and appropriateness of 
any computer‑processed information we use to support our findings, conclusions, 
and recommendations. In performing this audit, we relied on electronic data 
obtained from Cal ICH’s state data system for the period July 1, 2019, through 
March 31, 2023. To evaluate the data, we reviewed existing information, interviewed 
people knowledgeable about the data, and performed electronic testing of key 
elements of the data. We identified problems with the state data system data, such 
as the inclusion of deleted records, test entries, and illogical entries, such as some 
enrollment numbers that exceeded the bed capacity of the corresponding shelters. 
Consequently, we found the data to be of undetermined reliability for the purposes 
of analyzing the number and duration of those enrolled in homelessness services. 
Although the data may contain errors that affect the precision of the numbers we 
presented, we concluded that there is sufficient evidence in total to support our 
findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

38 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 118 of 273



 
February 16, 2024 
 
 
 
Grant Parks 
California State Auditor 
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
 
 
SUBJECT:  CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR REPORT 2023-102 
 
 
Dear Mr. Parks: 
 
The California Department of Social Services (CDSS) submits below the responses to 
the California State Auditor’s (CSA) 2023-12 draft report.  
 
CSA DRAFT REPORT:  
 
CSA found that the CalWORKs Housing Support Program was likely cost-effective and 
did not have any recommendations for CDSS to address. CDSS further reviewed the 
draft report for factual inaccuracies and found none.   
 
Questions or requests for clarification regarding the information in this letter should be 
directed to Marta Galan, Branch Manager of the Housing and Homelessness Division, 
Operations, Data, and Integration Branch at Marta.Galan@dss.ca.gov and copied to 
Debbie Richardson at Debbie.Richardson@dss.ca.gov.  
 
In partnership,  

 
Hanna Azemati 
Deputy Director Housing and Homelessness Division 
 
cc Nicolas Kolitsos, CSA 
 Jordan Wright, CSA 
 Claire Ramsey, Chief Deputy Director, CDSS 
 Julianna Vignalats, Chief Operating Officer (Acting), CDSS 
 Keri Tippins, Senior Assistant Chief Counsel, Legal Division, CDSS  
 Maria Hudson, Deputy Director, Administration Division, CDSS 
 Debbie Richardson, Chief, Office of Audit Services Branch, CDSS  

39CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 119 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

40 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 120 of 273



 
Gavin Newsom, Governor 

Tomiquia Moss, Secretary, Business Consumer Services and Housing Agency 
 

 

801 Capitol Mall, Suite 601 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | (916) 651-2820 
http://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich 

February 21, 2024 
 
Grant Parks, State Auditor 
California State Auditor 
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
  
Re: 2023-102.1 State and Local Homelessness Audit  
  
Dear Mr. Parks,  
 
The California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH) hereby submits the enclosed response to 
the California State Auditor (CSA) draft report number 2023-102.1 titled, “The State Must Do More to 
Assess the Cost-Effectiveness of Homelessness Programs.” 
 
Cal ICH, formerly known as the Homeless Coordinating and Financing Council, was established in 2016 
and tasked with the mission of providing state level policy coordination, overseeing the implementation 
of Housing First, and identifying resources and services with the end goal to prevent and end 
homelessness in California.1 Starting in 2018, Cal ICH was tasked with administering state grant 
programs. Cal ICH takes seriously its responsibility to effectively administer these programs and 
safeguard public funds.  
 
As CSA mentions in the report, AB 129 (Chapter 40, Statutes of 2023) was enacted last year and 
expressly states legislative intent to transition grants administration from Cal ICH to the Department of 
Housing and Community Development commencing in Fiscal Year 2024-25.2 This administrative 
transition is intended to serve the dual purpose of streamlining the administration of the State’s housing 
and homelessness programs, and support Cal ICH in providing statewide policy coordination and 
development.3 As Cal ICH continues its efforts to effectuate this administrative transition, it is critically 
important to adopt measures to improve program administration, including recommendations identified 
by the CSA that are either already being implemented or planned to be implemented in the near future.   
Based on the foregoing, Cal ICH generally agrees with the recommendations provided by CSA and will 
take appropriate measures to implement where possible.  
 
 

 
1 Senate Bill 1380 (Chapter 847, Statutes of 2016) 
2 Health and Safety Code § 50231. 
3 Id. 

* California State Auditor’s comment appears on page 47.

*

41CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 121 of 273



   
 

801 Capitol Mall, Suite 601 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | (916) 651-2820 
http://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich 

Responses to Cal ICH specific recommendations are as follows: 
 

Recommendation 1: “To ensure that its 2024 update to its action plan aligns with its statutory 
goals, the homelessness council should clearly identify in that update the statutory goal or goals 
that each of the action plan’s objectives addresses.”  
 

Cal ICH agrees with this recommendation.  
 
The purpose of the Action Plan was to orient the State’s efforts to drive purposeful, meaningful, and 
measurable progress toward preventing and ending homelessness in California. While Councilmember 
agencies and departments do report on specific program outcomes in the Action Plan Implementation 
Report, Cal ICH agrees the Action Plan should be a vehicle to more directly track progress towards its 19 
statutory goals. The most recent Action Plan Implementation Progress Report can be found here.  
 

Recommendation 2: “To promote transparency, accountability, and effective decision-making 
related to the State’s efforts to address homelessness, the homelessness council should request 
that state agencies responsible for administering state-funded homelessness programs provide 
spending- and outcome-related information for people entering, experiencing, and exiting 
homelessness. By March 2025, the council should develop and publish on its website a 
scorecard—or similar instrument—on the homelessness programs that would enable the 
Legislature and other policy-makers to better understand each program’s specific costs and 
outcomes.” 
 

Cal ICH generally agrees with the intent of the recommendation but notes that limited existing resources 
and authorities limit its ability to implement this recommendation.  
 
AB 140 (Chapter 111, Statutes of 2021) required Cal ICH to complete a one-time assessment of 
homelessness funding and outcomes. This assessment directly supported the nineteenth statutory goal 
“to collect, compile, and make available to the public financial data provided to the council from all 
state-funded homelessness programs.” Due to the lack of existing resources to conduct this assessment 
internally, Cal ICH was provided with one-time funding of $5.6 million to complete this report. 
Additional resources would be needed to conduct and update the same or similar analysis on an 
ongoing basis. 
 
Cal ICH agrees with CSA that it has a goal “to collect, compile, and make available to the public financial 
data provided to the council from all state-funded homelessness programs,” and that Cal ICH has legal 
authority to request departments and agencies to provide internal, financial data on specific programs. 
However, without additional resources on an ongoing basis, Cal ICH will not have the capacity to 
effectively use all of the financial data that it has authority to request. Cal ICH requests CSA expand their 
recommendation to include ongoing funding to support the effective implementation of this request.  
 
Additionally, Cal ICH notes that significant additional data requests from Cal ICH to relevant 
departments imposes workload on those departments—as such, resource levels at those departments 
may also impact the ability to implement this recommendation.  
 

1

1

† Action Plan Implementation Progress Report: https://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/action_plan_2022-2023.pdf 
‡ assessment report: https://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/homelessness_assessment.pdf

†

‡

42 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 122 of 273



   
 

801 Capitol Mall, Suite 601 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | (916) 651-2820 
http://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich 

Recommendation 3: “To ensure that the State has consistent, accurate, and comparable data 
for all state-funded homelessness programs, by March 2025 the homelessness council should 
work with CoCs to implement standardized data requirements that programs must follow when 
entering information into HMIS. The requirements should establish expectations defining CoC’s 
responsibilities for ensuring data accuracy and reliability.” 
 

Cal ICH agrees with this recommendation and notes that the existing Homeless Data Integration System 
(HDIS) already serves to standardize much of the data reporting from the 44 CoCs across the state and 
Cal ICH remains committed to continuously improving data quality and consistency.   
 
Cal ICH created HDIS in 2021 to improve statewide data collection and coordination on homelessness. 
HDIS compiles and processes data collected from all 44 CoCs into a statewide data warehouse. HDIS was 
the first state-level system of its kind in California, providing the most comprehensive and accurate data 
system available to measure the provision of homelessness services and associated outcomes.  
Cal ICH would like to respond to CSA findings related to data quality and consistency.  
 

1. Cal ICH Uses a Multi-Layer Verification System to Ensure Data Quality  
 

Cal ICH uses a multi-layer process to ensure data quality. First, CoCs are responsible for ensuring the 
accuracy of the information submitted to HDIS. Cal ICH has agreements with each CoC (referred to as 
Data Use Agreements) that outline the terms of data sharing between the State and the respective CoC. 
These agreements outlined that the “CoC shall have responsibility for the accuracy and quality of the 
Data” provided to BCSH.  
 
Second, to further support data accuracy, Cal ICH reviews the data provided by CoCs to ensure the data 
is complete, in the correct format, and that changes in the record counts are consistent with local and 
statewide trends. In the event of data issues or data outliers, Cal ICH connects with the CoC in question 
to resolve errors. Cal ICH cannot make corrections to the underlying data and relies on the CoC to 
correct any errors through their local Homeless Management Information System (HMIS). To support 
CoCs in this effort, the fifth round of Homelessness Housing and Assistance Program (HHAP) added HMIS 
as an eligible use under System Improvements, thereby providing additional state resources to support 
CoCs in improving data accuracy and quality.   
 
Cal ICH performs data quality checks at multiple stages in the process of loading the data. The errors in 
the underlying data that CSA highlighted are not due to the state's data loading process or analytics.  
Despite this multi-layer verification system, Cal ICH agrees with CSA that improving data quality from 
external parties is a priority. To that end, Cal ICH is in the process of implementing multiple processes to 
increase data quality. These include expanding data quality checks performed by state staff, including 
developing more automated data error reporting. Cal ICH is also developing tools and technical 
assistance to support CoCs with improving data quality.  
 
 
 
 

43CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 123 of 273



   
 

801 Capitol Mall, Suite 601 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | (916) 651-2820 
http://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich 

2. AB 977 and HDIS Provide a Consistent Method of Tracking and Analyzing Data Across State 
Programs 
 

Cal ICH has established a consistent method for gathering information on homelessness program’s 
outcomes for the programs required to report data as part of AB 977 (Chapter 397, Statutes of 2021), 
which became operative on January 1, 2023. Using HDIS for tracking outcomes allows for consistent 
comparisons across state programs and tracking longer term outcomes for program participants.  
 
Reporting applies to the following state entities and programs: 
 

• Cal ICH: HHAP, ERF, Family Homeless Challenge Grants 
• HCD: Homekey, Housing for a Healthy California, No Place Like Home, Multifamily Housing 

Program, Veterans Housing and Homelessness Program 
• CDSS: Bringing Families Home Program, CalWORKs Housing Support Program, Housing and 

Disability Income Advocacy Program 
• CCCCO: Homeless and Housing Insecure Pilot Project 
• CalVet: Veterans Support to Self-Reliance Program 
• DHCS: Behavioral Health Bridge Housing Program 
• New State funded homelessness programs that commence on or after July 1, 2021. 

 
The draft report states that Cal ICH has not yet used the data received from these state programs to 
evaluate the programs’ success in reducing homelessness. As part of a previously determined project 
timeline, informed by the operative date of the statute, Cal ICH had not begun receiving data project 
codes for these projects until after the State and Local Homelessness audit commenced. During 
interviews with CSA staff, Cal ICH shared its plan to use data to evaluate program outcomes and 
appreciates that CSA is supportive of this approach. Cal ICH will be providing administering departments 
with dashboards of outcomes data for their programs beginning in Spring 2024 and will continue to 
explore opportunities to report publicly on outcomes for these programs beginning in 2025.   
 
Cal ICH appreciates the CSA’s efforts to support and further our collective interest in providing oversight 
and accountability over homelessness funding. My staff and I thank the audit team for its 
professionalism, and we look forward to providing future updates on our efforts to implement the 
report’s recommendations. If you have any further questions regarding this response, please feel free to 
contact BCSH Assistant Deputy General Counsel, Laurance Lee. 
 

Sincerely, 

 

Meghan Marshall 
Executive Officer 
Cal ICH 
 

 

44 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 124 of 273



   
 

801 Capitol Mall, Suite 601 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | (916) 651-2820 
http://www.bcsh.ca.gov/calich 

CC: 

Tomiquia Moss, Secretary  
Melinda Grant, Undersecretary 
Tad Egawa, General Counsel 
Dhakshike Wickrema, Deputy Secretary of Homelessness 
Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency 
500 Capitol Mall 
Suite 1850 
Sacramento, CA 95814 

45CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 125 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

46 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.1

Page 126 of 273



Comment
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENT ON THE RESPONSE FROM 
THE CALIFORNIA INTERAGENCY COUNCIL ON HOMELESSNESS

To provide clarity, we are commenting on the response to our audit report from 
the California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH). The number below 
corresponds with the number we have placed in the margin of Cal ICH’s response. 

As is our standard practice, we communicated with Cal ICH while it was reviewing 
our draft report to discuss any concerns it may have about the report. After 
these conversations, we informed Cal ICH that we would make changes to the 
recommendation that Cal ICH develop and publish a scorecard of the cost and 
outcomes of the State’s homelessness programs. The recommendation is on page 23.

1

47CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.1  |  April 2024

Page 127 of 273



Homelessness in California
San José and San Diego Must Do More  
to Plan and Evaluate Their Efforts to  
Reduce Homelessness

April 2024

REPORT 2023‑102.2

Page 128 of 273



For questions regarding the contents of this report, please contact our Communications Office at  916.445.0255
This report is also available online at www.auditor.ca.gov   |   Alternative format reports available upon request   |   Permission is granted to reproduce reports

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200  |  Sacramento  |  CA  |  95814
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR

916.445.0255    |    TTY  916.445.0033

1.800.952.5665

For complaints of state employee misconduct,  
contact us through the Whistleblower Hotline:

Don’t want to miss any of our reports? Subscribe to our email list at     auditor.ca.gov

Page 129 of 273

https://subscribe.auditor.ca.gov/subscribe/login


621 Capitol  Mall,  Suite 1200    |     Sacramento,  CA 95814    |     916.445.0255    |     916.327.0019 fax    |     w w w. a u d i t o r. c a . g o v

Mike Tilden  Chief Deputy

Grant Parks  State Auditor

April 9, 2024 
2023‑102.2

The Governor of California 
President pro Tempore of the Senate 
Speaker of the Assembly 
State Capitol 
Sacramento, California 95814

Dear Governor and Legislative Leaders:

The Joint Legislative Audit Committee requested an audit of the State’s homelessness funding, including 
an evaluation of the efforts undertaken by the State and two cities to monitor the cost‑effectiveness 
of such spending. We published a separate report (2023‑102.1) that details our findings related to 
the State’s activities. This report (2023‑102.2) focuses primarily on the activities of the two cities we 
reviewed, San José and San Diego, and it concludes that the cities must do more to better evaluate their 
efforts to reduce homelessness.

San José and San Diego identified hundreds of millions of dollars in spending of federal, state, and local 
funding in recent years to respond to the homelessness crisis. However, neither city could definitively 
identify all its revenues and expenditures related to its homelessness efforts because neither has an 
established mechanism, such as a spending plan, to track and report its spending. The absence of such a 
mechanism limits the transparency and accountability of the cities’ uses of funding to address homelessness.

Although both cities provide tens of millions of dollars for homelessness programs and services through 
agreements with external service providers, such as nonprofits, neither city evaluated the effectiveness 
of its agreements. San Diego has generally established clear performance measures, such as specifying 
the number of people the service provider will assist, to enable it to assess whether the providers’ 
efforts are an effective use of funds. However, San  José has not consistently done so. Furthermore, 
neither city has evaluated the effectiveness of the programs it provides to address the profound health 
and safety risks associated with unsheltered homelessness.

Both cities use interim housing as a way to provide shelter for people experiencing homelessness, but 
they both need to develop additional permanent housing. Data consistently show that placements into 
permanent housing results in significantly better outcomes than placements into interim housing. The 
cities have each made efforts to develop additional interim and permanent housing; however, neither 
has a clear, long‑term plan to ensure that they have the housing necessary. 

We recommend that San José and San Diego each publicly report on all of their homelessness funding, 
assess the effectiveness of their spending, and better plan to meet their permanent housing needs. 

Respectfully submitted,

GRANT PARKS 
California State Auditor

Page 130 of 273



Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report

Cal ICH California Interagency Council on Homelessness

CoC Continuum of Care

ERF Encampment Resolution Funding

ESG Emergency Solutions Grant

state data system Homeless Data Integration System

HHAP Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention

HMIS Homeless Management Information System

HSSD Homelessness Strategies and Solutions Department

HUD U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

NPD Neighborhood Policing Division

PIT count point‑in‑time count

VASH Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing

iv CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 131 of 273



Contents
Summary 1

Introduction 3

Audit Results
San José and San Diego Have Adopted Plans for Addressing  
Homelessness but Do Not Completely Report on All of  
Their Homelessness Funding 13

Neither San José nor San Diego Has Consistently Evaluated the  
Effectiveness of Its Homelessness Programs 25

To Better Address Homelessness, San José and San Diego Will  
Need to Develop Additional Interim and Permanent Housing 41

Other Areas Reviewed 57

Recommendations 63

Appendix A
Funding Sources and Eligible Uses 67

Appendix B
Placements Into Interim and Permanent Housing 71

Appendix C
Scope and Methodology 73

Response to the Audit
City of San José 77

California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From 
the City of San José 93

City of San Diego 97

California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From 
the City of San Diego 103

San Diego Housing Commission 105

California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From 
the San Diego Housing Commission 115

vCALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 132 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

vi CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 133 of 273



Summary
The Joint Legislative Audit Committee requested an audit of the State’s homelessness 
funding, including an evaluation of the efforts undertaken by the State and two cities 
to monitor the cost effectiveness of such spending. Separately, we published a report 
(2023‑102.1) that focuses primarily on the State’s activities to address homelessness. In 
this report (2023‑102.2), we present our findings and conclusions regarding the two cities 
we reviewed: the city of San José (San José) and the city of San Diego (San Diego).

Since 2015 both San José and San Diego have seen increases in the number of individuals 
experiencing homelessness. In response, the cities have dedicated hundreds of millions of 
dollars in federal, state, and local funding to preventing and ending homelessness. In 
this audit, we reviewed the cities’ spending and their efforts to evaluate the effectiveness 
of the programs they funded, and we drew the following conclusions:

San José and San Diego Have Adopted Plans for Addressing 
Homelessness but Do Not Completely Report on All of 
Their Homelessness Funding 

Both San José and San Diego identified hundreds of millions of dollars 
in spending on programs to prevent and end homelessness in recent 
years. Nonetheless, neither city could definitively identify all its revenues 
and expenditures related to its homelessness efforts because the cities 
have not established a mechanism, such as a spending plan, to track and 
report their spending. Such a mechanism would increase transparency 
and accountability regarding the cities’ use of homelessness funds. 
Further, it might enable the cities to better align their spending with the 
action plans they follow. While San Diego has a city‑specific action plan 
that details its goals and the services it intends to provide, San José has 
historically followed a broader regional action plan and has only recently 
identified the specific steps it will take to implement that regional plan.

Neither San José nor San Diego Has Consistently Evaluated the 
Effectiveness of Its Homelessness Programs 

Both San José and San Diego spend tens of millions of dollars on 
agreements with external service providers, such as nonprofits, to 
provide homelessness programs and services. Although San Diego has 
generally established clear performance measures to assess whether 
these efforts are an effective use of funds, San José has not consistently 
done so. In addition, neither San José nor San Diego has evaluated the 
effectiveness of these agreements or of other city‑provided programs that 
address the profound health and safety risks associated specifically with 
unsheltered homelessness.

Page 13

Page 25

1CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 134 of 273



To Better Address Homelessness, San José and San Diego Will 
Need to Develop Additional Interim and Permanent Housing 

Data consistently show that placing individuals who are experiencing 
homelessness into permanent housing results in significantly better 
outcomes than placements into interim housing. Nonetheless, interim 
housing plays a critical role in providing shelter to people who need it. 
In recent years, both San José and San Diego have taken steps to develop 
additional interim housing sites. However, neither city currently has the 
shelter capacity it requires to house its residents who are experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness. Moreover, although the two cities have made 
efforts to develop additional permanent housing, neither has a clear, 
long‑term plan to ensure that it has the housing necessary to support 
individuals who require it. 

Agency Comments

The city of San José provided additional context it asserted was lacking in the 
report, but the city generally agreed with our recommendations and has 
indicated the steps it plans to take to implement them.

The city of San Diego generally agreed with the recommendations and 
indicated that it will take appropriate steps to implement them where feasible.

Although we did not make recommendations to the San Diego Housing 
Commission, it disagreed with some of our findings and conclusions.

Page 41

2 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 135 of 273



Introduction
Background 

The number of people experiencing homelessness in the State has increased significantly 
during the last 10 years. According to federal regulations, any individual or family who 
lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence is experiencing homelessness. When 
people primarily spend their nights in public or private locations not normally used for 
sleeping, it is considered unsheltered homelessness. When people stay in emergency shelters, 
transitional housing programs, or safe havens, it is considered sheltered homelessness. People 
experiencing homelessness face devastating challenges to their health and well‑being. For 
example, a study found that two‑thirds of participants reported current mental health 
symptoms and that homelessness worsened participants’ mental health symptoms. 

To identify the number of people experiencing homelessness, the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development (HUD) requires annual point‑in‑time (PIT) counts 
of those experiencing sheltered homelessness and biennial counts of those experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness. Figure 1 shows that although the number of people experiencing 
homelessness in California decreased slightly from 2013 through 2015 to fewer than 
116,000 individuals, it has increased to more than 181,000 individuals as of 2023. 

Figure 1
California’s Population of People Experiencing Homelessness Has Increased Since 2013

20152013 2017 2019 2022* 2023

Sheltered Count
Unsheltered Count

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

123,423
115,491

108,432

88,896

73,69972,998

57,97656,030

42,84642,63642,03945,554

181,399
171,521

151,278

131,532

115,738118,552

Source: The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) point‑in‑time (PIT) counts, Annual Homeless Assessment 
Report, and HUD memorandum.

Note: HUD requires Continuums of Care (CoCs) to conduct a PIT count of people experiencing sheltered homelessness annually and 
a count of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness at least biennially. To present the total number of people experiencing 
homelessness, we therefore used the year in which both categories of PIT counts were conducted.

* HUD waived the PIT count requirement for unsheltered homelessness in 2021 because of the COVID‑19 pandemic, but it required the 
count again in 2022.

3CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 136 of 273



Figure 2 shows the three main phases of homelessness: entering homelessness, 
experiencing homelessness, and exiting homelessness. The University of California, 
San Francisco’s June 2023 study of people experiencing homelessness describes 
economic, social, and health factors that can lead to homelessness. The study 
found that high housing costs and low incomes had left participants vulnerable to 
homelessness and that the most frequently reported economic reason for entering 
homelessness was loss of income. Resolutions to this situation include preventing 
people from entering homelessness and helping people exit homelessness to live in 
permanent housing. Factors such as scarcity of housing, high cost of housing, lack 
of rental subsidies, and lack of assistance in identifying housing create barriers to 
accessing housing.

Figure 2
The Three Phases of Homelessness Each Have Mitigating Solutions

High housing costs and low incomes leave 
people vulnerable to homelessness. 
Individuals or families with annual 
incomes below 30 percent of median 
family income and who meet certain 
other criteria are categorized as at risk of 
homelessness.

People who lack a �xed, regular, and adequate 
nighttime residence are considered to be 
experiencing homelessness. This experience can 
be devastating to their health and well-being.

People are exiting homelessness when 
they �nd permanent housing. They 
often face barriers, such as housing 
scarcity and high costs. 

EXPERIENCING 
HOMELESSNESS

ENTERING 
HOMELESSNESS

EXITING
HOMELESSNESS

SUPPORTIVE 
SERVICE 

COORDINATION

OUTREACH INTERIM 
HOUSING

PREVENTION PERMANENT HOUSING

•  Permanent Supportive Housing
•  Rapid Rehousing
•  Other Permanent Housing

•  Housing relocation and stabilization 
services, such as providing the following:

-  Moving costs
-  Security deposits
-  Utility payments

•  Rental assistance

Source: Federal regulations, Federal Strategic Plan, Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency documentation, and Toward a New 
Understanding: The California Statewide Study of People Experiencing Homelessness, a study published by the University of California San Francisco 
Benioff Homelessness and Housing Initiative in June 2023.

4 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 137 of 273



Numerous Entities Have Roles in Funding Homelessness Services in California

Numerous entities are involved in funding homelessness prevention, homelessness 
support services, and the provision of permanent housing in California. Federal, 
state, and local governments all issue funding that flows through other entities 
before reaching people at risk of or experiencing homelessness. Most notably, the 
State recently increased its financial role in addressing housing affordability and 
homelessness. According to the Legislative Analyst’s Office, the State allocated nearly 
$24 billion to addressing homelessness and housing affordability during the last five 
fiscal years, from fiscal years 2018–19 through 2022–23. 

As Figure 3 shows, Continuums of Care (CoCs) are central to California’s provision of 
homelessness services. In 1993 HUD established the CoC system. Formed according 
to federal regulations to achieve the goal of ending homelessness within a geographic 
area, each CoC is a group of individuals and entities that may include homelessness 
service providers, cities, and counties. Congress codified the CoC system into law to 
provide federal funding for states, local governments, and nonprofit service providers 
to quickly rehouse people experiencing homelessness.

California has 44 CoCs that cover its 58 counties. Each CoC enables collaboration 
among member entities in its area but does not direct the actions of those member 
entities. The State and HUD provide funding through a variety of programs to CoCs 
and the entities within CoCs, such as counties, cities, and nonprofits. Those entities 
are responsible for following the eligible uses and reporting requirements of the 
funding they receive. 

Data show that nearly 316,000 individuals experiencing homelessness accessed 
housing and services in California’s 44 CoCs in 2022.1 The COVID‑19 pandemic, 
which occurred during the period we reviewed, profoundly affected individuals 
at risk of or experiencing homelessness and resulted in both the federal and state 
governments dedicating substantial funding to addressing the crisis. 

San José and San Diego Provide Homelessness Services Through Multiple Departments

We reviewed two cities as part of our audit. The Joint Legislative Audit Committee 
specifically requested that we review the city of San José (San José). For the 
second city, we selected the city of San Diego (San Diego) based on its population, 
its geographic location, the number of people in it experiencing homelessness, and 
its available funding to reduce homelessness, among other factors. Both San José 
and San Diego operate as member entities of their respective CoCs, which also have 
responsibilities for the people experiencing homelessness in each city. The cities 
should spend the funding they receive as effectively as possible to meet the needs of 
their residents.

1 Because the PIT count of people experiencing homelessness takes place on a single night in a given year, the number derived 
from that count may be less than the total number of people who experience homelessness at some point during that year.

5CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 138 of 273



Figure 3
There Are Many Layers to Homelessness Funding and Services

SERVICES

COUNTIES CITIES

NONPROFIT HOMELESSNESS 
SERVICE PROVIDERS

(such as faith-based 
organizations, businesses, 

and public housing agencies)

SUBCONTRACTORSEach entity within a CoC uses 
multiple sources of funding to 

provide a variety of services 
that address di�erent aspects 

of homelessness.

HUD

CoCs include:

STATE

OTHER

FUNDING
The State and HUD provide 

funding through a variety of 
programs to CoCs and individual 

entities within CoCs such as 
counties, cities, and nonpro�ts. 

Each program has its own eligible 
uses, reporting requirements, and 

populations to serve. 

People at Risk of or 
Experiencing Homelessness

Services
Funding

Source: State law; grant agreements; documentation from the California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH), HUD, California 
Department of Social Services, California Department of Housing and Community Development, cities and counties; and a service 
provider's website. 

6 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 139 of 273



San José

Located in the San Francisco Bay Area in Santa Clara County, San José had 
nearly 1 million residents as of July 2022. It operates as a council‑manager form 
of government. Its city council consists of one representative from each of the 
10 council districts and a mayor. The council determines all matters of policy for 
the city. The city manager serves as the city’s chief administrative officer and directs 
and supervises the administration of all city departments, offices, and agencies. The 
number of people experiencing both sheltered and unsheltered homelessness in 
San José increased from 2015 through 2022, as Figure 4 shows. However, San José saw 
a slight drop in the number of people experiencing homelessness from 2022 to 2023.

Figure 4
The Number of People Experiencing Homelessness in San José Has Increased Since 2015

2015 2017 2019 2022* 2023
0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

1,9291,675
9801,1191,253

4,4114,975
5,117

3,2312,810

6,3406,650
6,097

4,3504,063

Sheltered Count
Unsheltered Count

Source: City homelessness PIT count data. 

Note: HUD requires CoCs to conduct PIT counts of people experiencing sheltered homelessness annually and of people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness at least biennially. To present the total number of people experiencing homelessness, we used the year in which both categories of PIT 
counts were conducted.

* HUD waived the PIT count requirement for unsheltered homelessness in 2021 because of the COVID‑19 pandemic, but it required the count again in 2022. 

As we show in Figure 5, multiple city departments have roles in San José’s efforts 
to address homelessness. These departments operate under the direction of the 
city council, the city manager, and a deputy city manager, whom the city manager 
appointed in 2022 to focus on addressing homelessness. Some departments’ work 
involves city staff directly providing homelessness services. For example, the fire 
department responds to incidents at encampments, and the Parks, Recreation 
and Neighborhood Services’ BeautifySJ program collects trash from encampment 
areas and performs abatements when necessary.2 However, the city also supplies 

2 In San José, encampment abatement is the removal of encampments and the people inhabiting them that are in certain 
setback areas, such as those that are within 150 feet of schools; block streets, sidewalks, or trails; or present serious health 
or safety conditions according to a risk assessment. 

7CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 140 of 273



grant funding to external service providers, such as nonprofits, that provide 
rental assistance, housing searches, and other services. Finally, the city funds the 
development of interim and permanent housing. 

Figure 5
Several Entities Are Involved in Efforts to Address Homelessness in San José

City of San José

External service providers

Fire
Department

Housing
Department

Parks, Recreation and
Neighborhood Services

Department

The City Manager’s O�ce, which includes 
the deputy city manager for homelessness, 

oversees city departments.

The city council and 
mayor set city policy.

Santa Clara County serves as 
the region's CoC collaborative 

applicant and Homeless 
Management Information 
System (HMIS) lead, and it 

collaborates with the city to 
end homelessness.

Source: San José’s organizational chart in its adopted budget, website, City Charter, Municipal Code, City Council memo, and an interview 
with city staff. 

8 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 141 of 273



In addition to the state and federal funding San José receives for homelessness services and 
affordable housing, the city also uses local tax revenue for these purposes. In 2020 voters in 
San José approved Measure E—a real property transfer tax imposed on properties priced at 
$2 million or more—to fund any city purpose. Although the city council’s spending priorities 
for Measure E have changed over the years, its 2023 adopted priorities required that it use 
10 percent of the funding on homelessness prevention, gender‑based violence programs, legal 
services, and rental assistance. The spending priorities required that it use another 15 percent 
primarily on homelessness support programs, including shelter construction and operations. 

When implementing its efforts to address homelessness, San José works closely with 
Santa Clara County. The county serves as the CoC’s Homeless Management Information 
System (HMIS) lead agency.3 The county’s responsibilities also include creating and operating 
a coordinated assessment system that helps identify the best housing intervention for each 
person and monitoring the performance of jurisdictions within the CoC. With nearly 1 million 
residents, San José has over half of the population in Santa Clara County and its CoC’s area; 
thus, the city’s efforts are crucial to its CoC’s ability to reduce and end homelessness. 

San Diego

Located on the southern California coast, San Diego had nearly 1.4 million residents as of 
July 2022. It operates as a strong mayor form of municipal government. Under this form 
of government, the mayor is the chief executive of the city and has significant authority 
over the city’s operations. The city has seen a recent increase in the number of its residents 
experiencing homelessness, as Figure 6 shows.

Figure 6
The Number of People Experiencing Homelessness in San Diego Has Increased Since 2015

2015 2017 2019 2022* 2023
0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

3,215
2,3072,4822,3882,773

3,285

2,4942,600
3,2312,765

6,500

4,8015,082
5,6195,538 Sheltered Count

Unsheltered Count

Source: CoC PIT count data. 

Note: HUD requires CoCs to conduct PIT counts of people experiencing sheltered homelessness annually and of people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness at least biennially. To present the total number of people experiencing homelessness, we used the year in 
which both categories of PIT counts were conducted.

* HUD waived the PIT count requirement for unsheltered homelessness in 2021 because of the COVID‑19 pandemic, but it required the 
count again in 2022. 

3 HMIS lead agency means the entity designated by the CoC to operate the Continuum’s HMIS on its behalf. 

9CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 142 of 273



As Figure 7 describes, San Diego’s efforts to address homelessness involve multiple 
entities. The San Diego Housing Commission (housing commission) is the primary 
entity responsible for administering most of San Diego’s homelessness programs. 
The city created the housing commission and, with some exceptions, granted 
it all rights, powers, and duties of a housing authority.4 The Housing Authority 
of the City of San Diego (housing authority)—composed of the nine members of 
San Diego’s city council—governs the housing commission. In addition, the city 
officially established in its municipal code its Homelessness Strategies and Solutions 
Department (HSSD) effective February 2022. HSSD is responsible for planning, 
developing, and overseeing a comprehensive network of citywide programs 
that provide immediate assistance and long‑term solutions to meet the needs of 
those experiencing homelessness. This includes handling the city’s homelessness 
program funding and overall management of the city’s homelessness efforts. HSSD 
also administers some of the city’s homelessness programs; however, the housing 
commission administers most programs through a memorandum of understanding 
with the city. 

The city is a member of the San Diego City and County CoC. The lead agency for this 
CoC is the Regional Task Force on Homelessness (Regional Task Force), a nonprofit 
organization. The Regional Task Force performs a variety of functions related to 
San Diego’s homelessness efforts, such as conducting PIT counts of the individuals 
experiencing homelessness in the city.

4 State law provides housing authorities with powers and duties that include providing for the construction or repair of 
housing projects, acquiring or developing low‑income housing, and financing low‑income housing. 

10 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 143 of 273



Figure 7
Several Entities Are Involved in Efforts to Address Homelessness in San Diego

The housing commission and 
the city departments administer 

the city's homelessness 
programs. Through a 

memorandum of understanding 
between the city and the 
housing commission, the 

housing commission 
administers most 

city-funded programs.

San Diego 
Housing Commission

The housing authority consists 
of the nine members of the 

city council and governs 
the housing commission.

Housing Authority*

City Departments

Homelessness
Strategies

and Solutions
Department

The city council 
sets city policy and 
allocates funding.

City Council

San Diego Police 
Department

Economic
Development
Department

Environmental
Services

Department

The mayor 
oversees the city 

departments.

Mayor

City of San Diego

The Regional Task 
Force is the lead 
agency for the 

region's CoC and 
collaborates with 

the city to end 
homelessness.

San Diego
Regional Task Force

on Homelessness

Source: State law, San Diego's municipal code, charter, resolutions, memorandums of understanding, organizational chart, and Independent Budget 
Analyst; the housing commission; and the Regional Task Force. 

* The housing authority is a separate legal entity from the city. The housing commission is a public agency of the housing authority.

11CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 144 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

12 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 145 of 273



San José and San Diego Have Adopted Plans for 
Addressing Homelessness but Do Not Completely 
Report on All of Their Homelessness Funding 

Key Points

• Neither San José nor San Diego tracks and reports in one location, such as a 
spending plan, all of its funding and spending related to homelessness. The cities’ 
fragmented reporting limits public transparency and accountability for hundreds of 
millions of dollars in state, federal, and local funding. It also impedes the cities’ 
ability to assess the effectiveness of their spending.

• San José did not develop a plan with city‑specific goals for reducing homelessness until 
January 2024. As a result, it has struggled to evaluate the effectiveness of its actions. 

• San Diego established a city‑specific plan for reducing homelessness in 2019. This 
plan identifies clear strategies and goals that have enabled San Diego to prioritize the 
needs of its residents who are experiencing homelessness. The city recently updated 
its goals to reflect changing conditions.

Neither San José nor San Diego Centrally Tracks and Reports Its Spending on 
Homelessness Efforts

Both San José and San Diego identified hundreds of millions of dollars in spending 
of federal, state, and local funding to respond to the homelessness crisis over the last 
three years. However, neither city has established a method—such as a spending plan—
for collecting and tracking in a central location information about the homelessness 
funding it receives and spends. As a result, the cities lack the information necessary to 
easily assess the effectiveness of their spending. Further, by not providing comprehensive 
funding and spending information to the public and policymakers, the cities have limited 
transparency and accountability. 

In our attempt to create a complete list of their homelessness funding and spending, 
we worked extensively with the two cities to develop methods to identify from their 
accounting records the amounts they had received and spent on homelessness efforts 
from fiscal year 2020–21 through 2022–23. In the absence of an independent source 
to verify the amounts of homelessness funding the cities received and spent, we relied 
upon each city to ensure that they accurately identified the information they provided 
to us. Therefore, we could not validate the accuracy and completeness of these amounts. 
During the three‑year period of our review, the cities were each awarded federal and 
state grant funding for which they had to apply, as well as federal stimulus funding. Each 
funding source typically has a deadline by which the cities must spend the funding. 
Each source also has established eligible uses for the funding, which Appendix A lists. In 
addition to the federal and state funding they received, both cities allocated local funds 
for homelessness purposes. For example, San José allocated some Measure E funding for 
homelessness, as we discuss in the Introduction. 

13CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 146 of 273



Table 1 (spanning pages 14 through 17) shows the aggregate amounts of federal, state, 
and local funding that San José identified that it had received or allocated for its 
homelessness efforts in the past three fiscal years. As the table shows, at the end of fiscal 
year 2022–23, San José had more than $13 million remaining of the federal funding and 
more than $53 million of the state funding it had received. About $46 million of that 
remaining funding related to two statewide programs: Homekey and the Homeless 
Housing, Assistance and Prevention Program (HHAP). The State awarded Homekey 
funding to San José for specific projects that involve remodeling hotels and motels to 
create housing. In contrast, San José can use HHAP funding for a number of purposes, 
which we list in Appendix A. The spending deadlines for both programs are still years 
away. In fact, the State allocated San José more than $55 million in additional HHAP 
funding for Rounds 4 and 5 that it had not yet received during our audit period.

At the end of fiscal year 2022–23, San José also had more than $86 million remaining 
of the local funds that it had budgeted that year for homelessness purposes. This 
amount includes its Measure E funding. Some local appropriations are multi‑year 
appropriations and therefore have remaining balances. Table 1 identifies the purposes 
for which the city budgeted that funding. Over the last three fiscal years, the city spent 
more than $20 million in Measure E funding for purposes related to homelessness. It 
spent 69 percent of this amount—or about $14 million—in fiscal year 2022–23. 

Table 1
As of June 2023, San José Had Millions of Dollars in Funding to Reduce Homelessness Remaining 
Fiscal Years 2020–21 Through 2022–23

DESCRIPTION
 AWARD

AMOUNT*  RECEIVED†
 SPENT  

(3 YR TOTAL) 

HOMELESSNESS-
RELATED 

REMAINING 
BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/23 

SPEND 
DEADLINE (AS 
APPLICABLE)

FEDERAL

Community Development Block Grant Fund (CDBG) ‡ ‡ $2,685,949 —

CDBG—FY21 1,986,534 —

CDBG—FY22 337,557 —

CDBG—FY23 361,858 —

Community Development Block Grant—CARES Act ‡ ‡ 9,007,893 —

CDBG‑CV—FY21 6,204,799 —

CDBG‑CV—FY23 2,803,094 —

Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) $2,253,464 $2,253,464 $1,040,956 $1,212,508 24 months 
after HUD 
signed the 
agreement 

with recipient

ESG—FY21 763,052 763,052 763,052 —

ESG—FY22 747,341 747,341 277,904 469,437

ESG—FY23 743,071 743,071 — 743,071

Emergency Solutions Grant—CARES Act§ 19,240,322 221,244 09/30/23

ESG‑CV—FY22 10,988,375 —

ESG‑CV—FY23 8,251,947 —

HOME Investment Partnerships American Rescue 
Plan Program

11,676,334 — — 11,676,334 09/30/30

Subtotal—Federal fundingll $13,929,798 $2,253,464 $31,975,120 $13,110,086

14 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 147 of 273



DESCRIPTION
 AWARD

AMOUNT*  RECEIVED†
 SPENT  

(3 YR TOTAL) 

HOMELESSNESS-
RELATED 

REMAINING 
BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/23 

SPEND 
DEADLINE (AS 
APPLICABLE)

STATE

SB 89—COVID‑19 Emergency Homelessness Funding $3,919,821 $3,988,451 $3,988,451 —

Encampment Resolution Funding Grant# 2,085,216 2,085,216 1,362,522 $102,539 6/30/24

Homeless Emergency Aid Program (HEAP)** 11,389,987 11,716,180 11,716,180 —

Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention 
(HHAP) Fund

119,879,562 65,127,846 29,994,846 35,133,000

HHAP Grant 23,832,511 24,052,124 22,902,995 1,149,129 6/30/25

HHAP Grant II 11,266,278 11,457,003 6,459,985 4,997,018 6/30/26

HHAP Grant III 29,118,995 29,618,719 631,866 28,986,853 6/30/26

HHAP Grant IV 26,795,466 — — — 6/30/27

HHAP Grant V 28,866,312 — — — 6/30/28

Permanent Local Housing Allocation Program (PLHA) 18,546,014 11,189,072 4,415,558 6,773,514 58 months 
from 

appropriation
PLHA Program I—FY20 4,348,646 4,368,878 4,368,878 —

PLHA Program II—FY21 6,759,142 6,820,194 46,680 6,773,514

PLHA Program III—FY22 7,438,226 — — —

HomeKey 108,612,760 47,154,609 37,148,785 11,193,556

HomeKey Round 1†† 11,953,474 11,953,474 12,895,252 365,722 6/30/21 
for federal 

Coronavirus 
Relief funds & 

6/30/23 for 
state general 

fund

HomeKey Round 2‡‡ 96,659,286 35,201,135 24,253,533 10,827,834 8 Months for 
certain federal 

funds & 6/30/26 
for state general 

fund

Subtotal—State fundingll $264,433,360 $141,261,374 $88,626,342 $53,202,609

LOCAL§§ ll ll

General Fund $159,236,822 $76,258,375

BeautifySJ and Encampment Waste Pick Up—
BeautifySJ Consolidated Model

2,603 —

BeautifySJ and Encampment Waste Pick Up—
BeautifySJ Consolidated Model

1,735,729 —

BeautifySJ and Encampment Waste Pick Up—
BeautifySJ Consolidated Model

324,125 —

BeautifySJ and Encampment Waste Pick Up—
BeautifySJ Consolidated Model

8,735,858 —

BeautifySJ and Encampment Waste Pick Up— 
San José Bridge Program

3,511,880 1,805,605

Emergency Housing—Downtown Homeless Health 
Response and Support

468,236 982,507

Emergency Housing—Emergency Housing 
Construction and Operation

4,760,744 8,301,022

continued on next page …

15CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 148 of 273



DESCRIPTION
 AWARD

AMOUNT*  RECEIVED†
 SPENT  

(3 YR TOTAL) 

HOMELESSNESS-
RELATED 

REMAINING 
BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/23 

SPEND 
DEADLINE (AS 
APPLICABLE)

Emergency Housing—Sheltering and Enhanced 
Encampment Services

2,840,915 198,085

Emergency Interim Housing Construction and Operation 5,949,659 14,846,861

Fire—Personal Services## 84,949,314 —

Google Community Benefits—Community Stabilization 750,406 —

Homeless Response Team 1,235,139 269

Housing Stabilization—Eviction Help Center 1,389,220 425,427

Housing Stabilization—Hotel Sheltering Operations 
and Services

16,366 3,480,634

Housing Stabilization—South Hall Demobilization and 
Housing Assistance Center

1,895,605 158,114

Measure E—Guadalupe River Park Housing Support 
[10% Homeless Prevention and Rental Assistance (HPRA)]

300,000 2,580,000

Measure E—Homeless Outreach and Engagement 
[15% Homeless Support Programs (HSP)]

532,944 44,177

Measure E—Homeless Student Housing (10% HPRA) 162,135 —

Measure E—Homeless Support Programs (15% HSP) 1,003,163 1,400,000

Measure E—Housing Properties Maintenance (15% HSP) 356,079 1,076,813

Measure E—Project HomeKey 2.0 (40% Extremely 
Low Income)

849,928 35,725,474

Measure E—Rental Assistance (10% HPRA) 14,924,548 2,144,118

Measure E—Storm Evacuee Transition Facilities (15% HSP) 644,948 1,972,896

Measure E—Supportive Services and Operations  
(15% HSP)

1,317,159 —

Parks, Recreation and Neighborhood Services (PRNS)—
Non‑personal/Equipment

758,494 —

PRNS—Non‑personal/Equipment 246,137 —

PRNS—Non‑personal/Equipment 11,939 —

PRNS—Personal Services 874,595 —

PRNS—Personal Services 160,895 —

PRNS—Personal Services 1,457,971 —

Rapid Rehousing 7,069,540 1,096,921

Safe RV Parking 548 19,452

Testing, Tracing, and Isolation 10,000,000 —

Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund 250,000 —

Homeless Services 250,000 —

Emergency Reserve Fund 1,802,595 3,197,405

2022–2023 Storm Response and Recovery 1,802,595 3,197,405

Housing Trust Fund 7,050,956 248,000

Disaster Assistance 4,140 248,000

Employment Initiative Program 298,631 —

Housing and Homeless Projects 4,305,714 —

Housing and Homeless Projects 838,632 —

Housing Personal Services 1,603,839 —

16 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 149 of 273



DESCRIPTION
 AWARD

AMOUNT*  RECEIVED†
 SPENT  

(3 YR TOTAL) 

HOMELESSNESS-
RELATED 

REMAINING 
BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/23 

SPEND 
DEADLINE (AS 
APPLICABLE)

Multi‑Source Housing Fund 128,516 —

Rapid Rehousing 128,516 —

Housing Authority Litigation Award Fund 13,029,833 6,707,215

Bridge Housing Communities 2,819,288 —

Homeless Outreach Services 275,680 —

Job Readiness Training Project 166,500 450,000

Permanent Supportive Housing (40,000) —

Rapid Rehousing 7,814,133 4,757,215

Rebuilding for Heroes 100,000 —

Survivors of Violence Housing Assistance 70,098 —

VA Rental Subsidy Program 1,824,134 1,500,000

Subtotal—Local fundingll $181,498,722 $86,410,995

TOTAL $278,363,158 $143,514,838 $302,100,184 $152,723,690

Source: San José's approved budgets, grant award letters, and city financial records. 

* City was awarded some of the funds before or after our audit period. 
† Amount received may be larger than award amount due to interest income. Additionally, some funds were received before or after our audit period.  

‡ CDBG, CDBG‑CV—These grants were not solely for homelessness purposes; rather, the city identified how much it planned to spend for 
homelessness purposes and was reimbursed for those efforts. Therefore, we present only spent amounts for these funding sources. 

§ Award was received prior to the audit period, and remaining balance is as of January 30, 2024. The city did not identify the amount of expenditures 
for ESG‑CV for fiscal year 2020–21. 

ll Because some funding sources do not have award and received amounts we do not include them in the subtotals for those columns. 

# The remaining balance also accounts for encumbered funds. 

** HEAP—Award was received prior to the audit period and some funds were spent during that period. Spent reflects total expenditures on the grant 
(through end of grant, fiscal year 2021–22). 

†† HomeKey Round 1—Includes $1.085 million from Enterprise Community Parterns, Inc., a private organization, which therefore is not state funding. 
‡‡ HomeKey Round 2—Although the city was awarded $96.7 million in HomeKey Round 2 funding, the city council approved $51.6 million to be paid 

directly to LifeMoves, its co‑grantee, with the stipulation that LifeMoves was to establish a separate bank account that the city would have access to 
monitor. As a result, the city’s accounting records do not include all information. 

§§ Some local appropriations are multi‑year appropriations and therefore have remaining balances. 
ll ll Local funding is generally not awarded from a non‑city source, so award or received amounts are not included for local funds. 

## Fire—Personal Services—The fire department estimated its homelessness‑related expenditures based on the number of homelessness‑related 
incidents it responded to. 

Table 2 similarly shows the aggregate amounts of federal, state and local funding that 
San Diego identified that it had received or allocated for its homelessness efforts in 
the past three fiscal years. At the end of fiscal year 2022–23, San Diego had more 
than $52 million in funding designated for homelessness efforts still available. The 
State also allocated San Diego additional HHAP funding—about $52 million—that it 
had not received during our audit period. From fiscal year 2020–21 through 2022–23, 
San Diego spent more than $87 million of its local funding for homelessness purposes. 
However, the city does not roll over unspent amounts from local funds, so the table 
does not include a remaining balance for these funds. 

17CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 150 of 273



Table 2
As of June 2023, San Diego Had Millions of Dollars in Funding to Reduce Homelessness Remaining 
Fiscal Years 2020–21 Through 2022–23

DESCRIPTION
AWARD

AMOUNT*  RECEIVED†
 SPENT  

(3 YR TOTAL) 

HOMELESSNESS-
RELATED 

REMAINING 
BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/23
SPEND DEADLINE 
(AS APPLICABLE)

FEDERAL

Community Development Block Grant Fund (CDBG) ‡ ‡ $8,165,853 —

CDBG—FY21 4,124,811 —

CDBG—FY22 1,557,047 —

CDBG—FY23 2,483,995 —

Community Development Block Grant— 
CARES Act—FY21

‡ ‡ 4,599,062 $609,938 9/22/26

Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) $3,139,753 $3,139,753 3,091,466 48,287 24 months after 
HUD signed the 
agreement with 

recipient

ESG—FY21 1,043,517 1,043,517 1,043,286 231

ESG—FY22 1,047,275 1,047,275 1,047,274 1

ESG—FY23 1,048,961 1,048,961 1,000,906 48,055

Emergency Solutions Grant—CARES Act 26,394,450 26,394,450 25,908,440 486,010 9/30/23

HOME Investment Partnerships American Rescue 
Plan Program

‡ ‡ — 2,000,000 9/30/30

CARES Act ‡ ‡ 29,274,809 —

Subtotal—Federal funding§ $29,534,203 $29,534,203 $71,039,630 $3,144,235

STATE

AB 179—Emergency Shelter for Victims of 
Domestic Violence

$2,000,000 — — $2,000,000 6/30/26

SB 89—COVID‑19 Emergency Homelessness Funding 3,699,316 $3,736,627 $3,736,627 — Must be 
encumbered by 

6/30/20

Encampment Resolution Funding Grant—Round 2 2,446,500 2,446,500 — 2,446,500 Within 
three years of 
appropriation

Family Homelessness Challenge Grant 441,151 441,151 — 441,151 6/30/26

Homeless Emergency Aid Program 14,110,398 14,633,673 14,633,673 —

Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention 
(HHAP) Grant

113,041,368 60,636,117 39,438,869 21,197,247

HHAP Grant 22,491,840 22,522,672 16,716,890 5,805,782 6/30/25

HHAP Grant II 10,632,506 10,632,506 8,090,798 2,541,708 6/30/26

HHAP Grant III 27,480,939 27,480,939 14,631,181 12,849,757 6/30/26

HHAP Grant IV 22,517,490 — — — 6/30/27

HHAP Grant V 29,918,593 — — — 6/30/28

Permanent Local Housing Allocation Program 24,693,854 24,693,854 1,724,184 22,969,670 58 months from 
appropriation

Subtotal—State funding§ $160,432,587 $106,587,922 $59,533,353 $49,054,568

18 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 151 of 273



DESCRIPTION
AWARD

AMOUNT*  RECEIVED†
 SPENT  

(3 YR TOTAL) 

HOMELESSNESS-
RELATED 

REMAINING 
BALANCE AS OF 

6/30/23
SPEND DEADLINE 
(AS APPLICABLE)

LOCALll

General Fund $86,864,918 —

Clean SD—Overtime for Police Department 7,897,992 —

Contracts & Services 59,675,602 —

HSSD—Energy and Utilities 738,408 —

Fringe Benefits 1,523,060 —

Homeless Outreach Team (HOT) 10,563,890 —

HSSD—Information Technology 174,610 —

General Services—Maintenance Expenses—Shelters 394,269 —

HSSD—Other Expenses 13,271 —

Personnel Costs 3,067,505 —

Parks & Rec—Shigellosis Remediation 1,208,373 —

HSSD—Supplies 1,550,605 —

Parks & Rec—Temporary Shelter‑GH Relocation 57,333 —

Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund 786,031 —

Subtotal—Local funding§ $87,650,949 —

TOTAL $189,966,790 $136,122,125 $218,223,932 $52,198,803

Source: San Diego's approved budgets, grant awards, and financial management systems information. 

* City was awarded some of the funds before or after our audit period. 
† Amount received may be larger than award amount due to interest income. Additionally, some funds were received before or after our audit period. 
‡ These grants were not solely for homelessness purposes; rather, the city identified how much it planned to spend for homelessness purposes and 

was reimbursed for those efforts. 
§ Because some funding sources do not have award and received amounts we do not include them in the subtotals for those columns. 
ll Local funding is generally not awarded from a non‑city source, so award or received amounts are not included for local funds.

Nonetheless, neither San José nor San Diego could definitively identify all the 
revenues and expenditures related to its homelessness efforts. This limitation is in part 
because their city departments budget for and track homelessness funding in a variety 
of ways. For example, some departments receive a budget for homelessness services 
and track that spending so it is clearly distinguishable. However, other departments 
commingle in a single fund their budget for addressing homelessness with funding for 
other purposes, such as the BeautifySJ program. In these instances, the cities cannot 
distinguish the amounts intended for addressing homelessness. Although these types 
of challenges primarily involve local funding, cities can also use some state and federal 
funding sources for more than just homelessness‑related efforts. If cities do not 
carefully track their usage of these funds for homelessness‑specific expenditures, it 
may impede their ability to identify all of their homelessness‑related spending. 

To inform decision‑makers and provide transparency, the cities should track and 
report in a single location all funding they receive and use to reduce homelessness. 
Tracking this funding will require the cities to create and document a methodology 

19CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 152 of 273



for identifying from their financial systems the amounts of homelessness funding 
they have received, budgeted, and spent. As part of this process, the cities should 
develop a spending plan for their homelessness funding that identifies the available 
funding and how they intend to allocate that funding. For example, the cities could 
identify the amounts of funding they have available from federal, state, and local 
sources each year and indicate the amounts of that funding they plan to allocate to 
specific homelessness‑related activities, such as developing permanent supportive 
housing or conducting outreach. The cities should then report on their spending at the 
end of each year. San Diego’s independent budget analyst’s office acknowledged that the 
city needs such a plan when it wrote, “Having a clear, publicly available spending plan 
enables the Council and the public to monitor program expenses, ensure that existing 
funds are being maximized, and provides transparency regarding the city’s efforts to 
address homelessness.”

San José Did Not Develop a City‑Specific Plan for Addressing Homelessness Until 
January 2024

Careful planning is critical to ensuring that a city’s efforts to address the complex problem 
of homelessness are effective. As we discuss in the previous section, the cities should 
develop spending plans to ensure that they maximize their funds and to provide 
transparency regarding their efforts to address homelessness. However, in addition to 
spending plans, the cities should also develop action plans with city‑specific goals that 
identify the actions they will take to address homelessness. This type of plan enables a 
city to track its progress and evaluate the effectiveness of the actions it takes to achieve 
its goals. 

San José has historically relied on the county‑level 
community action plan (county plan) to guide its 
efforts to address homelessness. A committee led 
by the Santa Clara County CoC developed the  
2020–2025 county plan. The director of San José’s 
housing department was a member of the county 
plan’s steering committee, and San José had two 
additional members involved in the county plan’s 
workgroup to gather community input. The text 
box lists the county’s homelessness‑related goals. 

Although we recognize the value of the county 
plan, we are concerned that the city council did 
not adopt a city‑specific plan for implementing the 
county plan (implementation plan) until recently. 
As a consequence, San José lacked the city‑specific 
information necessary to assess and, if necessary, 
adjust its actions to ensure their effectiveness in 
meeting the specific needs of the city’s residents 

who were experiencing homelessness. For example, in 2021 and 2022, San José’s 
housing department submitted memos to the city council regarding the city’s 

The County Plan’s Five Goals for 2025:

• Achieve a 30 percent reduction in annual inflow of 
people becoming homeless.

• House 20,000 people through the supportive 
housing system.

• Expand the Homelessness Prevention System and 
other early interventions to serve 2,500 people 
per year.

• Double temporary housing and shelter capacity to 
reduce the number of people sleeping outside.

• Address the racial inequities present among 
unhoused people and families and track progress 
toward reducing disparities.

Source: County plan 2020–2025. 

20 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 153 of 273



spending priorities for its homelessness programs. However, those memos do not 
include forward‑looking, measurable goals for the programs. Consequently, the city 
may not know if its spending and actions met its needs. 

In addition, in the absence of a city‑specific implementation plan, the city has 
not assessed the effectiveness of its actions in achieving the county’s larger goals. 
Although the city included program‑specific targets in some grant agreements with 
service providers, it did not identify or report on how these targets helped or would 
help it achieve the county plan’s larger goals. For example, in fiscal year 2022–23, 
San José’s housing department approved spending $8 million in Measure E funds 
on the city’s homelessness prevention system. The city’s 2022–23 amendment to 
the agreement with a nonprofit for that system specifies that the city’s target was to 
assist 900 people in staying housed and prevent them from entering homelessness. 
However, it is unclear how this target specifically fits within the county plan’s goal 
to achieve a 30 percent reduction in the annual inflow of people becoming homeless 
because the target does not specify the total number of people the city needs to 
prevent from entering homelessness to help achieve the 30 percent reduction. The 
city auditor reached a similar conclusion in a 2023 audit, reporting that the city’s 
homelessness and housing measures lacked context that would relate them to the 
broader goals of the county plan. 

City staff explained that San José did not develop a city‑specific implementation 
plan for the county plan until recently because the city was focusing its efforts on 
responding to the COVID‑19 pandemic. However, the city reported that it took many 
homelessness‑related actions in those years. Having an implementation plan with 
clear goals would have helped the city to evaluate the effectiveness of its actions and 
measure its progress toward its goals. 

In December 2023, after we began our review, the city presented an implementation 
plan to its housing commission. In January 2024, the city council approved that plan. 
The new implementation plan establishes a direct tie with the county plan, creates 
accountability by linking the city’s actions to specific departments, and includes 
measureable outcomes for the city to report publicly on an annual basis. By establishing 
accountability and transparency, the implementation plan should better situate the 
city to evaluate the effectiveness of its future actions to address homelessness. 

In 2019 San Diego Established a City‑Specific Plan That Includes Clear, Measurable Goals 

To reduce and prevent homelessness, San Diego has followed a city‑specific 
community action plan (city action plan) since 2019. The Corporation of Supportive 
Housing (CSH)—a national nonprofit organization focused on homelessness and 
housing—authored this plan in partnership with a steering committee consisting of 
the city, the housing commission, and the Regional Task Force. The plan identifies the 
need to set targeted goals and implement a systemwide strategic approach to achieve 
those goals. It also includes analyses of multiple data sources, including demographic 
characteristics of people experiencing homelessness, current shelter capacity, 
permanent housing units, and available financial resources for homelessness. 

21CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 154 of 273



The city action plan identifies five distinct 
strategies for addressing homelessness, which the 
text box presents. Each strategy identifies specific 
target priorities. For example, to increase the 
production of and access to permanent housing, 
the plan prioritizes planning for the development 
of 3,500 units of permanent supportive housing 
over 10 years. For each of these longer‑term 
priorities, the city identifies related actions, 
including the need to establish annual 
development targets, create a funding pipeline, 
implement policy changes, and work with partners 
to coordinate the implementation of 
those changes. 

The plan also includes clear goals to allow San Diego to track its progress and evaluate 
the effectiveness of its actions. The housing commission maintains public dashboards 
on the city’s progress toward some of its strategic goals. The public dashboards display 
updates on goals within reach in the next three years, performance data related to 
the implementation of the strategic goals, and progress toward housing goals. For 
example, to measure its progress of ending veteran homelessness, San Diego used 
Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (VASH) voucher utilization rates, among other 
metrics. San Diego’s dashboard data showed that in each year since 2019, San Diego 
has issued more of the VASH rental assistance vouchers it received from HUD to 
veterans experiencing homelessness, increasing its utilization rate from 86 percent 
in 2019 to 93 percent in 2022. Table 3 describes San Diego’s progress toward achieving 
selected goals since 2019. 

San Diego has revisited its goals and updated them to reflect changes in recent years. 
In 2023 CSH used newly available data, trends, and resources to update the city 
action plan’s housing and prevention goals, as well as its financial modeling estimates 
of required funding to meet those goals. For example, it increased the shelter goal 
from 390–580 beds to 465–920 beds. The updated plan shows that the number of 
individuals entering homelessness has increased since 2019, when the city adopted 
the plan and determined the need for more homelessness prevention actions. Because 
San Diego recently updated its action plan goals in fall 2023, it is too early to evaluate 
its progress toward meeting the new goals. 

The Five Strategies in San Diego’s Action Plan: 

• Implement a systems‑level approach to 
homeless planning.

• Create a client‑centered homeless assistance system.

• Decrease inflow into homelessness by increasing 
prevention and diversion.

• Improve the performance of the existing system.

• Increase the production of and access to 
permanent solutions.

Source: The housing commission.

22 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 155 of 273



Table 3
San Diego Tracks the Progress Toward Some of Its Homelessness Strategic Goals

LONG TERM STRATEGIC GOALS PROGRESS TOWARD GOALS

Increase the outflow by 
increasing the production 
of permanent solutions 

Develop pipeline plan for 3,500 units of 
permanent supportive housing (PSH) over 
10 years, including 2,802 units of supportive 
housing developed and 701 supportive 
housing units leased in private rental market. 

As of September 2023:  
• Total PSH units needed to develop—2,802. 
• Total PSH units in service—1,237. 
• Total PSH units under construction—196. 
• Total PSH units approved with finance pending—107. 
• Additional PSH units needed—1,262.

Decrease the inflow by 
increasing successful 
prevention and diversion 

Increase diversion to at least 770 successful 
interventions per year and reduce the number 
of people who become homeless for the first 
time or return to homelessness. 

From 2019 through 2022: 
• The number of people experiencing homelessness for the 

first time increased from 7,234 to 8,231.
• The number of people who returned to homelessness increased 

from 3,100 to 3,624. 

Improve system 
perfomance 

Ensure that the homelessness assistance 
system is functioning at peak  
utilization/performance. 

Ensure that people quickly receive housing 
and services. 

Utilization in 2023:  
• Emergency shelter bed utilization—87%. 
• PSH utilization—75%. 
• Rapid Rehousing utilization—100%. 
• Safe Haven utilization—88%. 
• Transitional housing utilization—83%. 
• Other PSH utilization—96%.

Average length of time homeless in 2022:  
• 1,029 days, up from 771 in 2019.

SHORT TERM GOALS MEASURES TO EVALUATE EFFECTIVENESS SYSTEM PERFORMANCE

Decrease unsheltered 
homelessness by 50%

Monthly unsheltered downtown count. As of August 2023, there were 1,207 unsheltered people in 
downtown San Diego, which is an increase of 437 people 
compared to the same month in 2019. 

Project One for All (POFA) voucher utilization— 
rental housing vouchers and supportive 
services for adults with serious mental illness 
who are experiencing homelessness. 

In 2022:  
• 778 POFA vouchers awarded. 
• 545 POFA vouchers used to lease units. 
• 86 POFA vouchers in progress or issued. 
• 81% POFA voucher utilization, up from 72% in 2019. 

Finish the job of ending 
veteran homelessness

Veteran PIT count. In 2023 there were 248 sheltered and 319 unsheltered veterans. 

Veterans Affairs Supportive Housing (VASH)—
voucher program to provide rental assistance 
for veterans who receive case management 
and clinical services and who are experiencing 
homelessness. 

In 2022:  
• 1,285 VASH vouchers awarded. 
• 1,198 VASH vouchers used to lease units. 
• 93% VASH voucher utilization, up from 86% in 2019. 

Prevent and end youth 
homelessness

Youth PIT count. In 2023 there were 672 sheltered and 182 unsheltered youth— 
511 less youth experiencing homelessness compared to 2022. 

Transition‑Aged Youth Family Unification 
Program Voucher (TAYFUP)—rental housing 
vouchers to reunite children with their families. 

Transitional Aged Youth specific vouchers 
(TAY).

In 2022:  
• 50 TAYFUP vouchers awarded. 
• 49 TAYFUP vouchers used to lease units. 
• 98% TAYFUP voucher utilization. 
• 59 TAY vouchers awarded. 
• 49 TAY vouchers used to lease units. 
• 83% TAY voucher utilization, up from 65% in 2019. 

Source: San Diego's city action plan, housing commission dashboards, and 2023 CoC PIT count data. 

23CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 156 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

24 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 157 of 273



Neither San José nor San Diego Has Consistently 
Evaluated the Effectiveness of Its 
Homelessness Programs 

Key Points

• San José and San Diego spend millions of dollars annually on services to address 
homelessness that are provided through agreements with external providers, such 
as nonprofits. However, the cities have not consistently monitored and evaluated 
the performances of their providers to ensure that these agreements represent 
effective uses of funds.

• People experiencing unsheltered homelessness face significant health and safety 
risks, increasing the importance of providing them with effective services. Both 
San José and San Diego have established programs to mitigate the risks that these 
individuals face. However, neither San José nor San Diego has measured the 
effectiveness of all of its programs to address the risks of unsheltered homelessness.

• Several federal and state laws and regulations may impede cities’ ability to 
accurately evaluate and track certain information about people experiencing 
homelessness. Both San José and San Diego believe that increased access to such 
data would allow them to better evaluate the services they provide and identify 
those programs that are most effective.

San José and San Diego Have Not Consistently Assessed the Effectiveness of Their 
Agreements With Service Providers

Both San José and San Diego spend tens of millions of dollars on efforts to reduce 
homelessness through agreements with external service providers, such as nonprofits. 
Consequently, the cities’ management of those agreements is especially crucial for 
establishing accountability and ensuring the effectiveness of their homelessness 
spending. Nonetheless, the cities’ agreements with external service providers have not 
always included performance benchmarks to allow the cities to assess the results of the 
service providers’ efforts. Moreover, our review found that the two cities did not always 
establish well‑defined measures for assessing the performance of their providers or 
ensure that the providers submitted complete performance reporting. 

For each city, we reviewed 14 agreements for services such as rapid rehousing, 
encampment outreach, shelter, and homelessness prevention. Relying on the listings 
of homelessness‑related agreements the cities provided to us, we selected agreements 
for review based on their amounts, funding source, and program type. Eight of the 
14 agreements for each city included funding from state and federal sources. The 
remaining six agreements primarily involved funding from local sources, including 
Measure E funds for San José. We evaluated each city’s agreements for defined 
performance measures and provider reporting requirements, and we considered each 
city’s assessments of provider services and its documentation of those assessments. 

25CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 158 of 273



Well‑defined performance measures establish clear expectations for providers. For 
example, an effective performance measure might specify a number of people to 
be served per agreement activity. Nonetheless, as Table 4 shows, San José either 
did not establish or did not clearly define its expected performance measures in the 
14 agreements we reviewed. For example, in a $12 million agreement for emergency 
rental assistance, San José established as a performance measure that 80 percent of 
program households that the provider surveyed would report improved housing 
stability after receiving assistance and services. However, the agreement neither 
specifies the number of households the provider should survey, nor did the provider 
disclose in its resulting report the number of households it surveyed. We believe 
that such specificity would provide the context for the survey’s results and help 
ensure that those results are an accurate representation of the services provided. 
The city explained that it recognizes its agreements do not include clearly defined 
performance measures and that it has been working with an external consultant to 
improve its monitoring and compliance processes. 

Table 4
San Jose Did Not Always Clearly Define Performance Measures or Ensure It Received Performance Reporting in the 
Service Provider Agreements We Reviewed

VENDOR / 
AGREEMENT NUMBER / 
FISCAL YEAR

AGREEMENT 
AMOUNT FUNDING SOURCE(S) SERVICES

PERFORMANCE 
MEASURES CLEARLY 

DEFINED?

RECEIVED  
PERFORMANCE 

REPORTING?

Destination: Home SV
HTF‑16‑011C
2020–21

$3,000,000 Homeless Housing, 
Assistance and Prevention 

(HHAP)

Employment Initiative 
and Homelessness 
Prevention System

Ill‑Defined Yes

Destination: Home SV
HTF‑16‑011D
2020–21

2,735,000 Measure E Homelessness 
Prevention System Ill‑Defined Incomplete

People Assisting the 
Homeless (PATH)
ESG‑20‑EC01
2020–21

2,066,188 Emergency Solutions 
Grants—CARES Act 
Round 2 (ESG‑CV2)

Service Outreach 
Assistance and 

Resources (SOAR) Ill‑Defined Incomplete

The Health Trust
HALA‑17‑003C
2020–21

234,956 General Fund Rapid rehousing—
Supportive services Ill‑Defined Not Received

Destination: Home SV
HTF‑21‑004
2021–22

4,800,000 HHAP2

Measure E

Homelessness 
Prevention System Ill‑Defined Incomplete

Opening Doors 2020
647021
2021–22

187,000 General Fund Downtown Meals and 
Services Program Ill‑Defined Incomplete

LifeMoves
ESG‑21‑003A
2021–22

2,000,000 General Fund and Housing 
Authority Litigation Award

Rapid rehousing
Ill‑Defined Yes

Abode Services
GF‑20‑005B
2021–22

1,746,264 HomeKey

Housing Homeless 
Program

SureStay Hotel
None Not Received

26 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 159 of 273



VENDOR / 
AGREEMENT NUMBER / 
FISCAL YEAR

AGREEMENT 
AMOUNT FUNDING SOURCE(S) SERVICES

PERFORMANCE 
MEASURES CLEARLY 

DEFINED?

RECEIVED  
PERFORMANCE 

REPORTING?

Sacred Heart 
Community Service
CPS‑20‑003
2021–22

1,000,000 Community Development 
Block Grant—CARES Act 

Round 1 (CDBG‑CV1)

Emergency Rental 
Assistance Program—

COVID‑19 Case 
Management

Ill‑Defined Incomplete

Sacred Heart 
Community Service
GF‑20‑007A
2022–23

12,305,942 Emergency Rental 
Assistance Program (ERAP)

Emergency Rental 
Assistance Program

Ill‑Defined Incomplete

Destination: Home SV
HTF‑21‑004A
2022–23

8,000,429 Measure E Homelessness 
Prevention System Ill‑Defined Incomplete

People Assisting the 
Homeless (PATH)
GF‑19‑013C
2022–23

2,880,000 HHAP Emergency Interim 
Housing (EIH) at 

Evans Lane Ill‑Defined Not Received

People Assisting the 
Homeless (PATH)
ERF‑22‑10018‑01
2022–23

801,000 Encampment Resolution 
Fund (ERF)

Safe Encampment 
Resolution

Ill‑Defined Incomplete

HomeFirst Services of 
Santa Clara County
ESG‑20‑002B
2022–23

300,000 Measure E Rapid rehousing 
program

Ill‑Defined Yes

Source: San José agreement files and auditor assessment. 

Similarly, San Diego did not clearly define its expected performance measures in 
six of the 14 agreements we reviewed, as Table 5 shows. In San Diego, the housing 
commission managed 11 of the 14 agreements, although the city provided oversight of 
that management. Nonetheless, the city indicated that it did not generally require that the 
housing commission set specific targets or goals for the performance measures in those 
agreements the commission managed, unless the funding source mandated establishing 
such targets. For example, in a $1.6 million agreement for interim housing and supportive 
services, the housing commission did not specify how many people the provider should 
serve or set a target for shelter occupancy. Housing commission staff explained that 
attaching goals to certain metrics can create unintended adverse behaviors from service 
providers to meet those goals, which is why some previous performance metrics have 
moved to reporting only. 

Moreover, two of San Diego’s 14 agreements did not establish any performance 
measures. For example, the city entered into a $415,000 agreement for outreach 
and engagement services but only required the service provider to report on data 
on referrals to services and exits to permanent housing; the city did not specify any 
targets or goals for the performance measures. San Diego received the report from the 
provider, but it was incomplete because it did not include exits to permanent housing. 
However, without consistently defining measurable expectations for service providers, 
both the city and the housing commission risk those providers’ using city dollars 
ineffectively and ultimately not reducing homelessness. 

27CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 160 of 273



Table 5
San Diego Did Not Always Clearly Define Performance Measures or Ensure It Received Complete Performance 
Reporting in the Service Provider Agreements We Reviewed

VENDOR / 
AGREEMENT NUMBER /  
FISCAL YEAR

AGREEMENT 
AMOUNT FUNDING SOURCE(S) SERVICES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
CLEARLY DEFINED?

RECEIVED PERFORMANCE 
REPORTING?

Mental Health Systems, Inc.
HHI‑20‑07.1*
2020–21

$419,750 General Fund and 
Affordable Housing 

Fund

Transitional 
housing and 

supportive services
Yes Incomplete

Veterans Village of San Diego
HHI‑20‑22*
2020–21

1,955,443 General Fund Bridge housing and 
supportive services Yes Yes

Family Health Centers of 
San Diego, Inc.
HHI‑18‑22.1*
2020–21

1,550,000 Community 
Development Block 

Grant (CDBG)

General Fund

Low and Moderate 
Income Housing 

Fund

Housing Navigation 
Center

Ill‑Defined Yes

People Assisting 
the Homeless
HHI‑21‑17*
2020–21

529,416 CDBG

General Fund

Low and Moderate 
Income Housing 

Fund

Operate housing 
commision's 

Homelessness 
Response Center

Ill‑Defined Yes

Alpha Project for 
the Homeless
HHI‑20‑11.2*
2021–22

2,959,661 HHAP

ESG‑CV2

Bridge shelter

Yes Yes

People Assisting 
the Homeless
HHI‑21‑16.1*
2021–22

2,375,000 HHAP

General Fund

Coordinated street 
outreach

Yes Yes

St. Vincent de Paul Village, 
Inc. (Father Joe’s Villages)
HHI‑21‑03.1*
2021–22

1,989,585 CDBG

ESG

General Fund

Housing Commission

Interim shelter

Yes Yes

Alpha Project for 
the Homeless
HHI‑22‑41*
2021–22

1,635,554 General Fund Interim housing 
and supportive 

services Ill‑Defined Incomplete

City Net
N/A†
2021–22

415,000 General Fund Outreach to 
residents of 

encampments
None Incomplete

St Vincent de Paul Village, 
Inc. (Father Joe’s Villages)
HHI‑22‑57*
2022–23

10,458,046 HHAP Golden Hall 
Bridge Shelter

Yes Yes

Alpha Project for 
the Homeless
HHI‑20‑20.2*
2022–23

6,571,548 HHAP Bridge shelter

Yes Yes

PATH San Diego 
N/A†
2022–23

3,475,000 HHAP

General Fund

Coordinated street 
outreach None Incomplete

28 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 161 of 273



VENDOR / 
AGREEMENT NUMBER /  
FISCAL YEAR

AGREEMENT 
AMOUNT FUNDING SOURCE(S) SERVICES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
CLEARLY DEFINED?

RECEIVED PERFORMANCE 
REPORTING?

The Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual, Transgender 
Community Center
HHI‑23‑30A*
2022–23

704,190 General Fund Shelter and 
supportive services

Yes Yes

National Alliance for Mental 
Illness San Diego
N/A†
2022–23

596,914 General Fund Overnight 
shelter with case 

management Ill‑Defined Yes

Source: San Diego agreement files and auditor assessment. 

* Housing commission‑managed agreement. 
† Agreement does not have an agreement number. 

Aside from not consistently establishing clearly defined performance measures in the 
agreements they entered into, the cities also did not always ensure that they received 
required data on provider performance. The agreements required providers to 
submit reports that present data on the activities they performed and the outcomes 
of their efforts. For example, San José’s housing department’s agreements specify 
that service providers must submit quarterly performance reports through an online 
system that the city uses to manage grants (grants system). However, we found 
that the grants system was incomplete and consequently, upon our request, staff 
had to search elsewhere for the reporting associated with some of the agreements 
we reviewed. Similarly, San Diego did not receive all the necessary reporting for 
four of the 14 agreements we reviewed. For example, the reporting it received for 
one agreement for outreach services worth about $3.5 million was incomplete 
because it lacked a required assessment by the provider of the services in question. 
Without complete and clear reporting of such data, the cities’ ability to determine the 
effectiveness of the services they purchased is limited. 

Moreover, we found that when the cities did receive provider performance data, the 
cities’ assessments were confusing at times. For example, in one assessment that 
San José performed of a $2 million amendment to an agreement for rapid rehousing 
services, city staff assessed a provider’s performance as “adequate.” However, the city 
staff’s description in the assessment of the provider’s performance indicated that the 
provider had failed to meet nearly all activity goals for the year. While the provider 
did not meet the contract performance targets, the city believes the performance was 
adequate given difficult circumstances related to moving people from an encampment 
into housing and agreed that it could have better documented why its assessment of the 
performance was adequate. 

We identified similar problems with San Diego’s performance assessments. The 
housing commission explained that it uses its monthly data collection tools to compare 
results of a program to the contracted benchmarks and that it bases these contracted 
benchmarks on its CoC's community standards and other best practice information. 
When we reviewed a data collection tool for an interim housing and supportive 
services contract, we saw that the service provider was consistently not meeting the 

29CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 162 of 273



stated benchmark of 26 percent exits to permanent housing. In fact, the percentage of 
exits to permanent housing was 6 percent during the term of the agreement. Given that 
the provider was falling significantly short of meeting this benchmark, we would have 
expected the housing commission to analyze the provider's performance to determine 
whether the agreement was effective. However, the data collection tool did not include 
such an analysis from the commission. 

Although both cities asserted that they monitored or reviewed the performance of 
their service providers, their staff did not always document overall conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the service providers’ efforts. One reason for this gap is that the 
cities’ procedures do not require staff to formally document such assessments. These 
types of assessments are crucial for ensuring accountability and the reduction and 
prevention of homelessness. San José acknowledged that its agreement management 
procedures are outdated, and it stated that it is in the process of updating its guidelines 
to include more direction on how to assess an agreement for effectiveness and how 
to document that assessment. According to the housing commission, the agreements 
in which we identified shortcomings were for new programs that had standards that 
changed or had not yet been developed or the nature of the agreement did not warrant 
certain performance metrics. The housing commission provided documentation of its 
efforts to ensure compliance with agreement requirements, such as reviewing samples 
of program files to assess areas in which providers are performing well or may require 
additional technical assistance. However, it agreed that it could better document 
its assessments of the on‑going performance of these agreements. Sometimes 
circumstances exist that are beyond the contractor's control that may impact program 
performance, such as the COVID‑19 pandemic and housing shortages.

Without such analyses, it is unclear how the cities and the housing commission decide 
to renew agreements. The weaknesses we note above have limited the information 
available to the cities when making such decisions. For example, in fiscal year 2022–23, 
San José funded an agreement for homelessness prevention services with $8 million 
from Measure E. The service provider reported having vastly exceeded expectations 
on most requirements, stating that it had provided financial assistance payments to 
more than 1,200 households in a three‑month period when the goal was only 215. 
Moreover, at the end of the agreement term, the provider reported providing a total 
of nearly 4,000 financial assistance payments, when the goal was only 860. When 
we asked city staff to explain how the service provider could have achieved such 
results within the agreement’s budget constraints, they were initially unable to do so. 
However, after talking with the service provider, the city conveyed to us the service 
provider’s explanation that it had reported its total number of financial assistance 
transactions, rather than the number of unduplicated households it helped. 

When we reviewed the updated version of the service provider’s results, we found 
that the provider actually did not meet the goal for the agreement term. In fact, it 
reported making only 789 payments during the agreement term. San José had not 
noticed or investigated the original inflated results in its assessments of the provider’s 
performance. Nevertheless, the city negotiated an extension to the agreement with the 
service provider for fiscal year 2023–24 without having accurate performance data.

30 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 163 of 273



Agreements with service providers are critical to cities’ efforts to reduce and prevent 
homelessness. When the cities either do not establish clear objectives in those 
agreements or do not monitor providers’ performance in achieving objectives, they 
risk failing to meet the needs of their residents who are experiencing homelessness. 

Neither San José nor San Diego Has Measured the Effects of All Its Efforts to Mitigate 
the Health and Safety Risks of Unsheltered Homelessness

People experiencing unsheltered homelessness face significant health and safety 
risks, particularly if they live in encampments. San José has established some 
programs to mitigate these health and safety risks. However, it has not measured 
the effectiveness of those programs. San Diego has allocated resources to programs 
related to public health and safety and has provided services to mitigate health 
and safety risks for people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. Nonetheless, 
San Diego did not always measure the effectiveness of its programs. The cities’ lack 
of clear performance measures leaves them unable to assess whether their health and 
safety actions have effectively addressed the profound risks that individuals living in 
encampments face. 

Because the cities have not consistently developed performance measures to 
evaluate the effectiveness of their programs, we reviewed the data that the cities 
have collected on program outcomes and on the frequency with which programs 
have contacted individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness. Both cities have 
set some expectations related to frequency and do collect some data, however, they 
do not use performance measures, such as reductions in the frequency of public 
health‑related complaints, to evaluate effectiveness. 

Although San José Took Actions to Address Health and Safety at Encampments, It Did Not 
Always Assess the Effectiveness of Those Actions 

Beginning during the COVID‑19 pandemic, San José significantly increased its 
spending on programs related to the health and safety of people living in encampments 
and in residences in the surrounding communities. From fiscal years 2020–21 
through 2022–23, San José budgeted a combination of federal, state, and local city 
funding for encampment site‑specific services and programs related to the health 
and safety of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, as Table 6 shows. Its 
annual budgeted funding for these purposes increased from $12.7 million in fiscal 
year 2020–21 to $19 million in fiscal year 2022–23.

San José adopted an encampment management strategy and safe relocation 
policy in 2021 that generally aligns with best practices. Specifically, encampment 
management best practices indicate that local governments should provide access 
to safe places to sleep and should provide public health services.5 In addition, the 
U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness published principles for addressing

5 Encampment Principles and Best Practices, National Law Center on Homelessness and Poverty. 

31CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 164 of 273



encampments that specify that communities should keep encampments away from 
areas that are unsafe. In alignment with these principles, San José designed its policy 
to minimize abatements and support people experiencing unsheltered homelessness 
where they are unless that location presents risk factors, such as reoccurring 
unsanitary conditions or potential for fire. 

Table 6
San José Increased Its Budgeted Funding for Health and Safety Programs From Fiscal Year 2020–21 Through 2022–23

FISCAL YEAR

PROGRAM AND DEPARTMENT REPORTED OUTCOMES FUNDING SOURCE 2020–21 2021–22 2022–23

Parks, Recreation and Neighborhood Services Department
BeautifySJ program:  
Provides encampment sanitary 
services, such as regular trash 
pick‑ups, and abatements. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 
through 2022–23, provided: 

• 22,100 regular trash visits 

• 640 biowaste cleanups 

• 590 abatements 

• 280 enhanced cleanups 

General Fund  
(local)

$919,000 $949,000 $13,675,000

Coronavirus Relief Fund 
(federal)

1,424,000 36,000 —

American Rescue Plan 
(federal)

— 4,514,000 1,210,000

Housing Department
Service, Outreach and 
Neighborhood Services 
Hygiene program:  
Provides hygiene stations 
at some of the city’s largest 
encampments. 

In fiscal year 2020–21: 

• Placed 83 portapotties and 
57 handwashing stations 
at encampments.

From fiscal year 2021–22 
through 2022–23:

• San José did not measure 
the outcomes.

Multi‑Source Housing Fund  
(mix of state, local, 
and federal)

89,000 291,000 741,000

Dignity on Wheels  
Mobile Hygiene program:  
Provides mobile laundry, 
shower, and other basic 
needs services. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 through 
2022–23:

• Served about 4,500 individuals. 

• Provided about 29,800 showers 
and 9,600 laundry loads. 

Housing Trust Fund  
(local) 

500,000 500,000 500,000

Homeless Housing, 
Assistance and Prevention 
(state)

— — 500,000

Safe Parking program  
for recreational vehicles:  
San José designates 
parking lots for people 
living out of their RVs to 
safely stay overnight. 

In fiscal year 2020–21:

• Served 162 individuals at two 
city‑owned community centers.

In fiscal year 2023–24:

• Served 65 unduplicated 
individuals at one RV safe parking 
location that opened in July 2023. 

Housing Trust Fund  
(local)

350,000 — 20,000

American Rescue Plan 
(federal)

— — 1,000,000

Homeless Housing, 
Assistance and Prevention 
(state)

— — 500,000

Overnight Warming Locations:  
San José operates overnight 
warming locations on 
city property during cold 
winter months for people 
experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 
through 2022–23:

• Served about 1,950 people in its 
overnight warming locations.

ESG, Community 
Development Block Grant, 
and Housing Trust Fund 
(federal and local)

4,712,000 915,000 855,000

CARES Act  
(federal)

4,716,000 — —

Totals $12,710,000 $7,205,000 $19,001,000

Source: City of San José departments. 

Note: Because of the way the city budgets and accounts for some programs, we used actual spending instead of budgeted amounts to identify 
funding for certain programs. 

32 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 165 of 273



Nonetheless, San José has not adequately evaluated its efforts to mitigate health and 
safety issues related to encampments. Although the city has set some expectations 
related to the frequency of the services it provides, it has not developed performance 
measures to evaluate how well its programs are mitigating health and safety risks. As 
a result, it is difficult to assess whether its programs are effective. 

For example, San José reported that it took steps during the pandemic to mitigate 
public health risks at encampments by providing some encampment site‑specific 
services, including an enhanced weekly encampment trash program and escalated 
cleanups and abatements through programs such as BeautifySJ and Services, Outreach, 
Assistance, and Resources. Under BeautifySJ, the city committed to performing 
trash pickups on a weekly basis at encampments. The city’s service data indicate 
that it completed about 33,600 service visits at about 250 encampments from 2020 
through 2023. These visits included about 22,100 regular trash service visits, about 
640 biowaste cleanups, and about 590 abatements. 

Although the city tracks its visits to encampments, our review of its data and 
reporting did not identify information demonstrating the effectiveness of its 
encampment services at mitigating health risks, such as a reduction in the number 
of public health incidents occurring at encampments. San José asserted that it was 
planning to hire a consultant to develop performance measures for BeautifySJ. The 
use of performance measures would better allow the city to evaluate whether it 
is achieving its goal of improving quality of life for unsheltered individuals and of 
creating healthy neighborhoods for all its residents.

In addition to its programs focused on mitigating health risks, San José funded 
two programs from fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23 that provide safety to 
people experiencing unsheltered homelessness: the Safe Parking program (Safe 
Parking) and the Overnight Warming Locations program (Warming Locations). As 
Table 6 describes, Safe Parking involves the city designating parking lots that have 
overnight security in which individuals can safely sleep in their recreational vehicles 
(such as motorhomes or trailers), while Warming Locations involves the city’s 
opening locations with security on city property for unsheltered individuals during 
the cold weather months. 

San José’s implementation of both of these programs has addressed the safety of a 
small subset of the people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. For example, 
San José reported providing Safe Parking at two city‑owned sites for people who 
sleep in their recreational vehicles. It stated that the program temporarily served 
about 162 individuals during fiscal year 2020–21. However, city staff explained that 
the city did not renew the agreement with this service provider after it expired in 
June 2021 because the city had changed how it wished to serve people residing in 
vehicles. The city did not open a new safe parking location until recently, in July 2023. 
This new location currently can serve about 42 recreational vehicles on a daily basis, 
which is far fewer than the 700 recreational vehicles in which the city estimates 
people are living. 

33CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 166 of 273



In addition, in June 2022, San José approved funding for a Safe Parking program for 
people who sleep in their cars. However, according to city staff, it did not open this 
location because a site for safe parking could not be identified by the city. Without 
a sufficient number of safe parking sites, the city increases the safety risks, such as 
physical or emotional threats, that people who sleep in their vehicles may face. 

Moreover, the city was unable to follow through with its plans to abate one of two large 
encampments by its airport. The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) mandated 
that for safety reasons, San José must abate an encampment at Guadalupe Gardens 
because the park is in the airport’s flight path. In October 2022, San José reported to 
the FAA that it successfully had done so. The city also planned to abate an encampment 
at Columbus Park, which is adjacent to Guadalupe Gardens, by November 2022. 
However, it now does not expect to complete this abatement until the end of 2024 
at the earliest. The city indicated that not everyone in the encampment was able to 
relocate to Safe Parking sites because some did not qualify for the program for reasons 
including not being able to provide proof of vehicle ownership. Accordingly, the city 
indicated that Columbus Park has continued to serve as an encampment for more than 
a dozen vehicles. 

Although city staff stated that San José Police Department officers accompany 
the BeautifySJ team during abatements on an on‑demand basis, the city does not 
have specialized police units dedicated to the concerns of individuals experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness. In 2018 the San José Police Department received a grant 
to start a new program—the Mobile Crises Assessment Team—that sends a team of 
dedicated officers and county behavioral health clinicians to respond immediately 
to community members experiencing mental health crises. The police department 
asserted that this program is intended to serve both people who are experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness and those who are living in residences. However, police 
department staff explained that the program primarily serves people in residences. 
In contrast, San Diego has police units dedicated to working with and providing 
outreach to people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, as we discuss in the 
section that follows. 

San José also has not established a consistent and formalized process for working 
with the county health department at encampments. In its fiscal year 2020–21 annual 
report to a city council committee, the city described its joint efforts with the county 
health department during the COVID‑19 pandemic, which included providing 
vaccines to people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. However, the city staff 
indicated that the city does not have a contract with the county health department to 
establish each party’s roles and responsibilities for mitigating public health risks. 

According to the city staff, San José relies primarily on its outreach contractors 
to report to the county public health‑related risks at encampments. In addition, 
the city explained that it collaborates with the county to address health concerns 
such as outbreaks. However, San José’s lack of an established process for working 
with the county’s health department to identify and mitigate public health risks at 
encampments could cause delays in the city’s response to public health emergencies 
in the future. The city agreed that it could strengthen or formalize its collaboration 
with the county on significant public health concerns. 

34 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 167 of 273



Although San Diego Has Taken Actions to Address Health and Safety at Encampments, It 
Does Not Measure the Effectiveness of All Its Programs

San Diego’s total budgeted funding for public health and safety related to unsheltered 
homelessness has increased over the last three fiscal years, as Table 7 shows. 
From fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, San Diego increased its budgeted 
funding for programs that help ensure the health and safety of people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness and living in residences in the communities surrounding 
encampments. Over this period, the city’s total budgeted funding for these programs 
grew from $32 million to $43 million.

Table 7
San Diego Increased Its Budgeted Funding for Health and Safety Programs From  
Fiscal Years 2020–21 Through 2022–23

FISCAL YEAR

PROGRAM AND DEPARTMENT REPORTED OUTCOMES FUNDING SOURCE 2020–21 2021–22 2022–23

Environmental Services Department
Clean SD program:  
Conducts litter pickup, addresses 
instances of illegal dumping, 
sanitizes sidewalks, conducts 
curbside community clean ups, 
and implements abatements. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 
through 2022–23:

• Abated about 1,200 to 2,300 
encampments per year. 

• Sanitized about 6,600 to 8,500 
sidewalk blocks to reduce the 
potential presence of bacteria 
and communicable diseases. 

General Fund  
(local)

$7,258,000 $6,875,000 $11,818,000

Refuse Disposal Fund  
(local)

— 2,000 —

San Diego Police Department—Neighborhood Policing Division (NPD)
Homeless Outreach Team, 
Neighborhood Policing Teams, 
and the Crime Prevention Team: 
Implements homelessness 
outreach services, proactive law 
enforcement, and encampment 
abatement assistance. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 
through 2022–23: 

• Homeless Outreach Team reached 
about 18,000 to 23,000 duplicated 
number of people per year. 

• Assisted about 4,900 to 7,800 
people per year. 

• Placed about 850 to 2,300 
people into shelters per year. 

General Fund  
(local)

23,565,000 27,910,000 28,277,000

San Diego Housing Commission
Day Center:  
Provides a safe and comfortable 
drop‑in center for adults 
at risk of or experiencing 
homelessness, offering a variety 
of basic needs services. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 
through 2022–23: 

• Served about 5,700 to 6,000 
people per year. 

• Provided about 20,600 to 23,500 
showers and about 1,800 to 
3,400 laundry cycles per year. 

Community Development 
Block Grant  
(federal)

541,000 250,000 500,000

General Fund  
(local)

— 150,000 150,000

continued on next page …

35CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 168 of 273



FISCAL YEAR

PROGRAM AND DEPARTMENT REPORTED OUTCOMES FUNDING SOURCE 2020–21 2021–22 2022–23

Multidisciplinary 
Outreach Teams:  
Their goals are engagement, 
health stabilization, and 
connection to shelter and/or  
housing. This team focuses 
on a subset of unsheltered 
individuals who have very high 
needs and struggle to engage 
with services. 

In fiscal year 2022–23: 

• Served about 13 individuals. 

General Fund  
(local)

— — 450,000

San Diego Homeless Strategies and Solutions Department
Safe Parking program:  
San Diego designates parking 
lots for people living out of 
their vehicles to provide a 
place to safely stay overnight 
and services to navigate them 
toward permanent housing. 

From fiscal year 2020–21 
through 2022–23:

• Served about 970 to 1,150 
people per year in its safe 
parking locations. 

Community Development 
Block Grant  
(federal)

— — 444,000

Homeless Housing, 
Assistance and Prevention 
(state)

957,000 957,000 993,000

Street Medicine program:  
Provides mobile medical care, 
offering full scope primary care 
medical services, addiction 
treatment, psychiatric care, 
and case management for 
unhoused population. 

In fiscal year 2022–23:

• Served about 160 individuals, 
including 71 who reported 
having a mental illness and 
44 who reported having an 
impairment caused by drug use. 

General Fund  
(local)

— — 278,000

Safe Sleeping program:  
Serves as a safe, secure, 
and low barrier alternative 
resource for individuals 
experiencing homelessness. 

Safe Sleeping program started in fiscal year 2023–24;  
thus, there was no funding information available prior to that time. 

Totals $32,321,000 $36,144,000 $42,910,000

Source: San Diego budget documents, agreements with service providers, other city documentation, and documentation from the housing commission. 

However, San Diego has not evaluated the effectiveness of some of its health and 
safety programs, limiting its ability to determine whether these programs have 
helped to mitigate the risks for people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 
For example, the Neighborhood Policing Division (NPD) in the San Diego Police 
Department provides homelessness outreach and proactive enforcement services 
for the safety of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness and residents in the 
surrounding community, as Table 7 shows. City staff explained that NPD collects 
general data on a daily basis, including the number of people its Homeless Outreach 
Team reached, assisted, or placed into housing. NPD staff provided data from 2020 
through 2022 that indicate that the NPD Homeless Outreach Team officers reached 
about 18,000 to 23,000 people per year and placed about 850 to 2,300 people per 
year into a shelter. However, city staff indicated that these data are not unduplicated 
and that NPD does not have measures to evaluate the effectiveness of its actions and 
has identified other potential measures such as the number of individuals directed to 
mental health services and response times to complaints from residents. 

36 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 169 of 273



Although the city collects data about program actions, San Diego also has not measured 
the effectiveness of some of its programs that focus on health. For example, as part of 
its Clean SD program, San Diego identified actions— such as sanitizing sidewalks and 
addressing illegal dumping—that mitigate health risks to the public, including people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness. For example, Clean SD has crews that clean 
up waste and litter on a daily basis from areas near encampments that pose a public 
health or environmental concern. Clean SD staff provided data that indicate that from 
fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, the program annually abated from 1,200 to 
2,300 encampments, sanitized sidewalks by cleaning about 6,600 to 8,500 blocks to 
reduce the potential presence of bacteria and communicable diseases, and addressed 
from 5,000 to 7,000 encampment‑related complaints from the public. 

Although the city tracked these data and set some expectations around the frequency 
with which Clean SD would provide services, it did not develop performance measures 
for evaluating the program’s effectiveness, such as a reduction in public health incidents 
arising from encampments. City staff explained that the city did not develop such 
measures because Clean SD has always been a collaboration among different city 
departments and lacked a central manager. According to the city staff, the city did not 
make Clean SD into a separate division within its Environmental Services Department 
until fiscal year 2023–24. City staff explained that the city is working with the new 
division’s management to develop performance measures that it can use to evaluate the 
program’s impact.

San Diego has measured the number of people served by some city‑funded programs 
designed to ensure the health and safety of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. 
For example, from fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, the city and the housing 
commission administered programs through agreements with service providers to meet 
the immediate health and safety needs of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, 
including programs that provided safe parking and safe sleeping. The city reported that it 
has four safe parking locations for recreational vehicles and cars with a total of 233 parking 
spots, and its website indicates that it has two safe sleeping locations that can serve 
533 tents. The city reported that its safe parking program served more than 3,000 people 
in fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, as Table 7 shows. In addition to the sites it 
already has, San Diego has identified options for more safe parking and safe sleeping 
locations to ensure individuals’ safety while the city searches for other shelter options. 

As the result of a previous public health incident, San Diego has established formal 
collaboration with the county for its work on public health. Specifically, the city entered 
into a memorandum of agreement (MOA) with San Diego County’s Health and Human 
Services Agency (HHSA) in 2020 to clarify their contractual relationship related to 
public and environmental health services. The city and county took this action following 
a 2018 San Diego County grand jury report that revealed that they did not coordinate 
their responses during a hepatitis A outbreak in the city among individuals who were 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness that resulted in 20 deaths.6 The California State 
Auditor’s 2018 audit report included similar findings.7 

6 The San Diego Hepatitis A Epidemic: (Mis)Handling a Public Health Crisis, San Diego County grand jury, May 2018. 
7 San Diego’s Hepatitis A Outbreak: By Acting More Quickly, the County and City of San Diego Might Have Reduced the Spread of the 

Disease, Report 2018‑116, December 2018. 

37CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 170 of 273



The current, collaborative process facilitates the city and the county working 
together to identify public health risks at encampments and address them in a timely 
manner. The public health and safety MOA clarifies the city’s and county’s roles and 
responsibilities in their coordinated response to public health matters. In October 2021, 
San Diego County’s HHSA reported an outbreak of shigellosis—an intestinal 
infection—among people experiencing homelessness in the city. In January 2022, the 
city declared the outbreak resolved without any deaths. It credited this outcome to its 
work with the county, demonstrating the importance of having a coordinated response.

The Cities’ Limited Access to HMIS Data May Impede Their Efforts to Evaluate 
Homelessness Programs

Several federal and state laws and regulations 
may impede the ability of the State and local 
jurisdictions to accurately assess and track 
certain information about people who are 
experiencing homelessness. The text box lists 
some of these laws, which generally protect the 
confidentiality of personal information. The 
limitations to data‑sharing further emphasize 
the importance of the cities’ monitoring the 
performance of their service providers to ensure 
the success of the programs they fund. 

The main source of data about people 
experiencing homelessness is HMIS, for 
which the CoCs are responsible. HMIS is a 
local information technology system in which 
recipients and subrecipients of federal funding 
record and analyze client, service, and housing 
data for individuals and families at risk of or 
experiencing homelessness. CoCs must ensure 
compliance with the federal Privacy and Security 
Standards for HMIS. These standards allow 
certain uses of a person’s protected personal 
information (protected information), including 
for service provision and coordination, service 
payment and reimbursement, administrative 
functions such as audits, and removing duplicate 
data. Although the standards allow local 
governments to access data they enter into HMIS, 
they may not have access to personal information 
entered by other entities. CoCs use consent forms 
to allow them to use data provided by people who 
access homelessness services. 

Both cities we reviewed indicated that they 
believe they would benefit from greater access 
to HMIS data. San José has an agreement with 

Federal and State Laws and Regulations Limit the 
Data That Can Be Shared Without Consent

FEDERAL

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act: Applies 
to health plans and certain health care providers. Some 
protected health information data may be disclosed without 
consent if the data will only be used for limited purposes.

Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act: Applies to 
educational agencies or institutions that receive federal funding. 
Personally identifiable information from educational records can 
be disclosed without consent as long as it is used for purposes 
related to that person’s education.

Violence Against Women Act: Applies to covered housing 
providers who serve victims of domestic or dating violence, 
sexual assault, or stalking. The providers cannot share a victim’s 
information without consent of the victim.

HMIS Standards: Client consent is required to share data but 
not to enter data into HMIS.

Substance Use Records: Some records can be disclosed 
without consent in case of medical emergency, research, or 
audit purposes. Consent form must outline exactly what can 
be disclosed; can be revoked at any time.

STATE

Confidentiality of Medical Information Act: Individual must 
consent to disclosure of medical information by a health care 
plan or provider unless there is a court order, search warrant, 
death investigation, or need for diagnosis or treatment.

Information Privacy Act of 1977: Individual must consent to 
disclosure of personal information by a state agency unless 
there is a legal requirement or a medical necessity.

Juvenile Case Records: Files may only be accessed by someone 
who is related to, works with, or represents the child.

Source: Federal and state laws.

38 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 171 of 273



Santa Clara County to have full access to data that the city has entered into the 
county’s HMIS. Through this agreement, San José is required to participate in HMIS 
and must comply with HUD data standards when collecting data. The agreement also 
requires the city to comply with federal and state confidentiality laws and regulations. 

San José’s deputy city manager for homelessness indicated that if the city fully 
utilized data available in HMIS, it would be able to understand and analyze the data 
better and make better decisions about its programs for preventing and ending 
homelessness, and that the city is working with the county to expand its access to 
HMIS to the City Manager’s Office, as well as other departments whose staff work 
directly with people experiencing homelessness. He further stated that having 
access to disaggregated data could enable the city to understand changes in the 
demographics of the population experiencing homelessness and adjust its approach 
to better suit their needs. He also stated that the city could track which programs are 
working and understand additional questions or areas to explore to understand why 
they are working.

San Diego also believes that greater access to HMIS would be beneficial. The 
Regional Task Force operates the HMIS for the San Diego CoC. The city has a 
memorandum of understanding with the housing commission that states the housing 
commission and its contractors will enter data into HMIS. However, the director of 
San Diego’s HSSD noted that the city does not have direct access to this HMIS data 
because of CoC restrictions. According to the director, San Diego has direct access to 
data only for projects it directly oversees, not data for projects run by other entities 
within the city. 

San Diego explained that its lack of citywide access to HMIS limits its ability to 
track the impacts of its projects in real time. Instead, the city can receive aggregated 
reports on its programs every two to three weeks. The city asserted that tracking its 
programs in real time would allow it to coordinate its services more effectively and 
maximize funding directed to positive outcomes.

Although increased data‑sharing would likely have benefits, the State and cities 
must work within the state and federal laws and regulations that limit the sharing 
of protected information. Nevertheless, the California Interagency Council on 
Homelessness (Cal ICH)—the state entity responsible for coordinating the State’s 
efforts to prevent and end homelessness—has begun to facilitate some data‑sharing 
by making available a dashboard with the anonymized aggregate data that it receives 
from each of the CoCs. The dashboard includes information such as the number 
of people accessing particular services. By creating this dashboard, Cal ICH has 
enabled CoCs to coordinate with cities and other local jurisdictions to analyze 
the data and compare the outcomes of similar programs without compromising 
personal information.

39CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 172 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

40 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 173 of 273



To Better Address Homelessness, San José and 
San Diego Will Need to Develop Additional 
Interim and Permanent Housing 

Key Points

• In both San José and San Diego, more than 85 percent of the placements for 
individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness moved those individuals into 
interim, rather than permanent, housing. Although interim housing serves an 
important purpose, around 40 percent of people exiting such placements returned 
to unsheltered homelessness. 

• In recent years, both San José and San Diego have taken steps to develop additional 
interim housing sites. However, neither city currently has the capacity it requires.

• The cities’ efforts to address their lack of permanent housing have not produced 
enough of such housing to meet the needs of people experiencing homelessness. 
Although San José has not set a target for the number of permanent supportive 
housing units it needs, San Diego has done so. Nevertheless, neither city has a clear, 
long‑term plan to develop and fund the permanent housing it needs. 

Although Interim Housing Provides Important Shelter, Most Placements of People Experiencing 
Unsheltered Homelessness in Interim Housing Do Not End Up in Permanent Housing

The final phase of homelessness—exiting homelessness—should culminate in entering 
permanent housing, but most placements of people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness are into interim housing. HUD defines the types of interim housing 
available for people experiencing homelessness, as 
the text box shows. We refer to these three types 
of housing collectively as interim housing. 
Interim housing does not involve a long‑term 
solution to an individual’s living situation and is 
considered sheltered homelessness. Nonetheless, 
interim housing is a critical service that protects 
people from many of the impacts of unsheltered 
homelessness, such as the health and safety risks we 
previously described. An interim housing facility 
may have multiple beds in a single shared space 
or may have a number of individual units, each of 
which has one or more beds. 

In both San José and San Diego, at least 85 percent 
of placements for people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness move people into interim housing, 
as Figure 8 shows. These numbers align with the 
statistics we present in Report 2023‑102.1. We used 

Types of Interim Housing

Emergency Shelter: Any facility with the primary purpose 
of providing a temporary shelter for the homeless in 
general or for specific populations of the homeless and 
which does not require occupants to sign leases or 
occupancy agreements.

Transitional Housing: Housing that facilitates the movement 
of homeless individuals and families into permanent housing 
within 24 months or longer, as determined necessary.

Safe Haven: Supportive housing that serves hard‑to‑reach 
homeless persons with severe mental illness who came 
from the streets and have been unwilling or unable to 
participate in supportive services.

Source: Federal regulations. 

41CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 174 of 273



Figure 8
Most Unsheltered Placements Were Into Interim Housing

Unsheltered Homelessness
Sheltered Homelessness
Other‡
Permanent Housing
Institutional Housing
Temporary Housing

5%
2%
6%
81%
2%
4%

REPORTED DESTINATION AT EXIT

Unsheltered Homelessness
Sheltered Homelessness
Other‡
Permanent Housing
Institutional Housing
Temporary Housing

32%
12%
37%
10%
2%
6%

REPORTED DESTINATION AT EXIT

1,468
PLACEMENTS EXITED†

20,014
PLACEMENTS EXITED†

• Housing Only—1%
• Housing With Services—6%
• Permanent Supportive Housing—19%
• Rapid Rehousing—74%

PERMANENT HOUSING

• Emergency Shelter—95%
• Safe Haven—0%
• Transitional Housing—5%

INTERIM HOUSING

2,640
11%

Unsheltered Placements
from �scal year 2019–20  

through March 2023

San Diego*

89%
21,320

Unsheltered Homelessness
Sheltered Homelessness
Other‡
Permanent Housing
Institutional Housing
Temporary Housing

14%
3%
15%
58%
4%
6%

REPORTED DESTINATION AT EXIT

Unsheltered Homelessness
Sheltered Homelessness
Other‡
Permanent Housing
Institutional Housing
Temporary Housing

16%
22%
35%
16%
3%
9%

REPORTED DESTINATION AT EXIT

434
PLACEMENTS EXITED†

8,041
PLACEMENTS EXITED†

• Housing Only—24%
• Housing With Services—1%
• Permanent Supportive Housing—58%
• Rapid Rehousing—17%

PERMANENT HOUSING

• Emergency Shelter—97%
• Safe Haven—0%
• Transitional Housing—3%

INTERIM HOUSING

1,542
15%

Unsheltered Placements
from �scal year 2019–20  

through March 2023

San José*

85%
8,880

Source: State data system. 

Note: Rounding of numbers may prevent percentages from totaling 100. 

* City location information in state data is imprecise because reported information may show the principal site of a shelter or housing provider but not 
show all locations. Additionally, placements within a city do not necessarily indicate that the city government was the entity responsible for those 
placements. 

† Some placements of individuals showed that the person had not yet exited the program and was still enrolled and receiving shelter or housing 
services as of the date we obtained the data; therefore, the number of placements is higher than the number of those who exited the program. 

‡ Category Other can include the following: worker unable to determine, client doesn’t know, client prefers not to answer, data not collected, or other. 

42 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 175 of 273



information in the state data system to identify placements moving unsheltered 
people into housing from July 2019 through March 2023. This data system has 
limitations in identifying the location of placements because a provider with multiple 
sites reports all placements at only the principal site. Additionally, the placements 
within a city are not necessarily the direct responsibility of that city’s government.

People experiencing homelessness access interim housing in a variety of ways 
that involve multiple entities. In some places, people experiencing homelessness 
can access a shelter through a hotline established in their area. People can also 
access shelters by walking directly to them or through contact with outreach teams 
consisting of county, city, or service provider staff. As we explain in a later section, 
San Diego uses a centralized process that places people into shelters that best meet 
their needs. For San José, the county has a hotline that connects people experiencing 
homelessness to shelters. 

In contrast, HUD requires CoCs to develop and implement a coordinated entry 
system that CoC and Emergency Solutions Grant funded projects must use to 
connect people experiencing homelessness to permanent housing, as Figure 9 shows. 
A coordinated entry system is a centralized process within a CoC that prioritizes 
people for permanent housing resources based on their level of need. For San Diego, 
the Regional Task Force operates the coordinated entry system, and for San José, 
Santa Clara County operates the coordinated entry system.

Figure 9
HUD Requires a Coordinated Entry System to Connect People With Permanent Housing

When a resource becomes available, the 
person is placed in the available housing, 
which could include any of the following:
•  Permanent supportive housing
•  Rapid rehousing
•  Other permanent housing

PLACEMENT

LOW
NEED

MODERATE
NEED

HIGH
NEED

Once a person’s needs are identi�ed, 
the person is prioritized according to 
those needs and placed into a queue 
for the next available opening.

PRIORITIZATION

After entering through an access 
point, the person’s information is 
collected and an assessment is done 
to determine the person’s needs.

ASSESSMENT

HOTLINE

OUTREACH SHELTER

Someone experiencing homelessness 
can enter the coordinated entry system 
through an access point.

ACCESS POINT

Source: Federal regulations, HUD, Regional Task Force, and Santa Clara County CoC. 

43CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 176 of 273



In the absence of available permanent housing, having adequate interim housing is 
critical to providing people experiencing homelessness with shelter. For example, 
San José and San Diego each had a similar number of people experiencing 
homelessness—6,340 people in San José and 6,500 in San Diego, according to the 

2023 PIT count. However, there were significantly 
more than twice as many placements in San Diego 
into interim and permanent housing than in 
San José, as the text box shows. More people may 
have been placed in housing in San Diego in part 
because significantly more interim housing beds are 
located within it: 4,000, compared to 
San José’s 2,500. 

However, people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness who were placed in interim 
housing had worse outcomes than those placed 
into permanent housing. As we explain in 
Report 2023‑102.1, the data show that 84 percent of 
exits statewide from permanent housing placements 
involved individuals reporting that they were 

moving into permanent housing, while only 13 percent of exits statewide from interim 
housing placements involved individuals doing so.8 The data also show that 44 percent of 
the exits from interim housing placements involved individuals reporting that they were 
returning to homelessness, in comparison to only 4 percent of the exits from permanent 
housing placements. Figure 8 shows roughly similar trends for San José and San Diego.9 

Data provided by San José suggest that certain types of interim housing, such as its 
bridge and emergency interim housing sites, are more effective at leading to permanent 
placements. We describe these types of interim housing in more detail in the next section. 
San José’s data indicate that of the 984 exits from certain bridge and emergency interim 
housing sites in fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, 478 exits moved individuals 
into permanent housing. However, the volume of these exits appear to make up a small 
portion of the total exits in the city: San José had more than 8,000 total exits from interim 
housing placements from fiscal year 2019–20 through March 2023, as Figure 8 shows. 

Because thousands of people continue to experience unsheltered homelessness in 
both cities, greater capacity to place individuals into interim and permanent housing is 
needed for homelessness to be significantly reduced. San Diego’s unsheltered population 
decreased from 2,600 in 2019 to just under 2,500 in 2022 before increasing to nearly 3,300 
in 2023. San José’s unsheltered population declined at a rate of nearly 3.5 percent per year, 
from 5,100 in 2019 to 4,400 in 2023. The number of placements in both cities fluctuated 
up and down over these years.

8 People can exit from permanent housing placements. At that time, they generally report their next living situation. For example, 
HUD defines short‑ or medium‑term rapid rehousing services as a permanent housing placement. When individuals stop 
receiving rental assistance or supportive services, they exit that housing. Their next living situation could be another permanent 
housing location, such as an apartment they rent. Alternatively, it could be a return to homelessness. 

9 The reported destinations included an Other category that accounted for 35 percent of exits from interim housing placements 
in San José and 37 percent of exits from interim housing in San Diego. This category includes the following types of exits: worker 
unable to determine, client doesn't know, client prefers not to answer, data not collected, or other. 

Housing Placements From  
July 2019 to March 2023 

San José: 
• Nearly 10,500 total placements: nearly 9,000 into interim 
housing and more than 1,500 into permanent housing.

San Diego: 
• Nearly 24,000 total placements: more than 21,000 
into interim housing and more than 2,600 into 
permanent housing.

Source: State data system.

44 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 177 of 273



San José and San Diego Have Established Additional Interim Housing Sites but Still Lack 
Needed Capacity

As we previously discuss, individuals who are placed in interim housing tend to have 
worse outcomes than those placed in permanent housing. Nonetheless, building 
permanent housing for people experiencing homelessness can take considerable time, 
making the provision of interim housing a critical step. Within San José’s and San Diego’s 
city limits, multiple entities may fund and operate interim housing sites, including 
nonprofits. However, the two cities also have established city‑funded interim housing 
sites. San José currently has nine city‑funded interim housing sites, while San Diego 
has 17. Both cities have plans to establish additional sites over the next several years to 
meet the needs of their unsheltered populations. 

San José Has Not yet Reached Its Goals for Its Provision of Interim Housing 

San José has been working for several years to develop interim housing. In 2019, before the 
start of the COVID‑19 pandemic, San José had only one city‑funded interim housing site. 
To help address the immediate need to provide individuals experiencing homelessness with 
shelter and supportive services during the pandemic, the city rapidly increased the number 
of interim housing sites it had to nine by 2023. The 
text box describes the different types of interim 
housing that the city uses.

Various memos to and from the city council 
document San José’s approach to developing 
interim housing. For example, in September 2021, 
the mayor and city council members approved a 
memo recommending that city staff pursue several 
initiatives aimed at increasing interim housing 
capacity. The initiatives included exploring funding 
opportunities, adding more units to existing sites, 
and identifying six additional sites for council vote. 
The memo referenced the city’s 2017 goal to have 
at least one interim housing facility located in each 
city council district, and it established a goal to 
create 1,300 interim housing units, which included 
300 Homekey units. 

Although it is making efforts, San José has yet to meet 
these goals. The city explained that it uses an internal 
spreadsheet to track data related to interim housing 
unit counts. Using these data, San José reported to 
us that it had interim housing facilities in four of its 
10 districts and had completed 589 units. The city 
indicated that from the early stages of developing 
interim housing, adjacent neighborhoods have expressed opposition to almost every site. 
The city identified that opposition and limited available site options as barriers that have 
made achieving the goal of one interim housing site in each city council district difficult. 

Types of Interim Housing San José Uses

Bridge housing communities: Prefabricated modular units 
that provide interim housing and supportive services to 
single adults, couples, and/or families. These communities 
include individual beds/units and shared use of facilities, 
such as kitchens. 

Emergency interim housing: Prefabricated modular 
units created as an emergency response to the COVID‑19 
pandemic that provide interim housing and supportive 
services to single adults, couples, and/or families. This 
housing includes individual beds/units and shared use of 
facilities, such as kitchens.

Converted hotels/motels: Primarily a part of the 
state‑funded program Homekey, which provides funding for 
the conversion of underutilized hotels into interim housing.

Overnight warming locations: Overnight shelters located 
on city‑owned properties during the winter season.

Source: San Jose AB2176 Annual Reports to the Legislature, 
Housing Department website, and City Council memos. 

45CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 178 of 273



San José explained that after the city council’s approval of the September 2021 memo, 
it published on its website the Emergency Interim Housing Siting and Evaluation 
Guidelines and Process (interim siting guidelines) to assist the city in determining 
the locations of emergency interim housing units. According to staff, they use the 
interim siting guidelines to assess sites for their feasibility, viability, and practicality. 
The guidelines state that assessments should use criteria such as plot acreage, shape, 
gradation, city council district, and the potential for San José to own or control the 
land. However, it is unclear when the guidelines became effective and to whom they 
apply because the city council has not formally adopted them. 

As Figure 10 shows, San José had approved the development of five sites 
(four additional sites and an expansion at one existing site) for interim housing as 
of October 2023, in addition to the nine it had already completed. It identified that 
two new sites will involve converted motels or hotels, and two will be other types 
of interim housing facilities. The expansion is of an existing emergency interim 
housing facility. Of these five facilities, one is located on land the city owns. After the 
completion of these housing projects, San José will have 13 interim housing facilities. 
The city stated that these facilities will have a total of more than 1,000 interim 
housing units, bringing it closer to its goal of 1,300 units. Nevertheless, five council 
districts will still lack interim housing facilities. In addition, San José identified seven 
potential additional sites that the council has approved for staff to consider.

When we attempted to evaluate the use of the city’s interim housing beds, we found 
that San José does not regularly monitor this information. Consequently, it lacks 
complete and accurate information to assess whether the usage of its existing interim 
housing units and beds is efficient and whether more beds and units are needed. A 
month after our request, the city provided utilization data from HMIS for seven of 
the nine current interim housing sites. However, after doing so, the city noted 
problems with the data’s accuracy. It explained that significant maintenance issues at 
one facility left multiple units unavailable for extended periods of time, for example. 
At another facility, the bed capacity was incorrectly listed in HMIS as less than half 
of its actual capacity, producing inaccurate utilization rates of more than 100 percent 
in the database. Although we could not verify the data because of the above‑noted 
issues, they show that the other five interim housing facilities had utilization rates 
from 70 percent to 100 percent by the end of fiscal year 2022–23.

46 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 179 of 273



Figure 10
San José Has Identified Five Proposed Sites for Interim Housing

¹0 2 41 Miles

10

9

8
7

6

5

4

3

2

1

San JoséSan José
District boundary
Proposed interim housing site

–
304
72
–
–

unknown
–
–
–
75

–
2*
1
–
–
1
–
–
–
110

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

UNITSSITESDISTRICT

PROPOSED INTERIM HOUSING

Source: Analysis of San José's website and the city's confirmation of locations. 

Note: This map does not include overnight warming locations because the locations of these interim housing facilities change each year. 

* One of these sites in District 2 is a proposed expansion of an existing interim housing facility. 

47CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 180 of 273



San Diego Has Taken Steps to Increase Its Interim Housing but Likely Does Not yet Have Adequate 
Shelter Capacity

In San Diego, the city’s HSSD and housing commission oversee a system of city‑funded 
interim housing sites. HSSD is mainly responsible for developing new interim housing sites 
and administering funding for interim housing services and operations. The housing 

commission, through a memorandum of understanding 
with the city, is mainly responsible for overseeing the 
operations of those interim housing sites. The text box 
lists the types of interim housing structures that the 
city uses.

In June 2023, San Diego developed a Comprehensive 
Shelter Strategy (shelter strategy) for expanding its 
interim housing capacity, but that strategy is missing 
important details on shelter options and funding. 
The strategy identifies possible sites for expanding 
and increasing the city’s interim housing capacity. 
However, it does not establish locations, timelines, or 
budgets for some of the sites. When we asked about 
this missing information, HSSD’s director explained 

that the city may not necessarily build every site in the strategy. She explained that the 
department operates on a funding cycle of one fiscal year that is considered in decisions 
about which sites to pursue. 

According to the city’s website as of March 2024, the city was operating 17 interim housing sites 
that provided 1,856 beds. According to our analysis, the shelter strategy at its release in June 2023 
proposed 10 new interim housing sites that, if completed, would provide over 900 additional 
interim housing beds. Data provided by the city show that as of September 2023, it had 
completed four of these sites, for a total of 263 additional beds. It is pursuing four additional 
proposed sites that, if completed, would provide at least 245 beds. Of the four proposed sites, 
the city owns or controls two sites, the housing commission owns one site, and one site has 
an undisclosed location to protect the safety of the population it serves. 

As Figure 11 shows, these proposed sites are clustered in just two council districts, with 
two of the three sites in downtown San Diego. When we asked why the city’s interim 
housing facilities are concentrated in downtown, HSSD explained that the city has located 
interim housing in the areas with the highest need and the highest concentrations of 
people experiencing unsheltered homelessness. According to the city’s monthly count of 
individuals who are unsheltered, 1,939 people were experiencing unsheltered homelessness 
in downtown San Diego in January 2023. In comparison, San Diego’s 2023 PIT count found 
that 3,285 people were experiencing unsheltered homelessness citywide. These numbers 
support San Diego’s assertion that the majority—59 percent—of the people in the city who 
are experiencing unsheltered homelessness are located downtown.

San Diego’s shelter strategy proposes sites that target the needs of specific groups of people. 
The shelter strategy compares the composition, such as gender and veteran status, of the 
city’s unsheltered population to the respective percentage of city‑funded shelter beds. The 
plan includes options to develop interim housing for groups who are underserved in 

Interim Housing Structures in San Diego

Sprung structure: A tent‑like structure with multiple beds 
in a shared space. 

Hotel/motel/apartment building: A repurposed building 
that provides individual units with one or more beds in each. 

Brick and mortar: A building with multiple beds in a 
shared space.

Source: HSSD.

48 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 181 of 273



Figure 11
San Diego Has Identified Four Proposed Sites for Interim Housing

¹

9

8

7

6

5

4

32

1

San DiegoSan Diego

¹2 410 Miles

District boundary
Proposed interim housing site

–
unknown

165
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
1
2
–
–
–
–
–
–9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

UNITSSITESDISTRICT

PROPOSED INTERIM HOUSING*

Source: San Diego’s shelter strategy and HSSD. 

* One interim housing site location with 80 units is not displayed for safety reasons. 

49CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 182 of 273



the current shelter landscape, such as youth and survivors of domestic violence. For 
example, the city is in the process of opening a site for survivors of domestic violence. 

At emergency shelters—one type of interim housing—the housing commission 
implemented a coordinated intake process beginning in 2021. The intent of this process 
is to help facilitate shelter utilization analysis and to match people to shelters that best 
meet their needs. For example, the intake coordinators can determine which shelters 
are able to accommodate a person with mobility issues or health conditions who needs 
a specific bed, such as a bottom bunk. The housing commission believes that this 
process improves data collection and allows the housing commission to better monitor 
shelter usage and placements. The housing commission noted that it is currently 
developing ways to measure and quantify the benefits and impact of the coordinated 
intake process but is unable to provide evidence of these benefits at this time. 

Nonetheless, San Diego does not complete the vast majority of its referrals of people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness to the emergency shelters included in the 
coordinated intake process because San Diego lacks available beds. The housing 
commission provided us with a selection of data that included one daily report per 
month showing utilization rates and one weekly report per month of referral data. 
These data indicate that San Diego’s shelter utilization rates have increased as 
its referral completion rate has decreased, as Figure 12 shows. These utilization and 
referral completion rates suggest that San Diego’s shelters consistently operate at or 
near full capacity and that the city does not have enough shelter capacity for people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness.

Neither San José nor San Diego Has a Clear, Long‑Term Plan for Meeting Its Need for 
Permanent Supportive Housing

As we previously discuss, permanent housing 
placements are critical to ensuring that individuals do 
not return to unsheltered homelessness. HUD defines 
the different types of permanent housing options 
available to people experiencing homelessness, 
which the text box describes. Both San José and 
San Diego have focused their recent efforts to 
address homelessness on the provision of permanent 
supportive housing. Permanent supportive housing is 
a type of community‑based permanent housing that 
does not include a designated length of stay and that 
provides supportive services to people experiencing 
homelessness who also have a disability. Although 
San José has taken a number of steps to further the 
development of such housing, it has yet to set a target 
for the number of permanent supportive units it 
needs. Consequently, it is difficult to measure the city’s 
progress. In contrast, San Diego has established such a 
target; however, it does not have a long‑term plan for 
achieving its goal.

Types of Permanent Housing

Rapid rehousing: Housing relocation and stabilization 
services and short‑ or medium‑term rental assistance as 
necessary to help an individual or family experiencing 
homelessness move as quickly as possible into permanent 
housing and achieve stability in that housing.

Permanent supportive housing: Permanent housing in 
which supportive services are provided to assist individuals 
with a disability who are experiencing homelessness to 
live independently. 

Other permanent housing: Includes permanent housing 
with supportive services for individuals experiencing 
homelessness who do not have a disability and permanent 
housing without supportive services. 

Source: Federal law.

50 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 183 of 273



Figure 12
San Diego Does Not Have Enough Shelter Beds for Its Unsheltered Population

�e most common reason for an incomplete
referral was the lack of available beds.

From �scal year 2021–22 through �scal year 2023–24 
so far, San Diego’s referral completion rate 

decreased from 48% to 21%.*

From �scal year 2021–22 through �scal year 2023–24 
so far, San Diego’s shelter utilization rate 

increased from 87% to 97%.*

From 2020 through 2023, 
San Diego’s unsheltered population 

increased from 2,283 to 3,285.

REFERRAL COMPLETION DECREASED

HOWEVER

SHELTER UTILIZATION INCREASEDWHILEUNSHELTERED POPULATION INCREASED

Source: Housing commission data and PIT counts. 

* These data only represent the utilization and referral rates related to shelters using the coordinated entry process and overseen by the housing commission. 

51CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 184 of 273



San José Has Incentivized the Development of Permanent Supportive Housing but Has Not 
Identified the Number of Units It Needs 

San José has identified the development of permanent supportive housing as its 
primary goal for housing for people experiencing homelessness. However, the city 
has not identified a specific target for the number of permanent supportive housing 
units it plans to develop to help meet this need. Although the city is making some 
progress toward increasing its permanent supportive housing units, determining the 
adequacy of its progress will be difficult until it identifies such a target.

To help fund the construction of permanent supportive housing, San José generally 
provides loans to developers who are working on affordable housing projects.10 To 
help create affordable housing, the city publishes funding notices to alert developers 
to the availability of city funding for gap financing—which fills a funding gap to 
make a project feasible—for projects with affordable housing restrictions.11 The city 
also develops requests for proposals to alert developers when it has land available 
on which it would like to develop affordable housing. For both processes, the city 
establishes a scoring system to evaluate the project or proposal submissions. These 
scoring systems have at times awarded additional points to project applications that 
include the development of permanent supportive housing units. 

In December 2021, San José took two major steps toward increasing its permanent 
supportive housing. First, it issued a funding notice that made $150 million available 
to developers for gap financing. This $150 million consisted of both federal and 
local funding, including Measure E funds. Following the notice, the city selected 
11 affordable housing developments for consideration for the funding. When 
informing the city council of its selections in May 2022, San José indicated that 
all 11 projects proposed to include permanent supportive housing, for a total 
of 448 units. San José did not retain all of its documentation of its application 
evaluation process, so it is unclear how it arrived at the score for each development. 
The city council has since approved funding for seven developments that will include 
a total of 64 permanent supportive housing units and 186 rapid rehousing units. 

In December 2021, San José also issued a request for proposals to build housing 
developments on city‑owned sites. Of the four proposals that it selected to submit 
to the city council, one indicated that it would include 49 permanent supportive 
housing units. When we reviewed the system the city used to score proposals 
it received, we found that the system did not specifically include an incentive 
for permanent supportive housing units. However, the city indicated that if the 
developers later request funding through a city funding notice, the permanent 
supportive housing incentive in the funding notice would apply.

10 San José does not fund the supportive services that this type of housing provides; rather, the county funds these services. 
11 In the December 2021 funding notice we discuss in this section, these affordable housing restrictions required that units 

be restricted to no more than affordable rent for lower‑income households (individuals and families having extremely low 
income, very low income, and low income) and that developers must prioritize 45 percent of all funding resulting from 
the funding notice for extremely low income housing. These affordability restrictions carry a 55‑year minimum term and 
survive the payoff of any city loans. 

52 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 185 of 273



To influence the location of affordable housing developments, which may include 
permanent supportive housing units, San José adopted an Affordable Housing Siting 
Policy (siting policy) in December 2022. The siting policy directs the city to work 
toward increasing affordable housing access in neighborhoods with higher resources, 
as delineated in a state Opportunity Map.12 San José had difficulty providing us with 
accurate data about its permanent housing. Nevertheless, the data it did provide 
show that since January 2020, it has proposed and approved funding for 10 affordable 
housing developments that are not yet completed. These 10 developments have a 
combined total of 219 proposed permanent supportive housing units and 242 proposed 
rapid rehousing units. However, none of the 10 developments were subject to the siting 
policy because they were selected before the policy’s adoption. As Figure 13 shows, the 
majority of these 10 sites are clustered in two council districts. The city indicated that it 
does not own or control any of the 10 approved sites.

When we asked San José about its plans for funding additional permanent supportive 
housing units in the future, the city provided a list of seven potential developments that 
include proposed permanent supportive housing units. However, it offered no details 
about how, when, or whether it would pursue funding these developments.

San Diego Lacks a Long‑Term Plan for Meeting Its Need for Permanent Supportive Housing

Like San José, San Diego has focused its efforts on building permanent supportive 
housing. However, the city does not currently have enough proposed permanent 
supportive housing sites to meet its identified need. As we previously discuss, 
San Diego’s city council passed a city action plan in 2019 that identified the number of 
interim and permanent housing units it would need to build over the following 10 years 
to prevent and end homelessness. In 2023 San Diego updated these numbers to reflect 
changes in data, trends, and available resources. The updated city action plan shows 
that San Diego will need a total of 465 to 920 new interim housing beds and 3,520 new 
permanent supportive housing units by 2029. 

San Diego’s process for increasing permanent supportive housing involves providing loans 
to developers that are working on affordable housing projects. Since fiscal year 2020–21,  
the city housing commission and the city’s Economic Development Department 
(development department) have used funding notices to award over $51 million in 
loans to finance affordable housing projects that include permanent supportive housing 
units. Over $21 million of this amount is dedicated specifically for the development 
of those permanent supportive housing units.13 When we selected five of the projects 
for review, we found that the housing commission and development department had 
scored and selected them according to the criteria established in the funding notices.

12 The California Tax Credit Allocation Committee/Housing and Community Development Opportunity Map identifies areas in every 
region of the State that have characteristics that research has shown to be most strongly associated with positive economic, 
educational, and health outcomes for low‑income families when compared to other neighborhoods in the same region.

13 To calculate the amount of funding dedicated to permanent supportive housing units, we determined how much funding 
was awarded to a project that included permanent supportive housing units, the number of affordable housing units in the 
project, and the number of permanent supportive housing units in the project. We took the total amount of funding awarded 
to the projects and divided it by the number of affordable units to get a per‑unit amount. We then multiplied the per‑unit 
amount by the number of permanent supportive housing units to get the total funding for permanent supportive housing 
units for the project. We then added the total funding for permanent supportive housing units for all the projects. 

53CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 186 of 273



Figure 13
San José’s Proposed Permanent Housing Sites Are in a Limited Number of Council Districts

¹0 2 41 Miles

10

9

876

5

4

3

2

1 San JoséSan José

DISTRICT 6

District boundary
Proposed permanent housing site

–
0

106
–
29

107
–
–
–
–

–
49
71
–
0

99
–
–
–
–

–
1
4
–
1
4
–
–
–
–10

9

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

RAPID
REHOUSING

PERMANENT
SUPPORTIVE

HOUSINGSITESDISTRICT

PROPOSED PERMANENT HOUSING

Source: Analysis of San José's website and the city's confirmation of locations. 

54 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 187 of 273



San Diego’s 18 currently proposed permanent supportive housing sites are clustered 
in a few city council districts, as Figure 14 shows. These sites include a total of 
874 proposed permanent supportive housing units. Of the 18 proposed sites, the city 
owns or controls one, the county owns three, and the housing commission is seeking 
to purchase four. The remaining sites are owned by other entities, some of which are 
the developers of the projects.

As we previously explain, San Diego developed the shelter strategy in June 2023 to 
expand its interim housing for people experiencing homelessness. However, the city 
lacks a similar plan that specifies how it will meet its identified need for permanent 
housing for people experiencing homelessness. The city does not have a plan to build 
the remaining units it needs and has not identified potential sites for those units. 
San Diego’s planning department explained it is in the process of developing a review 
of city‑owned property to identify sites that might be suitable for permanent housing 
development. This review could be an important component of the city’s efforts to 
meet its permanent housing needs, but it is too early to determine its efficacy.

In the absence of a clear plan, it remains uncertain whether San Diego will be able 
to meet its permanent supportive housing goals. After the completion of its current 
proposed sites, the city would need to work with developers to complete an average 
of 441 permanent supportive housing units per year to achieve its goal of 3,520 units 
by 2029.14 When asked whether it will be able to fund and develop the 3,520 units, 
the housing commission explained that its progress in developing permanent 
supportive housing is reliant on federal and state resources, such as federal housing 
vouchers and state Homekey funds, and that these resources are limited. The housing 
commission indicated that the city will not be able to achieve the 3,520 units without 
additional resources from the federal and state government.

14 The housing commission explained that since the release of the 2023 update to the city action plan, one site has been 
completed with 64 permanent supportive housing units. 

55CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 188 of 273



Figure 14
San Diego’s Proposed Permanent Housing Sites Are in Six of Its Nine City Council Districts

¹2 410 Miles

9

8

7

6

5

4

32

1

San DiegoSan Diego

Downtown
San Diego

DISTRICT 3DISTRICT 3

District boundary
Proposed permanent housing site

–
74

421
29
–
–

105
113
132

–
2
6
2
–
–
1
3
49

8

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

PERMANENT
SUPPORTIVE

HOUSINGSITESDISTRICT

PROPOSED PERMANENT HOUSING

Source: The housing commission and the city's economic development department data. 

56 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 189 of 273



Other Areas We Reviewed

To address the audit objectives approved by the Joint Legislative Audit Committee 
(Audit Committee), we also reviewed the unsheltered homelessness rates for 
San José’s and San Diego’s different demographic groups, the cities’ costs related to 
administering homelessness services, and the length of time it took cities to award 
state funding for homelessness services. 

In Both San José and San Diego, Some Demographic Groups Experience Unsheltered 
Homelessness at Higher Rates than Others 

The various demographic groups in San José and San Diego experience different 
rates of unsheltered homelessness. Similar to national trends, American Indian or 
Alaska Native and Black or African American people are overrepresented among the 
people experiencing unsheltered homelessness in both cities. San Diego has taken 
some actions to provide targeted homelessness services and housing to demographic 
groups that disproportionately experience unsheltered homelessness, but San José 
has not taken such actions.

In San José, Certain Demographic Groups Have Experienced Disparities in Access to Some 
Homelessness Services

To improve the transparency of its homelessness programs and funding, San José 
started using a public dashboard in 2023 that displays some information about these 
programs, including the number of people sheltered in interim housing. However, 
the city’s dashboard does not present demographic information, such as race, 
gender, and age. Similarly, San José’s annual homelessness reports do not include the 
demographic information of people that the city has served through its homelessness 
programs. City staff acknowledged the lack of demographic information and 
indicated that future versions of the dashboard may contain such information. 

By better tracking of demographic information, San José could evaluate service 
delivery to different demographic groups. In fact, our review found that some 
demographic groups are overrepresented among people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness. For example, the HMIS data that Santa Clara County provided us 
show that from fiscal years 2020–21 to 2022–23, American Indian or Alaska Native 
and Black or African American people have been overrepresented among the people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness in San José. Compared to San José’s general 
population, Black or African American people are about five times more likely to 
be unsheltered and American Indian or Alaska Native people are about seven times 
more likely to be unsheltered, as Figure 15 shows. 

57CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 190 of 273



Figure 15
In San José, Certain Demographic Groups Experience Higher Rates of Unsheltered Homelessness

7.3:11:9.65:110:12.1:11:2.6RATIO

American Indian,
Alaska Native,
or Indigenous

Asian or
Asian American

Black, African
American, or

African

Native Hawaiian
or Paci�c Islander

WhiteMulti-Racial
0

10

20

30

40

50

60%

Pe
rce

nta
ge

 in
 Fi

sca
l Y

ea
r 2

02
2–

23

1.2%

8.7%

39.2%

4.1%2.8%

14.0%

0.2%
2.0%

25.5%

53.2%

14.9%

5.7%

Percentage of people in 
the general population

Percentage of people experiencing
unsheltered homelessness

Source: HMIS  and the U.S. Census. 

Notes: The exclusion of respondents in the demographic category Other prevents percentages from totaling 100. 

Ratios are rounded to the nearest tenth. 

Some groups in San José also experienced disparities in accessing services. HMIS 
data that Santa Clara County provided us for fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23 
show that American Indian or Alaska Native people and Black or African American 
people were underserved in certain housing and homelessness services. For example, 
in fiscal year 2022–23, Black or African American people comprised 14 percent of 
the population experiencing unsheltered homelessness but only 2 percent of the 
recipients of permanent housing services when no disability was required for entry. 
Similarly, in fiscal year 2022–23, American Indian or Alaska Native people comprised 
nearly 9 percent of those experiencing unsheltered homelessness but only 3.5 percent 
of those receiving homelessness prevention services. 

San José staff stated that the city recently started implementing some equity‑focused 
practices through its request for proposals process. For example, the department’s 
fiscal year 2023–24 request for proposals for organizations to provide services 
for homeless and at‑risk youth scores an applicant’s ability to provide culturally 
competent and equitable services. It awards up to 15 points for that element of the 
proposal on a 100‑point scale. 

58 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 191 of 273



We observed more positive outcomes in some cases when San José tailored 
programs for specific demographic groups, such as families. For example, San José 
awarded a grant to a nonprofit service provider to provide rent subsidies and services 
to prevent families from becoming homeless. In its annual homelessness report to 
the city council for fiscal year 2020–21, San José reported that the program assisted 
1,925 families, including 2,759 children. Further, our review of HMIS data found that 
from fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, children received the largest portion of 
homelessness prevention and rapid rehousing services and that no children under 18 
in the system remained unsheltered during those years. San José’s efforts and results 
for this group contrast to the disparities we identified related to demographic groups 
characterized by race.

San Diego Has Taken Steps to Ensure Equity in Its Provision of Services 

San Diego’s tracking and reviewing of the demographic information of people 
experiencing homelessness may have helped it to increase the equity of the actions 
it takes to address homelessness. Specifically, the housing commission tracks the 
demographic information of people accessing homelessness programs funded by 
the city and by the housing commission. The city then collaborates with the housing 
commission to track the effects of its homelessness actions on different demographic 
groups, and it uses the data to plan its future actions. The demographic breakdowns 
allow the city to identify disparities among different segments of people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness and take actions to decrease those disparities. 

Although certain groups continue to be overrepresented among people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness in San Diego, our review of the CoC’s HMIS data from 
fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23 did not reveal any racial disparities in access 
to homelessness services. In fiscal year 2022–23, American Indian or Alaska Native 
people and Black or African American people were significantly overrepresented 
among those experiencing unsheltered homelessness in San Diego, as Figure 16 
shows. However, these groups proportionally received housing and homelessness 
services. For example, the HMIS data showed that in fiscal year 2022–23, about 
24 percent of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness were Black or African 
American. In that same fiscal year, about 29 percent of permanent supportive 
housing recipients were Black or African American, as were 38 percent of rapid 
rehousing recipients, 27 percent of transitional housing recipients, and 27 percent of 
homelessness services recipients.

San Diego has tailored programs for certain groups to help ensure equity. In 2020 
the CoC approved the creation of the Ad Hoc Committee on Addressing 
Homelessness Among Black San Diegans to explore the factors contributing to 
Black people experiencing homelessness and to develop recommendations to 
better address disparities. In line with the San Diego County’s Ad Hoc Committee’s 
recommendations, in 2024 the city plans to fully implement a new program tailored 
to Black San Diegans experiencing unsheltered homelessness. The program has a 
goal to place individuals living in a specific encampment into permanent housing 
services, and the city is funding it through the State’s Encampment Resolution 
Funding program. San Diego reported that half of the people in the targeted 

59CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 192 of 273



encampment identify as Black, Indigenous, or people of color. Tailoring programs 
to address the needs of specific demographic groups could potentially allow cities to 
reduce inequity by helping people in those groups exit homelessness.

Figure 16
In San Diego, Certain Demographic Groups Experience Higher Rates of Unsheltered Homelessness

RATIO 4.5:11:10.14.5:12.6:11.4:11:4.7

American Indian,
Alaska Native,
or Indigenous

Asian or
Asian American

Black, African
American, or

African

Native Hawaiian
or Paci�c Islander

WhiteMulti-Racial
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70%

Pe
rce

nta
ge

 in
 Fi

sca
l Y

ea
r 2

02
2–

23

0.6%
2.7%

18.2%

1.8%
5.5%

24.5%

0.5%1.3%

45.2%

62.1%

17.8%

3.8%

Percentage of people in 
the general population

Percentage of people experiencing
unsheltered homelessness

Source: HMIS and the U.S. Census. 

Notes: The exclusion of respondents in the demographic category Other prevents percentages from totaling 100. 

Ratios are rounded to the nearest tenth. 

Both San José’s and San Diego’s Staffing and Administrative Costs Appear Reasonable

We reviewed the amounts of local funds that the cities identified as operational 
costs of administering homelessness programs, as Table 8 shows. The cities 
incurred most of these costs for programs related to housing strategies and 
homelessness prevention—for example, programs that provide rental assistance or 
finance interim housing. The remainder of operational costs related to programs 
involving encampments.

60 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 193 of 273



Table 8
Both Cities’ Operational Costs Paid With Local Funding Were Mostly for Housing and 
Homelessness Prevention

FISCAL YEAR

CITY AND EFFORT TO ADDRESS HOMELESSNESS 2020–21 2021–22 2022–23

San José
Abate, manage, and clean up homeless encampments $919,000 $949,000 $13,675,000

Housing and homelessness prevention 14,670,000 20,954,000 45,422,000

San Diego
Abate, manage, and clean up homeless encampments 6,721,000 6,921,000 7,059,000

Housing and homelessness prevention 33,416,000 10,203,000 23,376,000

Source: Cities’ financial data. 

Note: Costs are rounded to the nearest thousandth. 

We did not identify any instances in the expenditure data the cities provided in which 
San José or San Diego exceeded state or federal funding limits for administrative 
purposes. Specifically, grant programs generally establish limits for the percentage of 
these funds that can be used on administration. When we reviewed expenditures that 
the cities made from state and federal homelessness funding sources, we did not identify 
any spending related to administration or overhead that exceeded allowable limits. 
Further, although we could not validate the accuracy and completeness for the reasons 
stated earlier in the report, we reviewed financial records provided by the cities and we 
did not find any instances in which the cities' financial records identified inappropriate 
uses of homelessness funds on city administration, including on city facilities or on 
allocations to the city manager, city council, mayor, or staff.

Although staff from multiple departments in each city are involved in efforts to 
address homelessness, the cities dedicate few staff members to performing this 
work full‑time. As Table 9 shows, the cities have budgeted positions that are focused 
entirely on addressing homelessness. However, the cities also have other staff who 
work on homelessness issues but whose positions are not specifically budgeted for this 
purpose. For example, both cities have staff who perform work abating encampments, 
but they may have budgeted those same positions for other responsibilities as well. 

The Cities’ Processes for Awarding State Funds Generally Took Several Months 

We reviewed the time the cities took to encumber state funding through agreements with 
service providers after receiving it from the State. Specifically, we evaluated documents 
that showed when the cities received funding from the State, as well as data from the 
cities’ financial systems that showed when the cities encumbered the funds to service 
providers. We found that the cities took from six weeks to seven and a half months 
to encumber these funds. Both cities explained that identifying service providers and 
entering into agreements can take several months and that the timing is dependent on a 
variety of factors, such as the type of service needed and the availability of providers.

61CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 194 of 273



Table 9
Both Cities Have Few Budgeted Positions That Solely Work to Address Homelessness

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)  
STAFF POSITIONS

FISCAL YEAR

2020–21 2021–22 2022–23

San José*
Homelessness FTE 11.00 10.25 13.00

Total FTE 6,592.21 6,646.54 6,884.09

San Diego*†

Homelessness FTE 23.15 27.15 32.15

Total FTE 11,726.93 11,943.71 12,777.15

Source: Cities’ adopted budgets and financial management reports. 

* The cities’ financial reporting does not identify counts of staff for certain specific work related to homelessness, such as 
those engaged in work abating encampments. The table therefore does not include all city staff who do this work, such as 
those working as part of BeautifySJ in San José. 

† San Diego’s housing commission has budgeted positions in which staff work full time on addressing homelessness; 
however, not all of that time is spent working directly on activities that are part of the housing commission’s agreements 
with the city, so those positions are not included in this table. 

62 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 195 of 273



Recommendations

The following are the recommendations we made as a result of our audit. 
Descriptions of the findings and conclusions that led to these recommendations can 
be found in the sections of this report.

San José

To ensure the effectiveness of its actions to prevent and end homelessness, San José 
should, by September 2024, finalize the annual goals in its city implementation plan 
on homelessness. The city should then follow its planned schedule for updating its 
implementation plan goals and for publicly reporting each fall on its progress toward 
meeting each goal. 

To promote transparency, accountability, and effective decision‑making, San José 
should, by September 2024, publicly report in a single location, such as a spending 
plan, all of the federal and state funding it receives, as well as the local funding it 
allocates for reducing homelessness, including Measure E funding. It should also 
regularly monitor the amount of its unspent funding to ensure that it complies 
with any future spending deadlines and can adequately explain to the public the 
anticipated timing of its future spending.

To ensure that it effectively and transparently spends its funding to prevent and end 
homelessness, San José should do the following:

• Ensure that when it renews or enters into new agreements with service providers, 
it establishes clearly defined performance measures.

• Require that beginning by September 2024, staff at least annually document an 
overall performance review and assessment of the effectiveness of each service 
provider based on the performance measures in the agreement and other 
expectations that San José has set.

To better assist people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, San José should, 
by September 2024, develop performance measures to evaluate the effects of the 
city’s public health and safety programs related to unsheltered homelessness listed 
in Table 6 on page 32. An example of such a performance measure is a reduction in 
the number of public health incidents occurring at encampments. San José should 
publicly report on the effects of its actions in its annual homelessness report. 

To ensure that it equitably provides homelessness services to all demographics, 
San José should immediately begin requesting monthly citywide demographic 
data from the county of Santa Clara to determine which demographic groups are 
overrepresented among people who are experiencing homelessness and which 
groups are underserved by specific program types. San José should take actions as 
needed to address demographic disparities, such as performing additional outreach 
or other appropriate actions to meet the needs of underserved groups. 

63CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 196 of 273



By September 2024, San José should develop goals for contributing to the building 
of permanent housing for people experiencing homelessness that align with its 
implementation plan for meeting the goals of its CoC’s action plan. By the same date, 
the city should also formally adopt a policy for identifying and approving suitable 
locations for interim housing. In addition, it should develop plans for meeting its goal 
of having one interim housing facility in each city council district, likely by pursuing 
the construction of interim housing at the additional locations it has already identified.

San José should immediately begin monitoring the utilization data from its interim 
housing facilities and ensure that the data are complete and accurate. The city should 
take necessary action to remedy any issues it identifies. 

San Diego 

To promote transparency, accountability, and effective decision‑making, San Diego 
should, by September 2024, publicly report in a single location, such as a spending 
plan, all of the federal and state funding it receives and the local funding it allocates 
for reducing homelessness. It should also regularly monitor the amount of its 
unspent funding to ensure that it complies with any future spending deadlines and 
can adequately explain to the public the anticipated timing of its future spending.

To ensure that it effectively and transparently spends its funding to prevent and end 
homelessness, the city should do the following:

• Ensure that when it renews or enters into new agreements with service providers, 
it establishes clearly defined performance measures.

• Require that beginning by September 2024, staff at least annually document an 
overall performance review and assessment of the effectiveness of each service 
provider based on the performance measures in the agreement and other 
expectations that San Diego has set.

To better assist people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, San Diego should, 
by September 2024, develop performance measures to evaluate the effects of the 
city’s public health and safety programs related to unsheltered homelessness listed 
in Table 7 on page 35. An example of such a performance measure is a reduction in 
the number of public health incidents occurring at encampments. San Diego should 
publicly report on the effects of its actions.

By September 2024, San Diego should develop plans for siting and building 
the permanent housing it has identified that it needs for people experiencing 
homelessness. The plans should specify the amount of funding necessary to build the 
housing, as well as possible funding sources. 

64 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 197 of 273



We conducted this performance audit in accordance with generally accepted 
government auditing standards and under the authority vested in the California 
State Auditor by section 8543 et seq. of the California Government Code. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate 
evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on the 
audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis 
for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Respectfully submitted,

GRANT PARKS 
California State Auditor

April 9, 2024

Staff: Nicholas Kolitsos, CPA, Principal Auditor 
 Jordan Wright, CFE, Principal Auditor 
 Chris Paparian, Senior Auditor 
 Ani Apyan, MPP 
 Myra Farooqi 
 Rachel Hibbard 
 Nicole Menas 
 Eduardo Moncada

Data Analytics: Ryan Coe, MBA, CISA 
 Brandon Clift, CPA

Legal Counsel: Joe Porche

65CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 198 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

66 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 199 of 273



Appendix A
Funding Sources and Eligible Uses 

San José and San Diego have each received funding to address homelessness from a number 
of federal and state sources. Table A below lists these sources and their eligible uses. The 
table also describes in general terms how each of the cities reported having used the funds.

Table A
Funding Sources and Eligible Uses

ACTUAL USES

FUNDING SOURCE ELIGIBLE USES SAN JOSÉ SAN DIEGO

FEDERAL
Community 
Development Block 
Grant (CDBG)

Acquisition, construction, reconstruction, 
rehabilitation or installation of public facilities 
and improvements including shelters for people 
experiencing homelessness.  

• Neighborhood infrastructure 
improvements

• Contractual community 
services

• Emergency housing vouchers

• Rental support case 
management

• Interim Housing, Day Center, 
Family Shelter, Homelessness 
Response Center, Serving 
Seniors, Jewish Family 
Services

Community 
Development Block 
Grant—CARES Act 
(CDBG‑CV)

Same as under the CDBG program, but all activities 
must be used to prevent, prepare for, and respond to 
the COVID‑19 pandemic. 

• Meal delivery program

• Emergency motel voucher 
program

• Legal services program

• Jewish Family Services program

• Operation Shelter to Home

• Serving Seniors

Emergency 
Solutions Grant 
(ESG)

• Renovation, major rehabilitation, or conversion of 
buildings to be used as emergency shelters. 

• Provision of essential services related to emergency 
shelters or street outreach. 

• Maintenance, operation, insurance, utilities, and 
furnishings related to emergency shelters. 

• Provision of rental assistance to provide short‑ or 
medium‑term housing to individuals or families at 
risk of or experiencing homelessness. 

• Housing relocation or stabilization services for 
individuals or families at risk of or experiencing 
homelessness. 

• Homeless outreach

• HMIS support

• Shelter, Rapid Rehousing. 

Emergency 
Solutions Grant— 
CARES Act (ESG‑CV)

• Prevent, prepare for, and respond to the COVID‑19 
pandemic among individuals and families who are 
homeless or receiving homeless assistance. 

• Support additional homeless assistance and 
homelessness prevention activities under the 
Emergency Solutions Grants program to mitigate 
the impacts of the COVID‑19 pandemic. 

Emergency shelters • Homelessness prevention

• Housing recovery 

Home Investment 
Partnerships 
Program—American 
Rescue Plan 
(HOME ARP)

• Production or preservation of affordable housing. 

• Tenant‑based rental assistance (TBRA). 

• Supportive services, including those defined in 
federal law, homeless prevention services, and 
housing counseling. 

• Purchase and development of noncongregate shelter.

Not applicable Not applicable

continued on next page …

67CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 200 of 273



ACTUAL USES

FUNDING SOURCE ELIGIBLE USES SAN JOSÉ SAN DIEGO

STATE
Encampment 
Resolution Funding 
Program (ERF)

• Ensure the safety and wellness of people 
experiencing homelessness in encampments.

• Resolve critical encampment concerns and 
transition individuals into safe and stable housing.

• Encourage a data‑informed, coordinated approach 
to address encampment concerns. 

• Safe encampment resolution

• Evacuee transition facilities

Not applicable

Homeless 
Emergency Aid 
Program (HEAP)

Addressing homelessness, including prevention, 
criminal justice diversion programs individuals 
experiencing homelessness and mental health needs, 
and emergency aid. 

• Crisis response interventions

• Homelessness prevention 
system

• Capital improvements

• Rental assistance

• Outreach

• Safe Parking

• Youth Focus

• Diversion

Homeless Housing, 
Assistance, and 
Prevention Program 
(HHAP)

• Rental assistance and rapid rehousing. 

• Operating subsidies in new and existing units. 

• Landlord incentives. 

• Outreach and coordination. 

• Support for homeless services and housing 
delivery systems. 

• Delivery of permanent housing and innovative 
housing solutions. 

• Prevention and shelter diversion to 
permanent housing. 

• New navigation centers and emergency shelters. 

• Emergency shelters

• Homeless youth

• Homelessness prevention 
system

• Homelessness outreach

• Case management

• Diversion, shelter operations, 
outreach coordination, 
family reunification program, 
safe parking program, 
rapid rehousing, landlord 
engagement, storage program, 
youth services programs, 
Safe Haven program, 
women's shelter. 

68 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 201 of 273



ACTUAL USES

FUNDING SOURCE ELIGIBLE USES SAN JOSÉ SAN DIEGO

Permanent Local 
Housing Allocation 
Program

• Predevelopment, development, acquisition, 
rehabilitation, preservation, and necessary 
operating subsidies for multifamily, residential 
live‑work, or rental housing that is affordable to 
households with extremely low income to those 
with moderate income.

• Affordable rental and ownership housing for 
people earning up to 120 percent of area median 
income or 150 percent of area median income in 
high‑cost areas.

• Matching portions of funds placed into local or 
regional housing trust funds.

• Matching portions of funds available through the 
Low and Moderate Income Housing Asset Fund 
pursuant to state law.

• Capitalized reserves for services related to the 
creation of new permanent supportive housing, 
including developments funded through the 
Veterans Housing and Homelessness Prevention 
Bond Act of 2014.

• Assisting people who are at risk of or experiencing 
homelessness by providing rapid rehousing, rental 
assistance, navigation centers, emergency shelters, 
and the new construction, rehabilitation, and 
preservation of permanent and transitional housing.

• Accessibility modifications.

• Efforts to acquire and rehabilitate foreclosed or 
vacant homes.

• Homeownership opportunities, including, but not 
limited to, down payment assistance.

• Fiscal incentives or matching funds to local agencies 
that approve new housing for extremely 
low‑income, very low‑income, low‑income, and 
moderate‑income households. 

Housing shelters Affordable housing loans. 

HomeKey • Acquisition or rehabilitation of motels, hotels, 
hostels, or other sites including apartments or 
homes, adult residential facilities, residential elderly 
care facilities, manufactured housing, commercial 
properties, and other buildings with existing 
uses that could be converted to permanent or 
interim housing. 

• Master leasing of properties. 

• Conversion of units from nonresidential 
to residential. 

• New construction of dwelling units. 

• Purchase of affordability covenants and restrictions 
for units. 

• Relocation costs for individuals who are 
being displaced as a result of rehabilitation of 
existing units. 

• Capitalized operating subsidies. 

Hotel acquisition Not applicable

continued on next page …

69CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 202 of 273



ACTUAL USES

FUNDING SOURCE ELIGIBLE USES SAN JOSÉ SAN DIEGO

SB 89 COVID‑19 
Emergency Fund

• Support for the acquisition/lease of hotels, motels, 
trailers, and other alternative isolation placements. 

• Emergency shelter operations, including 
furnishings, medically indicated services and 
supplies, and equipment needed to maintain a 
sanitary shelter environment for clients and staff. 

• Support for increasing shelter capacity and the 
acquisition of new shelters. 

• Street outreach, including supplies and equipment 
needed to protect staff from COVID‑19 and to meet 
the urgent physical needs of people experiencing 
homelessness. 

• Support for transporting those experiencing 
homelessness to and from shelters and medical care. 

• Support for additional staff for infectious disease 
preparedness and case management for clients. 

Interim housing Operation Shelter to Home

Family 
Homelessness 
Challenge Grant

• Rapid rehousing, including housing identification, 
rental subsidies and incentives to landlords, such 
as security deposits and holding fees for eligible 
families, housing search assistance, rapid rehousing 
case management and services. 

• Operating subsidies in new and existing affordable 
or supportive housing units, emergency shelters, 
and navigation centers. 

• Street outreach to assist eligible families to access 
crisis services, interim housing options, and 
permanent housing and services. 

• Services coordination, including access to 
workforce, education, and training programs, or 
other services needed to improve and promote 
housing stability for eligible families and to direct 
case management services to families. 

• Systems support for activities that improve, 
strengthen, augment, complement, or are necessary 
to create regional partnerships and a homelessness 
services and housing delivery system that makes 
experiences of homelessness rare, brief, or a 
one‑time occurrence. 

• Delivery of permanent housing and innovative 
housing solutions, such as unit conversions that are 
well suited for eligible families. 

• Prevention and shelter diversion to permanent 
housing, including flexible forms of financial 
assistance, problem solving assistance, and other 
services to prevent people from losing their housing 
or from needing to enter emergency shelter/interim 
housing or becoming unsheltered. 

• Interim shelter for eligible families. 

• Improvements to existing emergency shelters. 

Not applicable Not applicable

AB 179 Passthrough To the City of San Diego for startup costs for 
emergency shelter for victims of domestic violence. 

Not applicable Not applicable

Source: Federal and state law and information from the cities’ financial management systems. 

70 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 203 of 273



Appendix B
Placements Into Interim and Permanent Housing

We used the state data system to identify the number of times a reporting entity 
placed individuals experiencing homelessness into each category of permanent and 
interim housing. Table B shows the number of placements in San José and San Diego 
from fiscal year 2019–20 through March 2023. As the table shows, the majority of 
placements during this period were into interim housing and, more specifically, into 
emergency shelter.

71CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 204 of 273



Table B
Placements Into Interim and Permanent Housing

FISCAL YEAR

HOUSING TYPE 2019–20 2020–21 2021–22 PARTIAL YEAR 
2022–23* TOTAL

Sa
n 

Jo
sé

†

Permanent Housing

PH‑Housing Only — — 13 357 370

PH‑Housing With Services 
(no disability equired for entry)

— 6 13 — 19

PH‑Permanent Supportive Housing 
(disability required for entry)

386 157 236 119 898

PH‑Rapid rehousing 73 62 74 46 255

Subtotal 459 225 336 522 1,542

Interim Housing

Emergency Shelter 2,136 2,333 1,964 2,155 8,588

Safe Haven 2 8 8 8 26

Transitional Housing 86 47 73 60 266

Subtotal 2,224 2,388 2,045 2,223 8,880

Total 2,683 2,613 2,381 2,745 10,422

Sa
n 

D
ie

go
†

Permanent Housing

PH‑Housing Only — 2 23 11 36

PH‑Housing With Services 
(no disability required for entry)

42 18 78 26 164

PH‑Permanent Supportive Housing 
(disability required for entry)

90 97 213 91 491

PH‑Rapid Rehousing 602 388 433 526 1,949

Subtotal 734 505 747 654 2,640

Interim Housing

Emergency Shelter 6,453 4,683 5,212 3,905 20,253

Safe Haven 14 7 36 18 75

Transitional Housing 273 212 334 173 992

Subtotal 6,740 4,902 5,582 4,096 21,320

Total 7,474 5,407 6,329 4,750 23,960

Source: Homeless Data Integration System.

Note: This table counts an individual once for each housing placement; therefore, a person can be counted more than once.

* Data obtained for fiscal year 2022–23 contains information only through March 2023.
† City location information in state data is imprecise. Reported information may show the principal site of a shelter or housing provider, but 

not all locations. Additionally, placements within a city do not necessarily indicate that the city government was the entity responsible for 
those placements.

72 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 205 of 273



Appendix C 
Scope and Methodology 

The Audit Committee directed the California State Auditor to conduct an audit of 
San José and one city selected by the State Auditor to assess the effectiveness of their 
homelessness spending. Specifically, the Audit Committee asked us to review the 
outcomes that the two cities achieved with state and local homelessness funding. 
Table C below lists the objectives that the Audit Committee approved and the 
methods we used to address them.15 The Audit Committee also requested that we 
review the effectiveness of the State’s spending on homelessness. We presented the 
results of our review of the State in a separate report (2023‑102.1). Unless otherwise 
stated in the table or elsewhere in the report, statements or conclusions about items 
selected for review should not be projected to the population.

Table C
Audit Objectives and the Methods Used to Address Them 

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

1 Review and evaluate the laws, rules, and 
regulations significant to the audit objectives. 

Reviewed and evaluated state and federal laws and regulations applicable to the cities 
we reviewed. Reviewed and evaluated relevant city municipal code and ordinances. 

2 b. Determine whether state or federal 
laws or regulations impede the ability 
of the State or local jurisdictions to 
accurately assess and track the population 
experiencing homelessness. 

c. Identify any impediments to state and 
local jurisdictions’ sharing of data and 
meaningful collaboration. 

• Reviewed state and federal laws and regulations related to data collection, privacy, 
and sharing. 

• Interviewed state and city staff to understand any impediments they face in sharing 
data and in collaborating with one another.

3 Evaluate the extent to which San José and 
San Diego are meeting the goals they have 
established in their policies and plans for 
ending homelessness. 

• Interviewed staff in the cities of San José and San Diego to identify each city’s plans and 
goals for ending homelessness.

• For San José, reviewed the county‑level community action plan to end homelessness 
and the city’s homelessness planning documents to identify the city’s goals to 
end homelessness. We determined that the city did not have city‑specific goals 
to implement the county‑level plan until it adopted an implementation plan in 
January 2024. 

• For San José, reviewed progress reports and city council memorandums from fiscal 
years 2020–21 through 2022–23 to evaluate whether the city met certain goals, such as 
its goal to have 1,300 interim housing units. 

• For San Diego, reviewed the city‑specific community action plan on homelessness to 
identify the city’s goals to end homelessness.

• For San Diego, reviewed the progress reports and dashboard on the city’s action plan 
implementation to evaluate whether the city met the goals in the city action plan. 

15 Objectives 2 and 2a directed us to examine the State's structure and efforts for funding and addressing homelessness and the 
cost‑effectiveness of such state‑funded programs. Our analysis related to those objectives is the subject of Report 2023‑102.1, 
Homelessness in California: The State Must Do More to Assess the Cost-Effectiveness of Its Homelessness Programs, April 2024. 

continued on next page …

73CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 206 of 273



AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

4 Identify, for the past three fiscal years, how 
much San José and San Diego have received in 
noncity funding for homelessness programs, 
including but not limited to Project Roomkey, 
Homekey, and federal stimulus funds. 

a. Determine how the cities have allocated and 
spent these funds and identify whether there 
is any amount remaining.

b. Evaluate whether the cities have 
appropriately and effectively used these 
funds, including whether funding allocated 
for city staff and contractors aligns with the 
intent of the programs.

c. Identify whether any allocations, and 
the amounts, were made to pay for city 
administration or any other overhead or 
nonprogrammatic functions, such as city hall 
or other city facilities or allocations to the 
city manager, city council, and mayor and 
their staff.

• Reviewed grant award letters, city budgets, single audits, Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Reports, and appropriation ordinances. 

• Coordinated with each city’s relevant department contacts to identify in the cities’ 
financial systems the state and federal homelessness‑related funding, expenditures, 
and remaining balances for the past three fiscal years. Neither San José nor San Diego 
received funding for Project Roomkey.

• Evaluated the cities’ appropriate and effective use of funding by reviewing the 
outcomes of agreements the cities made to award funds from a variety of nonlocal 
funding sources to service providers. The cities provided their homelessness‑related 
agreements for each of the past three fiscal years. For San José, we selected eight 
agreements based on program type, grantee, and agreement amount from the list 
of more than 100 agreements that the city provided. For San Diego, we selected 
eight agreements from the list of 46 that the city provided. However, some entries in 
San José’s list did not have complete information, and we identified agreements that 
each city had entered but not did not include in its list. Consequently, we determined 
that the lists of agreements the cities provided were incomplete. 

• For each city, tested the agreements to determine whether funding for city staff and 
service providers aligned with the intent of programs. 

• Reviewed appropriations to identify allocations for nonprogrammatic overhead 
functions such as City Hall or other city facilities, city manager, mayor, or staff. 

• Determined whether program outcomes were clearly defined, measured, reported on, 
publicly available, and compared to those of similar programs. 

5 Identify the outcomes San José and San Diego 
have achieved from their use of noncity funding 
to reduce homelessness, and determine the 
following for each city: 

a. The number of unsheltered individuals the 
city has placed in shelter or housing during 
each of the past three fiscal years, including 
the type of shelter or housing.

b. The rate of placing individuals in shelter or 
housing compared to the growth rate of its 
unsheltered homeless population.

c. The amount of time it takes to fill vacant 
beds and facilities for those facilities 
controlled by the city or its contractors.

d. The amount of time between the city 
receiving noncity funds and disbursing them 
to service delivery organizations and the 
efficiency and effectiveness of this process. 

e. The length of time it took the city to place 
individuals in shelter or housing and how 
much the city spent on services for these 
individuals while they were unsheltered 
compared to after they were placed. 

f. The permanent housing outcomes associated 
with the programs and services funded 
through noncity funding. 

• Analyzed data about the State’s homeless population to determine the number 
of individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness who were placed in shelter 
or housing, the outcomes of individuals experiencing homelessness, and services 
individuals experiencing homelessness received. 

• Interviewed Cal ICH about how it collects and uses data from CoCs.

• Compared the increase in each cities’ unsheltered population with the number of 
placements into interim or permanent housing.

• Because the state data system does not include data that would enable us to calculate the 
amount of time to fill vacant beds, reviewed utilization data from each city to determine 
the utilization rate at the city‑controlled facilities. Additionally, for San Diego, we reviewed 
data that allowed us to calculate the rate at which referrals to shelters were completed.

• Reviewed agreements and other documentation between the cities and their 
homelessness program service providers to determine the amount of time it took for 
cities to award state funds to providers. Because cities draw down federal funds as a 
reimbursement, we reviewed state funding sources.

• Interviewed city employees to understand the funds disbursement processes.

• Determined that the state data system does not include information that would enable 
us to calculate the amount of time to place individuals in shelter or housing. It also does 
not track how much a city spent on services before or after placement. The cities also do 
not collect this type of information. Therefore, we were unable to address Objective 5e.

• As discussed in Report 2023‑102.1, used the state data system to identify and calculate 
the outcomes associated with federally funded and non‑federally funded programs 
and services. Within the non‑federally funded outcome information, we were unable 
to separate out the permanent housing outcomes for state‑funded programs from the 
overall permanent housing outcomes because of inconsistent data. 

74 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 207 of 273



AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

6 To the extent possible, review available 
demographic data on San José's and San Diego’s 
unsheltered population and identify whether 
there are segments of each city's unsheltered 
population that are underserved. To the extent 
possible, determine the reasons for those 
instances and identify whether there are 
additional funding opportunities or homeless 
programs that each city could pursue to better 
serve these segments of the population. 

• For each city, obtained and reviewed demographic data from the HMIS managed by its CoC.

• For each city, reviewed demographic data from fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23 
on the number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness and identified groups 
that were overrepresented in this population.

• For each city, reviewed demographic data from fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23 on 
homelessness services and housing solutions that people experiencing homelessness 
received to identify any disparities in accessing services. 

• Identified the actions each city took to address demographic disparities. 

7 Identify any funding sources San José and 
San Diego used during the three most recent 
fiscal years to ensure the health and safety of 
the unsheltered population and the outcomes 
each city has achieved from its use of this 
funding. Determine the following:

a. Whether each city has made an effort to 
identify public safety and health issues at 
homeless encampments, including the 
encampments at Columbus Park in San José.

b. Whether the services each city has provided 
to address public safety and health issues 
adequately mitigated the impact of these 
issues on the population of encampments 
and surrounding areas.

c. Whether each city has worked with its 
respective county and its public health 
department to provide services to address 
and mitigate these public safety and 
health issues. 

• Interviewed staff in San José and San Diego to identify the programs each city 
established and actions each city took to ensure the health and safety of people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness.

• For fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23, reviewed agreements, budgets, and financial 
system data from the cities to identify the funding sources and amounts for programs 
intended to ensure the health and safety of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness.

• Reviewed the outcome information of each city’s programs intended to ensure the 
health and safety of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness.

• Reviewed and assessed each city’s policies and processes for evaluating health and 
safety risks around encampments.

• Reviewed progress reports and data to evaluate whether each city mitigated health and 
safety risks around encampments.

• For San José, reviewed the Columbus Park encampment work plan and progress updates to 
determine whether the city took actions to identify and mitigate the health and safety risks.

• For San José, interviewed staff and determined that the city does not have a contract 
with the county health department.

• For San Diego, reviewed the city’s agreement with the county health department and 
evaluated the use of that agreement in mitigating public health risks at encampments 
and surrounding areas. 

8 Identify other public and local funds, including 
San José's Measure E Funds, that San José and 
San Diego have used during the three most 
recent fiscal years to address homelessness.

a. Evaluate the effectiveness of each city's use 
of these funds.

b. Identify how many full‑time equivalent city 
staff are engaged in work abating homeless 
encampments, including management 
and clean up through San José's BeautifySJ 
initiative, and how many staff in each 
city's housing department are focused 
on solutions to homelessness through 
efforts such as homelessness prevention, 
rapid rehousing, temporary housing, and 
permanent supportive housing.

c. Quantify the annual operational costs 
of administering each city's programs 
during the three most recent fiscal years 
to abate, manage, and clean up homeless 
encampments and of its efforts to provide 
solutions to homelessness through housing 
strategies and homelessness prevention. 

• Reviewed city budgets, Single Audits, Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports, 
appropriation ordinances, and Measure E reports.

• Coordinated with each city’s relevant department contacts to identify local 
homelessness‑related funding and expenditures for the past three fiscal years.

• Evaluated the effectiveness of San José’s use of local funds by testing a selection of 
six agreements using local funding from a list of more than 100 agreements we sourced by 
combining a list that the city provided with additional agreements we identified from 
city records. 

• Evaluated the effectiveness of San Diego’s use of local funds by testing a selection of 
six agreements using local funding from a list of 46 agreements that the city provided.

• For each city, selected two agreements for each of fiscal years 2020–21 through 2022–23 
based on funding source, program type, and funding amount. We tested the agreements 
to ensure that they had defined performance measures and that the cities had received 
required performance reporting. We also verified whether the cities had evaluated the 
effectiveness of the services provided. 

• Reviewed the adopted budgets of each city and reports from its financial management 
systems to identify full‑time equivalent staff engaged in abating encampments and 
those focused on solutions to homelessness. 

• Reviewed financial documentation from San José’s budget department that identified 
and summarized the city’s operational costs associated with this work.

• Reviewed financial documentation from the San Diego departments involved with this 
work that identified and summarized their operational costs. 

continued on next page …

75CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 208 of 273



AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

9 Identify San José's and San Diego’s 
proposed sites for building interim and 
permanent housing for individuals 
experiencing homelessness.

a. Identify each city's policies and processes for 
approving housing sites.

b. Determine how many approved sites each 
city owns or controls.

c. Determine whether the sites are equally 
distributed among each city council district.

d. Assess each city's efforts to identify potential 
additional sites for both interim and 
permanent housing, the locations of those 
sites, and the status of any plans to build 
more housing. 

• For each city, interviewed staff and reviewed city records to identify proposed interim 
and permanent housing sites for individuals experiencing homelessness.

• Interviewed staff in each city to identify policies and processes for approving interim 
and permanent housing sites. We then reviewed these policies and processes.

• Requested that each city identify the proposed interim and permanent housing sites 
it owns. 

• For each city, created a map graphic of the proposed interim and permanent housing 
site locations to demonstrate the distribution of sites across city council districts. 

• Obtained information about each city’s potential additional interim and permanent 
housing sites. We identified and reviewed each city’s plans for future interim and 
permanent housing. 

10 Review and assess any other issues that are 
significant to the audit.

None identified. 

Source: Audit workpapers.

Assessment of Data Reliability

The U.S. Government Accountability Office, whose standards we are statutorily 
obligated to follow, requires us to assess the sufficiency and appropriateness of 
any computer‑processed information we use to support our findings, conclusions, 
or recommendations. In performing this audit, we relied on electronic data 
obtained from Cal ICH’s state data system for the period from July 1, 2019, through 
March 31, 2023. To evaluate the data, we reviewed existing information, interviewed 
people knowledgeable about the data, and performed electronic testing of key 
elements of the data. We identified problems with the state data system data, 
such as the inclusion of deleted records, test entries, and illogical entries, such as 
some enrollment numbers that exceeded the bed capacity of the corresponding 
shelters. Consequently, we found the state data system data to be of undetermined 
reliability for the purposes of analyzing the number and duration of those enrolled in 
homelessness services. 

We also relied on electronic data files that we obtained from San José and San Diego 
that contained financial information, housing information, and agreement 
information. To evaluate the data, we reviewed existing information, interviewed 
people knowledgeable about the data, and performed electronic testing of key 
elements of the data. Nevertheless, we could not determine the completeness of 
these data, so we found them to be of undetermined reliability. Although the data 
may contain errors that affect the precision of the numbers presented, we concluded 
that there is sufficient evidence in total to support our findings, conclusions, 
and recommendations. 

76 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 209 of 273



*

* California State Auditor’s comments begin on page 93. 

1

77CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 210 of 273

https://www.sanjoseca.gov/


78 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 211 of 273

https://direct.mit.edu/rest/article-abstract/doi/10.1162/rest_a_01344/116185/Do-Homelessness-Prevention-Programs-Prevent?redirectedFrom=fulltext


2

1

2

79CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 212 of 273

https://bayareaequityatlas.org/indicators/income-growth#/&geo=04000000000006085
https://www.ppic.org/publication/income-inequality-in-california/


1

3

80 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 213 of 273

https://reports.nlihc.org/sites/default/files/gap/Gap-Report_2021.pdf
https://www.brookings.edu/articles/top-10-metropolitan-areas-by-change-in-prosperity/


81CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 214 of 273



82 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 215 of 273



4

83CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 216 of 273

https://sanjose.legistar.com/View.ashx?M=F&ID=12514282&GUID=52DF37C7-CC76-4210-92DD-8BE7633CC02E


84 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 217 of 273



5

6

5

85CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 218 of 273



6

86 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 219 of 273



7

87CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 220 of 273



8

8

88 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 221 of 273



9

9

89CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 222 of 273



10

90 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 223 of 273



91CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 224 of 273

mailto:rosalynn.hughey%40sanjoseca.gov?subject=California%20State%20Auditor%20Report%202023-102.2


Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

92 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 225 of 273



Comments
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS ON THE RESPONSE FROM 
THE CITY OF SAN JOSÉ

To provide clarity, we are commenting on the response to our audit report from the 
city of San José (San José). The numbers below correspond with the numbers we have 
placed in the margin of the city’s response. 

San José implies in its response that our audit report lacks detail or context regarding 
the impacts of the COVID‑19 pandemic. However, we acknowledge the impact of the 
pandemic generally in the Introduction of the report on page 5, and specifically as it 
relates to San José’s efforts on pages 21, 31, and 34.

The city’s response refers to text from page 1 of the audit report’s Results in Brief, 
which provides a high‑level summary of our report’s findings and conclusions. We 
present detailed information about San José’s PIT count data since 2015 in Figure 4 
on page 7. We acknowledge on page 7 that after increasing from 2015 to 2022, 
San José saw a slight drop in the number of people experiencing homelessness from 
2022 to 2023. The numbers San José references in its response vary slightly from 
the numbers we present in Figure 4 because, while we used the numbers from the 
city’s final 2022 report published in late 2022 and that it currently has on its website, 
San José appears to reference preliminary numbers from May 2022. 

The city claims in its response that we do not adequately explain in our report 
the systemic factors causing homelessness. On the contrary, we describe in the 
Introduction on page 4, that the University of California, San Francisco’s June 2023 
study of people experiencing homelessness found that high housing costs and 
low incomes had left participants vulnerable to homelessness and that the most 
frequently reported economic reason for entering homelessness was loss of income. 
We describe on the same page that the study found that factors such as scarcity 
of housing, high cost of housing, lack of rental subsidies, and lack of assistance in 
identifying housing create barriers to accessing housing. 

We are encouraged by San José’s assertion that it is already taking steps to implement 
our recommendation, and we look forward to reviewing its efforts as part of our 
regular follow‑up process. Nevertheless, to fully implement this recommendation, we 
expect the city to develop a mechanism—such as a spending plan–for its homelessness 
funding that identifies the available funding and how it intends to allocate that funding. 
For example, the city could identify the amounts of funding it has available from 
federal, state, and local sources each year, indicate the amounts of that funding it plans 
to allocate to specific homelessness‑related activities, and report on its spending at the 
end of each year. We also expect the city to regularly monitor the amount of its unspent 
funding to ensure that it complies with any future spending deadlines and adequately 
explain to the public the anticipated timing of its future spending.

1

2

3

4

93CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 226 of 273



San José has misquoted our recommendation in its response. As is our standard practice, 
we communicated with San José during its review of our draft report to discuss any 
questions or concerns it may have. Based on these conversations, we informed San José 
that we would make changes to the recommendation regarding its evaluation of its 
health and safety programs. The revised recommendation is on page 63. 

We believe that the recommendation is appropriately focused on San José’s 
programs. As we discuss on page 33, San José did not develop performance measures 
to evaluate how well its programs are mitigating health and safety risks, and our 
recommendation is focused on the city developing performance measures for the 
programs we reviewed to demonstrate their effectiveness. Further, nowhere in our 
recommendation do we prescribe that the city develop epidemiological surveillance 
efforts to track and evaluate potential impacts. Instead, we recommend that the 
city develop performance measures to evaluate the effects of the city’s public health 
and safety programs related to unsheltered homelessness and to publicly report on 
the effects of its actions. In addition, San José explains that it is in the process of 
updating its performance measures for the BeautifySJ encampment management 
programs and is seeking ways to evaluate and improve upon health and safety 
services. Although this is encouraging, San José must ensure that it develops clear 
performance measures so it can assess whether its health and safety actions have 
effectively addressed the profound risks that individuals living in encampments face.

Our recommendation does not prescribe the frequency with which San José should 
monitor demographic data by program. Rather, Santa Clara County has these data 
available and can produce monthly reports, and we believe that San José should 
immediately begin requesting this data and take actions as needed to address 
demographic disparities. It is at the city’s discretion to determine the frequency of its 
monitoring of the data, and we look forward to reviewing its progress as part of our 
regular follow‑up process. 

Our recommendation is focused on the need for San José to formally adopt a 
policy for identifying and approving suitable locations for interim housing to 
ensure that the city is transparent and accountable for the process it uses to locate 
interim housing sites. We state on page 46 that the city has not formally adopted its 
Emergency Interim Housing Siting and Evaluation Guidelines and Process, which 
staff indicated they use to assess sites, and it is unclear when they became effective 
and to whom they apply. In its response, the city confirms that those guidelines 
are in use today. We are not recommending any rigid criteria for site identification 
and selection beyond what the city has already developed. Rather, we believe it is 
important that the city formally adopt the policy because it will need to develop 
more interim housing to meet its goals. As we state on page 45, San José has yet to 
meet its goals for creating interim housing units and locating at least one interim 
housing facility in each city council district.

5

6

7

8

94 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 227 of 273



We stand by our conclusion that San José lacks a clear, long‑term plan to develop and 
fund the needed permanent housing. On page 52, we explain that San José has yet 
to set a target for the number of permanent supportive units it needs, and the city 
acknowledges in its response that the implementation plan’s overall goal is still under 
development. Consequently, it is difficult to measure the city’s progress. Further, as 
we state on page 53, when we asked San José about its plans for funding additional 
permanent supportive housing units in the future, the city provided a list of seven 
potential developments that include proposed permanent supportive housing units. 
However, it offered no details about how, when, or whether it would pursue funding 
these developments. 

We disagree with San José’s assertion that it monitors utilization data daily. Specifically, 
during the course of our audit, we requested the utilization data and it took the city 
a month to provide us with the data, which indicated to us that it was not readily 
available. Further, as we describe on page 46, after providing us with the data, the city 
noted problems with the data’s accuracy. For example, the bed capacity at one interim 
facility was incorrectly listed as less than half of its actual capacity, producing 
inaccurate utilization rates of more than 100 percent in the database. Thus, we stand 
by our recommendation that the city monitor its utilization data and ensure that it is 
complete and accurate.

9

10

95CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 228 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

96 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 229 of 273



THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO 

March 12, 2024 
 
Grant Parks, California State Auditor 
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 
Sacramento, California 95814 
 
Re: Response to Report No. 2023-102.2, Homelessness in California: San Diego Must Do More 
to Plan and Evaluate Efforts to Reduce Homelessness 
 
Dear Mr. Parks: 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to review and provide a response to the above-referenced 
audit report. The City of San Diego (City) generally concurs with the recommendations in 
this report and will take appropriate steps to implement them where feasible. At this time, 
some recommendations have been partially implemented and are expected to be completed 
by September 2024; work on other recommendations is underway but may be completed 
after the audit’s recommended target date. The City’s response to Recommendation 3 
highlights the City’s use of performance measures to review the effectiveness of its 
contractors but notes that public health remains within the purview of the County of San 
Diego. The City appreciates the opportunity to showcase the work that it continues to do to 
move our unsheltered residents into shelter and housing. 
 
The draft audit report provided to the City included four recommendations. The City’s 
responses to each recommendation are included below. 
 
Recommendation 1: To promote transparency, accountability, and effective decision-
making, San Diego should, by September 2024, publicly report in a single location, such as 
by creating a spending plan for all of the federal and State funding it receives and the local 
funding it allocates for reducing homelessness. It should also regularly monitor the amounts 
of its unspent funding to ensure that it complies with any spending deadlines and can 
adequately explain to the public the anticipated timing of its future spending. 

City Response: Agree, the City has existing spending plans already in place, but will publicly 
report them in a single location. 

The City already maintains spending plans on homelessness-related programming. For 
example, the annual budget process highlights the funding allocated to homelessness across 
General Fund departments and grant funding from State and federal resources. This 
information can be found in Volume 1, inclusive of grant funding, as well as Volume 2 of the 
annual budget. Furthermore, the City has detailed spending plans for each federal and State 
funding source, as spending plans for all federal and State funding received are approved by 
the City Council in advance of receiving the awards in order to authorize appropriations and 
expenditures under any of these funds. 

*

* California State Auditor’s comments appear on page 103. 

1

97CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 230 of 273



Page 2 
Grant Parks, California State Auditor 
March 12, 2024 
 

The City of San Diego, through its SAP Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) system, tracks all 
federal, State, and local funding it receives. While all grants are segregated and reported 
separately as is required by most granting agencies, other local funds are allocated at the 
fund, department, program, or cost center level. The allocation, budgeting, and expenditure 
of local funds use the City’s current financial and budgetary structure, which serves many 
and sometimes competing, financial reporting needs. The allocation of local funds toward 
homelessness programs is mostly contained within the budgetary allocation to one 
department, the Homelessness Strategies and Solutions Department (HSSD). However, other 
budgetary allocations of local funds that are performed by specialized functions of the City, 
such as neighborhood policing and refuse collection services, are accounted for under the 
responsible department to ensure accountability with those charged with implementing such 
programs. 

In addition to the annual budget process, the City monitors expenditures and unspent funds 
on a quarterly basis during the budget monitoring process. Each of these reports is made 
publicly available on the City’s website and is also presented as informational items at 
Budget and Government Efficiency Committee and City Council meetings. Moreover, per 
Council Resolution R-313615 executed in June 2021 and recommendations by the City’s 
Independent Budget Analyst (IBA) in Report No. 21-19 Recommendation No. 2, HSSD 
includes detailed updates on the spending of State grants and other funding related to 
homelessness as part of the quarterly budget monitoring report. While these reports do not 
include spending and efforts for abatement and policing, they are responsive to the IBA’s 
recommendation on reporting to the City Council on the executed and planned use of 
homelessness funding across funding sources. These updates have been consistently 
developed and provided to the City Council as well as published on the City’s website during 
the quarterly monitoring process. Moreover, the City is required to complete quarterly 
reports for each one of its State grants to monitor both expended and remaining funds and 
ensure funds are on track to be spent in alignment with expenditure deadlines. As previously 
mentioned, every dollar of State, local, and federal funding is tied to a specific detailed 
funding plan, and unspent funds are already allocated to the approved uses. Because of this 
work, the City has never encountered a situation where it was at risk of not complying with 
funding expenditure deadlines. Certainty of future funding also plays a role, and the City has 
consistently requested the State create reliable, ongoing funding through the Homelessness 
Housing Assistance and Prevention program so it can build more certainty into its contracts 
and housing programs.  

Finally, this audit recommendation requests the City create plans for unspent funds. The City 
does have these plans in place, however, the auditors did not inquire about plans for future 
use of remaining (unspent) funds during their review. The report did mention that unspent 
General Funds do not typically carryover to the next year’s budget, however, multi-year 
grant funds do carryover, and unspent funds at the end of any fiscal year are factored into 
the future year’s spending plans and are published in Volumes 1 and 2 of the City’s budget. 

To implement this recommendation, the City will aggregate the existing spending plans 
currently funded with federal and State sources as well as those costs directly allocated to 
HSSD to produce an annual report on expenditure by funding source and use by September 
2024. In addition, the City will assess the feasibility of identifying ancillary costs related to 

1

2

98 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 231 of 273



Page 3 
Grant Parks, California State Auditor 
March 12, 2024 
 

support provided by departments other than HSSD. To the extent feasible, these costs will 
also be incorporated into the annual report at a later date. 
 
Recommendation 2: To ensure that San Diego effectively and transparently spends its 
funding to address and end homelessness, the City should do the following: 

a) Ensure that, when it renews or enters into new agreements with service providers, it 
establishes clearly defined performance measures. 

b) Require that, beginning by September 2024, staff at least annually document an 
overall performance review and assessment of the effectiveness of each service 
provider based on the performance measures in the agreement and other expectations 
that San Diego has set. 

 
City Response: Agree. The City already requires performance measures, and an overall review 
and assessment of the effectiveness of service providers is in progress. 

While the City and the San Diego Housing Commission (SDHC) will continue to refine service 
provider performance measures, staff note that it can be challenging to mandate specific 
housing performance measures on service providers because service providers’ client 
housing outcomes are largely dependent upon the availability of housing inventory, which is 
outside of the control of the service provider. The City acknowledges that the current 
housing environment is more challenging than ever due to limited supply and all-time high 
rents. Due to these challenges, the City intentionally has service providers report on 
performance outcomes as detailed in each operating agreement but has not defined specific 
numerical targets, as housing outcomes may be outside the control of any individual 
operator. In the absence of set targets for housing outcomes within operating contracts, the 
City can conduct a comparative analysis across service providers and programs to see what 
interventions and operators have higher-than-average housing placements. Staff are also 
able to assess factors leading to improved outcomes to replicate elements of programming 
and allocate greater resources to programs that generate higher placements. For example, 
during an analysis of permanent or other long-term housing placements across programs, 
the City concluded that the Family Reunification Program had higher-than-average 
outcomes compared to other City-funded programs. As such, the City increased funding for 
the Family Reunification Program as the services provided were proving to be most effective 
and efficient in housing placement for individuals experiencing homelessness, considering 
the challenges in the broader local housing supply. 

Additionally, certain projects identified in Table 5 of the report as having ‘ill-defined’ 
performance measures did include detailed scopes and budgets with specific performance 
requirements (such as hours of operation and types of services to be delivered) and outcome 
measures (such as the number of individuals to be served). Contracts supported by federal 
programs, including Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) and Emergency 
Solutions Grants (ESG), are included in annual performance and review reports to the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) and are subject to HUD monitoring. 
During the subject fiscal years of this State audit, HUD monitoring of the City of San Diego as 
an entitlement grantee resulted in no findings. 

3

3

99CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 232 of 273



Page 4 
Grant Parks, California State Auditor 
March 12, 2024 
 

Finally, the City is currently in the process of creating an annual performance review and 
assessment. In the City’s Fiscal Year 2023 Adopted Budget, HSSD added new positions 
dedicated to performance monitoring. These positions have been filled, and formal 
documentation efforts for tracking operator performance are already underway. One 
additional vacant position that is in the process of being filled, will oversee data and analysis 
associated with performance more broadly across programs in the system. The new position 
will be responsible for tracking program data on a monthly basis, analyzing trends, and 
providing recommendations on how to improve program activities and outcomes, as 
necessary. 
 
Recommendation 3: To better assist people experiencing unsheltered homelessness, San 
Diego should, by September 2024, develop performance measures to evaluate the effects of 
the City’s public health and safety programs related to unsheltered homelessness listed in 
Table 7. An example of such a performance measure is a reduction in the number of public 
health incidents occurring at encampments. San Diego should then report publicly on the 
effects of its actions. 
 
City Response: Disagree. The County of San Diego is the lead agency on public health matters 
for the region. The City’s contracts related to services for individuals experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness do include performance measures that are reported on to HSSD. 
While specific targets for each measure have not been identified, the data for each 
performance measure is tracked to understand the effectiveness of City-funded programs 
and where there may be areas to increase support or make programmatic improvements. 
HSSD also included Key Performance Indicators in the Fiscal Year 2024 Adopted Budget, 
which includes metrics related to outreach strategies. Moreover, HSSD has amended its Key 
Performance Indicators for the Fiscal Year 2025 Proposed Budget to include metrics on 
shelters, safe parking, and safe sleeping, in addition to outreach services. 

Additionally, starting in Fiscal Year 2025, the Environmental Services Department will use 
the following Key Performance Indicator for its Sidewalk Sanitizing program: 

• Perform sidewalk sanitation services on at least 9,600 City blocks each fiscal year to 
reduce the potential presence of pathogens, bacteria, and communicable diseases. 

 
Recommendation 4: By September 2024, San Diego should develop plans for siting and 
building the permanent housing it has identified that it needs for people experiencing 
homelessness. The plans should specify the amount of funding necessary to build the 
housing, as well as possible funding sources. 
 
City Response: The City agrees that plans for siting and building permanent housing should 
be created, and staff are working on an Affordable Home Development Master Plan. 
However, due to resource constraints, the timeline for the completion of this work is 
projected to be in 2025 instead of by September 2024. When completed, the Master Plan will 
provide a comprehensive plan to utilize City-owned property to develop homes for people of 
all incomes in all communities that are best served by transit and amenities. The Master Plan 
will reduce development costs and expedite housing construction on public land.  

4

100 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 233 of 273



Page 5 
Grant Parks, California State Auditor 
March 12, 2024 
 

Additionally, the Master Plan will identify potential shelter sites to address the urgent need 
for increased shelter capacity for people experiencing homelessness. This Master Plan will 
expand upon the work and analysis completed in the City’s existing Comprehensive Shelter 
Strategy, published in June of 2023, which provided an analysis of existing sheltering options 
and the type and quantity of shelter beds needed in our region. 

The City has significantly expanded its homelessness programs over recent years, and in 
turn, has created a system of services across the continuum. To meet demands of the most 
vulnerable unsheltered populations, the City has made significant investments in new 
programming. In recent years, the City has significantly expanded shelter bed capacity, 
opened two safe sleeping sites, expanded safe parking, received a pro-housing designation 
from the State, passed a series of housing action packages to increase development, and 
launched the Bridge to Home program in an effort to produce more homes that are 
affordable to all San Diegans. The City is committed to continuing to expand programs for 
those experiencing homelessness and increasing the availability of housing for all. The City 
looks forward to continuing to work with the State in addressing homelessness and housing 
affordability. 
 
The City appreciates the effort undertaken by the California State Auditor in completing this 
review and thanks the staff involved. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Eric K. Dargan 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
EKD/KAP 
 
cc: Paola Avila, Chief of Staff, Office of the Mayor 

Matthew Vespi, Chief Financial Officer 
David Nisleit, Chief, Police Department 
Alia Khouri, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Kristina Peralta, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Kris McFadden, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Casey Smith, Deputy Chief Operating Officer 
Christiana Gauger, Chief Compliance Officer, Compliance Department 
Matt Yagyagan, Director of Policy, Office of the Mayor 
Adrian Granda, Director, Department of Government Affairs 
Sarah Jarman, Director, Homelessness Strategies and Solutions Department 
Rolando Charvel, Director and City Comptroller, Department of Finance 
Christina Bibler, Director, Economic Development Department and Department of   

Real Estate and Airport Management 
Renee Robertson, Director, Environmental Services Department 
Heidi Vonblum, Director, City Planning Department 
Kim Zolgahdri, Interim Deputy Director, Homelessness Strategies and Solutions 

Department 

101CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 234 of 273



Page 6 
Grant Parks, California State Auditor 
March 12, 2024 
 

Sarah Ferry, Assistant Deputy Director, Homelessness Strategies and Solutions 
Department 

Luis Briseño, Program Manager, Compliance Department 

102 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 235 of 273



Comments
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS ON THE RESPONSE FROM 
THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO

To provide clarity, we are commenting on the response to our audit report from the 
city of San Diego (San Diego). The numbers below correspond with the numbers we 
have placed in the margin of the city’s response. 

Despite its assertion that it already maintains spending plans, San Diego has not 
reported all of the funding it receives and spends for reducing homelessness in a 
central location, as we discuss on pages 13 and 19. The city’s budget and quarterly 
monitoring reports present information on certain homelessness programs 
for a single fiscal year and do not show in a single location all the amounts of 
homelessness funding the city has received, budgeted, and spent. The decentralized 
nature of the city’s homelessness funding information, plans, and uses, limits public 
transparency of and accountability for its efforts to reduce homelessness.

The city misunderstands the intent of our recommendation. As we explain on 
page 17, the State has recently allocated more than $52 million to San Diego. 
Therefore, it is critical that it describes how it plans to use them by the 2027 and 
2028 spending deadlines, as Table 2 on page 18 shows. Our recommendation is 
intended to help ensure that San Diego not only complies with future spending 
deadlines, but also that it fully explains to the public the anticipated timing of its 
future spending of these funds.

San Diego misrepresents the extent to which its agreements with service providers 
contain performance measures, which are critical for the city to establish 
and monitor to ensure that providers are effectively addressing and reducing 
homelessness. As we show in Table 5 on pages 28 and 29, we found that two of 
San Diego’s agreements with service providers did not include any performance 
measures. Table 5 also shows that we identified four city‑funded agreements—
three managed by the housing commission and one by San Diego—in which the 
performance measures were ill‑defined, despite the city’s claims in its response 
that some of these agreements did include specific performance requirements 
and outcome measures. As we explain on page 27, without defining measurable 
expectations for service providers, the city and the housing commission risk those 
providers using city dollars ineffectively and ultimately not reducing homelessness.

We stand by our recommendation that the city should develop performance measures 
to evaluate the effectiveness of the city’s programs focused on public health and safety.  
Although the city indicates it disagrees with the recommendation, many of the actions 
it describes in its response appear to align with the intent of our recommendation. 
We look forward to reviewing San Diego’s progress as part of our regular audit 
follow‑up process.

1

2

3

4

103CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 236 of 273



Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.

104 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 237 of 273



* California State Auditor’s comments appear on page 115. 

March 7, 2024 

Grant Parks 
California State Auditor 
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 
Sacramento, California 95814 

Dear State Auditor Parks, 

The San Diego Housing Commission (SDHC) appreciates the opportunity to submit a written 
response to the portion of your draft report about state and local homelessness funding that relates 
to SDHC. As we shared previously with your office, the City of San Diego’s Office of the City 
Auditor released a report in March 2023 about its performance audit of SDHC’s homelessness 
services contract management, which found that SDHC “ensures contracted homelessness services 
programs follow best practices through contract design, ongoing administration, and compliance 
monitoring.” This was one of two findings in City auditor’s report related to SDHC, and the report 
included one finding for the City of San Diego. The Office of the City Auditor’s report also 
included two recommendations related to SDHC’s processes for sole-sourced contracts, which 
SDHC agreed with and implemented. 

Your office informed SDHC that your report does not include any findings or recommendations 
for SDHC or the Housing Authority of the City of San Diego. However, additional context about 
your report’s discussion of SDHC is important to provide a more complete understanding of these 
items for state lawmakers, stakeholders and members of the public who may review your report, 
as jurisdictions throughout California, including San Diego, continue to address homelessness 
challenges in their communities. 

Measuring Performance Expectations 
Measuring contract performance involves far more than only the identified program outcomes for 
a specific contract. Outcomes such as exits to the most appropriate permanent or longer-term 
housing are significant objectives for contracted service providers. However, how programs 
operate is also important. Monitoring programs for compliance with other elements of the contract 
Scope of Work is essential for the creation and maintenance of equitable programs that focus on 
the needs of the people they serve and identify housing options for them while serving them with 
dignity as they work toward a longer-term housing solution.  

During the audit, SDHC provided hundreds of documents to your office, reflecting several 
monitoring activities to ensure compliance with performance expectations for homelessness 

*

2

1

105CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 238 of 273



shelters and services contracts that SDHC administers. However, your report fails to acknowledge 
these monitoring activities.  
 
The audit team appeared focused only on the “Program Outcomes” section of the Scope of Work 
to determine how SDHC measures and monitors program performance. However, your report does 
not acknowledge that “Program Outcomes” align with regional and national best practices and the 
regional Continuum of Care’s Community Standards. Further, the “Program Outcomes” section of 
the Scope of Work comprises one to two pages of a roughly 23-page Scope of Work. While 
“Program Outcomes” certainly are important, they are not sufficient alone to measure contract 
performance. The Scope of Work also describes operational expectations for each program. 
Sections of the Scope of Work unaddressed by the audit team are critical to creating quality 
programs, informing the region’s homelessness response system, and standardizing performance 
requirements across programs, interventions, and program operators.  
 
Erroneous Conclusions 
For example, the draft audit report includes the following statements under the heading “Housing 
Commission Agreements”: 

• “The housing commission’s agreements with external service providers have not always 
included performance benchmarks to allow the housing commission to assess the results 
of the service providers’ efforts.” 

• Page 5: “Without defining measurable expectations for service providers, the housing 
commission risks those providers’ using city dollars ineffectively and ultimately not 
reducing homelessness.”  

• Page 7: “When the cities either do not establish clear objectives in those agreements or do 
not monitor providers’ performance in achieving objectives, they risk failing to meet the 
needs of their residents who are experiencing homelessness.” 

 
These statements misunderstand and misrepresent what the “Program Outcomes” section of 
the Scope of Work includes; they do not acknowledge that “Programs Outcomes” are 
aligned with best practices and Community Standards; and they assume the “Program 
Outcomes” section is the only way to define “measurable expectations.” They further 
misunderstand and misrepresent the comprehensive nature of the full Scope of Work section of 
SDHC’s  contracts and SDHC’s extensive activities and efforts to monitor program performance.  
 
SDHC’s Scopes of Work include the minimum performance benchmarks for the homelessness 
intervention as defined in the regional Continuum of Care’s Community Standards. The 
Continuum of Care’s Community Standards establish community-wide expectations on the 
operations of projects and establish a minimum set of standards regarding the quality of housing 
and services provided in the area the Continuum of Care serves. Additionally, the Continuum of 
Care sets minimum performance benchmarks for specific interventions. Currently, the Continuum 
of Care Community Standards only include the percentage of exits to permanent housing as a 
performance indicator for all interventions. This aligns with national best practices around 
orienting programs to be “housing-focused,” which means that the goals of most homelessness 
services interventions are to resolve a person’s homelessness. The Continuum of Care’s 
performance benchmarks have been revised and updated over the years. SDHC has always 

3

4

3

106 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 239 of 273



incorporated the most up-to-date version of those benchmarks in its contracts and adjusted data 
collection tools to align with revisions to those benchmarks when necessary. 
 
Other key elements of the Scope of Work include: 

• Program Services to be offered to program participants utilizing Housing First 
principles and other national best practices to ensure low-barrier access to programs and 
services. 

• System Coordination, which includes the required use of the Continuum of Care’s 
Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) to capture program- and system-
level data to inform system design; participation in the Continuum of Care’s Coordinated 
Entry System (CES) to ensure program participants are appropriately prioritized and 
connected to available community housing resources; participation with 2-1-1 San Diego 
to ensure potential program participants and community partners are able to identify the 
program when needed; and participation in 2-1-1 San Diego’s Community Information 
Exchange (CIE) database to aid in the creation of service plans and coordination of care 
for program participants. 

• Program Standards that reflect local and national best practices for service delivery and 
include detailed expectations regarding what needs to be included in program policies 
and procedures, program staffing, and program participant engagement in service 
delivery and program design. 

• Program Site Management and Security (when applicable), which identifies standards 
for site management, site security, emergency preparedness, and community engagement, 
to ensure the program site is safe and suitable for human habitation and/or occupation 
(depending on the program) at all times. 

• Monitoring and Improvement Activities, which describe requirements for participation 
in compliance monitoring and technical assistance conducted by SDHC.  

• Requests for Reimbursement, which identifies requirements for supporting 
documentation for service providers to receive reimbursement/payment for services 
rendered. 

 
SDHC Compliance Monitoring Activities 
In addition to the evaluation of monthly data collection tools described in your office’s report, 
SDHC also performs several other monitoring and compliance activities related to the elements of 
the Scope of Work identified above, which are not discussed in your office’s report. Data on 
performance outcomes are very important, but they are not the only indicator of performance. 
Other elements of contract performance management, which have already been shared with the 
auditing team, include the following: 

 
• Compliance Monitoring: 

In support of creating and maintaining quality programs, SDHC implemented robust 
monitoring and improvement activities. SDHC monitors program compliance annually. A 
series of monitoring tools were developed for each intervention and are further informed 
by the Scopes of Work. Examples of monitoring tools, reports, and workflows have been 
provided to State auditors upon their request. The monitoring tools are updated each year, 
as necessary, to reflect any changes in the Scope of Work. As part of monitoring 
activities, SDHC's compliance team performs a thorough review of the service provider’s 

3

107CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 240 of 273



policies and procedures and program forms. SDHC’s compliance staff also selects a 
sample of files for review. These monitoring activities assess areas where the service 
provider is performing well or may require additional technical assistance or course 
correction. In particular, file reviews assess if all mandatory forms are included in 
participant files and if case notes reflect the use of national best practices, such as 
Housing First fidelity and consistency with Continuum of Care Community Standards. A 
sample of monitoring reports was provided in a September 25, 2023, document 
submission to the auditors. Compliance monitoring procedures were provided in a 
submission of documents on September 29, 2023, to the State auditors. 
 
In the event compliance monitoring activities identify deficiencies, immediate attempts 
are made to mitigate the issues and bring the service provider back into compliance. 
Monitoring reports and general feedback mechanisms (such as email) describe the 
deficiencies and provide a due date for correction. Technical assistance is provided, as 
necessary, to support service providers, and follow-up meetings may be conducted to 
clarify concerns. If service providers are unable to resolve deficiencies and are 
determined to not be operating within the requirements of the Scope of Work, SDHC 
may institute a Performance Improvement Plan (PIP). SDHC staff adhere to internal 
policies and procedures for the PIP process. A sample PIP workbook was provided to the 
State auditors. 
 
The Scope of Work also requires the use of program participant feedback to inform 
program design and identify any areas of opportunity to enhance programs. SDHC’s 
compliance team collects this data quarterly as a component of monitoring performance 
for all programs. 
 
It is important to note that in addition to monitoring reviews, SDHC’s compliance team 
performs monthly audits of all Coordinated Entry System (CES) referrals to permanent 
housing programs SDHC administers, such as Rapid Rehousing and Permanent 
Supportive Housing, to ensure service providers are documenting and accepting/declining 
referrals according to CES policies and procedures. 

 
• Requests for Reimbursements: 

Detailed budgets are created in support of the Scope of Work, and other fiscal 
considerations such as expenditure rates and the efficacy of those expenditures are 
closely monitored monthly over the course of the agreement term. During the budget 
development period, which begins prior to contract execution, SDHC staff work closely 
with service providers to develop a budget that monetarily supports the program’s 
operational costs and ensures the service providers use the necessary staffing structure to 
maintain appropriate caseload ratios and/or on-site staff. The monthly monitoring of the 
budget begins with the service provider’s submission of Request for Reimbursements 
(RFRs), which is the process used for invoicing SDHC for program expenses. The RFR 
packets undergo a thorough review that consider aspects such as eligibility of the 
expenses claimed, if sufficient supporting documentation was provided to substantiate the 
expense, and if the claimed expenses align with the approved budget. Any ineligible 

108 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 241 of 273



expenses are disallowed and not reimbursed to the service provider. This supports fiscal 
responsibility and good financial stewardship. 
 
The monthly RFR data are captured in an internal database, and reports are available in 
the form of a fiscal monitoring tool. The fiscal monitoring tool is used to compare 
expenditures against the budget and project budget utilization. The tool also identifies 
areas where technical assistance may be required. Further, each quarter, SDHC staff 
perform a thorough budget analysis and review of expenditures and subsequently meet 
with service providers to review quarterly fiscal and programmatic outcomes.  
 
The RFR review process is captured in “Policy 2.2: Processing Requests for 
Reimbursements” in the Policies and Procedure manual already provided to the State 
auditors. 

 
• Quarterly Check-In Meetings and Technical Assistance Plans: 

SDHC’s Homelessness Innovations Division’s Policies and Procedures describe the 
method for facilitating the quarterly meetings and detail the items to be included on the 
agenda such as reviewing budget utilization, program outcomes, and other items 
identified as requiring more technical assistance. This is “Policy 2.8: Monitoring & 
Analysis” in the team’s Policy and Procedures manual provided to State auditors.  
 
Examples of the Fiscal Monitoring Tool and Quarterly Meeting Check-In Agenda were 
provided in the supplemental documents submitted for review. 
 
In addition to the Quarterly Check-In Meetings, technical assistance is provided at 
intervals, often daily, weekly or monthly. Technical assistance may be formal or 
informal. 

 
• Internal SDHC Tools: 

SDHC drafted and continually updates a Policies and Procedures manual to guide the 
work of the team. All core contract administration functions are detailed in the Policies 
and Procedures manual, such as RFRs and data collection tools A copy of the Policies 
and Procedures manual was provided to State auditors on September 29, 2023. 
 
The Policies and Procedures manual also contains Professional Standards that SDHC 
has developed for the staff overseeing contracts. The standards are contained in the 
team’s Policies and Procedures manual within “Policy 1.4: Professional Standards.” 
These standards define the minimum expectations for staff with regard to professionalism 
and core competencies related to contract administration. For example, a Senior Program 
Analyst assigned a portfolio of programs is expected to perform contract administration 
according to the following standards: 

109CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 242 of 273



 
 
The professional standards are supported by the Policies and Procedures manual provided 
to State auditors, which support the core function of administering the programs, 
including data collection tools, Requests for Reimbursement (RFRs), Quarterly Check-In 
Meetings, Technical Assistance Plans, Monitoring Reports, Performance Improvement 
Plans (PIPs), Budget Development, Expenditure Tracking, Informational Reports, Public 
Dashboards, and Performance Monitoring. 

 
Additional Details Missing from the Audit Report  
In the second paragraph after Table 3 in the section under the heading “Housing Commission 
Agreements,” your office’s report stated: “The housing commission did not clearly define its 
expected performance measures in 3 of the 11 agreements reviewed.”  In the same paragraph, the 
report further stated, “For example, in a $1.6 million agreement for interim housing and supportive 
services, the housing commission did not specify how many people the provider should serve or 
set a target for shelter occupancy.”  SDHC previously submitted responses to those concerns to 
your office by email on January 25, 2024; however, this additional context is not reflected in the 
report. It is provided here: 

 
• Contract HHI-18-22.1 (Family Health Centers of San Diego Housing Navigation 

Center) 
Outcomes in the initial contract were primarily based on Family Health Centers of San 
Diego’s (FHCSD) response to the Request for Proposals for this project, as this was a 
new program model that had only been piloted in a few other jurisdictions, with some 
variations. There were no community standards or other baselines to develop outcomes. 
The Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) did not include the ability to 
collect all the data FHCSD had proposed reporting. Therefore, it could not be captured on 
the data collection tool initially.  Subsequent discussions with the operator occurred in 
January and February 2020 about how to capture those data elements, whether through 
customized services in HMIS or through the provider’s internal data systems. FHCSD 
developed an on-site electronic database for tracking and reporting on a variety of data 
points, including services provided by on-site partners and metrics related to clients' 

2

2

110 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 243 of 273



status in the housing process. As SDHC and FHCSD worked together in the months after 
the program opened, they discussed options for how best to capture performance data 
toward several outcomes in the contract that were not included in the data collection tool 
at program opening (as noted above), including whether to utilize FHCSD's internal 
database or another system. The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020 
disrupted these conversations. This let the Housing Navigation Center to shift to a 
modified schedule and service delivery plan as of April 2, 2020. 
 
Ongoing discussions on reporting and outcomes were ultimately affected by the closure 
of the Housing Navigation Center program on October 29, 2020, prior to the end of the 
contract term, due to service delivery and staffing challenges related to the pandemic. 
 

• Contract HHI-21-17 (PATH – Homelessness Response Center) 
After the Housing Navigation Center closed, SDHC began operating the Homelessness 
Response Center at the same location. SDHC contracted with People Assisting the 
Homeless (PATH) to provide system navigation and related services at the Homelessness 
Response Center. Most of the metrics in the outcomes table in the Scope of Work for this 
contract are listed as “reporting only” because this was a new program model, and SDHC 
needed to gather data to establish baselines for future metrics. The program model was 
developed as a result of successful practices SDHC had implemented during Operation 
Shelter to Home, the City’s shelter response to the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with 
some practices that had been implemented at the Housing Navigation Center. This was 
unlike any other approach nationally. SDHC did not have baseline outcomes to include in 
the Scope of Work at that time. In subsequent amendments, SDHC added outcomes for 
persons served through system navigation, exits to permanent housing, and average 
length of enrollment for exits to permanent housing. The data collection tool evolved 
over time from the initial contract Scope of Work as SDHC gained a better understanding 
of the program model and further determined what could be captured in the Homeless 
Management Information System for reporting.  
 

• Contract HHI-22-41 (Harm Reduction Shelter) 
The “$1.6 million agreement for interim housing and supportive services” mentioned in 
the statement above from your office’s report refers to the Harm Reduction Shelter. In the 
Scope of Work, the sections named “Program Description” and “Target 
Population/Geographical Area,” as well as other sections, state, “Individuals will be 
referred and provided case management and supportive services directly through the 
County of San Diego’s Community Harm Reduction Team.” This means that the SDHC-
contracted program operator does not have control over who is referred to and enters the 
shelter. Therefore, it would not be appropriate to set a contract performance outcome for 
the number of people the program operator is expected to serve or a target for 
occupancy.  
 
Additionally, it is not a best practice to set performance goals related to persons served 
annually. As SDHC staff shared with the auditor’s office, in the past, when such persons-
served goals were set, some programs exited clients after a specified amount of time (e.g., 
90 days) to ensure they were turning over beds often enough to meet the goal of persons 

111CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 244 of 273



served for the year. This resulted in people being exited to the streets before housing 
goals could be achieved. As a result, SDHC revised outcomes to align with the 
Community Standards (as referenced above), which focus on exits to permanent housing 
and average length of stay for exits to permanent housing. In all other shelter contracts, 
SDHC includes occupancy as a measured outcome as well, to ensure existing beds are 
utilized to the fullest extent possible. 

In the last paragraph before Table 5, which continues immediately after Table 5 in the draft report, 
your office stated: “the housing commission did not always ensure that it received required data on 
provider performance…The housing commission did not receive all of the necessary reporting for 
2 of the 11 agreements.” SDHC previously submitted responses to those concerns to your office 
by email on January 25, 2024. However, this additional context is not reflected in the report. It is 
provided here. 

 
• Contract HHI-22-41 (Harm Reduction Shelter):  

o The goal for “Exits to Permanent Housing” was changed to 26 percent in the data 
collection tool because the San Diego Regional Task Force on Homelessness 
(RTFH) updated its community standards in June 2021. SDHC updated the data 
collection tools to align with that new standard even though all contract Scopes of 
Work did not reflect that update due to the timing of contract execution and the 
release of the new standards.  

o “Number of Individuals on the Program Waitlist” is in the Scope of Work; 
however, SDHC removed it from all shelter data collection tools starting in Fiscal 
Year 2022 because SDHC launched the Coordinated Shelter Intake Program. 
With this intake program, shelters no longer maintained individual waitlists for 
their programs. Additionally, this particular program (as stated above) did not 
control who enters the shelter, as that was overseen by the County of San Diego. 

o The 100 percent spend-down of awarded funds is monitored outside of the data 
collection tool through the monthly Requests for Reimbursement review and 
fiscal monitoring process. SDHC removed this from the outcomes table in Fiscal 
Year 2023 when SDHC created a completely revised and standardized contract 
template, as this was legacy language from some federally funded programs that 
required 100 percent grant spend-down. 

 
• Contract HHI-20-07.1 (Mental Health Systems Serial Inebriate Program) 

The Scope of Work reflects a goal of 100 percent for “Prioritize Entry for Persons from 
the Streets, Emergency Shelters, or Safe Havens,” but this metric is reported only in the 
data collection tool. This metric and goal were included in the Scope of Work because, at 
the time of the initial contract term, they were part of the Continuum of Care Community 
Standards for Transitional Housing Programs. However, upon further consideration of the 
uniqueness of the population served by the Mental Health Systems Serial Inebriate 
Program, SDHC removed that goal because all persons served by the program are 
referred by the courts, and the operator did not have the ability to decide who to prioritize 
for the program. Almost all the “serial inebriates” referred by the courts were coming 
from jail or detoxification facilities and not from the “streets, emergency shelters, or safe 
havens.” That is also why SDHC added the “Prioritize and target serial inebriates in the 

2

112 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 245 of 273



community” reporting metric. Although it is not in the Scope of Work outcomes table, it 
is in Section 6.a. of the Scope of Work. 

Your office’s report further stated, “…staff did not always document an overall conclusion about 
the effectiveness of the service providers’ efforts. … These types of assessments are crucial for 
ensuring accountability and the reduction and prevention of homelessness. Without such analyses, 
it is unclear how the housing commission decides to renew agreements. The weaknesses we note 
above have limited the information available to the housing commission when making such 
decisions.”   

 
SDHC disagrees with these statements for the following reasons: 

• As outlined above, SDHC has extensive documentation regarding program performance 
through compliance monitoring activities, requests for reimbursement activities, quarterly 
check-in meetings, technical assistance plans, and data collection tools.   

• When deciding to renew contracts, SDHC considers external factors that affect the ability 
of homelessness programs to achieve some performance metrics, such as staffing 
challenges and the scarcity of housing resources available through the Coordinated Entry 
System (CES) amid historically low vacancy rates and high rental costs in the City.    

 
Addressing Systemic Issues 
SDHC has acted to improve some of the systemic issues that impact program performance.  For 
example, in October 2020, SDHC, in partnership with San Diego City College, launched an 
innovative, first-of-its-kind program, the Homelessness Program for Engaged Educational 
Resources (PEER). The Homelessness PEER course provides specialized education, training and 
job placement assistance to develop the workforce needed for programs and services that help San 
Diegans experiencing homelessness. In 2022 SDHC engaged in a compensation study of 
homelessness services sector positions to review and consider recommendations for ensuring 
competitiveness of wages for critical frontline positions and launched a wellness initiative for 
frontline staff to support sector efforts to attract and retain staff.  
 
Conclusion 
Addressing homelessness challenges in communities throughout California, including the City of 
San Diego, is complex and requires a variety of shelters and services programs that address 
diverse needs among the homelessness population. SDHC continues to rise to these challenges by 
developing innovative initiatives, collaborating with private sector service providers and other 
government agencies, and growing its team, as necessary, to meet the needs of some of the City’s 
most vulnerable people experiencing homelessness. We have done this with efficiency, 
effectiveness and accountability for ourselves and our partners.  
 
The Homelessness PEER course, homelessness services sector compensation study and wellness 
initiative described above are among initiatives SDHC has developed to strengthen the necessary 
workforce and address the staffing needs for homelessness shelters and services programs. 
Additionally, SDHC has emphasized making services housing-focused and providing case 
management to exit more households to longer-term and permanent housing beyond the limited 
housing resources available in San Diego’s regional Coordinated Entry System and within the 
high-cost, low-vacancy residential housing market in San Diego. We also follow a process to 
continually enhance our efforts to align with best practices and ensure contract expectations meet 

113CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 246 of 273



community standards. This requires monitoring activities, technical assistance and system-level 
investments, many of which are detailed in this response to the audit.  
 
All of this has occurred as the homelessness services sector in recent years has experienced a 
series of challenges, including the Hepatitis A outbreak in 2017, the worldwide COVID-19 
pandemic, the fentanyl crisis affecting San Diego and cities across the country, and the affordable 
housing crisis in the City of San Diego. 
 
It is unfortunate that the audit report’s discussion of SDHC and its efforts was too narrowly 
focused, did not reflect understanding of the breadth of SDHC’s extensive efforts, and lacked the 
context necessary for a comprehensive assessment of the homelessness shelters and services 
system.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Lisa Jones 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
San Diego Housing Commission 

 
 

4

2

114 CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
April 2024  |  Report 2023-102.2

Page 247 of 273



Comments
CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS ON THE RESPONSE FROM 
THE SAN DIEGO HOUSING COMMISSION

To provide clarity, we are commenting on the response to our audit report from 
the San Diego Housing Commission (housing commission). The numbers below 
correspond with the numbers we have placed in the margin of the housing 
commission's response. 

We provided a redacted copy of the draft report to the housing commission for review; 
therefore, the page numbers, wording, and headings that the housing commission 
cites in its response do not align with this final report.

The housing commission’s response demonstrates its misunderstanding of the focus 
of the audit we performed as requested by the Joint Legislative Audit Committee 
(Audit Committee). Specifically, the Audit Committee directed us to assess how 
effectively San José and another city, which we selected as San Diego, are using funding 
to prevent and reduce homelessness. As such, we reviewed the housing commission’s 
management of agreements with service providers on behalf of San Diego to 
determine how the housing commission ensures that its service providers are 
effectively providing housing and services to reduce homelessness. Despite this audit 
scope, the housing commission’s response and the documentation it references focus 
on its efforts to ensure that service providers comply with agreement requirements, 
such as by reviewing requests for reimbursements and providing technical assistance. 
None of these activities amount to an assessment of how well service providers are 
reducing homelessness. As we show in Table 5 on pages 28 and 29, we found that 
the housing commission had set performance measures for most of its agreements 
with service providers. However, we also found that it did not always assess whether 
the service providers met those performance measures—a shortcoming that we 
describe on page 30. In fact, the housing commission agreed that it could better 
document its assessments. As we explain on page 27, without defining measurable 
expectations for service providers, the housing commission risks those providers 
using city dollars ineffectively and ultimately not reducing homelessness. 

The housing commission incorrectly states that our report does not acknowledge 
that its program outcomes align with certain best practices and standards. In fact, we 
describe on page 29 that the housing commission explained that it uses its monthly 
data collection tools to compare results of a program to the contracted benchmarks 
and that it bases these contracted benchmarks on its CoC's community standards and 
other best practice information.

We stand by our report’s conclusions. We conducted this audit in accordance with 
generally accepted government auditing standards. In following those standards, 
we obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to support our findings and 
conclusions. As is our standard practice, we engaged in extensive research and 
analysis for this audit to ensure that we could present a thorough and accurate 
representation of the facts. The information the housing commission includes in its 
response does not refute any conclusions included in our report. 

1

2

3

4

115CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
Report 2023-102.2  |  April 2024

Page 248 of 273



Report/Discussion Item 9:  County of Santa Cruz DRAFT Encampment Response 
Protocol - Discussion 

(Presentation) – Robert Ratner 

Background 

Since the original Housing for Health framework was adopted, there has been a stated goal to 
develop written, community-endorsed, encampment response protocols.   To date, no public 
agency within the County has adopted a public protocol for responding to concerns related to 
people experiencing homelessness living unsheltered in community camps.   In the County of 
Santa Cruz Strategic Operational Plan for the period 2023 – 2025, the Community Development 
and Infrastructure Department has a specific operational objective related to “Homeless 
Encampments”: 

“By June 2025, CDI-Planning, in partnership with the County Administrative Office, Health 
Services, Human Services, and the Sheriff-Coroner, will develop collaborative, coordinated, and 
humane response protocols for addressing humanitarian and environmental needs that arise 
when unhoused people camp or park in sensitive habitats within unincorporated areas of the 
County.” 

Housing for Health Division staff are actively participated in the CDI facilitated workgroup to 
develop protocols as outlined in the objective.  In addition, as a recipient of HUD Unsheltered 
Continuum of Care (CoC) funding resources, our community also has technical assistance 
available to assist with the development of this protocol. 

An initial draft protocol has been developed by Housing for Health Division staff that utilizes 
recommendations from the Interagency Council on Homelessness, the Los Angeles Homeless 
Services Authority, and a protocol developed in Detroit, Michigan. 

A copy of this initial draft protocol in included in the Board packet for Board member and public 
review and comment.  

Page 249 of 273

https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/CAO/StrategicPlan/OperationalPlan/Objective/Index
https://www2.santacruzcountyca.gov/CAO/StrategicPlan/OperationalPlan/Objective/Index


 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County of Santa Cruz 

Guidelines for 
Addressing 
Encampment Health 
and Safety Concerns 
DRAFT Template 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 250 of 273



Page 2 

 

 

PURPOSE 
This document provides guidelines for local government and public agency engagement of those living in homeless 
encampments or unhoused in jurisdictions within the County of Santa Cruz, specifically when health and safety 
concerns arise.  For this document, a homeless encampment is defined as two or more tents, structures, or assembly 
of camping equipment or personal property that appears to a reasonable person to be used by individuals for shelter 
use in areas not generally designated for this purpose. This document provides guidelines for local government 
agencies to consider for formal adoption and utilization.  Local jurisdictions may need to tailor this document to their 
specific needs and the availability of resources. 
The guidelines outline two major processes: 1) How encampment sites are assessed for health and safety conditions 
and how occupants are assessed for needs; 2) If health and safety conditions warrant encampment occupant 
relocation, how occupants and their belongings are assisted in relocating. 

Unsheltered homelessness creates health and safety stressors for the entire community, but particularly for those 
living without shelter. The County of Santa Cruz and its partners recognize that strategies to address these stressors 
must address the concerns of both unsheltered individuals and the larger community. 

Encampments have been removed in the past without adequate coordination between local governments, service 
providers, and the encampment occupants themselves. Moving forward, policies and procedures will uphold the 
needs and vulnerabilities of unsheltered occupants and ensure appropriate coordination with service providers and 
occupants. These guidelines aim to include the following: 

• A Health & Safety Assessment and levels of recommendations to address health and safety concerns, if any 
• How local government agencies, departments and service providers can coordinate and implement efforts 
• Specifics related to desired roles, outreach and engagement provision, notice requirements, storage of 

personal belongings, and coordination of available resources 

The guidelines described in this document apply to individuals living in public and jurisdictionally controlled or 
monitored spaces. To be effective, implementation of the guidelines must be overseen by a primary entity that can 
manage inter-departmental, inter-governmental coordination. This role is often performed by a city manager or 
county administrative office that plays a role in managing jurisdiction-wide budgets and the work of multiple 
departments and inter-jurisdictional relationships. The lead entity should bring together key entities on a regularly 
scheduled basis to coordinate response to encampments. The frequency of meetings should reflect the extent of the 
issue within a given jurisdiction.  Ad hoc or one-time formations of encampment response teams are less effective 
than regular ongoing and proactive coordination efforts. 

Key entities to consider including as part of an encampment response team are: (1) a lead entity that convenes and 
manages the group process and decision-making; (2) Parks; (3) Public works; (4) Law Enforcement; (5) Fire; (6) 
Designated encampment public property response outreach workers or contracted agency representatives; (6) 
Environmental and Public Health representatives; (7) Continuum of Care (CoC) housing crisis services 
representation that supports connections with health, human services, and housing providers. A broader range of 
additional partners may be engaged as needs arise with specific encampments or during implementation of the 
guidelines. Implementing entities must ensure that federal and state regulations related to encampment response are 
followed.   

  

Page 251 of 273



Page 3 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND 
The County of Santa Cruz adopted the Housing for a Healthy Santa Cruz Strategic Framework for Addressing 
Homelessness in Santa Cruz County in March of 2021.  Among the specific goals and activities outlined in the 
Framework one specifically states, “work together with city jurisdictions and other County departments to identify 
and implement best practices for collaborative responses to unmanaged homeless encampments and community 
health and safety issues that arise from people living without shelter in public places.”  This document brings 
together information gathered from multiple local jurisdictions and national technical assistance organizations to 
outline some collaborative practices that show promise of more positive outcomes for unhoused individuals and 
other community members. 

According to the Santa Cruz County point-in-time count of persons experiencing homelessness conducted in 
February 2023, an estimated 1,426 individuals were living unsheltered on the day of the count. According to a few 
research studies, unsheltered individuals inhabiting encampments tend to be more likely to be adults with multiple chronic 
health conditions including behavioral health conditions.  The California Policy Lab1 reported that individuals 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness are 25 times more likely to report they suffer from the tri-morbid combination 
of physical health conditions, a mental health issue, and a substance-use condition than individuals experiencing 
sheltered homelessness (50% compared to 2%). Given these needs coupled with a lack of appropriate shelter, 
affordable housing, and supportive service options appropriate to meet these needs, it can take significant time to 
engage and connect unsheltered individuals to accessible and appropriate resources to end their homelessness.   

Until there is enough safe, decent, affordable, and accessible temporary and permanent housing for everyone, 
people will continue to live in unsheltered environments. The Housing for a Healthy Santa Cruz framework 
provides a general outline of the additional investments and system improvements necessary to move the community 
closer to a goal of ensuring homelessness is rare, brief, and short-lived. 

All sectors of the community must work together to mitigate and address health and safety hazards 
experienced by unsheltered individuals. Protecting the health and safety of all residents, both housed and unhoused, 
will create a healthier community for all. We need to work together to end our neighbors’ homelessness rather than 
simply relocating unsheltered people from one area to another.  Working toward ending rather than managing 
homelessness, requires medium and long-term strategies developed in coordination with multiple stakeholders 
including affordable housing developers, human services and public benefits, community mental health, substance-
use treatment providers, hospitals, law enforcement, public health, and others as needed. 

Short-term, crisis-oriented outreach efforts to address immediate health and safety needs related to encampments and 
the individuals living in them are sometimes necessary.  However, helping individuals on a pathway to long-term 
housing and stability requires more consistent and proactive outreach, engagement, and relationship building efforts 
focused on understanding individual needs, goals, strengths, and resources.  Outreach efforts in a geographic region 
must find an appropriate balance between responding to urgent health and safety needs and goal-directed relationship 
building and engagement efforts.   

Individuals with criminal histories frequently experience significant barriers to securing employment and housing. 
Fines and citations, encampment clearings, and other municipal practices and policies that disrupt and displace 
people create additional barriers and setbacks for people experiencing homelessness, making it more likely that people 
will remain homeless even longer.  Enforcement actions for criminal activity and health and safety violations should be 
consistently applied to housed and unhoused individuals.  Decisions about when enforcement actions are necessary should weigh 
the impacts and consequences of not addressing immediate health and safety needs against the impacts associated with displacement 
and enforcement activities with unhoused individuals. 

  

Page 252 of 273



Page 4 

 

 

GUIDING PRINCIPLES 
Guiding principles provide a framework for expectations and decision-making. The following principles adopted by 
the Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority (LAHSA) can help guide approaches to meet the needs of those living 
in encampments and their housed neighbors. 
 
Principle 1:  Delivery of municipal services must respect the needs of all residents, with special considerations 
for serving the unsheltered population. 
 
A)  Meet people where they are.  People experiencing unsheltered homelessness are vulnerable and may need multiple 

positive engagements before trust is built.  Respect autonomy and a person’s decision about whether to engage or 
to accept services and which services to accept.  Be patient and consult with the individual to identify their needs 
and how to best meet them. 

B) Be guided by compassion and empathy in all interactions.  Take special consideration of a person’s immediate 
needs, including making appropriate and reasonable accommodations for people living with physical and mental 
disabilities. Use a trauma-informed approach to avoid doing harm through re-traumatization and impeding a 
person’s progress toward their goals. 

C) Acknowledge a person’s unique context and experiences.  Offer services sensitively and appropriately when 
interacting with vulnerable individuals, with an awareness of implicit bias related to race, ethnicity, culture, 
disability, gender identify, sexual orientation, housing status, and other characteristics.  Mental illness and other 
medical conditions may limit a person’s ability to communicate effectively. 

D) Consult with unsheltered residents meaningfully.  Persons experiencing homelessness are the experts in their own 
lived experience.  Partner together to identify gaps in and opportunities for improved practices. Provide avenues 
for meaningful public feedback, including clear grievance processes to improve responses. 

 
Principle 2:  People experiencing homelessness have the same civil rights as housed residents and should not be 
subject to discrimination or aribtrary treatment based on housing status. 
 
A) Serve the needs of housed and unhoused residents equitably.  People experiencing homelessness are residents who 

deserve the same access to public services – such as sanitation, restroom and hygiene facilities, and protection by 
law enforcement – as their housed neighbors. Commit to protecting the civil rights as well as the public and safety 
of all people in the community, with the recognition that people living on the streets are especially vulnerable to 
victimization. 

B) Municipal ordinances should not criminalize homelessness.  Ordinances that limit necessary, life-sustaining 
activities such as sitting, sleeping, or eating in public spaces unfairly target people living on the streets.  In the 
absence of adequate alternative or private places to undertake those activities, people have a right to perform these 
activities in public. Evaluate ordinances for disparate impacts on persons experiencing homelessness. 

C) Consider the special needs and circumstances of the situation. When approaching a person experiencing 
homelessness in order to conduct municipal services, consider the activity they are undertaking and approach with 
respect; limit the interruption of life-sustaining behavior such as sleeping in public. The activities of persons 
experiencing homelessness should not be subject to more scrutiny than that of a housed person. 

D) Approach with a goal of engagement, not enforcement. Interactions focused on engagement are more likely to 
build trust and rapport than those that lead with the goal of enforcement. Standard law enforcement activities such 
as requests for identification can be perceived as threatening, harassing, or intimidating and therefore disruptive to 
successful service connections. 

E) Pursue alternatives to enforcement, citation, and arrest. Citing and arresting unsheltered residents for low-level or 
quality of life infractions and/or life-sustaining activities can be emotionally and physically traumatizing – as well 
as disruptive to progress toward ending homelessness. Law enforcement officers should use citation or arrest as a 
last resort and instead promote referrals to services, even when services have been previously declined. 

F) Develop policies and integrate systems in support of diversion practices. Fines and jail-time make it more 
Page 253 of 273



Page 5 

 

 

challenging for a homeless resident to achieve stability, work toward their goals, and secure employment and/or 
long-term housing. Consider systems improvements such as pre-arrest diversion programs and programs that 
dismiss citations for low-level, non-violent crimes and connect homeless residents to services in lieu of fines and/or 
jail. 

 
Principle 3:  All people, both housed and unhoused, deserve acces to safe public spaces as well as services that 
promote health and safety for all. 

 
A) Take an outreach-focused approach to encampments and unsheltered persons. Outreach staff are specially trained 

to build relationships, learn what people need, and connect them to those resources. Coordinate the delivery of 
municipal services with existing regional homeless outreach efforts and social services infrastructure so that they 
have the time and space they need to do their work. 

B) Provide available public health resources for residents experiencing homelessness. Ensuring that unsheltered 
residents have regular access to water, personal hygiene, and sanitation resources, as well as containers for safe 
needle disposal and hazardous waste promotes public health for all. 

C) Create accessible storage facilities for personal belongings to allow unsheltered residents the opportunity to 
safeguard their important possessions.  Hours, location, and identification requirements should support the needs 
of unsheltered residents. 

D) Ensure public areas are accessible to all by providing clear guidance about access and egress. Ensure that 
unsheltered residents are aware of the local standards through adequate notice, and that measures are in place to 
support their consistent application. 

E) Follow clear and person-centered protocol when conducting sanitation activities to ensure consistency and 
regularity. Best practices recommend that outreach workers be consulted in determining timelines to allow for 
effective outreach, and that public notice is provided at least 72 hours in advance of any sanitation activity and 
waste receptacles are made available to allow residents to prepare their belongings for cleaning. Except for 
immediate health and safety hazards, there should be no removal or destruction of items. All immediate health and 
safety hazards should be documented and reported.  

F) Facilitate opportunities for community education on homelessness. The expectation for immediate resolutions to 
unsheltered homelessness drives short-term, counterproductive responses thath often fail to resolve homelessness 
for unhoused residents and may even prolong an individual’s homelessness. Publicly share information about the 
unique needs of persons experiencing homelessness as well as strategic efforts underway to address their needs 
and end their homelessness. Provide opportunities to constructively engage community efforts to support people 
experiencing homelessness. 

Page 254 of 273



Page 6 

 

 

OVERVIEW: PROCESS, ENTITIES RESPONSIBLE & TIMELINES 
When an encampment is reported or identified as having potential health or safety issues impacting unhoused and/or 
housed residents in the area, the first steps are to conduct a collaborative health and safety assessment of the site and 
engage with occupants to assess needs and offer resources (see steps 1-3 on the next page). If a health and safety 
assessment determines high health and safety risk(s) for encampment occupants and their neighbors, steps 4-7 below 
outline steps to relocate occupants and their belongings. While each of these processes are explained in more detail 
later in this document, the graphic on the next page provides an overview of the process, entities responsible, and 
timelines. 

Page 255 of 273



Page 7 

 

 

OVERVIEW: PROCESS, ENTITIES RESPONSIBLE & TIMELINES, CONTINUED 
 
 Steps Description Entity 

Responsible 
Timeline 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t a

nd
 N

ot
ifi

ca
tio

n 

1: Notification 
and Coordination 

Centralized reporting 
to a designated entity 
in the jurisdiction to 
ensure a consistent and 
coordinated response 
to all encampment 
notifications and 
reports. 

Report received and 
designated entity 
contacts designated law 
enforcement officers, 
county environmental 
health if needed, and 
encampment response 
outreach teams. 

TBD by Jurisdiction 

2: Site 
Assessment and 
Occupant 
Engagement 

Health and safety 
officials assess 
health/safety 
conditions to make any 
necessary 
recommendations 
based on conditions. 
 
Outreach engages 
occupants to assess 
needs and connect to 
resources and services. 

Site assessment: Law 
enforcement, fire, and 
environmental health if 
necessary. 
 
 
 
Occupant engagement:  
Encampment response 
outreach team(s) 

TBD by Jurisdiction 

3: Health and 
Safety 
Recommendation 
(if relocation 
recommended, 
proceed to step 4) 

Based on site 
assessment one of the 
following 
recommendations will 
be made:  
-No action needed 
beyond outreach and 
engagement 
-Recommendations to 
address moderate 
levels of risk; further 
action may be required 
if risks are not 
mitigated by a specific 
date OR 
-Recommendation to 
relocate occupants 
(Level 1 protocol is 
emergent and 
mobilizes an 
immediate move; 
Level 2 protocol is 
non-emergent) 

Recommendations: 
Law enforcement, fire, 
and environmental 
health if necessary 
(team 
discussion/decision) 
 
Occupant Engagement: 
Encampment response 
outreach team(s); other 
entities engaged based 
on recommendations 
 

TBD by Jurisdiction 

 

    

 
  

Page 256 of 273



Page 8 

 

 

 
O

cc
up

an
t R

el
oc

at
io

n 
(o

nl
y 

if 
re

co
m

m
en

de
d)

 
4:  
Communication 
and Notice 

If relocation is 
recommended, written 
notice is posted (along 
with verbal notice 
when possible). 
Outreach reviews 
notice with occupants 
to ensure 
understanding of 
relocation details. 

Official Notice:  By 
agency that identified 
health/safety issue. 
 
Ensure understanding: 
Encampment response 
outreach team(s); other 
entities as needed. 

Level 1: TBD by 
Jurisdiction. 
 
Level 2: TBD by 
Jurisdiction 

5: Occupant 
Relocation Plan 

Outreach works with 
occupants to identify a 
safe place for 
themselves and their 
belongings and to help 
them move. 

Outreach; other entities 
engaged as needed. 

Level 1: TBD by 
Jurisdiction. 
 
Level 2: TBD by 
Jurisdiction. 

6: Belongings 
Storage and Site 
Cleanup 

Any belongings left or 
that could not be taken 
by occupants will be 
stored by a designated 
agency. Signage with 
retrieval instructions 
posted by outreach. 
A cleanup entity will 
cleanup the site after 
belongings are 
removed. 

Identified belongings 
cleanup agency 
(outreach posts signs 
and supports as 
needed). 
 
Cleanup entity based 
on location. 

Level 1: TBD by 
Jurisdiction. 
 
Level 2: TBD by 
Jurisdiction 

7: Documentation 
and Evaluation 

Documentation of 
process, outcomes, and 
storage completed. 
Protocol 
implementation is 
evaluated, and changes 
made based on 
feedback. 

All entities involved, 
designated lead entity 
coordinates. 
 
Lead entity coordinates 
with all entities 
involved. 

TBD by Jurisdiction 

 
 
 

Page 257 of 273



Page 9 

 

 

HEALTH & SAFETY SITE ASSESSMENT 
Receiving Encampment Notifications 
While reports or notifications of encampments may be received by several different entities, the process followed to 
assess health and safety conditions of an encampment should remain consistent. All encampment notifications will 
be routed to designated lead agency staff to trigger a site assessment as outlined in the next section. Internal local 
jurisdiction staff receiving encampment information will complete <sample from Detroit> -  an internal form 
<https://app.smartsheet.com/b/form/4e7657fd3aed4d85b2880e5d1564390f> that will be received by lead agency 
staff to then trigger an assessment. External partners or private citizens can complete a form on the local jurisdictions 
designated website <Sample: City’s How Do I website – same as internal form>4. Designated lead agency staff will 
notify assessors within 24 hours of receiving the report or notification so that a health and safety assessment can be 
completed of the site. 

Site Assessment & Occupant Engagement 
Within <X hours> of an encampment report, a safety/law enforcement, fire, environmental health, and other needed 
official staff based on the nature of the issues identified will work together to complete a health and safety assessment 
(Appendix D) of the site and its conditions. If the report indicates an emergent situation, the assessment will occur as 
soon as possible. Information collected includes, but is not limited      to, the following: 

● Location Description and Site Accessibility: type of site (e.g. park, highway shoulder), type of structures 
(e.g. tent), weather conditions, whether something imminent is scheduled at the site (e.g. construction), how 
easily emergency services can access the site 

● Occupant Information: estimated number of occupants, estimated ages, medical conditions observed 
● Health Conditions: garbage, biohazards, presence of vermin, whether encampment is associated with a 

reported disease outbreak 
● Safety Conditions: fire risks, criminal activity (beyond illegal drug use), exposure to moving vehicles, 

interference with pedestrian safety 

The levels of health and safety conditions, described below, will help the health and safety officials determine a 
recommended course of action, if any, for the encampment and its occupants. 

Occupant Engagement 
Regardless of the site assessment recommendation, public property response outreach providers will receive details of 
the encampment and its occupants so they can engage with occupants to provide support and connection to resources. 
Engagement will occur as soon as possible (see page 7 for details) and after any immediate safety concerns are 
addressed. The goal of outreach is to assess occupant needs, connect them with appropriate resources and services, 
and, in the event of a necessary occupant relocation, determine the next steps for all occupants and their belongings in 
coordination with other participating agencies. 

Site Assessment Conditions 
The assessment collects information about health and safety conditions using the following levels: 

● None Observed (NO) - Condition listed not observed, no action required. 
● Low Levels (LL) - Levels are low, no imminent action required. 
● Moderate Levels (ML) - Levels are moderate, mitigation strategy may be recommended to decrease or 

address levels 
● High Levels (HL) - Levels are a risk to the occupants; recommendations will be made to address risk(s) 

The level of conditions will then yield a recommendation as outlined in the next section. 

 
 
 

Page 258 of 273

https://app.smartsheet.com/b/form/4e7657fd3aed4d85b2880e5d1564390f
https://app.smartsheet.com/b/form/4e7657fd3aed4d85b2880e5d1564390f
https://detroitmi.gov/how-do-i/request-service-or-assistance


Page 10 

 

 

Health & Safety Recommendation 
After an assessment is complete, the health and safety officials will make recommendations as follows: 

● No action needed beyond outreach and engagement of occupants; OR 
● Recommendations made to address moderate levels of risks; further action may be required if risks are not 

mitigated by a specific date; OR 
● Emergency or non-emergency recommendation to relocate occupants as follows: 

○ Level 1: Risks are at a level that warrant an immediate relocation of the encampment occupants; 
Relocation to be completed within X hours of assessment or sooner if the situation presents an 
immediate health and safety risk 

○ Level 2: Risks warrant the relocation of occupants within X calendar days of assessment 

Recommendations in the assessment will be detailed as to the reasons behind the recommended action and any next 
steps required. Recommendations may involve mitigation strategies that require follow-up to determine if any further 
action is needed, as well as any other entities that would need to be engaged beyond outreach providers (e.g. street 
medicine, Family and Children’s Services). 

 
OCCUPANT RELOCATION RECOMMENDATION 
If health and safety officials recommend that occupants be relocated due to health and safety risks, the process described 
below will be followed. 

Communication & Notice 
Targeted notice to occupants is critical, as is communication with service providers and other relevant departments for a 
successful implementation of these policies and procedures. All communication, whether verbal or written, will be 
done with consideration for the needs of vulnerable unsheltered occupants, including the following: 

● Language used should be clear and population appropriate and consistent with the language used by encampment 
occupants. 

● Verbal and in-person notifications are critical, especially to address any literacy and language barriers, as well 
as to accommodate thinking in day-to-day or hour-to-hour terms. 

Level 1 Communication & Notice 
If the assessment determines a Level 1 action, health and safety assessors immediately notify the designated lead 
agency and outreach providers and share the assessment and occupant details. Level 1 communication and notice 
protocol is as follows: 

1. Within X hours of the assessment, the agency identifying the health/safety concern will post a written notice 
(Appendix B) in a visible location that communicates outreach contact information, relocation date/time, and 
where belongings can be retrieved. If occupants are present when sign is posted, posting entity will also verbally 
notify occupants of these details. 

2. Within X hours of the assessment, public property response outreach providers will attempt to contact all 
occupants. Outreach staff is responsible for engaging with occupants and determining next steps for the 
individuals and their belongings. This will also help occupants prepare for and understand the official notice, 
the reason for the urgency, and help enforce the timeline. 

If any safety concerns are present, law enforcement/safety officials can accompany staff when posting signs. 

Page 259 of 273



Page 11 

 

 

Level 2 Communication & Notice 
If the assessment determines a Level 2 action, health and safety assessors will immediately notify the designated lead 
agency and public property response outreach providers and share the assessment with the site and occupant details. Level 
2 communication and notice protocol is as follows: 

1. Within X hours of the assessment, agency identifying the health/safety concern will post a written notice 
(Appendix B) in a visible location that communicates outreach contact information, relocation date/time, and 
where belongings can be retrieved. If occupants are present when the sign is posted, the posting entity will also 
verbally notify occupants of these details. 

2. Within X hours of the assessment, public property response outreach providers will attempt to contact all 
occupants. Outreach staff is responsible for engaging with occupants and determining next steps for the 
individuals and their belongings. This will also help occupants prepare for and understand the official notice 
and enforce the timeline. 

If any safety concerns are present, law enforcement/safety officials can accompany staff when posting signs. 

Notification Signage 
A written notice (Appendix B) shall be posted by near or on each tent or structure X hours prior to relocation for Level 
1 and X calendar days prior to relocation for Level 2. The notice will include the following: 

1. The date the notice was posted 
2. The date the relocation is scheduled 
3. Time range that relocation will commence, which may range no more than four hours 
4. Contact information for an outreach provider that can provide shelter alternatives and help with moving 

belongings 

The notice shall be printed in English and Spanish, and any other language the local agency determines is necessary 
based   on feedback from outreach teams familiar with the occupants. 

If the relocation is not completed on the day listed on the notice due to unforeseen circumstances, to treat people with 
dignity and respect, a new notice must be given and posted. If rescheduling is after the X hours for Level 1 or X days 
for level 2, the new date will be determined based on outreach, law enforcement/safety officials, and the clean-up 
entity’s schedules. 

Occupant Relocation Plan 
If occupant relocation is recommended, the designated lead agency will ensure careful coordination with all required 
partners, including law enforcement, fire, public property response outreach, public works, health department, and any 
others as needed. These policies recognize that additional coordination and resources may be required for encampments 
of X or more individuals. In larger encampments, there are often multiple entities already assisting occupants with 
meeting their daily needs, such as street housing for health outreach teams, and community behavioral health. It will be 
critical for these entities to understand the relocation process as outlined in this document, as well as be involved in 
relocation efforts. The designated lead agency will be the lead on this level of coordination as well as any additional 
services that may be required due to circumstance or group size, such as additional transportation, storage, and clean-
up needs. 

Outreach Expectations 
During a recommended occupant relocation, public property response outreach is responsible for helping occupants 
determine next steps for all occupants and their belongings, in coordination with other key entities involved in the 
location. Outreach staff will commit to engaging with occupants as appropriate, with increased frequency leading up 
to a relocation date. 

The following are expectations of public property outreach providers: 

● Engage with encampment occupants at least X hours post assessment for Level 1 protocol and X hours post 
assessment for Level 2 protocol or if no protocol is enacted 

● Communicate to occupants what is going to happen and the contents of the written notice 
Page 260 of 273



Page 12 

 

 

● Compile a list of encampment occupants and details about individuals that will be relevant to successful 
engagement and linkage to housing 

● Connect individuals to resources and services based on need (e.g. mental health, medical) 
● If a current coordinated entry housing problem solving assessment and action is not on file, one will get 

completed by the public property response outreach team or a street housing for health outreach provider 
● Participate in scheduled meetings with relevant partners as appropriate to track and review needs and status 

updates for encampment occupants, as well as connect occupants to housing and service resources when 
possible 

● Assist individuals to relocate themselves and their belongings to an identified, safe location before or on the day 
of the relocation 

Addressing Occupant Needs 
To ensure all occupants and their belongings are relocated to safe locations, it will be important for service providers to 
coordinate together and track individual next steps and connection to resources. If an encampment includes X or more 
individuals, additional coordination may be needed as indicated below. Coordination necessary for a relocation plan 
will include: 

● Assessment and connection to resources: 
○ Once public property response outreach assesses occupants, outreach staff will determine 

occupant’s current housing plan or status. 
○ If the occupant is not currently connected, outreach ensures interested individuals are on the 

housing crisis response system’s coordinated entry list that is used to identify, track, and connect 
those experiencing homelessness to the appropriate housing and service resources. 

● Coordination of relocation plan: 
○ The designated lead agency works with partners to identify any other entities that need to be 

involved (e.g. street medicine, behavioral health, faith-based organizations). The lead agency will 
brief additional partners and invite them to participate. 

○ The designated lead agency schedules a logistics call with the encampment response team (law 
enforcement, fire, environmental health, public works, public property response outreach) to 
outline the relocation plan, including belongings and storage, potential occupant challenges, and 
other relevant details. Check-in calls are scheduled as needed to follow up on status and next steps. 
Note: No confidential protected health information is shared during these calls. 

○ The relocation plan will be shared with all entities involved and followed the day of the move to 
ensure all understand next steps for each individual (e.g. if they already moved belongings, where 
they are going, etc.). Any updates to the plan will be communicated accordingly. 

● Addressing additional needs due to encampment size (X or more individuals): If an encampment 
includes X or more individuals, the designated lead agency will take added steps to address additional 
needs, which could include: 

○ Addressing additional transportation, storage, and clean-up needs 
○ Coordination with County partners around available resources 
○ Addressing any existing barriers (e.g. needing an ID to move into housing) 
○ An expanded timeline as necessary for a successful relocation; notice posting and other protocol in 

this document will be adjusted accordingly 
○ Working with Smart Path coordinated entry and shelter providers to explore shelter options if 

individuals express a need to be relocated together 
○ Other coordination efforts as deemed by the circumstance 

Day of Relocation 
On the day of the scheduled occupant relocation, public property response outreach staff members work to assist 
occupants with moving themselves and their belongings, storing belongings as necessary. Outreach will help 
individuals navigate the relocation and assist with the moving of personal belongings and occupants to a shelter or a 
safe alternative. A designated agency is responsible for storing any personal belongings according to Appendix C. 

 
The appropriate clean-up entity (based on encampment location; see “Clean-up entity” definition in Appendix A) will 

Page 261 of 273



Page 13 

 

 

conduct any site clean-up necessary after occupants and their personal belongings have been relocated. Law 
enforcement will also be present to assist with any safety concerns. Depending on the health or safety conditions, other 
entities may also be engaged to participate. 

The recommended relocation time of day is in the morning while occupants are likely still present. Public property 
response outreach staff shall be present at the commencement of any relocation activities on the date occupant 
relocation is scheduled to start according to the posted notice and shall be available to offer shelter alternatives and 
other services until the relocation is completed. Outreach staff may leave an encampment relocation after outreach 
services have been refused by all people present at the site. Outreach shall return to a site if an individual requests 
services before the relocation is completed. It should be emphasized that the day of relocation is not the first-time 
outreach engages with occupants (see Outreach Expectations section above). 

The designated storage agency and outreach will coordinate who will be onsite to secure property if an individual is 
not present at the time of relocation. All reasonable steps will be taken to segregate personal property from material 
that is not personal property, if segregation does not pose a danger to the individual sorting the items. Appendix C 
details what personal property will be stored and in what conditions. After occupants and belongings have been 
relocated, the clean-up entity may remove and dispose of garbage, debris, waste, and hazardous items. 

Post-Relocation Notice 
A Post-Relocation Notice (Appendix B) should be posted by public property response outreach in a visible location where 
the encampment or campsite existed prior to relocation. The notice shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days after the 
relocation and state: 

1. The day relocation was performed 
2. Whether personal property was stored by the local jurisdiction 
3. Where personal property will be stored 
4. How personal property may be claimed by its owner 
5. Contact information for a public property response outreach provider that can provide shelter alternatives 

and help with moving belongings 

Personal Belongings Storage & Retrieval 
In respecting personal property, approved items (Appendix C) will be stored whether occupants are present during the 
relocation. The entity responsible for storage shall maintain a log of dates and locations of any relocations that occur. 
Personal property shall be kept for at least 90 days from the date of collection to allow for recovery by its owner. 
Property left for longer than 90 days from the date it was stored will be disposed of. 

Storage and item recovery will be at no cost to the individual that owns the property. Access to belongings will be as 
low barrier as possible and will not require an identification. Those wishing to collect their belongings can provide a 
date and location from which the property was taken. Individuals will be asked to describe the personal property with 
particularity. Personal property that is retrieved will be reflected in the log. Those that need assistance with transporting 
belongings or going to storage location will be assisted by public property response outreach staff. 

Documentation & Evaluation 
The designated lead agency will gather documentation of the entire relocation process, including the Health & Safety 
Assessment and recommendation(s), notes from public property response outreach staff, notes from law enforcement, 
fire, public works, and environmental health, storage logs, and any notes from the clean-up entity. 

Within a <time period> of relocation, the designated lead agency will schedule a meeting with all entities involved in 
the relocation to assess any challenges and opportunities for improvement. Improvements to the process and protocol 
will be made if determined through this process. Part of the ongoing evaluation will be to collect and analyze data on 
occupants and the results of this protocol (e.g. how many were housed, how many returned to an unsheltered setting, 
etc.) 

Page 262 of 273



Page 14 

 

 

EXAMPLES OF IMPLEMENTATION 
Due to this being a new process, examples of how this would be implemented are provided below. 

Level 1: Two individuals occupying overpass scheduled for demolition 
As outlined in the policy, Level 1 risks warrant an immediate relocation with a goal of completing the relocation within 
X hours of assessment sooner if the situation presents an immediate health and safety risk. This example addresses 
needs for a smaller encampment of 1-4 individuals. 

Situation & Notification: A bridge demolition on an interstate highway is scheduled for May 10. Three days 
before the demolition, a partner learns of this scheduled demolition and alerts HRD that there are two 
individuals living under the overpass. 

Assessment & Recommendation: Assessor completes Health and Safety Assessment, noting that scheduled 
construction is a safety risk. Assessors and designated lead agency will consult with appropriate local 
government or State department to ensure time and date of demolition is included in the assessment. Given 
that the safety of the individuals is at significant risk, a Level 1 emergent relocation is recommended by 
Assessors. 

Communication & Outreach Engagement: Within 24 hours of the assessment, written notice is posted at 
the site and outreach works with individuals to explain the situation and determine next steps to safely relocate 
them and their belongings. 

Coordination of Relocation Plan: Within X hours, the designated lead agency will work with relevant 
partners to determine and  implement next steps. 

• The designated lead agency schedules a phone call with all relevant partners, including government 
departments involved in the scheduling and execution of demolition, to create a relocation plan and 
ensure relocation occurs before any demolition 

• Public property response outreach continues to work with the individuals to find a safe location (e.g. 
shelter, friend/family home) for themselves and their belongings, including helping with transportation 
logistics 

• Public property response outreach assesses individuals’ needs and ensures connection to resources 
based on needs and desires of individuals. Due to the urgent nature of the relocation, this could occur 
after individuals have been safely relocated. However, a connection to available housing resources is 
key for long term permanent housing. 

• The designated storage agency will store any belongings that the individuals are not able to store or 
take with them now 

• The designated lead agency, public property response outreach, and law enforcement confirm successful 
relocation with all partners prior to demolition 

Level 2: Eight individuals occupying a space with fire hazards 
Level 2 risks do not warrant an emergent relocation and are completed X calendar days post assessment. This example 
is for a group larger than 4 people, which requires a higher level of coordination. 

Situation & Notification: Eight (8) individuals are occupying a public space during winter and residents have 
reported fires at the encampment. 

Assessment Recommendation: Assessors conduct a Health and Safety Assessment and determine that there 
are man-made structures made with flammable materials and having open fires poses a safety risk to residents. 
Due to low winter temperatures, assessors recommend a Level 2 relocation of residents. 

Communication & Outreach Engagement: Within X hours of assessment, written notice is posted at the site 
and public property response outreach works with individuals to explain the situation and determine next steps 
to safely relocate the individuals and their belongings within the next X days. 
 

Page 263 of 273



Page 15 

 

 

Coordination of Relocation Plan: The designated lead agency will work with relevant partners to determine 
next steps. 

• The designated lead agency schedules a phone call with all relevant partners to create a relocation plan 
for each individual and to discuss steps to ensure their safety before the relocation takes place. Due to 
temperatures, shelter options are discussed with individuals. Individuals state that they would like to 
remain together if they must relocate. The lead agency works with Smart Path coordinated entry staff 
and shelter partners to find shelter space that can accommodate all occupants, if available. 

• Public property response outreach continues to work with the individuals to find a safe location (e.g. 
shelter, friend/family home) for themselves and their belongings, including helping with transportation 
logistics 

• Public property response outreach assesses individuals’ needs and ensures connection to resources 
based on needs and desires of individuals. Connection to available housing resources is key for long 
term permanent housing. 

• The designated storage agency will store any belongings that the individuals are not able to store or 
take with them now. 

• During and after relocation, the designated lead agency, and Continuum of Care (CoC) partners will 
continue to work on housing resources for individuals based on needs and interest. The designated 
lead agency may consult with County partners to address resource gaps, when possible. 

 

Page 264 of 273



Page 16 

 

 

APPENDIX A. DEFINITION OF TERMS 
Terms used throughout this document are defined here for the sake of clarity. 
Abandoned - Personal property in a public place or property is presumed to be abandoned by the owner or custodian 
to permit an authorizing official to take custody when: 

a) The property is placed out for collection in conjunction with solid waste or recyclable material on the scheduled 
date for collection, or it is placed there on a date contemporaneous with a community collection or clean-up; 

b) The property is not associated with an encampment and a reasonable person would not allow the property to 
be there unattended for the length of time the property has been there, considering the location of the property 
on the sidewalk, roadway, or other City property, the type of property, the danger of theft, and the risk of damage 
from weather; 

c) No name appears on the property and the occupant or owner of the adjacent land or building on inquiry 
disclaims ownership; or 

d) The property is unattended on a sidewalk, planting strip adjoining a park, in a park drive or boulevard, or in a 
roadway/right of way. 

Clean-up - An effort related to cleaning up any discarded garbage after encampment occupants have been relocated and 
approved personal belongings have been stored. 

Clean-up entity - An entity that is charged with cleaning up encampment sites after occupants and their belongings 
have been relocated. Various clean up entities are charged with regular cleaning and upkeep of public places in the 
jurisdictional area depending on location. The correct clean up entities will be contacted to provide clean up depending 
on the encampment site location and type. 

City/local jurisdiction property – City/local jurisdiction buildings and adjacent premises owned or occupied by the 
City/local jurisdiction, and any land, buildings, or facilities owned by, operated by, or under the jurisdiction of a 
City/local jurisdiction department. 

Contraband - Any property that is unlawful to produce or to possess. 

Encampment - Two or more tent, structure, or assembly of camping equipment or personal property that appears to a 
reasonable person to be used by individuals for shelter. 

Garbage or refuse - Any item that, in its present condition, has no apparent utility to a reasonable person. 

Hazardous items - An item that reasonably appears to pose a health or safety risk to members of the public, 
government employees, or other authorized personnel. Hazardous items may include blankets, clothing, sleeping bags, 
or other items depending upon their condition and site conditions. 

Health official - A local health official that will assess health conditions of the encampment site to make a 
recommendation, if necessary, to address health concerns. This assessment is completed jointly with a law enforcement 
officer, when necessary (see Safety Official). 

Occupant - Any individual residing in an unsheltered setting, such as an encampment. 

Personal property - An item that: 
1. Is reasonably recognizable as belonging to a person; 
2. Has apparent utility in its present condition; and 

Page 265 of 273



Page 17 

 

 

3. Is not hazardous. 

Examples of personal property include, but are not limited to, vital documents (e.g. birth certificates, state 
identification), tents, bicycles, radios, electronic equipment, eyeglasses, prescription medications, photographs, 
jewelry, crutches, and wheelchairs. Personal property does not include building materials such as wood products, metal, 
pallets, or rigid plastic. The authorizing official should resolve a reasonable doubt as to whether an item is personal 
property in favor of deciding the item is personal property and treat it in accordance with this policy. 

Public Property Response Outreach – a local government funded entity that conducts outreach to individuals living in 
encampments to link them with available service and housing resources, to help coordinate safe and healthy public spaces for housed 
and unhoused individuals, and to work with the local jurisdiction lead entity as part of an encampment response team.  

Reasonable person - A phrase frequently used in tort and criminal law to denote a hypothetical person in society who 
exercises average care, skill, and judgement in conduct and who serves as a comparative standard for determining 
liability. 

Relocation - The scheduled move of encampment occupants and their belongings, whenever possible, when an 
encampment poses high levels of health and safety risks as determined by health and safety officials. 

Safety official- A law enforcement officer that will assess safety conditions of the encampment site in order to make 
a recommendation, if necessary, to address safety concerns. This assessment is completed jointly with a Health 
Department official (see Health Official). 

Structure, tents, and other shelters - Anything constructed or erected on or under the ground, or any improvement built 
up or composed of parts joined in some definite manner. Structures include, but are not limited to, buildings, lean-tos, 
tents, awnings, pallets, and tarps. 

Page 266 of 273



Page 18 

 

 

APPENDIX B. RELOCATION NOTICES 
Scheduled Relocation Notice 

 
NOTICE: Scheduled Encampment Relocation 

Date Posted: MONTH, DAY, YEAR 

The <Notification Agency(ies) for Situation> visited this site on MONTH, DAY, YEAR. They found health and safety 
risks to those staying here. For your safety, moving will need to take place. 

Date of Relocation: MONTH, DAY, YEAR 

Time: TIME-TIME AM 

For help moving to a safe place, call public property response outreach at <phone number> 

All personal property on this site must be moved by RELOCATION DATE. 
 
 

Post-Relocation Notice 
 
 

Encampment Relocation Notice 
Date Posted: MONTH, DAY, YEAR 

The <Notification Agency(ies) for Situation> visited this site on MONTH, DAY, YEAR. They found health and safety 
risks to those staying here. For the safety people staying here, people and their belongings were moved on 

MONTH, DAY, YEAR. 

What happened to personal property? 
 

  All personal property was removed before relocation; No personal property storage was 
necessary 

  Personal property was stored at the <Name and location>. It can be picked up <schedule> or by 
appointment call <phone number> and ask for <belongings management agency name> staff). All 
personal property must be picked up by MONTH, DAY, YEAR. 

  Personal property found on site was not stored due to . 
 
 

Public property response outreach providers can help to pick up items and can be reached at <phone 
and available times> 

Page 267 of 273



Page 19 

 

 

APPENDIX C. STORAGE POLICY 
Mandatory Storage Policy 
All property collected placed into a bag and labeled with date, location, and individual’s name (if available). 

The following items must be stored regardless of condition: 

● Prescribed medication (non-narcotic) 
● Any form of personal identification (i.e. driver’s license, Social Security card, birth certificate, passport, 

Detroit ID Card, etc.) 
● Tools (not every nut and bolt, but the necessary ones) 
● Cell phones/computers/electronic devices 

The following items will be stored if conditions are not cause for public health concern (e.g. covered in mold): 

● Tents 
● Sleeping bags/blankets 
● Boots/shoes 
● Backpack/purse (note, if a backpack or purse is not able to be stored, items contained inside will be still be 

stored) 
● Bike (only if operable and in working order) 

Items that Cannot be Stored 
● No pets 
● No food nor liquids of any type 
● No perishable items of any type 
● No water-logged items 
● No Items soiled/stained with human or animal/waste/blood/or unknown substance(s) 
● No Items with vermin, bugs, insects, etc. 
● No gasoline/kerosene/lighter fluid in any type of container 
● No empty gasoline cans or empty gasoline containers of any type 
● No empty lighter fluid containers of any type 
● No propane tanks, charcoal, cooking/heating briquettes, wood chips, or wood pellets 
● No matches or lighters (electric or battery powered included) 
● No fire extinguishers 
● No portable or makeshift toilets 
● No weapons of any type, including items made into weapons 
● No ammunition or explosives of any type 
● No shopping carts 
● No controlled substances 
● No drug paraphernalia 
● No illegal substances 
● No chemicals (liquid or powder), including bleach (liquid or  powder), ammonia, and other hazardous 

materials 
● No environmental pollutants 
● No cardboard or building material of any type, including lumber and wooden pallets 

Page 268 of 273



Page 20 

 

 

APPENDIX D. HEALTH & SAFETY ASSESSMENT 
<LOCAL LEAD AGENCY NAME> 

ENCAMPMENT HEALTH & SAFETY 
ASSESSMENT 
ASSESSMENT DATE: ASSESSOR NAME: 

Department: Phone: 
Email: 

REPORTING ENTITY: 
REPORT DATE: 

ASSESSOR NAME: 
Department: Phone: 
Email: 

LOCATION & SITE ACCESSIBILITY 
Location description (e.g. cross-streets, nearby address and/or landmark): 

 

Accessibility by emergency services: 

 
Distance from mainstream and/or homelessness services: 

 
Proximity to vulnerable populations (e.g. schools, playgrounds, nursing homes): 

Type of Site: (check one, include name if available) 
□ Sidewalk □ Doorway/step:    
□ Roadway □ Park:    
□ Steep Slope □ Other Public Space:   
□ Highway Shoulder □ Other City-Owned Property:   
□ Off-Ramp □ Other Private Property:   

Structure(s) & Bulky Items (include the number of each type of structure present): 
Tent Man-Made Shopping Carts Crates Other Description: 
Is imminent work or an event scheduled at this site? (e.g. construction, landbank sale) 
  no yes If yes, date:   
Description: 

Do existing or imminent weather conditions (e.g. temperature, precipitation, windchill) present health and safety concerns 
to occupants? no yes If yes, describe: 

Other Notes: 

OCCUPANT INFORMATION 
Estimated number of occupants: 
Number of people within observed age ranges: 
0-5 6-12 13-17 18-35 36-55 56-75 76+   
Number of gender observed: male female other Observed languages spoken: 
Are there indications that children may be present (e.g. children’s clothing, toys, diapers, etc.)? 
  no yes If yes, describe: 
Are there indications that any occupants may have medical conditions (e.g. wheelchairs, oxygen tanks, medications)? 
  no yes If yes, describe: 

Page 269 of 273



Page 21 

 

 

Are there indications that an occupant is a potential health or safety risk to themselves or other (e.g. self-harm, violent 
behavior)? no yes If yes, describe: 

 

Do occupants have pets? no yes If yes, describe (number, species, apparent health conditions): 

Other Notes: 

HEALTH & SAFETY CONDITIONS 
DIRECTIONS: 
For all health and safety criteria, indicate level of condition observed & provide a description if condition is present 
KEY FOR LEVELS OBSERVED: 
None Observed (NO)- Condition listed not observed, no action required. Outreach engages to assess occupant needs Low 
Levels (LL)- Levels are low, no imminent action required. Outreach engages to assess occupant needs 
Moderate Levels (ML)- Levels are moderate, mitigation strategy may be recommended to decrease or address levels. Outreach and other appropriate 
departments engaged if necessary 
High Levels (HL)- Levels are a risk to the residents; Recommendations will be made to address risk(s). Outreach and other appropriate departments 
engaged 
HEALTH CONDITIONS 
Garbage/debris present (e.g. food waste): LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
Description: 

Bio-hazards present: LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
  Human feces human vomit drug paraphernalia (e.g. sharps) 
  Other: 
Description: 

Is encampment associated with a reported disease outbreak? no yes LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
If yes, include report date: 
Report details: 

 
 

Do occupants present indications of any contagious disease? no yes 
Describe: 

Presence of vermin (e.g. mice, rats, mosquitos, ticks, cockroaches): LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
  no yes If yes, describe: 

 
 

If vermin harborage present (i.e. conditions that result in infestation), describe: 

Number of bathrooms observed (e.g. shallow pit latrine, porta potty):    
Describe type(s): 

Number of hand washing facilities/sanitary stations present:    
Description: 

Page 270 of 273



Page 22 

 

 

Other Notes: 

 

SAFETY CONDITIONS 
Fire risks present (e.g. open fires, flammable objects, cramped spaces): LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 

Description of any criminal activity or violence reported LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
or observed (beyond illegal drug use): reported observed 
Description: 

Exposure to moving vehicles: LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
Description: 
Observed structural integrity: LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
Description: 

Interference with pedestrian safety (e.g. sidewalk obstruction, blocking LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
building access): 
Description: 

Presence of weapons: no yes LEVEL OBSERVED:     NO     LL     ML  
HL 
If yes, describe: 

Other Notes: 

Page 271 of 273



Page 23 

 

 

ASSESSMENT DETERMINATION 
DIRECTIONS: Assessors determine a recommended action and include any accompanying recommendations as needed, including other 
entities for engagement. A summary of the reasons for the recommendation(s) is also included. 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

□ No action needed beyond outreach engagement of residents 
□ Recommendations below will address moderate levels of risks; further action may be required if risks are not mitigated by 

the following date:   
□ Initiate encampment move protocol at the following level: 

□ Level 1- emergent move completed within 48 hours 
□ Level 2- non-emergent move completed within 14 calendar days 

 
ACCOMPANYING RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDED DEPARTMENTS/ENTITIES FOR ENGAGEMENT: 
 
 

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 
  

Page 272 of 273



Page 24 

 

 

SOURCES/REFERENCES 

This document closely follows the recommendations and an interim encampment response policy and procedure 
document from the City of Detroit:  Response to Address Encampment Health and Safety Concerns (detroitmi.gov) 

Other sources used for this document, include: 

• US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) – Office of Policy Development and Research.  
(2020). Exploring Homelessness Among People Living in Encampments and Associated Cost – City Approaches 
to Homelessness and What They Cost.  Exploring Homelessness Among People Living in Encampments and 
Associated Cost (huduser.gov) 

• Los Angeles Homeless Services Authority: Guiding Principles and Practices for Local Responses to Unsheltered 
Homelessness: https://www.lahsa.org/documents?id=2951-guiding-principles-and- practices-for-unsheltered-
homelessness.pdf 

• City of Portland Homelessness Toolkit: https://www.portlandoregon.gov/toolkit/ 

• U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness: Ending Homelessness for People Living in Encampments: 
Advancing the Dialogue 
https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Ending_Homelessness_for_People_Living_in_Enc 
ampments_Aug2015.pdf 

 
 
 

 
1 Health-Conditions-Among-Unsheltered-Adults-in-the-U.S.pdf (capolicylab.org) 

Page 273 of 273

https://detroitmi.gov/sites/detroitmi.localhost/files/2020-07/Interim%20Encampment%20Policy_7-22-20.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Exploring-Homelessness-Among-People.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Exploring-Homelessness-Among-People.pdf
https://www.lahsa.org/documents?id=2951-guiding-principles-and-practices-for-unsheltered-homelessness.pdf
https://www.lahsa.org/documents?id=2951-guiding-principles-and-practices-for-unsheltered-homelessness.pdf
https://www.lahsa.org/documents?id=2951-guiding-principles-and-practices-for-unsheltered-homelessness.pdf
https://www.portlandoregon.gov/toolkit/
https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Ending_Homelessness_for_People_Living_in_Encampments_Aug2015.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/resources/uploads/asset_library/Ending_Homelessness_for_People_Living_in_Encampments_Aug2015.pdf
https://www.capolicylab.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Health-Conditions-Among-Unsheltered-Adults-in-the-U.S.pdf

	Housing for Health Partnership Policy Board Meeting Agenda April 17, 2024
	Apirl 17_2024_Action Item 1
	H4HP Policy Board  Feb 2024 Meeting Minutes
	8. 2024 Continuum of Care (CoC) Awards
	9. Homekey Round 3 award for Freedom House Youth Transitional Housing Project
	13. Coordinating efforts to raise local resources through strategic grant making, partnerships, etc. How can Housing for Health Partnership best support generating more local resources to support efforts?
	Discussion:  Discussed interest in supporting non-profit organizations in the area to secure state funding. Mentioned that the Housing for Health Partnership should have a shared document that shows a collection of historical grants that have been a...

	April 17_2024_Information Items 2-6
	April 17_2024_Report and Discussion Item 7
	HUD Coordinated Entry APR August 2023 to April 2024
	April 17_2024_Report and Discussion Item 8
	State Audit on Homelessness Funding _ 2023-102.1
	Cover
	Public Letter
	Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report
	Contents
	Summary
	Introduction
	Figure 1
	Figure 2
	Figure 3

	Cal ICH Has Not Consistently Tracked and Evaluated the State’s Efforts to End Homelessness
	Figure 4
	Figure 5

	Two of the Five State Funded Programs We Reviewed Are Likely Cost Effective, but the State Lacks Clear Outcome Data for the Other Three
	Table 1
	Table 2

	Recommendations
	Other Areas We Reviewed
	Figure 6

	Appendix A
	Table A

	Appendix B
	Table B

	Appendix C 
	Table C

	Agency Response—California Department of Social Services
	Agency Response—California Interagency Council on Homelessness
	California State Auditor’s Comment on the Response From the California Interagency Council on Homelessness


	State Audit on San Diego and San Jose Homelessness Efforts
	Cover
	Public Letter
	Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report
	Contents
	Summary
	Introduction
	Figure 1
	Figure 2
	Figure 3
	Figure 4
	Figure 5
	Figure 6
	Figure 7

	San José and San Diego Have Adopted Plans for Addressing Homelessness but Do Not Completely Report on All of Their Homelessness Funding
	Table 1
	Table 2
	Table 3

	Neither San José nor San Diego Has Consistently Evaluated the Effectiveness of Its Homelessness Programs
	Table 4
	Table 5
	Table 6
	Table 7

	To Better Address Homelessness, San José and San Diego Will Need to Develop Additional Interim and Permanent Housing
	Figure 8
	Figure 9
	Figure 10
	Figure 11
	Figure 12
	Figure 13
	Figure 14

	Other Areas We Reviewed
	Figure 15
	Figure 16
	Table 8
	Table 9

	Recommendations
	Appendix A—Funding Sources and Eligible Uses
	Table A

	Appendix B—Placements Into Interim and Permanent Housing
	Table B

	Appendix C—Scope and Methodology
	Table C

	Agency Response—City of San José
	California State Auditor’s Comment on the Response From the City of San José

	Agency Response—City of San Diego
	California State Auditor’s Comment on the Response From the City of San Diego

	Agency Response—San Diego Housing Commission
	California State Auditor’s Comment on the Response From the San Diego Housing Commission


	April 17_2024_Report and Discussion Item 9
	County of Santa Cruz Response to Address Encampment Health and Safety Concerns - DRAFT
	PURPOSE
	BACKGROUND
	GUIDING PRINCIPLES
	OVERVIEW: PROCESS, ENTITIES RESPONSIBLE & TIMELINES
	HEALTH & SAFETY SITE ASSESSMENT
	Receiving Encampment Notifications
	Site Assessment & Occupant Engagement
	Occupant Engagement
	Site Assessment Conditions
	Health & Safety Recommendation


	OCCUPANT RELOCATION RECOMMENDATION
	Communication & Notice
	Level 1 Communication & Notice
	Level 2 Communication & Notice
	Notification Signage

	Occupant Relocation Plan
	Outreach Expectations
	Addressing Occupant Needs
	● Assessment and connection to resources:
	● Coordination of relocation plan:


	Day of Relocation
	Post-Relocation Notice

	Personal Belongings Storage & Retrieval
	Documentation & Evaluation

	EXAMPLES OF IMPLEMENTATION
	APPENDIX A. DEFINITION OF TERMS
	APPENDIX B. RELOCATION NOTICES
	What happened to personal property?

	APPENDIX C. STORAGE POLICY
	APPENDIX D. HEALTH & SAFETY ASSESSMENT




